REGULATION OF INFLAMMATION, ITS RESOLUTION AND THERAPEUTIC TARGETING

EDITED BY: Mariagrazia Uguccioni, Mauro Martins Teixeira, Massimo Locati and Alberto Mantovani PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2017 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88945-359-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-359-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

REGULATION OF INFLAMMATION, ITS RESOLUTION AND THERAPEUTIC TARGETING

Topic Editors:

Mariagrazia Uguccioni, Institute for Research in Biomedicine, Università della Svizzera Italiana, Switzerland Mauro Martins Teixeira, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Brazil

Massimo Locati, Humanitas Clinical and Research Center & University of Milan, Italy Alberto Mantovani, Humanitas Clinical and Research Center & Humanitas University, Italy

Inflammation is a fundamental protective mechanism and at the same time the driving force of a variety of major diseases in humans. Indeed, acute self-resolving inflammation usually plays a positive role for the host, as exemplified by infectious diseases where its positive role is well established and testified by its perception as innate immunity. On the other hand, non-resolving inflammation and consequent chronicization is a key determinant of immunopathology and clinical manifestations of most major diseases in humans. As a consequence, it is increasing appreciated that the problem with inflammation is not how often it starts, but how often it fails to resolve. Appropriate resolution of inflammatory responses, which also drives activation of tissue damage repair mechanisms and return of local tissues to homeostasis, is a necessary process for ongoing health. Interestingly, cells sustaining these processes are also key to the proinflammatory responses, and the underlying "pro-resolving" molecular pathways are triggered as part of the pro-inflammatory response. This clearly indicates resolution of inflammation as an active process requiring functional repolarization of inflammatory cells that calls our attention on the underlying molecular mechanisms.

The increasing number of anti-inflammatory drugs best-sellers in the pharma market is a clear indication of the relevance of having inflammation under check; nonetheless, there is still a great need for better acting pharmacological tools for the control of inflammation. Indeed, the remarkable success of biological drugs targeting proinflammatory cytokines has indicates that tools able to block proinflammatory mediators have promising applications, but at the same time has made clear that there are intrinsic limitations to this approach which frequently vanish undermine the activity of single targeting drugs, including the well-known redundancy of inflammatory mediators. Under self-limiting conditions inflammation spontaneously resolves in an active process. Some cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in inflammation resolution have been uncovered in the recent past, and include generation of specific cytokines, apoptosis of inflammatory leukocytes, lipid mediators, macrophage repolarization and others are likely to be revealed in the next future, since loss-of-function mutations of an increasing

number of genes results in the development of spontaneous inflammation in experimental animals. We argue that "pushing for" inflammation resolution by exploiting active naturally-occurring pro-resolving processes may have significant advantages over the attempt to simply "push back" inflammation by passive blockade of proinflammatory mediators.

At present the research in the field of inflammation aims at identifying and validates new molecules involved in the resolution of inflammation as a basis for the development of innovative therapeutic strategies in chronic inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. This involves the discovery of new natural or synthetic "pro-resolving" molecules from plant and animals and the investigation of endogenous inflammation "pro-resolving" mechanisms, including atypical chemokine receptors, decoy receptors, and microRNA. An extensive effort is focused on the regulation by "pro-resolving" agents on two molecular systems of key relevance in inflammation: the chemokine system, which regulates recruitment, permanence and egress of leukocyte in tissues; and the Toll Like Receptor (TLR)/IL-1R system, which is central for the activation of infiltrating leukocytes.

Citation: Uguccioni, M., Teixeira, M. M., Locati, M., Mantovani, A., eds. (2017). Regulation of Inflammation, Its Resolution and Therapeutic Targeting. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-359-7

Table of Contents

- *Editorial: Regulation of Inflammation, Its Resolution and Therapeutic Targeting* Mariagrazia Uguccioni, Mauro Martins Teixeira, Massimo Locati and Alberto Mantovani *Resolution of Inflammation: What Controls Its Onset?* Michelle A. Sugimoto, Lirlândia P. Sousa, Vanessa Pinho, Mauro Perretti and Mauro M. Teixeira *Atypical Chemokine Receptors and Their Roles in the Resolution of the Inflammatory Response* Raffaella Bonecchi and Gerard J. Graham *Regulatory Role of IL-1R8 in Immunity and Disease*
- Martina Molgora, Isabella Barajon, Alberto Mantovani and Cecilia Garlanda
- **47** *Pyruvate Kinase M2: A Potential Target for Regulating Inflammation* Jose C. Alves-Filho and Eva M. Pålsson-McDermott
- 54 *Modulation of Chemokine Responses: Synergy and Cooperativity* Amanda E. I. Proudfoot and Mariagrazia Uguccioni
- 60 Paradoxical Roles of the Neutrophil in Sepsis: Protective and Deleterious Fabiane Sônego, Fernanda Vargas e Silva Castanheira, Raphael Gomes Ferreira, Alexandre Kanashiro, Caio Abner Vitorino Gonçalves Leite, Daniele Carvalho Nascimento, David Fernando Colón, Vanessa de Fátima Borges, José Carlos Alves-Filho and Fernando Queiróz Cunha
- 67 Allosteric Modulation of Chemoattractant Receptors

Marcello Allegretti, Maria Candida Cesta and Massimo Locati

76 Evasins: Therapeutic Potential of a New Family of Chemokine-Binding Proteins from Ticks

Pauline Bonvin, Christine A. Power and Amanda E. I. Proudfoot

83 STAT3, a Key Parameter of Cytokine-Driven Tissue Protection during Sterile Inflammation – the Case of Experimental Acetaminophen (Paracetamol)-Induced Liver Damage

Heiko Mühl

91 Potential of PEGylated Toll-Like Receptor 7 Ligands for Controlling Inflammation and Functional Changes in Mouse Models of Asthma and Silicosis

Tatiana Paula Teixeira Ferreira, Lívia Lacerda Mariano, Roberta Ghilosso-Bortolini, Ana Carolina Santos de Arantes, Andrey Junior Fernandes, Michelle Berni, Valentina Cecchinato, Mariagrazia Uguccioni, Roberto Maj, Alcide Barberis, Patricia Machado Rodrigues e Silva and Marco Aurélio Martins





Editorial: Regulation of Inflammation, Its Resolution and Therapeutic Targeting

Mariagrazia Uguccioni¹*, Mauro Martins Teixeira², Massimo Locati^{3,4} and Alberto Mantovani^{3,5}

¹ Institute for Research in Biomedicine, Università della Svizzera Italiana, Bellinzona, Switzerland, ²Laboratorio de Imunofarmacologia, Departamento de Bioquimica e Imunologia, Instituto de Ciencias Biologicas, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, ³Humanitas Clinical and Research Center, Rozzano, Italy, ⁴Department of Medical Biotechnologies and Translational Medicine, University of Milan, Milan, Italy, ⁵Humanitas University, Rozzano, Italy

Keywords: regulation, inflammation, therapeutic targeting, cell migration, TLR

Editorial on the Research Topic

Regulation of Inflammation, Its Resolution and Therapeutic Targeting

Inflammation underlies the pathogenesis of diverse human diseases ranging from infection, immune-mediated disorders to cardiovascular pathology, neurodegeneration, and cancer. Progress in the field of immunity and inflammation has led to a change in paradigm concerning resolution. Resolution has emerged as an integrated actively orchestrated process with multiple players. These include metabolites of the arachidonic acid cascade, anti-inflammatory cytokines, decoy, and scavenger receptors. Inflammatory cells undergo genetic reprograming during resolution with for instance orientation of macrophages to a pro-resolving mode. Failure of resolution has emerged as a fundamental mechanism of disease. Smoldering non-resolving inflammation is, for instance, an essential constituent of the tumor microenvironment. Under self-limiting conditions, inflammation spontaneously resolves in an active process. Some cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in inflammation resolution have been uncovered in the recent past and include generation of specific cytokines, apoptosis of inflammatory leukocytes, lipid mediators, macrophage repolarization, and others are likely to be revealed in the next future, since loss-of-function mutations of an increasing number of genes results in the development of spontaneous inflammation in experimental animals. "Pushing for" resolution of inflammation by exploiting active naturally occurring pro-resolving processes may have significant advantages over the attempt to simply "push back" inflammation by passive blockade of pro-inflammatory mediators.

This Topic of Frontiers offers the reader views on key aspects of the regulation of resolution of inflammation. Its foundations lay in the European Union supported project TIMER (Targeting novel mechanisms of resolution in inflammation)¹ and the effort of the International Union of Immunological Societies (IUIS)² that have fostered the collaboration of several groups in Europe and Brazil, supporting the preclinical work on molecules and mechanisms involved in resolution of inflammation as a basis for the development of innovative therapeutic strategies in chronic inflammation and autoimmune disease. These studies have been laid the foundations in the clinical trials that have been initiated.

The topic is placed in the context set by a review from Sugimoto et al. that focuses on the events required for an effective transition from the pro-inflammatory phase to the onset and establishment of

²http://www.iuisonline.org/.



Edited and Reviewed by: Pietro Ghezzi, Brighton and Sussey

Brighton and Sussex Medical School, UK

*Correspondence: Mariagrazia Uguccioni mariagrazia.uguccioni@irb.usi.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 09 March 2017 Accepted: 23 March 2017 Published: 18 April 2017

Citation:

Uguccioni M, Teixeira MM, Locati M and Mantovani A (2017) Editorial: Regulation of Inflammation, Its Resolution and Therapeutic Targeting. Front. Immunol. 8:415. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00415

¹http://www.eumbrella.org/.

resolution, suggesting that the mediators promoting inflammation can simultaneously propel the program for an active resolution. A set of articles then focus on specific molecular players involved in this process. Molgora et al. summarize evidence indicating IL-1R8 as a key anti-inflammatory molecule, which needs further investigation in human pathology as its targeting holds promise of innovative therapies in several inflammatory conditions. Alves-Filho and Palsson-McDermott review expression and enzymatic activities of PKM2 that can be regulated at multiple levels, including transcription, posttranslational modifications, and allosteric regulation of conformational stability. PKM2 represents a novel potential target for the development of anti-inflammatory drugs, as recent studies have unraveled a notable involvement of PKM2 in controlling the transcriptional activity of HIF-1a and STAT3 pathways during inflammation (Alves-Filho and Palsson-McDermott). Still on STAT3, Muhl reviews the preclinical data suggesting that providing recombinant STAT3-activating cytokines directly targeting hepatocytes, especially IL-11 and IL-22, may evolve as additional novel pro-regenerative therapeutic option in hard-to-treat patients where standard therapy with N-acetylcysteine alone falls short. Notably, the benefit of focused short-term application of IL-11 or IL-22 in acute disorders, such as APAP-induced ALI, should likely outweigh the inherent danger of these cytokines to promote in the long run tumor growth, which has been detected for IL-22 and hepatocellular carcinoma patients (Muhl). Proudfoot and Uguccioni discuss how synergy between chemokines or DAMP molecules, together with the lowaffinity interaction with GAGs can tune the response of leukocytes to chemokines, controlling leukocyte extravasation into damaged or inflamed tissues. Dampening inflammation targeting the chemokine system can be achieved either targeting chemokines or their receptors. Blood-sucking parasites inhibit the recruitment of immune cells by producing a class of chemokine-binding proteins known as Evasins, whose advantages and disadvantages for potential development for therapeutic use is here discussed by Bonvin et al. On the receptor side, allosteric antagonists of chemokine receptors, discussed by Allegretti et al., might provide both functional selectivity and probe/concentration dependence. Vertebrates have adopted a number of mechanisms for removing chemokines from inflamed sites to help precipitate resolution. Over the past 15 years, it has become apparent that essential players in this process are the members of the atypical chemokine receptor (ACKR) family. Broadly speaking, this family is expressed on stromal cell types and scavenges chemokines to either limit their spatial availability or to remove them from in vivo sites. Here, Bonecchi and Graham provide a brief review of these ACKRs and discuss their involvement in the resolution of inflammatory responses and the therapeutic implications of our current knowledge. Resolution of inflammation also requires a

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Uguccioni, Teixeira, Locati and Mantovani. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution functional switch in inflammatory cells biology. Neutrophils are classically considered to be essential players in the host defense against invading pathogens. However, several investigations have shown that impairment of neutrophil migration to the site of infection, also referred to as neutrophil paralysis, occurs during severe sepsis, resulting in an inability of the host to contain and eliminate the infection. On the other hand, the neutrophil antibacterial arsenal contributes to tissue damage and the development of organ dysfunction during sepsis. Sônego et al. provide an overview of the main events in which neutrophils play a beneficial or deleterious role in the outcome of sepsis. Finally, Ferreira et al. provide a comprehensive comparison of the anti-inflammatory effectiveness of two PEGylated TLR7 partial agonists, concerning distinct lung pathological conditions and several routes of administration. The results suggest that the putative clinical application of TMX-302 in lung disorders should be examined with caution because of its direct pro-inflammatory effects. Moreover, in this context, TMX-306 seems to be comparatively more effective and safer than TMX-302, deserving further investigations in drug development particularly for silicosis (Ferreira et al.).

The increasing number of anti-inflammatory drugs best sellers in the pharma market is a clear indication of the relevance of having inflammation under check; nonetheless, there is still a great need for better acting pharmacological tools for the control of inflammation. Indeed, the remarkable success of biological drugs targeting pro-inflammatory cytokines has indicated that tools able to block pro-inflammatory mediators have promising applications. However, there are intrinsic limitations of single targeting drugs because effects frequently vanish, likely due to the well-known redundancy of inflammatory mediators. TIMER has investigated a number of players with potential of developing as innovative targets in this setting and "will not end with the end of dedicated European funding in December 2015, as the legacy of this EU-funded project endures in the preclinical work and in the collaboration that has been fostered," as his coordinator concluded in the TIMER final meeting.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to this editorial.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research topic has been initiated with the support of the European Union (grant no. 28l608, TIMER) and of the International Union of Immunological Societies (IUIS); a part of the proceeds from the article publishing fees is shared with the IUIS to be spent to activities that foster the growth and development of the immunology community.

License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Resolution of Inflammation: What Controls Its Onset?

Michelle A. Sugimoto^{1,2}, Lirlândia P. Sousa^{1,2}, Vanessa Pinho^{2,3}, Mauro Perretti^{4*†} and Mauro M. Teixeira^{2*†}

¹ Laboratório de Sinalização Inflamação, Departamento de Análises Clínicas e Toxicológicas, Faculdade de Farmácia, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, ² Laboratório de Imunofarmacologia, Departamento de Bioquímica e Imunologia, Instituto de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, ³ Laboratório de Resolução da Resposta Inflamatória, Departamento de Morfologia, Instituto de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, ⁴ William Harvey Research Institute, Barts and The London School of Medicine, Queen Mary University of London, London, UK

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Brigitta Stockinger, MRC National Institute for Medical Research, UK

Reviewed by:

Yongsheng Li, Harvard Medical School, USA Gabor Csanyi, Medical College of Georgia, USA Venizelos Papayannopoulos, Crick, UK

*Correspondence:

Mauro Perretti m.perretti@qmul.ac.uk; Mauro M. Teixeira mmtex@icb.ufmg.br

[†]Mauro Perretti and Mauro M. Texeira are co-senior authors.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 04 February 2016 Accepted: 12 April 2016 Published: 26 April 2016

Citation:

Sugimoto MA, Sousa LP, Pinho V, Perretti M and Teixeira MM (2016) Resolution of Inflammation: What Controls Its Onset? Front. Immunol. 7:160. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00160 An effective resolution program may be able to prevent the progression from nonresolving acute inflammation to persistent chronic inflammation. It has now become evident that coordinated resolution programs initiate shortly after inflammatory responses begin. In this context, several mechanisms provide the fine-tuning of inflammation and create a favorable environment for the resolution phase to take place and for homeostasis to return. In this review, we focus on the events required for an effective transition from the proinflammatory phase to the onset and establishment of resolution. We suggest that several mediators that promote the inflammatory phase of inflammation can simultaneously initiate a program for active resolution. Indeed, several events enact a decrease in the local chemokine concentration, a reduction which is essential to inhibit further infiltration of neutrophils into the tissue. Interestingly, although neutrophils are cells that characteristically participate in the active phase of inflammation, they also contribute to the onset of resolution. Further understanding of the molecular mechanisms that initiate resolution may be instrumental to develop pro-resolution strategies to treat complex chronic inflammatory diseases, in humans. The efforts to develop strategies based on resolution of inflammation have shaped a new area of pharmacology referred to as "resolution pharmacology."

Keywords: resolution, chemokine depletion, eicosanoids, pro-resolving mediators, tissue homeostasis

INTRODUCTION

Inflammation is a reaction of the host to infectious or sterile tissue damage and has the physiological purpose of restoring tissue homeostasis (1). However, uncontrolled or unresolved inflammation can lead to tissue damage, giving rise to a plethora of chronic inflammatory diseases, including metabolic syndromes and autoimmunity pathologies with eventual loss of organ function (2). In fact, signs of persistent unresolved inflammation are not only typical of classical inflammatory diseases but also an underlying feature of a variety of human conditions not previously thought to have an inflammatory component (3), including Alzheimer's disease (4), atherosclerosis (5), cardiovascular disease (6), and cancer (7). This justifies the increasing interest in studying inflammatory processes. In this context, an important milestone has been reached with the awareness that engagement of resolution of acute inflammation is crucial to avoid persistent chronic inflammation and ensure proper return to homeostasis (8).

Historically, the first acknowledged report on resolution of inflammation was published in 1907 (9). This report shows that, in experimental irritant-induced pleurisy, a fluid containing fibrin and leukocytes was formed, disappearing after 5 days, with the clearance of "polynuclear leukocytes" and the persistence of mononuclear cells in the pleural cavity (9). For many years, resolution of inflammation was considered a passive phenomenon, merely associated with the removal of inflammatory stimuli, end of chemoattractant production, dilution of chemokine gradients over time, and prevention of further leukocyte recruitment. Some years later, the existence of endogenous inhibitors of leukocyte trafficking was reported, acting as a counteractive mechanism against promoters of cell recruitment, such as chemoattractants and adhesion molecules [reviewed in Ref. (10)]. Since then, several studies, especially those from Serhan's lab at Harvard, showed that the resolution of inflammation is an active process brought about by the biosynthesis of active mediators, which act on key events of inflammation to promote the return to homeostasis (11-14). In this context, homeostasis is recovered after the production of pro-resolving mediators that act on specific receptor targets to (i) shutdown polymorphonuclear leukocyte recruitment, (ii) counteract signaling pathways associated with leukocyte survival to promote apoptosis (or programmed cell death), and (iii) activate the clearance of apoptotic cells (especially by macrophages through a non-phlogistic process), yielding (iv) macrophage reprogramming from a proinflammatory to a pro-resolving phenotype (15, 16).

Inadequate or insufficient resolution can lead to chronic inflammation, excessive tissue damage, and dysregulation of tissue healing, leading to fibrosis. Additionally, it has been implicated in multiple disease states, including the development of autoimmunity (2, 8, 17). Thus, understanding the mechanisms required for the resolution of inflammation may not only unveil new mechanisms of pathogenesis but also support the development of drugs that are able to manage inflammatory processes in directed and controlled ways. Resolution of inflammation requires pro-resolving molecular pathways that are triggered as part of the host response, during the inflammatory phase. This concept challenges a linear model of induction and resolution of inflammation, suggesting a more complex balance between proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory events that are initiated, at least partly, in parallel (18). The inflammatory cells involved in the active phase of inflammation undergo a functional repolarization and contribute to the onset of resolution. Additionally, an accumulating body of evidence suggests that many proinflammatory mediators that promote the inflammatory phase can simultaneously initiate a program for active resolution. For this reason, it is important to understand that adequate resolution of inflammation follows on a coordinated and florid proinflammatory phase with marked leukocyte accumulation. In this context, Sehran, who uncovered the most important pro-resolving lipid mediators, and Savill elegantly stated that "the beginning programs the end" meaning that the events occurring early in acute inflammation engage an active and coordinated "resolution program" (18). In this review, we reason on the events required for an effective transition from the proinflammatory phase to the onset and establishment of resolution (Figure 1).

CELLULAR EVENTS IN THE RESOLUTION OF ACUTE INFLAMMATION

The molecular and cellular events of the inflammatory response are well known and typically characterized by increased blood flow, capillary dilatation, leukocyte infiltration, and production of chemical mediators. Acute inflammation is mainly characterized by the presence of neutrophils, which are highly motile leukocytes, able to rapidly migrate to the site of injury or infection. Although neutrophils are essential for proper elimination of the inflammogen, exaggerated influx of leukocytes can be more deleterious than the infection or injury itself and has been considered a bad marker of tissue homeostasis (19). Therefore, the key histological feature in the resolution of acute inflammation is the depletion of neutrophils from the local inflamed sites. This is achieved through programmed processes that occur in an overlapping fashion and are actively regulated at multiple levels (20, 21). The cardinal signs of resolution entail the limitation or cessation of bloodborne cell extravasation, the counter regulation of chemokines and cytokines, the switching off of signaling pathways associated with leukocyte survival, the induction of leukocyte apoptosis and their subsequent removal through efferocytosis by macrophages, the reprogramming of macrophages from classically activated to alternatively activated cells, the return of non-apoptotic cells to the vasculature or lymph, and finally the initiation of healing processes. Altogether, these events avoid excessive tissue damage and culminate in the return to tissue homeostasis, giving little opportunity for the development of chronic, non-resolving inflammation. On the other hand, failure of one or more steps in the resolution of inflammation may be involved in the pathogenesis of several human chronic inflammatory diseases (8).

PRO-RESOLVING MEDIATORS

Similar to the onset phase of inflammation, resolution of inflammation is coordinated and regulated by a large panel of mediators. The pioneer authors in the field of resolution and other investigators worldwide have focused on defining the endogenous mediators of resolution and the mechanisms through which the body regulates effector cells (PMNs, monocytes, and macrophages). It is worth noting that anti-inflammatory effects and pro-resolving effects are not totally overlapping: antiinflammation mainly refers to an inhibitory/blocking action (e.g., stopping immune cell extravasation, which is a hallmark of acute inflammation), whereas pro-resolving actions indicate an inherent stimulation and activation of specific processes, such as apoptosis or efferocytosis. In both cases, the end point is the inhibition of inflammation, but pro-resolving mediators are those that genuinely enable resolution to take place (12, 22, 23). In the same vein, there is a mechanistic difference between an anti-inflammatory drug that blocks some specific pathways and a pro-resolving drug that is expected to activate a plethora of actions. Hence, the distinction is between blocking/inhibiting particular mediators, which can cause tissue damage, and agonism/activating cellular processes that participate in limiting or preventing damage, the latter enabling an amplifying effect. It is reasoned that pro-resolving-based



FIGURE 1 | **Overview of cellular and molecular processes that govern inflammation and its resolution**. During early phase of inflammation, production of inflammatory mediators promotes leukocyte accumulation and survival in the inflammatory site. While the inflammatory response evolves, several mechanisms enable the fine-tuning of these phenomena creating a favorable environment for the resolution phase leading to return to tissue homeostasis. Chemokine proteolysis, sequestration by atypical receptors, and degradation by neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) are important mechanisms to shape chemokine gradients restricting the inflax of neutrophils, once sufficient numbers of cells have been recruited. In addition, inflammatory mediators may induce a negative-feedback loop downregulating the production of inflammatory cytokines. Prostaglandins generated in the active phase of inflammation are involved in the switch from proinflammatory lipid production to the synthesis of lipoxins and other pro-resolving lipids, within inflammatory exudates. Mediators released early in inflammation, like ACTH, can also enable the induction of the pro-resolving phase. Upon activation, neutrophils release microparticles containing pro-resolution mediators downregulate survival pathways and activate apoptosis of granulocytes. Apoptotic neutrophils release pro-resolving mediators that contribute to inhibition of continued neutrophil inflitration and to recruitment of monocytes in a non-phlogistic manner. Upon apoptosis, neutrophils also promote their own clearance by expressing find me and eat me signals that attract scavengers and allow the identification of the dying cell, respectively. In response to local mediators and upon effercytosis, proinflammatory macrophages switch to resolution-phase macrophages. These events will reestablish tissue homeostasis.

therapies will promote both anti-inflammatory and proresolution actions, differing from traditional anti-inflammatory agents that solely inhibit key proinflammatory mediators (20). In addition, we have recently pointed out that pro-resolving molecules are characterized by "mild-to-moderate actions," since they balance pro- and anti-inflammatory responses to reach an equilibrium (22).

According to the first consensus report from leading authorities on definitions and mechanisms in resolution (3) and subsequent reviews (16, 21), pro-resolving mediators should ideally fulfill some fundamental criteria that include:

- Stop: the limitation or cessation of neutrophil tissue infiltration;
- Sink: the counter regulation of chemokines and cytokines;
- Kill: the induction of apoptosis in spent neutrophils and their subsequent efferocytosis by macrophages;
- Skew: the reprogramming of macrophages from classically activated to alternatively activated cells;
- · Leave: the return of non-apoptotic cells to the blood or

lymphatic vasculature and egress of immune cells – following efferocytosis, the macrophages and dendritic cells leave the site of inflammation;

- Inform: the instruction of suppressive immune cells and adaptive immune response to help dealing with subsequent encounters;
- Heal: the induction of tissue repair return to homeostasis without fibrosis or scar formation marks the final step of resolution.

Molecules that fulfill the criteria above, which qualify a proresolving mediator, are very diverse in nature (21) and include specialized lipid mediators [lipoxins (e.g., LXA₄), resolvins (e.g., RvD1), protectins, and maresins] (14), proteins and peptides [e.g., annexin A1 (AnxA1), adrenocorticotropic hormone, chemerin peptides, and galectin-1] (24), gaseous mediators (e.g., H₂S and CO) (25), a purine (adenosine) (26–28), as well as neuromodulators (acetylcholine and other neuropeptides) released under the control of the vagus nerve (29, 30).

these Failure to produce adequate amounts of anti-inflammatory and pro-resolving mediators or yet a failure to bind to their receptor could lead to the persistence of inflammation, playing a significant etiopathogenic role in chronic inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. This is highly plausible for inflammatory bowel diseases (IBDs), such as Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC), chronic relapsing inflammatory conditions of the gastrointestinal tract that are characterized by intestinal inflammation and epithelial injury (31, 32). Resolution mediators (e.g., AnxA1, lipoxins, and resolvins) regulate intestinal mucosal injury, inflammation, and repair, supporting the resolution of inflammation in the gut. Therefore, defective expression of pro-resolution mediators may contribute to the chronic inflammatory response associated with IBD. Notably, colonic mucosa from UC patients demonstrates defective LXA4 biosynthesis, which may contribute to the inability of these patients to resolve persistent colonic inflammation (33). Complete loss of AnxA1 protein was detected in colonic tissues from chronic CD patients, which correlated with the clinical status, response to therapy, TNF- α expression, and lymphocyte activation (34). Vong and coworkers (35) documented an increase in mucosal synthesis of AnxA1 and LXA4, in individuals in medically induced remission from UC. Besides, during anti-TNF-α therapy, AnxA1 expression was upregulated in patients with a successful intervention, whereas non-responsive patients did not show the same expression profile (34). The contribution of AnxA1 to the remission of IBD was validated with a model of dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis in TNFR knockout (KO) mice, mimicking the anti-TNF- α therapy. Mucosal levels of AnxA1 increased in the absence of TNF- α signaling, allowing early recovery of colitis as compared to wild-type (WT) mice (36). According to these findings, changes in pro-resolving mediator levels may predict therapeutic efficacy. Moreover, inflammation-resolution agonists prevent immune-mediated tissue damage and restore tissue homeostasis. Interestingly, pharmacological treatment with LXA4 or Resolvin E1 (RvE1) effectively promoted the resolution of trinitrobenzenesulphonate (TNBS)-induced colitis (37, 38). The beneficial effect of lipid mediators in colitis was accompanied by decreased leukocyte infiltration and proinflammatory cytokines. In addition, TNBS-specific IgG serum levels decreased after treatment with RvE1, suggesting diminished antigen presentation and antibody production (38). Moreover, AnxA1 peptides encapsulated in nanoparticles accelerated the recovery of experimentally induced colitis and the healing of colonic biopsy-induced wounds (39).

Persistent airway inflammation in lung diseases, including asthma, may also be due to a defect in counter regulatory signaling (40, 41). Clinical findings suggest that severe asthma is associated with diminished expression of LXA₄, its receptor FPR2, and 15-lipoxygenase, the major enzyme involved in LXs generation (42–46). Thus, LXA₄-deficient production and/or signaling might have a role in the progression of the disease. In a recent study, AnxA1 and LXA₄ plasma levels were lower in wheezy infants than in control group (47). Once persistent wheezing in children may progress to asthma, this reduced level of pro-resolving molecules could be an early event in asthma progression (48).

In some cases, failure in the activity of specific mediators may contribute to the inflammatory process even when the expression is normal or higher, when compared to healthy controls. For example, CD-related inflammation is characterized by reduced activity of the immunosuppressive cytokine transforming growth factor (TGF)-\u03b31. TGF-\u03b3 is a crucial cytokine in inflammation resolution due to its immunoregulatory activities, essential to tolerance and homeostasis, and its role in epithelial restitution and fibrosis (49). Indeed, in vitro and in vivo studies have demonstrated that TGF-B1 acts as a potent negative regulator of mucosal inflammation (50). Although TGF- β is found in high levels in human IBD tissue, it has reduced activity due to the overexpression of an inhibitor of TGF-β1 signaling, SMAD7 (51). As a result, TGF-β is unable to reduce the chronic production of proinflammatory cytokines that drives the inflammatory process in IBD and, consequently, inflammation is maintained (51). Notably, therapeutic strategies that restore TGF- β signaling pathway may downregulate the inflammatory response and induce remission in patients with CD (51, 52).

POSITIVE NETWORKS IN RESOLUTION

Evidence is accumulating that a *pro-resolving cascade* becomes operative during resolution, whereby one pro-resolving mediator would induce another one. We reported one of the first evidence that fundamental pro-resolving mediators, such as AnxA1 and LXA4, induce the production of further anti-inflammatory molecules *in vivo*, such as IL-10 (53). Later, Brancaleone and colleagues (54) provided strong evidence that the engagement of FPR2/ALX by LXA4 induces AnxA1 phosphorylation and mobilization in human PMN. Similarly, the pro-resolving mediator RvE1 stimulates endogenous LXA4 production (55).

Other examples and modus operandi of this cross talk in resolution are emerging, as the cross talk between AnxA1 and glucocorticoid (GC)-induced leucine zipper (GILZ) during certain inflammatory events (56). GILZ mediate and mimic several anti-inflammatory actions of GCs (57). Besides demonstrating that GILZ expression depends on AnxA1, we identified that the lack of endogenous GILZ during the resolution of inflammation is compensated by AnxA1 overexpression. In the model of lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced pleurisy, GILZ deficiency was associated with an early increase of AnxA1 and equal neutrophil influx and resolution as compared to WT mice. Likewise, we demonstrated that dexamethasone-induced resolution was not altered in GILZ KO mice due to compensatory expression and action of AnxA1 (56). These studies indicate that pro-resolution mediators not only communicate in positive loops but also enact compensatory actions to guarantee the effective engagement of resolution pathways.

We predict that a further definition of the positive loops of resolution is crucial for the discovery of new pharmacological targets that could resolve inflammation, especially in the context of chronic inflammatory diseases. A better understanding of the key controlling points of resolution networks may allow us to design specific strategies to promote resolution.

HOW DOES RESOLUTION START?

Briefly, the acute inflammatory response can be divided in two stages: initiation (productive and transition phases) and resolution (Figure 1) (58). Interestingly, molecular and cellular mechanisms involved in the first phase of inflammation contribute to the initiation of the pro-resolving response. It has now become evident that coordinated programs of resolution initiate shortly after the beginning of the inflammatory response (18). In this context, several anti-inflammatory and pro-resolving mediators are endogenously produced to temper the inflammatory events. However, here we intend to highlight the existence of events and pathways that do not fulfill all criteria to be classified as pro-resolving, but do contribute to the initiation of resolution. These mechanisms provide the fine-tuning of inflammation, creating a favorable environment for the resolution phase to take place, and for homeostasis to return. As "contributors of resolution" these events, pathways, and mediators deserve special attention since they may be key targets for the pharmacological input or enacting of resolution, especially when it has not turned on, such as in chronic inflammatory settings.

Aside its well-known proinflammatory functions, nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) also has a crucial role in the initiation of resolution of inflammation. NF-kB proteins are a family of transcription factors of central importance in inflammation and immunity (59, 60). NF- κ B and its activating I κ B kinase (IKK) β play important roles in driving the inflammatory response by activating the expression of proinflammatory and anti-apoptotic genes (61). However, several reports have shown that NF-KB and IKKβ also influence anti-inflammatory response, pointing to their involvement in both onset and resolution of acute inflammation (62-64). The functional transcription factors consist in homo- or hetero-dimers comprising five subunits (p50, p52, p65, cRel, and RelB), which utilize Rel homology domain (RHD) for DNA binding and dimerization (65). Dimers containing at least one subunit with transactivating domains (TAD) in their C-terminus (p65, RelB, or cRel) are required to induce gene transcription. In contrast, dimers that contain only subunits without TAD (p50 and p52) are transcriptionally inactive and may prevent transcriptionally active NF-kB dimers from binding to κB sites (66). In resting cells, NF-κB dimers are sequestered to the cytoplasm and maintained inactivated by reversible association with its inhibitor IkB or unprocessed forms of cytoplasmic p50/p105 (NF-кB1) and p52/p100 (NF-кB2) (60, 65, 67). NF-кВ activation in response to proinflammatory stimuli is regulated by IKK, which phosphorylates IkB and promotes its proteasome degradation and the release of NF-kB for nuclear translocation and gene transcription activation (61).

Nuclear factor kappa B activates many promoters containing highly divergent κ B-site sequences. The fact that the regulation of gene expression is dimer-specific explains, in part, how NF- κ B pathways can modulate both inflammation and resolution (65, 68). Differential expression of NF- κ B subunits and the differential effects of NF- κ B dimers may be intimately associated with the temporal regulation of inflammatory responses (69). p65/p50 heterodimer is the predominant form of functionally active NF- κ B with proinflammatory activity, since this dimer enhances the transcription of genes related to the proinflammatory phase. On the other hand, p50/cRel, p65/cRel, or p50/p50 seems to be involved in the transcription of genes related to the recovery phase (70). Accordingly, the genes regulated by p50/cRel and p65/cRel are activated in later points after inflammatory stimulation, providing the necessary period between the burst of the proinflammatory response and the recovery phase (69, 71). p50/ p50 homodimer exerts important anti-inflammatory and proresolving effects and competes with p65/50 heterodimer for DNA binding (72, 73). Unlike p65/p50, p50/p50 lacks the transactivation domain and may repress proinflammatory genes (74-76). Bohuslav and colleagues demonstrated that increased expression of p50 subunit of NF-kB directly results in the downregulation of LPS-induced TNF production (72). Recently, the enhancement of efferocytosis mediated by RvD1 was associated with p50/ p50-mediated suppression of TNF- α expression (77). In this context, RvD1 modulates at least two different NF-kB pathways leading to enhanced localization of p50 in the nucleus, while it suppresses dissociation from $I\kappa B\alpha$ and concurrent nuclear translocation of p65 (77). Moreover, upon LPS stimulation, macrophages express p65/p50 heterodimer in predominance over p50/50 homodimer, thereby provoking the proinflammatory state. However, in later time points, these macrophages show p105 degradation, nuclear translocation of p50, and formation of p50/p50 homodimer, presumably as an adaptive cellular response to proinflammatory insult.

During the proinflammatory phase, besides inducing proinflammatory genes, p65/p50 also induces the transcription of genes that will provide the control of the recovery phase, such as Rel, the gene that codifies cRel (71). For example, Muxel and colleagues showed that the expression of p65/cRel, crucial for inflammation resolution, is induced by p65/p50, which is earlier expressed in LPS-stimulated macrophages (69). The authors identified that temporal regulation of cRel promoted the synthesis of melatonin (via p65/cRel) by macrophages, a modulator of phagocyte function preventing over-activation of this cell type (78, 79). In addition, NF-κB negatively regulates NLRP3-inflammasome activation and IL-1β production (63). In macrophages, NF-κB prevents premature and excessive NLRP3-inflammasome activation, acting as a negative regulator of IL-1 β secretion (63). Although the precise molecular mechanism underlying NF-KB-mediated inhibition of NLRP3-inflammasome activation remains unclear, NF- κ B has been suggested to promote autophagy (80), a cellular process that negatively regulates NLRP3 inflammasome activity (81-83). Reinforcing this observation, a recent study revealed that NF-kB restricts inflammasome activation in macrophages via elimination of damaged mitochondria (84). This allows NF-kB to restrain its own inflammation-promoting activity in macrophages (84).

Clearly, NF- κ B may have dual function in inflammation, which is likely the result of the central role of this molecule in the convergence of several inflammatory signals (62). This results in divergent effects of NF- κ B pharmacological inhibition in inflammatory models. On the one hand, NF- κ B inhibitors may attenuate inflammation and promote resolution in different experimental models of inflammation (62). For example, NF- κ B inhibitors possess anti-inflammatory effects in models of LPS-induced lung injury (85), traumatic brain injury (86), colitis (87), and pulmonary arterial hypertension (88). Our research group showed that inhibition of NF-kB promotes resolution in established murine models of neutrophilic and eosinophilic inflammation associated with enhanced apoptosis of inflammatory cells (89, 90). On the other hand, inhibition of NF-κB during the resolution of inflammation prolonged the inflammatory response and prevented apoptosis (62). In addition, IKKβ has also been shown to have an anti-inflammatory role, such as the suppression of M1 macrophage activation during infection through the inhibition of signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT)1 pathway (91). In accordance with this observation, IKKβ ablation results in severe neutrophilia and inflammation mediated by IL-1 β (92). Notably, mice lacking IKK β had hyperproliferative granulocyte-macrophage progenitors and pregranulocytes and a prolonged lifespan of mature neutrophils that correlated with the induction of genes encoding pro-survival molecules (92). Of clinical relevance, enhanced inflammation and neutrophilia were observed in human subjects that were treated with IKKB inhibitors.

Notably, proinflammatory and resolution phases of inflammation are under the control of both transcriptional and posttranscriptional mechanisms, which regulate the expression of proteins that initiate and resolve inflammation. Reviewing this topic in 2010, Anderson (93) pointed out that post-transcriptional controlling mechanisms link the initiation/productive phase to the resolution phase of inflammation. mRNA translation is a highly regulated process governed by post-transcriptional mechanisms. Transcription is the first step in the regulation of gene expression, but since mRNA can be long-lived, turning off its synthesis does not rapidly redirect or stop the progress of inflammation. On the other hand, the second step, i.e., posttranscriptional regulation, can rapidly suppress protein expression by promoting mRNA degradation or by inhibiting its translation (93). Post-transcriptional control mechanisms may rapidly limit the expression of potentially toxic inflammatory mediators and help protecting the host against the pathological overexpression of potentially injurious proteins. For instance, a number of cytokine mRNAs can be regulated at the level of mRNA stability (94). mRNA decay and translational repression of target transcripts are promoted by RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) that is composed by argonaute proteins bound to small non-coding RNAs, microRNAs (miRNAs). Importantly, the mechanisms used to ensure limited production of the proteins involved in the inflammatory response are highly variable, and in some cases, interact with each other to define protein expression levels. It remains not fully understood whether post-transcriptional controlling mechanisms play a role in the resolution of inflammation, but exciting possibilities for pharmacological intervention against the overproduction of many inflammatory proteins are likely to emerge from this elucidation (95).

Importantly, miRNAs triggered by immune mediators have a central role in modulating NF- κ B signaling pathways and might be involved in controlling the switch from a strong early-inflammatory response to the resolution phase of the inflammatory process, in a timely and orchestrated manner (96, 97). The endotoxin-responsive gene miR-146a was the first one to be discovered to suppress the activation of the NF- κB pathway (98). miR-146a has been described as a negative regulator of the canonical NF-κB inflammatory cascade by targeting IL-1 receptor-associated kinase (IRAK) 1 and TNF receptorassociated factor (TRAF) 6 (98, 99). Moreover, miR-146a targets RelB, which is mostly implicated in the non-canonical NF-ĸB pathway, and controls monocyte responses during inflammatory challenge (100, 101). Some studies indicate that miR-146a can regulate proinflammatory gene expression by controlling RelB-dependent reversible chromatin remodeling (102, 103). Notably, deletion of miR-146a gene results in the production of higher levels of inflammatory cytokines by macrophages (104). Remarkably, the expression of many miRNAs is induced in an NF-kB-dependent manner after inflammatory stimulus or pathogen infection, promoting the control of the strength and longevity of an inflammatory response (97, 98, 104-109). miR-146a was the first reported miRNA whose expression can be induced through the NF-kB-dependent pathway in response to various immune mediators, such as LPS, IL-1 β , and TNF- α (98, 105, 110-113). Since then, many studies have further identified subsets of miRNAs related to the TLR-induced NF-KBdependent pathway. Another example, miR-9 expression is directly induced by LPS via the TLR4-MyD88-NF-kB-dependent pathway in human monocytes and neutrophils. In turn, miR-9 operates a feedback control of the NF-KB-dependent responses by fine-tuning NF-KB1 expression. Bazzoni and colleagues suggest that miR-9 induction probably acts as a tuning mechanism to prevent negative regulation by p50 homodimers, as occurs in monocytes in systemic anti-inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) (109).

Because miRNA-mediated post-transcriptional control is important to fine-tune the expression of genes involved in inflammation, dysregulation of expression levels of miRNAs can lead to chronic infections, autoimmunity, allergic inflammation, or immune deficiency. Recent studies have identified dysregulated miRNAs in tissue samples of IBD patients and have demonstrated similar differences in circulating miRNAs in the serum of these patients [reviewed in Ref. (114)]. In fact, dysregulated expression of tissue and blood miRNAs in IBD already numbers >100 (114) and may be involved in the reduced apoptosis of T-cells, which is an important mechanism in T-cell homeostasis, and cell activation (115).

Also important for resolution initiation, the pituitary hormone adrenocorticotrophin (ACTH) is released quite early during inflammation, in response to proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 β (116). For a long time, ACTH has only been thought to modulate host response through the rapid generation of adrenal-derived GCs, which are *de novo* synthesized from cholesterol. However, recent works have revealed important immune-modulatory properties of ACTH, through the activation of specific receptors in the periphery (117), expressed on macrophages and other stromal cells such as chondrocytes [reviewed by Montero-Melendez (118)]. Molecules that activate these receptors on macrophages are able to promote resolution of inflammation with a downstream impact on experimental arthritis (119, 120).

Chemokine Depletion Decreases Infiltration of Neutrophils into Tissue

As discussed above, successful inflammation depends on the regulation of neutrophil recruitment, allowing the proper elimination of the inflammogen but avoiding the tissue damage induced by excessive neutrophil influx and toxic content release. According to Headland and Norling - who recently reviewed this subject (21) - restricting the influx of neutrophils, once sufficient number of cells has been recruited, is a process through which chemokine and cytokine gradients are reduced, proinflammatory lipid mediators are switched to pro-resolving mediators, and circulating neutrophils are no longer activated and recruited to the inflammatory site. Chemokines are low molecular weight cytokines that orchestrate the migration of target cells to the site of inflammation. Chemokine depletion through mechanisms, such as chemokine cleavage by proteolysis and chemokine sequestration, is necessary to achieve a resolving environment and to abrogate neutrophil influx (16). Chemokines directly induce cell migration through a set of conventional chemokine G protein-coupled receptors. However, chemokines are also recognized by a small subfamily of atypical chemokine receptors (ACKR), previously called decoys, interceptors, scavengers, or chemokine-binding proteins (121). The binding of chemokines to their respective atypical receptors does not promote leukocyte migration due to the inability of ACKR to initiate classic G protein-dependent signaling pathways. Instead, ACKR sequestrate chemokines from the environment, an important mechanism to shape chemokine gradients. Therefore, ACKR are now emerging as crucial regulatory components of chemokine networks in a wide range of physiologic and pathologic contexts (122).

Chemokine proteolysis is another important mechanism for chemokine depletion and consequently the decrease of neutrophil recruitment and activation. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are traditionally associated with extracellular matrix protein degradation in several physiological and pathological processes. However, it is now clear that MMPs mediate homeostasis of the extracellular environment by modulating the biological activity of many bioactive molecules involved in cell function (123, 124) and innate immunity (125), including chemokines (123, 126-130), TNF- α (124, 131), α -defensin (132), and mannose-binding lectin (133). In this context, Dean and colleagues (134) proposed that macrophages aid the regulation of acute inflammatory responses by precise proteolysis of chemokines through MMP-12. Macrophage-specific MMP-12 cleaves CXC chemokines in the ELR motif, which is fundamental for receptor binding, thus rendering the mediators unable to recruit neutrophils (134). In some cases, cleaved chemokines continue to bind to their corresponding receptors, but fail to induce downstream signaling and chemotaxis, thus acting as antagonists dampening inflammation (126, 127).

Pro- and Anti-Inflammatory Networks Help to Turn on the Resolution Program

A great number of evidence indicates that proinflammatory molecules can be involved in the initiation of the resolution

program. In order to limit the undesirable consequences of an excessive inflammatory process, many mediators involved in the onset of the inflammatory response simultaneously trigger a program that actively resolves inflammation. In this context, our group has observed, in two complementary studies, the intricate balance and cross talk between pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines during a systemic inflammatory response. In 2003, we described a network of TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-10 during severe intestinal ischemia and reperfusion injury (135). Both, IL-1ß and TNF- α triggered an anti-inflammatory cascade resulting in the production of IL-10. We identified that IL-1 β plays a major role in driving endogenous IL-10 production and protecting against TNF-α-dependent systemic and local acute inflammatory response. IL-1ß has been implicated in inflammatory events, such as the expression of adhesion molecules and neutrophil influx following reperfusion of ischemic tissues. However, some studies have failed to show a protective effect of IL-1 β inhibition during ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) injury (136-138). In our investigations, we associated neutralizing strategies or selective receptor antagonism to prevent the actions of IL-1 β with an overall enhancement of tissue injury, proinflammatory cytokine expression (TNF- α), and lethality (135). Members of the IL-1 family of cytokines (e.g., IL-1 β , IL-18, and IL-36 γ) display a dual role in regulating IBD, reinforcing the concept that proinflammatory cytokines may contribute to both proinflammatory responses and resolution of inflammation. These cytokines are upregulated in the inflamed mucosa during experimental colitis as well as in human IBD. Remarkably, they not only contribute to intestinal inflammation (139) but also to resolution of inflammation, as demonstrated by the increased susceptibility to DSS-induced colitis by mice lacking IL-1β, IL-18, and IL-36 receptors or components of their processing (140-144). In humans, polymorphisms leading to decreased Nlrp3 expression, and consequent hypoproduction of IL-1β, are associated with increased risk of developing CD (145).

Moreover, we and others have observed that TNF- α is central to the pathogenesis of reperfusion-associated injury and lethality (135, 146, 147). However, this proinflammatory cytokine also contributes to the production of IL-10 during intestinal ischemia and reperfusion (147). Furthermore, we reported that TNF- α modulates IL-1 β production: first, inhibition of TNF- α was accompanied by enhanced reperfusion-induced production of IL-1 β (147); second, administration of exogenous IL-10 was linked to decreased TNF- α concentration and enhanced IL-1 β . Based on these results, we hypothesized that TNF- α could be inducing an intermediate molecule that controls IL-1 β production (147). It is interesting to note that recent investigations have identified a central role for TNF- α in upregulating a pro-resolving master receptor that transduces the actions of AnxA1, LXA₄, and RvD1 (148).

Several studies have identified a mechanism feedback for IL-10 as a potent repressor of proinflammatory cytokine production by macrophages, acting therefore as a key anti-inflammatory mediator (149, 150). In murine bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDM) activated by LPS, IL-10 attenuated proinflammatory cytokine production *via* reduction of mRNA stability. IL-10 initiates a STAT3-dependent increase of the expression of the RNA

Control Points of Inflammation Resolution

destabilizing factor tristetraprolin (TTP) accompanied by the release from p38 MAPK-mediated inhibition. As a result, IL-10 diminishes mRNA and protein levels of TNF- α and IL-1 β (151).

Resolution of Inflammation Is Accompanied by an Active Switch in the Mediators That Predominate in Exudates

In a classical acute inflammatory response, proinflammatory lipid mediators, such as the classical eicosanoids [prostaglandins (PGs) and leukotrienes (LTs)], are generated during the initial phase of the inflammatory response through enzymatic modification of arachidonic acid (AA) by cyclooxygenases (COX) and lipoxygenases (LO) (152). These proinflammatory molecules have important roles in initiating leukocyte trafficking and stimulating blood flow changes, increasing vasopermeability to yield edema formation, all leading to neutrophil influx to the site of inflammation (14). In addition, PGs and LTB₄ are involved in the initiating steps that permit leukocytes to leave postcapillary venules via diapedesis (153). Thereby, a switch in lipid mediators from proinflammatory PGs to lipoxins, which are antiinflammatory/pro-resolving mediators, is crucial for the transition from inflammation to resolution (154). As Serhan pointed out in a scholar review (20), during inflammation, neutrophils undergo a phenotype switch to produce different profiles of lipid mediators depending on the cells and substrates present in the local environment. Neutrophils in the peripheral blood generate and release LTB4 on activation, as one of their main bioactive products. During spontaneous resolution of acute inflammation, there is a switch in PMN-LO pathway products expression, from LTs to lipoxins and resolvins. Evidence indicates that first-phase proinflammatory eicosanoids "reprogram" the exudate PMN to produce pro-resolving lipid mediators and hence promote resolution. For instance, Levy and colleagues suggested that when circulating PMNs begin diapedesis, they are exposed to autacoid gradients (e.g., PGE₂) that initiate phenotypic changes via gene expression regulation (12). In this context, local PGE_2 and PGD₂ stimulate the processing of 15-LO mRNA in leukocytes to produce functional enzymes for the synthesis of lipoxin. AA is then converted to anti-inflammatory lipid mediators, such as LXs (e.g., lipoxin A₄ and lipoxin B₂), which harness dual antiinflammatory and pro-resolving actions, in vitro and in vivo (20). Lipoxins are generated by transcellular biosynthesis, involving two or more cell types, since the required enzymes are differentially expressed in the cells. Thus, at the sites of injury or inflammation, LXs are generated via biosynthetic routes engaged during cell-cell interactions. Mobilization of LX biosynthetic circuit occurs, for example, when infiltrating PMNs (which express 5-LO) interact with tissue resident cells (which express 15-LO) in inflamed target organs. In an autocrine, paracrine, or juxtacrine manner, newly formed LXs can interact with specific receptors on leukocytes to regulate their function (12).

Cyclooxygenase-2 apparently has a dual role in the inflammatory process, initially contributing to the onset of inflammation and later helping to resolve the process. Gilroy and colleagues reported that COX-2 expression and PGE_2 levels transiently increased in the early stage of carrageenan-induced pleurisy in rats (155). Later in the response, COX-2 was induced again to even greater levels and generated anti-inflammatory PGs, such as PGD₂ and 15-deoxy-Delta(12,14)-PGJ₂ (15d-PGJ₂), but only low levels of proinflammatory PGE2. Anti-inflammatory actions mediated by 15d-PGJ₂, a terminal product of COX-2 pathway, represent another negative feedback that explains how onceinitiated immunologic and inflammatory responses are switched off and terminated. 15d-PGJ₂, a terminal product of COX-2 pathway, is abundantly produced in inflamed sites, suggesting its potential role in facilitating the resolution of inflammation (156). 15d-PGJ₂ exerts potent anti-inflammatory actions, in part by antagonizing the activities of NF-kB, STAT3, and activator protein 1 (AP1), while stimulating the anti-inflammatory nuclear factor E2-related factor 2 (Nrf2). Besides targeting the transcriptional machinery, 15d-PGJ₂ is a potent inhibitor of protein translation. Interestingly, 15d-PGJ₂-mediated translational repression triggers a stress response program that results in the assembly of stress granules containing untranslated mRNAs. Stress granules have an important role in reprogramming gene expression to allow stressed cells to survive to noxious stimuli (157, 158). Altogether, these mechanisms might combine to effectively dampen inflammation (93). Thus, 15d-PGJ₂, especially formed during the late phase of inflammation, might inhibit cytokine secretion and other events by antigen-presenting cells such as dendritic cells or macrophages. Production of the 15d-PGJ₂ is a consequence of a series of dehydration (oxidation) of PGD₂ (159). The latter is a major COX-2 product formed in various cells (e.g., mast cells) and tissues during inflammatory processes by the action of PGD₂ synthase, which catalyzes the isomeric conversion of PGH₂ to PGD₂. The pathogenic relevance of PGJ₂ is suggested by clinical findings of reduced levels of PGD₂ in some human diseases, such as the cerebrospinal fluid of patients suffering from multiple sclerosis and schizophrenia (160). Other evidence of clinical relevance comes from atherosclerosis, where PGE₂ is over-expressed in symptomatic plaques of patients who underwent carotid endoarterectomy, while in asymptomatic ones, the PGD₂ pathway prevails, known to be associated with NF- κ B inactivation and MMP-9 suppression. These clinical findings suggest that PGE₂-dominated eicosanoid profile is associated with cerebral ischemic syndromes, possibly through MMP-induced plaque rupture (161).

Although therapeutic inhibition of COX-2 by non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) may have beneficial effects in the early phase of inflammation by preventing prostanoid production, it may also be "resolution-toxic," by disrupting the production of anti-inflammatory PGs and LXs (3, 155, 162, 163). Disturbance of physiologic lipid mediator class switching by COX-2 inhibitors has deleterious consequences in humans (164) as well as in murine peritonitis (163), arthritis (165), and lung acute injury (ALI) models (166). In the study from Fukunaga and colleagues, COX-2 inhibition resulted in an exacerbation of ALI with longer recovery times. Reinforcing the dual role of COX-2 during inflammation, inhibition of COX-2 activity by pharmacologic treatment or gene targeting decreased early PMN trafficking to the lung but paradoxically led to dramatic increases in inflammation at later time points, mainly due to the disruption of LXA₄ production (166). Furthermore, COX-2 inhibition decreased macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic PMNs *in vitro* and reduced prostaglandin E2 and LXA₄ expression (163). During peritonitis, treatment with specialized pro-resolving lipid mediators [aspirin (ASA)-triggered lipoxins, RvE1, and protectin D1] rescued the resolution deficit promoted by COX-2 inhibition (163).

Aspirin is unique among other NSAIDs because it irreversibly inhibits COX-2 by acetylation of an amino acid serine residue preventing prostanoid generation (167) yet enabling the biosynthesis of endogenous anti-inflammatory mediators. Therefore, the generation of ASA-triggered specialized lipid mediators (AT-SLM) (11, 168-170) may enhance resolution and counteract the loss in prostaglandin production by ASA (18). Low-dose ASA triggers the resolution phase by activating endogenous epimers of specialized pro-resolving lipid mediators in humans and several animal models (3). Low-dose ASA triggers 15-epi-LXA4 in skin blisters in humans to reduce PMN infiltration by inducing antiadhesive nitric oxide, thereby dampening leukocyte/endothelial cell interaction and subsequent extravascular leukocyte migration (171). In addition, low-dose ASA administration to mice triggered the formation of 15-epi-LXA₄, which in turn attenuated I/R-mediated vascular inflammation (172). In a randomized controlled study, low-dose ASA administration to volunteers augmented plasma ATL levels while inhibiting thromboxane (173). These observations support the idea that low-dose ASA may be considered "resolution friendly" (18), since it mimics endogenous biosynthetic mechanisms to trigger new mediators, leading to a favorable net change (173) for pro-resolution (174, 175).

Neutrophils: Important Cells to Turn on Resolution

Aborted neutrophil recruitment is one of the steps required to reconstitute tissue homeostasis, followed by apoptosis and clearance by macrophages. Interestingly, neutrophils have pivotal roles in attenuating inflammatory diseases and seem to orchestrate both elimination of microorganisms and resolution of inflammation (21). In view of that, wound healing is delayed in neutrophil depletion models, indicating a critical role of these cells in the resolution of inflammation (176). Moreover, depletion of neutrophils aggravates different types of experimental UC (177, 178) and extends joint inflammation in a murine model of gout (179). Among the anti-inflammatory functions of neutrophils, it is worth mentioning its capacity to disrupt chemokine gradients via several mechanisms. For instance, neutrophils release proteases that not only degrade extracellular matrices and cells surrounding the inflammatory milieu but also deactivate inflammatory cytokines (180). Additionally, neutrophils modulate the cytokine production stimulated by bacterial peptidoglycans and LPS (181). In vitro studies have shown that PMN lysates and neutrophil elastase can degrade recombinant human IL-1 β and TNF- α but not IL-10, and alpha1-antitrypsin can inhibit this process (180). Neutrophil-derived proteases are also involved in the downregulation of IL-1 β and TNF- α produced by mononuclear cells, an effect that is independent on ROS production or phagocytosis (180). Serine proteases released by activated neutrophils may also be associated with NETs, which are web-like structures composed of nuclear material in complex with neutrophil proteins that display exquisite antibacterial properties (182). A recent article by Schauer and colleagues revealed that at the very high neutrophil densities that occur at the site of inflammation, NETs build aggregates that trap and degrade proinflammatory mediators via the proteolytic action of inherent neutrophil serine proteases (179). However, it remains to be investigated if this anti-inflammatory effect can be reproduced in physiological conditions where concentrations of NET may be lower. Conversely, NETs are also related to proinflammatory effects that in part induce further neutrophil recruitment (183). Recent observations suggest that NETs are effective activators of the inflammasome machinery in both human and murine macrophages, resulting in the release of active IL-1β and IL-18 (184). Indeed, pharmacological and genetic strategies that prevent NETosis have been shown to be protective in murine models of lupus (185), cardiac infarction (186), deep vein thrombosis (187), atherosclerosis (183), and diabetes (188). In addition, a recent work suggests that damageassociated molecular patterns (DAMPs) released during liver I/R result in formation of NETs which subsequently exacerbate organ damage and initiate inflammatory responses (189). Moreover, the presence of DNAse-sensitive NETs in skin wounds impairs wound healing in diabetes (188). Timely degradation/removal of NETs is critical since its components may serve as autoantigen or DAMPs leading to inflammatory and chronic autoimmune diseases, including systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) [reviewed in Ref. (189-194)]. Furthermore, mitochondrial ROS-dependent NETosis may promotes externalization of proinflammatory oxidized mtDNA and subsequent activation of type I interferon (IFN) synthesis, what may contribute to lupus-like disease (195). Finally, serum of SLE patients show an increase in various NET proteins [e.g., defensins, high-mobility group box protein 1 (HMGB1), and bactericidal proteins] compared to healthy-donor blood, indicating that NETosis may be implicated in the genesis and/or amplification of the disease (196, 197). Therefore, like uncleaned apoptotic and necrotic cell remnants, uncleaned NETs may contribute to inflammation and autoimmunity.

Another neutrophil-related mechanism that is worth mentioning here is the release of S100A8 and S100A9 proteins and their calprotectin heterocomplex, upon stimulation. These proteins have been shown to have dual biological functions on inflammation (198-201). Abundant in neutrophils, calprotectin is released at sites of infection where it exerts antimicrobial activity, which is attributed to its ability to chelate manganese and zinc (200-205). In addition, calprotectin activates the innate immune system through activation of the receptor of advanced glycation end products (RAGE) and TLR4, resulting in downstream NF-kB activation and secretion of proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α and IL-17 (206–208). Diverging properties of calprotectin related to PMN recruitment and functions have been described. Calprotectin was shown to activate the recruitment of PMNs and stimulate their adhesion by activating MAC-1 ß2 integrin (209). Moreover, the functional blockage of calprotectin reduced PMN recruitment stimulated by LPS in vivo (210). Conversely, studies have pointed to the ability of S100A8 and S100A9 to repel PMNs (fugetaxis) and inhibit their

chemotaxis toward chemokines in vitro. Additionally, calprotectin inhibited LPS-induced recruitment of PMNs in the rat air-pouch model of inflammation in vivo (211, 212). S100A9 differentially modified the responsiveness of neutrophils and dendritic cells to LPS, suggesting that the effects of calprotectin may be cell specific. While S100A9-deficient neutrophils exhibited a reduced secretion of cytokines (e.g., TNF- α and MCP-1) in response to LPS stimulation, inflammatory cytokine production in dendritic cells was exacerbated by \$100A9 deficiency (213). Circulating concentrations of calprotectin increase with acute inflammation and during sepsis (214, 215), which has led some authors to suggest a proinflammatory role for this protein (216). Supporting this notion, Pepper and coworkers (217) showed that calprotectin plays a critical role during glomerulonephritis, amplifying autocrine and paracrine proinflammatory effects on BMDMs, renal endothelial cells, and mesangial cells. Indeed, calprotectin have an established clinical role as a biomarker in IBD (218).

In contradiction to these findings, anti-inflammatory, antinociceptive, and protective properties of calprotectin have also been described. In addition, regulation of S100A8 by GCs reinforces the idea of an anti-inflammatory role for this protein (219). For instance, calprotectin was suggested to be involved in the regulation of inflammatory processes in joints, since it produced marked anti-inflammatory and protective effects in models of adjuvant-induced arthritis in rats (220). Indeed, calprotectin deficiency was found in wound fluid from patients with nonhealing venous leg ulcers, when compared with that from patients with healing open-granulating acute wounds (221). Sun and colleagues proposed protective and anti-inflammatory functions for calprotectin in sepsis. The authors showed that mice treated with S100A8 increased their survival rates and reduced tissue damage, inflammation, and oxidative injuries to major organ systems in a model of LPS-induced endotoxemia (222). Calprotectin was also shown to inhibit the oxidative metabolism of LPS-activated PMNs in vitro, which could contribute to reduce the oxidative organ injury seen in sepsis (223-225). Calprotectin suppressed NF-kB expression, proinflammatory cytokines, and inflammation in experimental autoimmune myocarditis (226), while the loss of calprotectin exacerbated T-cell activation and cardiac allograft rejection (227). In opposition, calprotectin aggravated postischemic heart failure through activation of RAGE-dependent NF-kB signaling (228). The diverging biological functions reported for calprotectin and its subunits suggest that their effects might be concentration dependent and influenced by the cellular and biochemical composition of the local milieu (229).

A novel and intriguing pro-resolving mechanism centered on neutrophils involves the generation of membrane borne microvesicles, also called microparticles or ectosomes (21). In 2004, Gasser and Schifferli (230) found that these microvesicles blocked the inflammatory response of macrophages exposed to zymosan and LPS. Further studies on neutrophil microparticles revealed that these microstructures could carry a variety of antiinflammatory and pro-revolving mediators, enabling important modulatory functions in inflammation. Dalli and colleagues (231) defined the proteomic content of neutrophil microparticles. These authors observed that neutrophils have the ability to respond to a specific stimulus by producing microparticles loaded with a distinct proteomic profile, supporting the notion that microparticles production is a regulated process and might be endowed with very discrete functions (231). Some proteins, such as alpha-2-microglobulins, were identified to be selectively confined in vesicles generated from neutrophils adhered to an endothelial monolayer, whereas AnxA1 was more enriched in vesicles from exudate neutrophils. AnxA1 +ve vesicles possess antiinflammatory properties (232) and allow the proper externalization of this pro-resolving mediator to gain access to extracellular surface receptors (i.e., FPR2) and to exert anti-inflammatory effects (39). AnxA1 acts as an exquisite brake for neutrophil adhesion to the microvascular wall, preventing over-exuberant cell transmigration to the inflammatory site (21, 233-235). We recently identified new properties for AnxA1 +ve vesicles, specifically those abundant in human synovial fluids collected from patients suffering from rheumatoid arthritis: these vesicles ensure the delivery of AnxA1 (and presumably other factors) to the chondrocyte in deep cartilage, enabling the activation of reparative circuits (236). In a recent review, we discussed the newly discovered modulatory roles of AnxA1 on neutrophil recruitment and other features of the resolution of inflammation (237).

Distinct Macrophage Populations Mediate Acute Inflammation and Resolution Phases of Inflammation

Macrophages are one of the first cells to sense injury, infection, and other types of noxious conditions, triggering the immune response through the production of proinflammatory mediators (1). During resolution, macrophages play an anti-inflammatory role and are required for the clearance of apoptotic cells. Following efferocytosis, macrophages undergo a functional repolarization, switching from a pro- to an anti-inflammatory phenotype (238). Accordingly, efferocytosis is coupled with increased release of TGF- β and IL-10 and lower levels of proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6 (238–240). This change in the phenotype of macrophages also activates pro-resolving mechanisms, because they generate LXA₄, which stimulates phagocytic activities without releasing proinflammatory mediators. This is an important nonphlogistic process typical of resolution, and shared, for instance, by GCs (241).

In addition to participating in the lipid mediator class switching discussed above, PGE2 is also important in macrophage reprogramming, mediating the transition from the acute to the resolution phase of inflammation. Early data from Kunkel's group showed a suppressive effect of PGE₂ on macrophage TNF- α and IL-1 β production (242, 243), and this has been confirmed by other investigators (238). This inhibitory feature allows proinflammatory cytokines to regulate their own production using PGE₂ as a self-induced modulator (242). Recently, MacKenzie and colleagues (244) reported that the addition of PGE₂ to LPSstimulated macrophages represses proinflammatory cytokine production but induces IL-10. In particular, PGE₂ displayed a biphasic effect on IL-6 transcription: at early time points, this eicosanoid promoted IL-6 transcription but at later time points, it repressed the induction of IL-6 mRNA (244). Another study showed that PGE₂ from activated bone marrow stromal

cells promotes IL-10 in LPS-stimulated macrophages, an effect mediated by prostaglandin EP2 and EP4 receptors (245). PGE₂ in combination with LPS was able to induce the mRNA for Arginase 1, LIGHT (TNFSF14), and SPHK1, potential markers of alternatively activated and regulatory macrophages (245), again suggesting long-lasting roles for this prostaglandin in macrophage reprogramming.

PGE₂ has also been implicated in tissue maintenance and regeneration. This is supported by reports that indicate that increased levels of PGE2 were associated with increased regenerative capacity. In this regard, Zhang and colleagues showed that the inhibition of 15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase (15-PGDH), a prostaglandin-degrading enzyme, potentiates tissue regeneration in multiple organs in mice. In a model of DSS-induced colitis, PGE₂ elevation diminished colon ulcers, suppressed mucosal inflammation, and reduced colitis symptoms, in conjunction with increased cell proliferation in the DSS-damaged mucosa. Interestingly, the pharmacological induction of higher levels of PGE2 was associated with markedly increased rate and extent of liver regeneration in mice after partial hepatectomy as compared to control groups (246). In the lung, PGE₂ is the major eicosanoid produced by fibroblasts, alveolar macrophages, and other lung cells, playing important roles in tissue repair processes and in immune-inflammatory response limitation (247). PGE₂ directly inhibits several major pathobiologic functions of lung fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, including proliferation, migration, collagen secretion, and myofibroblast differentiation [reviewed in Ref. (248)]. Of note, diminished PGE₂ production and/or signaling can be observed in human and animal lung fibrosis, reinforcing its relevance for proper resolution (249, 250).

What the Future Reserves for Resolution

Undoubtedly, the inflammatory system is greatly complex. The history of the discovery of proinflammatory mediators reminds us that several decades of research were required to define the biology and pharmacology of the currently known mediators of inflammation. Since Sir Henry Dale and Patrick Laidlaw described some physiological effects of histamine *in vivo*, in 1910, immunological research has tremendously advanced (251). Pharmacological research has accompanied this progress, as historically represented by the discovery of antihistamines by Daniel Bovet and the identification of anti-H2R antagonists by Sir James Black, both awarded with the Nobel Prize in Physiology and

REFERENCES

- 1. Medzhitov R. Inflammation 2010: new adventures of an old flame. *Cell* (2010) **140**(6):771–6. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.03.006
- Nathan C, Ding A. Nonresolving inflammation. Cell (2010) 140(6):871–82. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.029
- Serhan CN, Brain SD, Buckley CD, Gilroy DW, Haslett C, O'Neill LA, et al. Resolution of inflammation: state of the art, definitions and terms. *FASEB J* (2007) 21(2):325–32. doi:10.1096/fj.06-7227rev
- Heppner FL, Ransohoff RM, Becher B. Immune attack: the role of inflammation in Alzheimer disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2015) 16(6):358–72. doi:10.1038/nrn3880
- Viola J, Soehnlein O. Atherosclerosis a matter of unresolved inflammation. Semin Immunol (2015) 27(3):184–93. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2015.03.013

Medicine (251). Subsequently, we made progress in the immunological and pharmacological fields of research, appreciating and shaping the concept of resolution of inflammation, and the mechanisms underpinning it. Fundamental concept here is the acceptance that resolution of inflammation is an active process evoked by specific classes of pro-resolving mediators, which differ from classical "anti-inflammatories" due to their ability to stimulate selective molecular and cellular programs of resolution. In the last decade, it has become evident that the enormous complexity of the proinflammatory system is mirrored at the level of proresolution pathways. Despite these remarkable advancements in the field, it seems that we have just started to scratch the surface of resolution mediators and other new cellular players are likely to be identified and defined in the near future. Likewise, we need to identify the major triggering pathway of these pro-resolving events, a phenomenon likely to be tissue- and/or disease-specific, as well as appreciate the complex networks among pro-resolving mediators. Such knowledge would be instrumental in developing pro-resolution based strategies to treat complex chronic inflammatory diseases in man, thus establishing a new area of pharmacology to be referred to as "resolution pharmacology" (22).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MS, LS, VP, MP, and MT conceived and wrote the manuscript, and realized the figure.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the funding agencies, Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq, Brazil), Comissão de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal do Ensino Superior (CAPES, Brazil), Fundação do Amparo a Pesquisa de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG, Brazil), Instituto Nacional de Ciência e Tecnologia (INCT in Dengue), and the European Community's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7-2007-2013, Timer consortium) under grant agreement HEALTH-F4-2011-281608. MP acknowledges funding from the Wellcome Trust (program 086867/Z/08), the Medical Research Council UK (MR/K013068/1), and the William Harvey Research Foundation. The authors apologize to their colleagues whose original contributions are not included in the list of references due to space limitations.

- Helgadottir A, Manolescu A, Thorleifsson G, Gretarsdottir S, Jonsdottir H, Thorsteinsdottir U, et al. The gene encoding 5-lipoxygenase activating protein confers risk of myocardial infarction and stroke. *Nat Genet* (2004) 36(3):233–9. doi:10.1038/ng1311
- Erlinger TP, Platz EA, Rifai N, Helzlsouer KJ. C-reactive protein and the risk of incident colorectal cancer. *JAMA* (2004) **291**(5):585–90. doi:10.1001/ jama.291.5.585
- Lawrence T, Gilroy DW. Chronic inflammation: a failure of resolution? Int J Exp Pathol (2007) 88(2):85–94. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2613.2006.00507.x
- 9. Opie EL. Experimental pleurisy-resolution of a fibrinous exudate. *J Exp Med* (1907) **9**(4):391–413. doi:10.1084/jem.9.4.391
- Perretti M. Endogenous mediators that inhibit the leukocyte-endothelium interaction. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (1997) 18(11):418–25. doi:10.1016/ S0165-6147(97)01116-4

- Serhan CN, Clish CB, Brannon J, Colgan SP, Chiang N, Gronert K. Novel functional sets of lipid-derived mediators with antiinflammatory actions generated from omega-3 fatty acids via cyclooxygenase 2-nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and transcellular processing. *J Exp Med* (2000) 192(8):1197–204. doi:10.1084/jem.192.8.1197
- Levy BD, Clish CB, Schmidt B, Gronert K, Serhan CN. Lipid mediator class switching during acute inflammation: signals in resolution. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2(7):612–9. doi:10.1038/89759
- Hong S, Gronert K, Devchand PR, Moussignac RL, Serhan CN. Novel docosatrienes and 17S-resolvins generated from docosahexaenoic acid in murine brain, human blood, and glial cells. Autacoids in anti-inflammation. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278(17):14677–87. doi:10.1074/jbc.M300218200
- Serhan CN, Chiang N, Dalli J, Levy BD. Lipid mediators in the resolution of inflammation. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2015) 7(2):a016311. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a016311
- Stables MJ, Shah S, Camon EB, Lovering RC, Newson J, Bystrom J, et al. Transcriptomic analyses of murine resolution-phase macrophages. *Blood* (2011) 118(26):e192–208. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-04-345330
- Ortega-Gomez A, Perretti M, Soehnlein O. Resolution of inflammation: an integrated view. *EMBO Mol Med* (2013) 5(5):661–74. doi:10.1002/ emmm.201202382
- Buckley CD, Gilroy DW, Serhan CN. Proresolving lipid mediators and mechanisms in the resolution of acute inflammation. *Immunity* (2014) 40(3):315–27. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.02.009
- Serhan CN, Savill J. Resolution of inflammation: the beginning programs the end. Nat Immunol (2005) 6(12):1191–7. doi:10.1038/ni1276
- Nathan C. Neutrophils and immunity: challenges and opportunities. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6(3):173–82. doi:10.1038/nri1785
- Serhan CN, Chiang N, Van Dyke TE. Resolving inflammation: dual antiinflammatory and pro-resolution lipid mediators. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8(5):349–61. doi:10.1038/nri2294
- Headland SE, Norling LV. The resolution of inflammation: principles and challenges. Semin Immunol (2015) 27:149–60. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2015.03.014
- Perretti M, Leroy X, Bland EJ, Montero-Melendez T. Resolution pharmacology: opportunities for therapeutic innovation in inflammation. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2015) 36(11):737–55. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2015.07.007
- Serhan CN. Pro-resolving lipid mediators are leads for resolution physiology. Nature (2014) 510(7503):92–101. doi:10.1038/nature13479
- Perretti M, D'Acquisto F. Annexin A1 and glucocorticoids as effectors of the resolution of inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9(1):62–70. doi:10.1038/nri2470
- Wallace JL, Ianaro A, Flannigan KL, Cirino G. Gaseous mediators in resolution of inflammation. *Semin Immunol* (2015) 27(3):227–33. doi:10.1016/j. smim.2015.05.004
- Hasko G, Cronstein B. Regulation of inflammation by adenosine. Front Immunol (2013) 4:85. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00085
- Koroskenyi K, Duro E, Pallai A, Sarang Z, Kloor D, Ucker DS, et al. Involvement of adenosine A2A receptors in engulfment-dependent apoptotic cell suppression of inflammation. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(12):7144–55. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002284
- Csoka B, Selmeczy Z, Koscso B, Nemeth ZH, Pacher P, Murray PJ, et al. Adenosine promotes alternative macrophage activation via A2A and A2B receptors. *FASEB J* (2012) 26(1):376–86. doi:10.1096/fj.11-190934
- Mirakaj V, Dalli J, Granja T, Rosenberger P, Serhan CN. Vagus nerve controls resolution and pro-resolving mediators of inflammation. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211(6):1037–48. doi:10.1084/jem.20132103
- Pavlov VA, Tracey KJ. The vagus nerve and the inflammatory reflex linking immunity and metabolism. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2012) 8(12):743–54. doi:10.1038/nrendo.2012.189
- Danese S, Fiocchi C. Ulcerative colitis. N Engl J Med (2011) 365(18):1713–25. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1102942
- Baumgart DC, Sandborn WJ. Crohn's disease. Lancet (2012) 380(9853):1590– 605. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60026-9
- Mangino MJ, Brounts L, Harms B, Heise C. Lipoxin biosynthesis in inflammatory bowel disease. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat* (2006) 79(1–2):84–92. doi:10.1016/j.prostaglandins.2005.10.004
- Sena A, Grishina I, Thai A, Goulart L, Macal M, Fenton A, et al. Dysregulation of anti-inflammatory annexin A1 expression in progressive Crohns disease. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(10):e76969. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0076969

- Vong L, Ferraz JG, Dufton N, Panaccione R, Beck PL, Sherman PM, et al. Up-regulation of Annexin-A1 and lipoxin A(4) in individuals with ulcerative colitis may promote mucosal homeostasis. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(6):e39244. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0039244
- Sena AA, Pedrotti LP, Barrios BE, Cejas H, Balderramo D, Diller A, et al. Lack of TNFRI signaling enhances annexin A1 biological activity in intestinal inflammation. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2015) 98(3):422–31. doi:10.1016/j. bcp.2015.09.009
- 37. Fiorucci S, Wallace JL, Mencarelli A, Distrutti E, Rizzo G, Farneti S, et al. A beta-oxidation-resistant lipoxin A4 analog treats hapten-induced colitis by attenuating inflammation and immune dysfunction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) **101**(44):15736–41. doi:10.1073/pnas.0404722101
- Arita M, Yoshida M, Hong S, Tjonahen E, Glickman JN, Petasis NA, et al. Resolvin E1, an endogenous lipid mediator derived from omega-3 eicosapentaenoic acid, protects against 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid-induced colitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) **102**(21):7671–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0409271102
- Leoni G, Neumann PA, Kamaly N, Quiros M, Nishio H, Jones HR, et al. Annexin A1-containing extracellular vesicles and polymeric nanoparticles promote epithelial wound repair. *J Clin Invest* (2015) 125(3):1215–27. doi:10.1172/JCI76693
- Haworth O, Levy BD. Lipoxins, resolvins and protectins: new leads for the treatment of asthma. *Expert Opin Drug Discov* (2008) 3(10):1209–22. doi:10.1517/17460441.3.10.1209
- Planaguma A, Levy BD. Uncontrolled airway inflammation in lung disease represents a defect in counter-regulatory signaling. *Future Lipidol* (2008) 3(6):697–704. doi:10.2217/17460875.3.6.697
- Levy BD, Bonnans C, Silverman ES, Palmer LJ, Marigowda G, Israel E, et al. Diminished lipoxin biosynthesis in severe asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2005) 172(7):824–30. doi:10.1164/rccm.200410-1413OC
- Celik GE, Erkekol FO, Misirligil Z, Melli M. Lipoxin A4 levels in asthma: relation with disease severity and aspirin sensitivity. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2007) 37(10):1494–501. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2222.2007.02806.x
- 44. Planagumà A, Kazani S, Marigowda G, Haworth O, Mariani TJ, Israel E, et al. Airway lipoxin A4 generation and lipoxin A4 receptor expression are decreased in severe asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2008) **178**(6):574–82. doi:10.1164/rccm.200801-061OC
- Vachier I, Bonnans C, Chavis C, Farce M, Godard P, Bousquet J, et al. Severe asthma is associated with a loss of LX4, an endogenous anti-inflammatory compound. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2005) 115(1):55–60. doi:10.1016/j. jaci.2004.09.038
- Wu SH, Yin PL, Zhang YM, Tao HX. Reversed changes of lipoxin A4 and leukotrienes in children with asthma in different severity degree. *Pediatr Pulmonol* (2010) 45(4):333–40. doi:10.1002/ppul.21186
- Eke Gungor H, Tahan F, Gokahmetoglu S, Saraymen B. Decreased levels of lipoxin A4 and annexin A1 in wheezy infants. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* (2014) 163(3):193–7. doi:10.1159/000358490
- Bhatt JM, Smyth AR. The management of pre-school wheeze. *Paediatr Respir* Rev (2011) 12(1):70–7. doi:10.1016/j.prrv.2010.09.001
- Li MO, Flavell RA. TGF-beta: a master of all T cell trades. *Cell* (2008) 134(3):392–404. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.07.025
- Letterio JJ, Roberts AB. Regulation of immune responses by TGF-beta. Annu Rev Immunol (1998) 16:137–61. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.16.1.137
- Monteleone G, Kumberova A, Croft NM, McKenzie C, Steer HW, MacDonald TT. Blocking Smad7 restores TGF-beta1 signaling in chronic inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Invest (2001) 108(4):601–9. doi:10.1172/JCI12821
- Monteleone G, Neurath MF, Ardizzone S, Di Sabatino A, Fantini MC, Castiglione F, et al. Mongersen, an oral SMAD7 antisense oligonucleotide, and Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med (2015) 372(12):1104–13. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1407250
- 53. Souza DG, Fagundes CT, Amaral FA, Cisalpino D, Sousa LP, Vieira AT, et al. The required role of endogenously produced lipoxin A4 and annexin-1 for the production of IL-10 and inflammatory hyporesponsiveness in mice. *J Immunol* (2007) **179**(12):8533–43. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.12.8533
- Brancaleone V, Dalli J, Bena S, Flower RJ, Cirino G, Perretti M. Evidence for an anti-inflammatory loop centered on polymorphonuclear leukocyte formyl peptide receptor 2/lipoxin A4 receptor and operative in the inflamed microvasculature. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(8):4905–14. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1003145

- Haworth O, Cernadas M, Yang R, Serhan CN, Levy BD. Resolvin E1 regulates interleukin 23, interferon-gamma and lipoxin A4 to promote the resolution of allergic airway inflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9(8):873–9. doi:10.1038/ni.1627
- Vago JP, Tavares LP, Garcia CC, Lima KM, Perucci LO, Vieira EL, et al. The role and effects of glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper in the context of inflammation resolution. *J Immunol* (2015) **194**(10):4940–50. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1401722
- Ronchetti S, Migliorati G, Riccardi C. GILZ as a mediator of the antiinflammatory effects of glucocorticoids. *Front Endocrinol* (2015) 6:170. doi:10.3389/fendo.2015.00170
- Alessandri AL, Sousa LP, Lucas CD, Rossi AG, Pinho V, Teixeira MM. Resolution of inflammation: mechanisms and opportunity for drug development. *Pharmacol Ther* (2013) 139(2):189–212. doi:10.1016/j. pharmthera.2013.04.006
- Baeuerle PA, Henkel T. Function and activation of NF-kappa B in the immune system. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1994) 12:141–79. doi:10.1146/annurev. iy.12.040194.001041
- Bonizzi G, Karin M. The two NF-kappaB activation pathways and their role in innate and adaptive immunity. *Trends Immunol* (2004) 25(6):280–8. doi:10.1016/j.it.2004.03.008
- Karin M, Yamamoto Y, Wang QM. The IKK NF-kappa B system: a treasure trove for drug development. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2004) 3(1):17–26. doi:10.1038/nrd1279
- Lawrence T, Gilroy DW, Colville-Nash PR, Willoughby DA. Possible new role for NF-kappaB in the resolution of inflammation. *Nat Med* (2001) 7(12):1291–7. doi:10.1038/nm1201-1291
- Greten FR, Arkan MC, Bollrath J, Hsu LC, Goode J, Miething C, et al. NF-kappaB is a negative regulator of IL-1beta secretion as revealed by genetic and pharmacological inhibition of IKKbeta. *Cell* (2007) 130(5):918–31. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.07.009
- Lawrence T, Fong C. The resolution of inflammation: anti-inflammatory roles for NF-kappaB. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2010) 42(4):519–23. doi:10.1016/j. biocel.2009.12.016
- Hoffmann A, Leung TH, Baltimore D. Genetic analysis of NF-kappaB/ Rel transcription factors defines functional specificities. *EMBO J* (2003) 22(20):5530–9. doi:10.1093/emboj/cdg534
- Oeckinghaus A, Ghosh S. The NF-kappaB family of transcription factors and its regulation. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2009) 1(4):a000034. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a000034
- Huxford T, Malek S, Ghosh G. Structure and mechanism in NF-kappa B/I kappa B signaling. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol* (1999) 64:533–40. doi:10.1101/sqb.1999.64.533
- Wang VY, Huang W, Asagiri M, Spann N, Hoffmann A, Glass C, et al. The transcriptional specificity of NF-kappaB dimers is coded within the kappaB DNA response elements. *Cell Rep* (2012) 2(4):824–39. doi:10.1016/j. celrep.2012.08.042
- 69. Muxel SM, Laranjeira-Silva MF, de Carvalho Sousa CE, Floeter-Winter LM, Markus RP. The RelA/cRel nuclear factor-kappaB (NF-kappaB) dimer, crucial for inflammation resolution, mediates the transcription of the key enzyme in melatonin synthesis in RAW 264.7 macrophages. *J Pineal Res* (2016). **60**(4):394–404. doi:10.1111/jpi.12321
- Woo JI, Kil SH, Pan H, Lee YJ, Lim DJ, Moon SK. Distal NF-kB binding motif functions as an enhancer for nontypeable *H. influenzae*-induced DEFB4 regulation in epithelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2014) 443(3):1035–40. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.12.091
- Biswas SK, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(10):889–96. doi:10.1038/ni.1937
- Bohuslav J, Kravchenko VV, Parry GC, Erlich JH, Gerondakis S, Mackman N, et al. Regulation of an essential innate immune response by the p50 subunit of NF-kappaB. J Clin Invest (1998) 102(9):1645–52. doi:10.1172/JCI3877
- Ma XY, Wang H, Ding B, Zhong H, Ghosh S, Lengyel P. The interferoninducible p202a protein modulates NF-kappaB activity by inhibiting the binding to DNA of p50/p65 heterodimers and p65 homodimers while enhancing the binding of p50 homodimers. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278(25):23008–19. doi:10.1074/jbc.M302105200
- 74. Saccani A, Schioppa T, Porta C, Biswas SK, Nebuloni M, Vago L, et al. p50 nuclear factor-kappaB overexpression in tumor-associated macrophages

inhibits M1 inflammatory responses and antitumor resistance. *Cancer Res* (2006) **66**(23):11432-40. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1867

- 75. Ziegler-Heitbrock L. The p50-homodimer mechanism in tolerance to LPS. *J Endotoxin Res* (2001) 7(3):219–22. doi:10.1179/096805101101532701
- Porta C, Rimoldi M, Raes G, Brys L, Ghezzi P, Di Liberto D, et al. Tolerance and M2 (alternative) macrophage polarization are related processes orchestrated by p50 nuclear factor kappaB. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106(35):14978–83. doi:10.1073/pnas.0809784106
- Lee HN, Kundu JK, Cha YN, Surh YJ. Resolvin D1 stimulates efferocytosis through p50/p50-mediated suppression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha expression. J Cell Sci (2013) 126(Pt 17):4037–47. doi:10.1242/jcs.131003
- Aparicio-Soto M, Alarcon-de-la-Lastra C, Cardeno A, Sanchez-Fidalgo S, Sanchez-Hidalgo M. Melatonin modulates microsomal PGE synthase 1 and NF-E2-related factor-2-regulated antioxidant enzyme expression in LPS-induced murine peritoneal macrophages. *Br J Pharmacol* (2014) 171(1):134–44. doi:10.1111/bph.12428
- Lardone PJ, Carrillo-Vico A, Naranjo MC, De Felipe B, Vallejo A, Karasek M, et al. Melatonin synthesized by Jurkat human leukemic T cell line is implicated in IL-2 production. J Cell Physiol (2006) 206(1):273–9. doi:10.1002/jcp.20461
- Criollo A, Senovilla L, Authier H, Maiuri MC, Morselli E, Vitale I, et al. The IKK complex contributes to the induction of autophagy. *EMBO J* (2010) 29(3):619–31. doi:10.1038/emboj.2009.364
- Zhou R, Yazdi AS, Menu P, Tschopp J. A role for mitochondria in NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *Nature* (2011) 469(7329):221–5. doi:10.1038/ nature09663
- Nakahira K, Haspel JA, Rathinam VA, Lee SJ, Dolinay T, Lam HC, et al. Autophagy proteins regulate innate immune responses by inhibiting the release of mitochondrial DNA mediated by the NALP3 inflammasome. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(3):222–30. doi:10.1038/ni.1980
- Saitoh T, Fujita N, Jang MH, Uematsu S, Yang BG, Satoh T, et al. Loss of the autophagy protein Atg16L1 enhances endotoxin-induced IL-1beta production. *Nature* (2008) 456(7219):264–8. doi:10.1038/nature07383
- Zhong Z, Umemura A, Sanchez-Lopez E, Liang S, Shalapour S, Wong J, et al. NF-kappaB restricts inflammasome activation via elimination of damaged mitochondria. *Cell* (2016) 164(5):896–910. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.12.057
- Chian CF, Chiang CH, Chuang CH, Liu SL. Inhibitor of nuclear factorkappaB, SN50, attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced lung injury in an isolated and perfused rat lung model. *Transl Res* (2014) 163(3):211–20. doi:10.1016/j.trsl.2013.10.002
- Sun YX, Dai DK, Liu R, Wang T, Luo CL, Bao HJ, et al. Therapeutic effect of SN50, an inhibitor of nuclear factor-kappaB, in treatment of TBI in mice. *Neurol Sci* (2013) 34(3):345–55. doi:10.1007/s10072-012-1007-z
- El-Salhy M, Umezawa K, Gilja OH, Hatlebakk JG, Gundersen D, Hausken T. Amelioration of severe TNBS induced colitis by novel AP-1 and NF-kappa B inhibitors in rats. *ScientificWorldJournal* (2014) 2014:813804. doi:10.1155/2014/813804
- Hosokawa S, Haraguchi G, Sasaki A, Arai H, Muto S, Itai A, et al. Pathophysiological roles of nuclear factor kappaB (NF-kB) in pulmonary arterial hypertension: effects of synthetic selective NF-kB inhibitor IMD-0354. *Cardiovasc Res* (2013) **99**(1):35–43. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvt105
- Sousa LP, Carmo AF, Rezende BM, Lopes F, Silva DM, Alessandri AL, et al. Cyclic AMP enhances resolution of allergic pleurisy by promoting inflammatory cell apoptosis via inhibition of PI3K/Akt and NF-kappaB. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2009) **78**(4):396–405. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2009.04.030
- Lopes F, Coelho FM, Costa VV, Vieira EL, Sousa LP, Silva TA, et al. Resolution of neutrophilic inflammation by H2O2 in antigen-induced arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2011) 63(9):2651–60. doi:10.1002/art.30448
- Fong CH, Bebien M, Didierlaurent A, Nebauer R, Hussell T, Broide D, et al. An antiinflammatory role for IKKbeta through the inhibition of "classical" macrophage activation. *J Exp Med* (2008) **205**(6):1269–76. doi:10.1084/ jem.20080124
- Hsu LC, Enzler T, Seita J, Timmer AM, Lee CY, Lai TY, et al. IL-1beta-driven neutrophilia preserves antibacterial defense in the absence of the kinase IKKbeta. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(2):144–50. doi:10.1038/ni.1976
- Anderson P. Post-transcriptional regulons coordinate the initiation and resolution of inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10(1):24–35. doi:10.1038/ nri2685
- Anderson P. Post-transcriptional control of cytokine production. Nat Immunol (2008) 9(4):353–9. doi:10.1038/ni1584

- Mazumder B, Li X, Barik S. Translation control: a multifaceted regulator of inflammatory response. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(7):3311–9. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0903778
- Boldin MP, Baltimore D. MicroRNAs, new effectors and regulators of NF-kappaB. *Immunol Rev* (2012) 246(1):205–20. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X. 2011.01089.x
- Ma X, Becker Buscaglia LE, Barker JR, Li Y. MicroRNAs in NF-kappaB signaling. J Mol Cell Biol (2011) 3(3):159–66. doi:10.1093/jmcb/mjr007
- Taganov KD, Boldin MP, Chang KJ, Baltimore D. NF-kappaB-dependent induction of microRNA miR-146, an inhibitor targeted to signaling proteins of innate immune responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2006) 103(33):12481–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0605298103
- O'Connell RM, Rao DS, Chaudhuri AA, Baltimore D. Physiological and pathological roles for microRNAs in the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2010) 10(2):111–22. doi:10.1038/nri2708
- Etzrodt M, Cortez-Retamozo V, Newton A, Zhao J, Ng A, Wildgruber M, et al. Regulation of monocyte functional heterogeneity by miR-146a and Relb. *Cell Rep* (2012) 1(4):317–24. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2012.02.009
- Vallabhapurapu S, Karin M. Regulation and function of NF-kappaB transcription factors in the immune system. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2009) 27:693–733. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132641
- 102. El Gazzar M, Church A, Liu T, McCall CE. MicroRNA-146a regulates both transcription silencing and translation disruption of TNF-alpha during TLR4-induced gene reprogramming. *J Leukoc Biol* (2011) **90**(3):509–19. doi:10.1189/jlb.0211074
- 103. Brudecki L, Ferguson DA, McCall CE, El Gazzar M. MicroRNA-146a and RBM4 form a negative feed-forward loop that disrupts cytokine mRNA translation following TLR4 responses in human THP-1 monocytes. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2013) **91**(8):532–40. doi:10.1038/icb.2013.37
- 104. Boldin MP, Taganov KD, Rao DS, Yang L, Zhao JL, Kalwani M, et al. miR-146a is a significant brake on autoimmunity, myeloproliferation, and cancer in mice. *J Exp Med* (2011) **208**(6):1189–201. doi:10.1084/jem. 20101823
- Perry MM, Moschos SA, Williams AE, Shepherd NJ, Larner-Svensson HM, Lindsay MA. Rapid changes in microRNA-146a expression negatively regulate the IL-1beta-induced inflammatory response in human lung alveolar epithelial cells. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(8):5689–98. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180. 8.5689
- 106. Jurkin J, Schichl YM, Koeffel R, Bauer T, Richter S, Konradi S, et al. miR-146a is differentially expressed by myeloid dendritic cell subsets and desensitizes cells to TLR2-dependent activation. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(9):4955–65. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903021
- 107. Lu Z, Li Y, Takwi A, Li B, Zhang J, Conklin DJ, et al. miR-301a as an NF-kappaB activator in pancreatic cancer cells. *EMBO J* (2011) **30**(1):57–67. doi:10.1038/emboj.2010.296
- Johnnidis JB, Harris MH, Wheeler RT, Stehling-Sun S, Lam MH, Kirak O, et al. Regulation of progenitor cell proliferation and granulocyte function by microRNA-223. *Nature* (2008) 451(7182):1125–9. doi:10.1038/ nature06607
- 109. Bazzoni F, Rossato M, Fabbri M, Gaudiosi D, Mirolo M, Mori L, et al. Induction and regulatory function of miR-9 in human monocytes and neutrophils exposed to proinflammatory signals. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) **106**(13):5282–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0810909106
- 110. Cheng Y, Kuang W, Hao Y, Zhang D, Lei M, Du L, et al. Downregulation of miR-27a* and miR-532-5p and upregulation of miR-146a and miR-155 in LPS-induced RAW264.7 macrophage cells. *Inflammation* (2012) 35(4):1308–13. doi:10.1007/s10753-012-9443-8
- 111. Liu G, Friggeri A, Yang Y, Park YJ, Tsuruta Y, Abraham E. miR-147, a microRNA that is induced upon Toll-like receptor stimulation, regulates murine macrophage inflammatory responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A* (2009) 106(37):15819–24. doi:10.1073/pnas.0901216106
- 112. Shaked I, Meerson A, Wolf Y, Avni R, Greenberg D, Gilboa-Geffen A, et al. MicroRNA-132 potentiates cholinergic anti-inflammatory signaling by targeting acetylcholinesterase. *Immunity* (2009) **31**(6):965–73. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2009.09.019
- 113. Lagos D, Pollara G, Henderson S, Gratrix F, Fabani M, Milne RS, et al. miR-132 regulates antiviral innate immunity through suppression of the p300 transcriptional co-activator. *Nat Cell Biol* (2010) **12**(5):513–9. doi:10.1038/ ncb2054

- Coskun M, Bjerrum JT, Seidelin JB, Nielsen OH. MicroRNAs in inflammatory bowel disease pathogenesis, diagnostics and therapeutics. World J Gastroenterol (2012) 18(34):4629–34. doi:10.3748/wjg.v18.i34.4629
- 115. Xiao C, Srinivasan L, Calado DP, Patterson HC, Zhang B, Wang J, et al. Lymphoproliferative disease and autoimmunity in mice with increased miR-17-92 expression in lymphocytes. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9(4):405–14. doi:10.1038/ni1575
- Besedovsky H, del Rey A, Sorkin E, Dinarello C. Immunoregulatory feedback between interleukin-1 and glucocorticoid hormones. *Science* (1986) 233(4764):652–4. doi:10.1126/science.3014662
- 117. Getting SJ, Christian HC, Flower RJ, Perretti M. Activation of melanocortin type 3 receptor as a molecular mechanism for adrenocorticotropic hormone efficacy in gouty arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2002) 46(10):2765–75. doi:10.1002/art.10526
- Montero-Melendez T. ACTH: the forgotten therapy. Semin Immunol (2015) 27(3):216–26. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2015.02.003
- Montero-Melendez T, Patel HB, Seed M, Nielsen S, Jonassen TEN, Perretti M. The melanocortin agonist AP214 exerts anti-inflammatory and proresolving properties. *Am J Pathol* (2011) **179**(1):259–69. doi:10.1016/j. ajpath.2011.03.042
- 120. Montero-Melendez T, Gobbetti T, Cooray SN, Jonassen TEN, Perretti M. Biased agonism as a novel strategy to harness the proresolving properties of melanocortin receptors without eliciting melanogenic effects. *J Immunol* (2015) **194**(7):3381–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1402645
- Vacchini A, Locati M, Borroni EM. Overview and potential unifying themes of the atypical chemokine receptor family. *J Leukoc Biol* (2016). doi:10.1189/ jlb.2MR1015-477R
- 122. Nibbs RJ, Graham GJ. Immune regulation by atypical chemokine receptors. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) **13**(11):815–29. doi:10.1038/nri3544
- 123. Dean RA, Overall CM. Proteomics discovery of metalloproteinase substrates in the cellular context by iTRAQ labeling reveals a diverse MMP-2 substrate degradome. *Mol Cell Proteomics* (2007) **6**(4):611–23. doi:10.1074/mcp. M600341-MCP200
- 124. Tam EM, Morrison CJ, Wu YI, Stack MS, Overall CM. Membrane protease proteomics: isotope-coded affinity tag MS identification of undescribed MT1-matrix metalloproteinase substrates. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101(18):6917–22. doi:10.1073/pnas.0305862101
- Parks WC, Wilson CL, Lopez-Boado YS. Matrix metalloproteinases as modulators of inflammation and innate immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2004) 4(8):617–29. doi:10.1038/nri1418
- 126. McQuibban GA, Gong JH, Tam EM, McCulloch CA, Clark-Lewis I, Overall CM. Inflammation dampened by gelatinase a cleavage of monocyte chemoattractant protein-3. *Science* (2000) 289(5482):1202–6. doi:10.1126/ science.289.5482.1202
- 127. McQuibban GA, Gong JH, Wong JP, Wallace JL, Clark-Lewis I, Overall CM. Matrix metalloproteinase processing of monocyte chemoattractant proteins generates CC chemokine receptor antagonists with anti-inflammatory properties *in vivo*. *Blood* (2002) **100**(4):1160–7.
- McQuibban GA, Butler GS, Gong JH, Bendall L, Power C, Clark-Lewis I, et al. Matrix metalloproteinase activity inactivates the CXC chemokine stromal cell-derived factor-1. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276(47):43503–8. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M107736200
- 129. Van den Steen PE, Proost P, Wuyts A, Van Damme J, Opdenakker G. Neutrophil gelatinase B potentiates interleukin-8 tenfold by aminoterminal processing, whereas it degrades CTAP-III, PF-4, and GRO-alpha and leaves RANTES and MCP-2 intact. *Blood* (2000) **96**(8):2673–81.
- Moelants EA, Mortier A, Van Damme J, Proost P. In vivo regulation of chemokine activity by post-translational modification. Immunol Cell Biol (2013) 91(6):402–7. doi:10.1038/icb.2013.16
- Gearing AJ, Beckett P, Christodoulou M, Churchill M, Clements J, Davidson AH, et al. Processing of tumour necrosis factor-alpha precursor by metalloproteinases. *Nature* (1994) 370(6490):555–7. doi:10.1038/370555a0
- Wilson CL. Regulation of intestinal defensin activation by the metalloproteinase matrilysin in innate host defense. *Science* (1999) 286(5437):113–7. doi:10.1126/science.286.5437.113
- 133. Butler GS, Sim D, Tam E, Devine D, Overall CM. Mannose-binding lectin (MBL) mutants are susceptible to matrix metalloproteinase proteolysis: potential role in human MBL deficiency. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277(20):17511–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M201461200

- 134. Dean RA, Cox JH, Bellac CL, Doucet A, Starr AE, Overall CM. Macrophagespecific metalloelastase (MMP-12) truncates and inactivates ELR+ CXC chemokines and generates CCL2, -7, -8, and -13 antagonists: potential role of the macrophage in terminating polymorphonuclear leukocyte influx. *Blood* (2008) 112(8):3455–64. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-12-129080
- 135. Souza DG, Guabiraba R, Pinho V, Bristow A, Poole S, Teixeira MM. IL-1-Driven endogenous IL-10 production protects against the systemic and local acute inflammatory response following intestinal reperfusion injury. *J Immunol* (2003) **170**(9):4759–66. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.9.4759
- 136. Burne MJ, Elghandour A, Haq M, Saba SR, Norman J, Condon T, et al. IL-1 and TNF independent pathways mediate ICAM-1/VCAM-1 up-regulation in ischemia reperfusion injury. *J Leukoc Biol* (2001) **70**(2):192–8.
- 137. Haq M, Norman J, Saba SR, Ramirez G, Rabb H. Role of IL-1 in renal ischemic reperfusion injury. J Am Soc Nephrol (1998) 9(4):614–9.
- Fu LW, Longhurst JC. Interleukin-1beta sensitizes abdominal visceral afferents of cats to ischaemia and histamine. *J Physiol* (1999) 521(Pt 1):249–60. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7793.1999.00249.x
- Bamias G, Corridoni D, Pizarro TT, Cominelli F. New insights into the dichotomous role of innate cytokines in gut homeostasis and inflammation. *Cytokine* (2012) 59(3):451–9. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2012.06.014
- 140. Takagi H, Kanai T, Okazawa A, Kishi Y, Sato T, Takaishi H, et al. Contrasting action of IL-12 and IL-18 in the development of dextran sodium sulphate colitis in mice. *Scand J Gastroenterol* (2003) 38(8):837–44. doi:10.1080/00365520310004047
- 141. Zaki MH, Boyd KL, Vogel P, Kastan MB, Lamkanfi M, Kanneganti TD. The NLRP3 inflammasome protects against loss of epithelial integrity and mortality during experimental colitis. *Immunity* (2010) **32**(3):379–91. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.03.003
- 142. Dupaul-Chicoine J, Yeretssian G, Doiron K, Bergstrom KS, McIntire CR, LeBlanc PM, et al. Control of intestinal homeostasis, colitis, and colitisassociated colorectal cancer by the inflammatory caspases. *Immunity* (2010) 32(3):367–78. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.02.012
- 143. Bersudsky M, Luski L, Fishman D, White RM, Ziv-Sokolovskaya N, Dotan S, et al. Non-redundant properties of IL-1alpha and IL-1beta during acute colon inflammation in mice. *Gut* (2014) **63**(4):598–609. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303329
- 144. Medina-Contreras O, Harusato A, Nishio H, Flannigan KL, Ngo V, Leoni G, et al. Cutting edge: IL-36 receptor promotes resolution of intestinal damage. *J Immunol* (2016) **196**(1):34–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1501312
- 145. Villani AC, Lemire M, Fortin G, Louis E, Silverberg MS, Collette C, et al. Common variants in the NLRP3 region contribute to Crohn's disease susceptibility. *Nat Genet* (2009) 41(1):71–6. doi:10.1038/ng.285
- 146. Souza DG, Soares AC, Pinho V, Torloni H, Reis LF, Teixeira MM, et al. Increased mortality and inflammation in tumor necrosis factor-stimulated gene-14 transgenic mice after ischemia and reperfusion injury. *Am J Pathol* (2002) 160(5):1755–65. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)61122-4
- 147. Souza DG, Cassali GD, Poole S, Teixeira MM. Effects of inhibition of PDE4 and TNF-alpha on local and remote injuries following ischaemia and reperfusion injury. *Br J Pharmacol* (2001) 134(5):985–94. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0704336
- 148. Gobbetti T, Coldewey SM, Chen J, McArthur S, le Faouder P, Cenac N, et al. Nonredundant protective properties of FPR2/ALX in polymicrobial murine sepsis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) **111**(52):18685–90. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1410938111
- 149. Ouyang W, Rutz S, Crellin NK, Valdez PA, Hymowitz SG. Regulation and functions of the IL-10 family of cytokines in inflammation and disease. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2011) 29:71–109. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101312
- Saraiva M, O'Garra A. The regulation of IL-10 production by immune cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10(3):170–81. doi:10.1038/nri2711
- 151. Schaljo B, Kratochvill F, Gratz N, Sadzak I, Sauer I, Hammer M, et al. Tristetraprolin is required for full anti-inflammatory response of murine macrophages to IL-10. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(2):1197–206. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0803883
- 152. Samuelsson B. Role of basic science in the development of new medicines: examples from the eicosanoid field. J Biol Chem (2012) 287(13):10070–80. doi:10.1074/jbc.X112.351437
- 153. Malawista SE, de Boisfleury Chevance A, van Damme J, Serhan CN. Tonic inhibition of chemotaxis in human plasma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105(46):17949–54. doi:10.1073/pnas.0802572105

- Medzhitov R. Origin and physiological roles of inflammation. *Nature* (2008) 454(7203):428–35. doi:10.1038/nature07201
- Gilroy DW, Colville-Nash PR, Willis D, Chivers J, Paul-Clark MJ, Willoughby DA. Inducible cyclooxygenase may have anti-inflammatory properties. *Nat Med* (1999) 5(6):698–701. doi:10.1038/9550
- 156. Surh YJ, Na HK, Park JM, Lee HN, Kim W, Yoon IS, et al. 15-Deoxydelta(1)(2),(1)(4)-prostaglandin J(2), an electrophilic lipid mediator of anti-inflammatory and pro-resolving signaling. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2011) 82(10):1335–51. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2011.07.100
- 157. Anderson P, Kedersha N. Stress granules: the Tao of RNA triage. *Trends Biochem Sci* (2008) **33**(3):141–50. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2007.12.003
- Kim WJ, Kim JH, Jang SK. Anti-inflammatory lipid mediator 15d-PGJ2 inhibits translation through inactivation of eIF4A. *EMBO J* (2007) 26(24):5020–32. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7601920
- 159. Shibata T, Kondo M, Osawa T, Shibata N, Kobayashi M, Uchida K. 15-deoxydelta 12,14-prostaglandin J2. A prostaglandin D2 metabolite generated during inflammatory processes. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277(12):10459–66. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110314200
- Harrington MG, Aebersold R, Martin BM, Merril CR, Hood L. Identification of a brain-specific human cerebrospinal fluid glycoprotein, beta-trace protein. *Appl Theor Electrophor* (1993) 3(5):229–34.
- 161. Cipollone F, Fazia M, Iezzi A, Ciabattoni G, Pini B, Cuccurullo C, et al. Balance between PGD synthase and PGE synthase is a major determinant of atherosclerotic plaque instability in humans. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2004) 24(7):1259–65. doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000133192.39901.be
- 162. Bandeira-Melo C, Serra MF, Diaz BL, Cordeiro RS, Silva PM, Lenzi HL, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2-derived prostaglandin E2 and lipoxin A4 accelerate resolution of allergic edema in *Angiostrongylus costaricensis*-infected rats: relationship with concurrent eosinophilia. *J Immunol* (2000) 164(2):1029–36. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.164.2.1029
- 163. Schwab JM, Chiang N, Arita M, Serhan CN. Resolvin E1 and protectin D1 activate inflammation-resolution programmes. *Nature* (2007) 447(7146):869–74. doi:10.1038/nature05877
- 164. Markworth JF, Vella L, Lingard BS, Tull DL, Rupasinghe TW, Sinclair AJ, et al. Human inflammatory and resolving lipid mediator responses to resistance exercise and ibuprofen treatment. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2013) 305(11):R1281–96. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00128.2013
- 165. Chan MM, Moore AR. Resolution of inflammation in murine autoimmune arthritis is disrupted by cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition and restored by prostaglandin E2-mediated lipoxin A4 production. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(11):6418–26. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903816
- 166. Fukunaga K, Kohli P, Bonnans C, Fredenburgh LE, Levy BD. Cyclooxygenase 2 plays a pivotal role in the resolution of acute lung injury. *J Immunol* (2005) 174(8):5033–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.8.5033
- 167. Vane JR. Adventures and excursions in bioassay: the stepping stones to prostacyclin. Br J Pharmacol (1983) 79(3):821–38. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.1983. tb10020.x
- Claria J, Serhan CN. Aspirin triggers previously undescribed bioactive eicosanoids by human endothelial cell-leukocyte interactions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1995) **92**(21):9475–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.21.9475
- 169. Serhan CN, Hong S, Gronert K, Colgan SP, Devchand PR, Mirick G, et al. Resolvins. J Exp Med (2002) 196(8):1025–37. doi:10.1084/jem.20020760
- Serhan CN, Fredman G, Yang R, Karamnov S, Belayev LS, Bazan NG, et al. Novel proresolving aspirin-triggered DHA pathway. *Chem Biol* (2011) 18(8):976–87. doi:10.1016/j.chembiol.2011.06.008
- 171. Morris T, Stables M, Hobbs A, de Souza P, Colville-Nash P, Warner T, et al. Effects of low-dose aspirin on acute inflammatory responses in humans. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(3):2089–96. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900477
- 172. Brancaleone V, Gobbetti T, Cenac N, le Faouder P, Colom B, Flower RJ, et al. A vasculo-protective circuit centered on lipoxin A4 and aspirin-triggered 15-epi-lipoxin A4 operative in murine microcirculation. *Blood* (2013) 122(4):608–17. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-04-496661
- 173. Chiang N, Bermudez EA, Ridker PM, Hurwitz S, Serhan CN. Aspirin triggers antiinflammatory 15-epi-lipoxin A4 and inhibits thromboxane in a randomized human trial. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) **101**(42):15178–83. doi:10.1073/pnas.0405445101
- 174. Morris T, Stables M, Colville-Nash P, Newson J, Bellingan G, de Souza PM, et al. Dichotomy in duration and severity of acute inflammatory responses

in humans arising from differentially expressed proresolution pathways. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) **107**(19):8842–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1000373107

- 175. Pillai PS, Leeson S, Porter TF, Owens CD, Kim JM, Conte MS, et al. Chemical mediators of inflammation and resolution in post-operative abdominal aortic aneurysm patients. *Inflammation* (2012) 35(1):98–113. doi:10.1007/ s10753-011-9294-8
- 176. Harty MW, Muratore CS, Papa EF, Gart MS, Ramm GA, Gregory SH, et al. Neutrophil depletion blocks early collagen degradation in repairing cholestatic rat livers. *Am J Pathol* (2010) **176**(3):1271–81. doi:10.2353/ ajpath.2010.090527
- 177. Kuhl AA, Kakirman H, Janotta M, Dreher S, Cremer P, Pawlowski NN, et al. Aggravation of different types of experimental colitis by depletion or adhesion blockade of neutrophils. *Gastroenterology* (2007) 133(6):1882–92. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2007.08.073
- Campbell EL, Bruyninckx WJ, Kelly CJ, Glover LE, McNamee EN, Bowers BE, et al. Transmigrating neutrophils shape the mucosal microenvironment through localized oxygen depletion to influence resolution of inflammation. *Immunity* (2014) 40(1):66–77. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.11.020
- 179. Schauer C, Janko C, Munoz LE, Zhao Y, Kienhofer D, Frey B, et al. Aggregated neutrophil extracellular traps limit inflammation by degrading cytokines and chemokines. *Nat Med* (2014) **20**(5):511–7. doi:10.1038/nm.3547
- 180. Gresnigt MS, Joosten LA, Verschueren I, van der Meer JW, Netea MG, Dinarello CA, et al. Neutrophil-mediated inhibition of proinflammatory cytokine responses. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(10):4806–15. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1103551
- van der Meer JH, Netea MG, Dinarello CA. Modulation of muramyl dipeptide stimulation of cytokine production by blood components. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2009) 156(3):428–33. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2009.03926.x
- Branzk N, Papayannopoulos V. Molecular mechanisms regulating NETosis in infection and disease. *Semin Immunopathol* (2013) 35(4):513–30. doi:10.1007/s00281-013-0384-6
- 183. Warnatsch A, Ioannou M, Wang Q, Papayannopoulos V. Neutrophil extracellular traps license macrophages for cytokine production in atherosclerosis. *Science* (2015) 349(6245):316–20. doi:10.1126/science.aaa8064
- Kahlenberg JM, Carmona-Rivera C, Smith CK, Kaplan MJ. Neutrophil extracellular trap-associated protein activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome is enhanced in lupus macrophages. *J Immunol* (2013) **190**(3):1217–26. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202388
- 185. Knight JS, Zhao W, Luo W, Subramanian V, O'Dell AA, Yalavarthi S, et al. Peptidylarginine deiminase inhibition is immunomodulatory and vasculoprotective in murine lupus. *J Clin Invest* (2013) **123**(7):2981–93. doi:10.1172/ JCI67390
- 186. Savchenko AS, Borissoff JI, Martinod K, De Meyer SF, Gallant M, Erpenbeck L, et al. VWF-mediated leukocyte recruitment with chromatin decondensation by PAD4 increases myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury in mice. *Blood* (2014) **123**(1):141–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-07-514992
- 187. Martinod K, Demers M, Fuchs TA, Wong SL, Brill A, Gallant M, et al. Neutrophil histone modification by peptidylarginine deiminase 4 is critical for deep vein thrombosis in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(21):8674–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1301059110
- 188. Wong SL, Demers M, Martinod K, Gallant M, Wang Y, Goldfine AB, et al. Diabetes primes neutrophils to undergo NETosis, which impairs wound healing. *Nat Med* (2015) **21**(7):815–9. doi:10.1038/nm.3887
- 189. Huang H, Tohme S, Al-Khafaji AB, Tai S, Loughran P, Chen L, et al. Damageassociated molecular pattern-activated neutrophil extracellular trap exacerbates sterile inflammatory liver injury. *Hepatology* (2015) 62(2):600–14. doi:10.1002/hep.27841
- 190. Podolska MJ, Biermann MH, Maueroder C, Hahn J, Herrmann M. Inflammatory etiopathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus: an update. *J Inflamm Res* (2015) 8:161–71. doi:10.2147/JIR.S70325
- 191. Knight JS, Kaplan MJ. Lupus neutrophils: 'NET' gain in understanding lupus pathogenesis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* (2012) 24(5):441–50. doi:10.1097/ BOR.0b013e3283546703
- 192. Hakkim A, Furnrohr BG, Amann K, Laube B, Abed UA, Brinkmann V, et al. Impairment of neutrophil extracellular trap degradation is associated with lupus nephritis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2010) **107**(21):9813–8. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0909927107
- 193. Garcia-Romo GS, Caielli S, Vega B, Connolly J, Allantaz F, Xu Z, et al. Netting neutrophils are major inducers of type I IFN production in pediatric systemic

lupus erythematosus. *Sci Transl Med* (2011) **3**(73):73ra20. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3001201

- 194. Lande R, Ganguly D, Facchinetti V, Frasca L, Conrad C, Gregorio J, et al. Neutrophils activate plasmacytoid dendritic cells by releasing self-DNApeptide complexes in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Sci Transl Med* (2011) 3(73):73ra19. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3001180
- 195. Lood C, Blanco LP, Purmalek MM, Carmona-Rivera C, De Ravin SS, Smith CK, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps enriched in oxidized mitochondrial DNA are interferogenic and contribute to lupus-like disease. *Nat Med* (2016) 22(2):146–53. doi:10.1038/nm.4027
- 196. Ma CY, Jiao YL, Zhang J, Yang QR, Zhang ZF, Shen YJ, et al. Elevated plasma level of HMGB1 is associated with disease activity and combined alterations with IFN-alpha and TNF-alpha in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheumatol Int* (2012) 32(2):395–402. doi:10.1007/s00296-010-1636-6
- 197. Vordenbaumen S, Fischer-Betz R, Timm D, Sander O, Chehab G, Richter J, et al. Elevated levels of human beta-defensin 2 and human neutrophil peptides in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* (2010) 19(14):1648–53. doi:10.1177/0961203310377089
- Hood MI, Skaar EP. Nutritional immunity: transition metals at the pathogen-host interface. Nat Rev Microbiol (2012) 10(8):525–37. doi:10.1038/ nrmicro2836
- Diaz-Ochoa VE, Jellbauer S, Klaus S, Raffatellu M. Transition metal ions at the crossroads of mucosal immunity and microbial pathogenesis. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* (2014) 4:2. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2014.00002
- Sohnle PG, Collins-Lech C, Wiessner JH. The zinc-reversible antimicrobial activity of neutrophil lysates and abscess fluid supernatants. *J Infect Dis* (1991) 164(1):137–42. doi:10.1093/infdis/164.1.137
- 201. Corbin BD, Seeley EH, Raab A, Feldmann J, Miller MR, Torres VJ, et al. Metal chelation and inhibition of bacterial growth in tissue abscesses. *Science* (2008) **319**(5865):962–5. doi:10.1126/science.1152449
- 202. Kehl-Fie TE, Chitayat S, Hood MI, Damo S, Restrepo N, Garcia C, et al. Nutrient metal sequestration by calprotectin inhibits bacterial superoxide defense, enhancing neutrophil killing of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Cell Host Microbe* (2011) 10(2):158–64. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2011.07.004
- 203. Hayden JA, Brophy MB, Cunden LS, Nolan EM. High-affinity manganese coordination by human calprotectin is calcium-dependent and requires the histidine-rich site formed at the dimer interface. J Am Chem Soc (2013) 135(2):775–87. doi:10.1021/ja3096416
- 204. Damo SM, Kehl-Fie TE, Sugitani N, Holt ME, Rathi S, Murphy WJ, et al. Molecular basis for manganese sequestration by calprotectin and roles in the innate immune response to invading bacterial pathogens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2013) 110(10):3841–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1220341110
- 205. Brophy MB, Nakashige TG, Gaillard A, Nolan EM. Contributions of the S100A9 C-terminal tail to high-affinity Mn(II) chelation by the host-defense protein human calprotectin. *J Am Chem Soc* (2013) 135(47):17804–17. doi:10.1021/ja407147d
- 206. Vogl T, Tenbrock K, Ludwig S, Leukert N, Ehrhardt C, van Zoelen MA, et al. Mrp8 and Mrp14 are endogenous activators of Toll-like receptor 4, promoting lethal, endotoxin-induced shock. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(9):1042–9. doi:10.1038/nm1638
- 207. Riva M, Kallberg E, Bjork P, Hancz D, Vogl T, Roth J, et al. Induction of nuclear factor-kappaB responses by the S100A9 protein is Tolllike receptor-4-dependent. *Immunology* (2012) 137(2):172–82. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2012.03619.x
- Loser K, Vogl T, Voskort M, Lueken A, Kupas V, Nacken W, et al. The Toll-like receptor 4 ligands Mrp8 and Mrp14 are crucial in the development of autoreactive CD8+ T cells. *Nat Med* (2010) 16(6):713–7. doi:10.1038/nm.2150
- Newton RA, Hogg N. The human S100 protein MRP-14 is a novel activator of the beta 2 integrin Mac-1 on neutrophils. *J Immunol* (1998) 160(3):1427–35.
- 210. Ryckman C, McColl SR, Vandal K, de Medicis R, Lussier A, Poubelle PE, et al. Role of S100A8 and S100A9 in neutrophil recruitment in response to monosodium urate monohydrate crystals in the air-pouch model of acute gouty arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2003) 48(8):2310–20. doi:10.1002/art.11079
- 211. Sroussi HY, Berline J, Dazin P, Green P, Palefsky JM. S100A8 triggers oxidation-sensitive repulsion of neutrophils. J Dent Res (2006) 85(9):829–33. doi:10.1177/154405910608500910
- 212. Sroussi HY, Berline J, Palefsky JM. Oxidation of methionine 63 and 83 regulates the effect of \$100A9 on the migration of neutrophils *in vitro. J Leukoc Biol* (2007) 81(3):818–24. doi:10.1189/jlb.0706433

- 213. Averill MM, Barnhart S, Becker L, Li X, Heinecke JW, Leboeuf RC, et al. S100A9 differentially modifies phenotypic states of neutrophils, macrophages, and dendritic cells: implications for atherosclerosis and adipose tissue inflammation. *Circulation* (2011) **123**(11):1216–26. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA. 110.985523
- 214. Rau M, Schiller M, Krienke S, Heyder P, Lorenz H, Blank N. Clinical manifestations but not cytokine profiles differentiate adult-onset Still's disease and sepsis. J Rheumatol (2010) **37**(11):2369–76. doi:10.3899/jrheum.100247
- 215. Terrin G, Passariello A, Manguso F, Salvia G, Rapacciuolo L, Messina F, et al. Serum calprotectin: an antimicrobial peptide as a new marker for the diagnosis of sepsis in very low birth weight newborns. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2011) 2011:291085. doi:10.1155/2011/291085
- 216. Youssef P, Roth J, Frosch M, Costello P, Fitzgerald O, Sorg C, et al. Expression of myeloid related proteins (MRP) 8 and 14 and the MRP8/14 heterodimer in rheumatoid arthritis synovial membrane. J Rheumatol (1999) 26(12):2523–8.
- 217. Pepper RJ, Wang HH, Rajakaruna GK, Papakrivopoulou E, Vogl T, Pusey CD, et al. S100A8/A9 (calprotectin) is critical for development of glomerulo-nephritis and promotes inflammatory leukocyte-renal cell interactions. *Am J Pathol* (2015) **185**(5):1264–74. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.01.015
- van den Bergh FA, Kolkman JJ, Russel MG, Vlaskamp RT, Vermes I. [Calprotectin: a fecal marker for diagnosis and follow-up in patients with chronic inflammatory bowel disease]. *Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd* (2003) 147(48):2360–5.
- Hsu K, Passey RJ, Endoh Y, Rahimi F, Youssef P, Yen T, et al. Regulation of S100A8 by glucocorticoids. J Immunol (2005) 174(4):2318–26. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.174.4.2318
- 220. Brun JG, Haland G, Haga HJ, Fagerhol MK, Jonsson R. Effects of calprotectin in avridine-induced arthritis. *APMIS* (1995) **103**(3):233–40. doi:10.111 1/j.1699-0463.1995.tb01100.x
- 221. Trostrup H, Lundquist R, Christensen LH, Jorgensen LN, Karlsmark T, Haab BB, et al. S100A8/A9 deficiency in nonhealing venous leg ulcers uncovered by multiplexed antibody microarray profiling. *Br J Dermatol* (2011) 165(2):292–301. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.2011.10384.x
- 222. Sun Y, Lu Y, Engeland CG, Gordon SC, Sroussi HY. The anti-oxidative, anti-inflammatory, and protective effect of \$100A8 in endotoxemic mice. *Mol Immunol* (2013) 53(4):443–9. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2012.10.002
- 223. Schwartz R, Lu Y, Villines D, Sroussi HY. Effect of human immunodeficiency virus infection on S100A8/A9 inhibition of peripheral neutrophils oxidative metabolism. *Biomed Pharmacother* (2010) **64**(8):572–5. doi:10.1016/j. biopha.2010.03.005
- 224. Sroussi HY, Lu Y, Zhang QL, Villines D, Marucha PT. S100A8 and S100A9 inhibit neutrophil oxidative metabolism *in-vitro*: involvement of adenosine metabolites. *Free Radic Res* (2010) 44(4):389–96. doi:10.3109/ 10715760903431434
- 225. Sroussi HY, Lu Y, Villines D, Sun Y. The down regulation of neutrophil oxidative metabolism by S100A8 and S100A9: implication of the protease-activated receptor-2. *Mol Immunol* (2012) **50**(1–2):42–8. doi:10.1016/j. molimm.2011.12.001
- 226. Otsuka K, Terasaki F, Ikemoto M, Fujita S, Tsukada B, Katashima T, et al. Suppression of inflammation in rat autoimmune myocarditis by S100A8/A9 through modulation of the proinflammatory cytokine network. *Eur J Heart Fail* (2009) **11**(3):229–37. doi:10.1093/eurjhf/hfn049
- 227. Shimizu K, Libby P, Rocha VZ, Folco EJ, Shubiki R, Grabie N, et al. Loss of myeloidrelatedprotein-8/14exacerbatescardiacallograftrejection. *Circulation* (2011) 124(25):2920–32. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.009910
- Volz HC, Laohachewin D, Seidel C, Lasitschka F, Keilbach K, Wienbrandt AR, et al. S100A8/A9 aggravates post-ischemic heart failure through activation of RAGE-dependent NF-kappaB signaling. *Basic Res Cardiol* (2012) 107(2):250. doi:10.1007/s00395-012-0250-z
- Schiopu A, Cotoi OS. S100A8 and S100A9: DAMPs at the crossroads between innate immunity, traditional risk factors, and cardiovascular disease. *Mediators Inflamm* (2013) 2013:828354. doi:10.1155/2013/828354
- Gasser O, Schifferli JA. Activated polymorphonuclear neutrophils disseminate anti-inflammatory microparticles by ectocytosis. *Blood* (2004) 104(8):2543–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-01-0361
- Dalli J, Montero-Melendez T, Norling LV, Yin X, Hinds C, Haskard D, et al. Heterogeneity in neutrophil microparticles reveals distinct proteome and functional properties. *Mol Cell Proteomics* (2013) 12(8):2205–19. doi:10.1074/mcp.M113.028589

- Dalli J, Norling LV, Renshaw D, Cooper D, Leung KY, Perretti M. Annexin 1 mediates the rapid anti-inflammatory effects of neutrophil-derived microparticles. *Blood* (2008) 112(6):2512–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-02-140533
- 233. Perretti M, Croxtall J, Wheller S, Goulding N, Hannon R, Flower R. Mobilizing lipocortin 1 in adherent human leukocytes downregulates their transmigration. *Nat Med* (1996) 2(11):1259–62. doi:10.1038/nm1196-1259
- 234. Gastardelo TS, Damazo AS, Dalli J, Flower RJ, Perretti M, Oliani SM. Functional and ultrastructural analysis of annexin A1 and its receptor in extravasating neutrophils during acute inflammation. *Am J Pathol* (2009) 174(1):177–83. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2009.080342
- 235. Pederzoli-Ribeil M, Maione F, Cooper D, Al-Kashi A, Dalli J, Perretti M, et al. Design and characterization of a cleavage-resistant Annexin A1 mutant to control inflammation in the microvasculature. *Blood* (2010) 116(20):4288–96. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-02-270520
- 236. Headland SE, Jones HR, Norling LV, Kim A, Souza PR, Corsiero E, et al. Neutrophil-derived microvesicles enter cartilage and protect the joint in inflammatory arthritis. *Sci Transl Med* (2015) 7(315):315ra190. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.aac5608
- 237. Sugimoto MA, Vago JP, Teixeira MM, Sousa LP. Annexin A1 and the resolution of inflammation: modulation of neutrophil recruitment, apoptosis, and clearance. J Immunol Res (2016) 2016:1–13. doi:10.1155/2016/ 8239258
- 238. Fadok VA, Bratton DL, Konowal A, Freed PW, Westcott JY, Henson PM. Macrophages that have ingested apoptotic cells in vitro inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production through autocrine/paracrine mechanisms involving TGF-beta, PGE2, and PAF. J Clin Invest (1998) 101(4):890–8. doi:10.1172/ JCI1112
- Maderna P, Yona S, Perretti M, Godson C. Modulation of phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by supernatant from dexamethasone-treated macrophages and annexin-derived peptide Ac(2-26). *J Immunol* (2005) 174(6):3727–33. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.6.3727
- 240. Scannell M, Flanagan MB, deStefani A, Wynne KJ, Cagney G, Godson C, et al. Annexin-1 and peptide derivatives are released by apoptotic cells and stimulate phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by macrophages. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**(7):4595–605. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.7.4595
- Liu Y, Cousin JM, Hughes J, Van Damme J, Seckl JR, Haslett C, et al. Glucocorticoids promote nonphlogistic phagocytosis of apoptotic leukocytes. J Immunol (1999) 162(6):3639–46.
- 242. Kunkel SL, Chensue SW, Phan SH. Prostaglandins as endogenous mediators of interleukin 1 production. *J Immunol* (1986) **136**(1):186–92.
- 243. Katakami Y, Nakao Y, Koizumi T, Katakami N, Ogawa R, Fujita T. Regulation of tumour necrosis factor production by mouse peritoneal macrophages: the role of cellular cyclic AMP. *Immunology* (1988) **64**(4):719–24.
- 244. MacKenzie KF, Clark K, Naqvi S, McGuire VA, Noehren G, Kristariyanto Y, et al. PGE(2) induces macrophage IL-10 production and a regulatory-like phenotype via a protein kinase A-SIK-CRTC3 pathway. *J Immunol* (2013) 190(2):565–77. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202462
- 245. Nemeth K, Leelahavanichkul A, Yuen PS, Mayer B, Parmelee A, Doi K, et al. Bone marrow stromal cells attenuate sepsis via prostaglandin E(2)-dependent reprogramming of host macrophages to increase their interleukin-10 production. *Nat Med* (2009) 15(1):42–9. doi:10.1038/nm.1905
- 246. Zhang Y, Desai A, Yang SY, Bae KB, Antczak MI, Fink SP, et al. Tissue regeneration. Inhibition of the prostaglandin-degrading enzyme 15-pgdh potentiates tissue regeneration. *Science* (2015) **348**(6240):aaa2340. doi:10.1126/science. aaa2340
- Vancheri C, Mastruzzo C, Sortino MA, Crimi N. The lung as a privileged site for the beneficial actions of PGE2. *Trends Immunol* (2004) 25(1):40–6. doi:10.1016/j.it.2003.11.001
- Bozyk PD, Moore BB. Prostaglandin E2 and the pathogenesis of pulmonary fibrosis. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2011) 45(3):445–52. doi:10.1165/ rcmb.2011-0025RT
- 249. Wilborn J, Crofford LJ, Burdick MD, Kunkel SL, Strieter RM, Peters-Golden M. Cultured lung fibroblasts isolated from patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis have a diminished capacity to synthesize prostaglandin E2 and to express cyclooxygenase-2. *J Clin Invest* (1995) **95**(4):1861–8. doi:10.1172/JCI117866

- Hodges RJ, Jenkins RG, Wheeler-Jones CPD, Copeman DM, Bottoms SE, Bellingan GJ, et al. Severity of lung injury in cyclooxygenase-2-deficient mice is dependent on reduced prostaglandin E2 production. *Am J Pathol* (2004) 165(5):1663–76. doi:10.1016/s0002-9440(10)63423-2
- Cataldi M, Borriello F, Granata F, Annunziato L, Marone G. Histamine receptors and antihistamines: from discovery to clinical applications. *Chem Immunol Allergy* (2014) 100:214–26. doi:10.1159/000358740

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer VP and handling editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2016 Sugimoto, Sousa, Pinho, Perretti and Teixeira. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Atypical Chemokine Receptors and Their Roles in the Resolution of the Inflammatory Response

Raffaella Bonecchi^{1,2} and Gerard J. Graham^{3*}

¹ Humanitas Clinical and Research Center, Rozzano, Italy, ²Department of Biomedical Sciences, Humanitas University, Rozzano, Italy, ³Chemokine Research Group, Institute of Infection, Immunity and Inflammation, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, UK

Chemokines and their receptors are key mediators of the inflammatory process regulating leukocyte extravasation and directional migration into inflamed and infected tissues. The control of chemokine availability within inflamed tissues is necessary to attain a resolving environment and when this fails chronic inflammation ensues. Accordingly, vertebrates have adopted a number of mechanisms for removing chemokines from inflamed sites to help precipitate resolution. Over the past 15 years, it has become apparent that essential players in this process are the members of the atypical chemokine receptor (ACKR) family. Broadly speaking, this family is expressed on stromal cell types and scavenges chemokines to either limit their spatial availability or to remove them from *in vivo* sites. Here, we provide a brief review of these ACKRs and discuss their involvement in the resolution of inflammatory responses and the therapeutic implications of our current knowledge.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mariagrazia Uguccioni, Institute for Research in Biomedicine, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Mette M. M. Rosenkilde, University of Copenhagen, Denmark Mario Mellado, Spanish National Research Council, Spain

*Correspondence:

Gerard J. Graham g.graham@clinmed.gla.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 28 February 2016 Accepted: 25 May 2016 Published: 10 June 2016

Citation:

Bonecchi R and Graham GJ (2016) Atypical Chemokine Receptors and Their Roles in the Resolution of the Inflammatory Response. Front. Immunol. 7:224. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00224 Keywords: chemokines, immunity, inflammation, scavenging, atypical receptors

INTRODUCTION

An effective inflammatory response requires carefully regulated initiation, maintenance, and resolution phases (1). Inflammation is characterized by a stepwise recruitment of leukocytes, with neutrophils typically being the first recruited cellular population, followed by macrophages and lymphocytes. The precise molecular control of inflammation has not yet been fully worked out, although it is clear that the primary regulators of *in vivo* leukocyte migration to inflamed tissue sites are the chemokines, or chemotactic cytokines (2). Chemokines are members of a large family of proteins defined by the presence of a conserved cysteine motif in their mature protein sequences. Chemokines are divided into CC, CXC, XC, and CX3C subfamilies according to the specific nature of the cysteine motif (3). Chemokines are exclusive to vertebrates (4), and the primordial chemokine is almost certainly CXCL12, which was evolved to regulate stem cell migration during embryogenesis. From this one ancestral gene, the family has expanded to the point at which mammals have around 45 different chemokines, which are involved, in sometimes extremely complex and subtle ways, in regulating immune and inflammatory cell migration in vivo. Chemokines can be broadly defined as being either inflammatory or homeostatic according to the contexts in which they function (3, 5). Inflammatory chemokines are not normally expressed at significant levels but are induced extremely rapidly following tissue insult, or infection, and serve to recruit inflammatory leukocytes to any compromised body site. In all likelihood, all cells are capable of producing inflammatory chemokines

and thus initiating inflammation. In contrast, homeostatic chemokines are involved in the basal recruitment of cells involved in immune responses, and these control much more specific cellular navigation processes.

Chemokines interact with their target cells by binding to receptors belonging to the 7-transmembrane-spanning family of G protein-coupled receptors (6). Thus far, 10 receptors for CC chemokines, 7 for CXC chemokines, and single receptors for the XC and CX3C chemokines have been identified. Again, these receptors can be defined as being either inflammatory or homeostatic according to the class of chemokines they bind. One complex feature of chemokine receptors, particularly those involved in regulating inflammatory leukocyte migration, is that they display promiscuous ligand binding. In addition, individual chemokines can bind to more than one receptor and individual receptors are expressed on numerous different leukocyte cell types (6). Moreover, the formation of receptor dimers and oligomers at the cell surface can modify their chemokine binding and signaling activity, further complicating biology (7). This biological complexity, and the likely existence of biased-signaling in terms of receptor/ligand interactions (8, 9), suggests that chemokine receptor involvement in inflammatory responses is complex and potentially redundant.

In the context of an inflammatory response, it is clear from a number of studies that numerous inflammatory chemokines are simultaneous expressed at damaged sites. These then attract leukocytes by interacting with inflammatory chemokine receptors and initiate inflammatory responses. While inflammation typically is transient, and resolves efficiently, occasionally, it can be associated with chronic inflammatory disease. The fact that chemokines and their receptors are the primary drivers of inflammatory leukocyte recruitment therefore highlights them as important therapeutic targets (10). Despite this exciting opportunity, progress toward development of clinically useful receptor antagonists has been extremely disappointing (11). Indeed, 25 years since the cloning of the first inflammatory chemokine receptor (12), there are still no chemokine receptor antagonists licensed for use in treating inflammatory diseases. While there are many pharmacological reasons for this, one over-riding reason is that we currently have a relatively poorly developed understanding of precisely how chemokines and their receptors orchestrate inflammatory responses and of the layers of complexity introduced as different inflammatory leukocytes enter, and exit, inflamed sites. Thus, a much more comprehensive understanding of this process is required for it to be effectively therapeutically targeted.

The resolution of the inflammatory response is a key step at which inflammation can transition, from an acute and transient response, to one that is chronic and pathological. Accordingly, there have been numerous studies into the molecular regulation of the resolution of the inflammatory response, which has highlighted lipid mediators, such as resolvins (13), as important regulators. In terms of removal of chemokines during resolution, this is achieved in two separate ways. First, most chemokines (and indeed other inflammatory cytokines) are removed from inflamed tissue by drainage through the lymphatic system (14). This almost certainly accounts for the high levels of inflammatory mediators and chemokines in the plasma of patients with chronic inflammatory pathologies. However, recent data have highlighted active roles for chemokine-scavenging atypical chemokine receptors (ACKRs) in the resolution of inflammatory responses (15). In this review, we discuss the roles for ACKRs in the resolution of the inflammatory response and highlight their potential therapeutic value.

ATYPICAL CHEMOKINE RECEPTORS

Atypical chemokine receptors (6, 16), (**Table 1**), in contrast to canonical chemokine receptors, are mainly expressed by nonleukocyte cell types, such as erythrocytes, lymphatic or vascular endothelial cells, although some expression of ACKRs (especially ACKR2 and ACKR3) is detected on leukocytes (6, 17, 18). ACKRs bind chemokines with high affinity and do not induce cell migration as a result of their structural inability to couple to G proteins. In fact, ACKR activation of β -arrestin-dependent pathways modulates chemokine bioavailability by transporting chemokines to intracellular degradative compartments or, in the case of polarized cells, to the opposite side of the cell monolayer (19). ACKRs can also modulate the chemokine system by regulating the expression, or signaling, of other canonical chemokine receptors (18).

Four molecules have been officially named and included in the ACKR subfamily: ACKR1, previously called duffy antigen receptor for chemokines (DARC); ACKR2, also known as D6 or CCBP2; ACKR3, also called CXC-chemokine receptor 7 (CXCR7) or RDC1; and ACKR4, previously called CC chemokine receptor-like 1 (CCRL1) and also known as CCX-CKR. Two other molecules, CCRL2 and PITPNM3, tentatively included in the ACKR family as "ACKR5" and "ACKR6," respectively, will not be covered by this review as they are awaiting functional confirmation (16). It may be that additional ACKRs exist and these will be incorporated into the systematic nomenclature as they are identified (16). One of the problems in routinely identifying such receptors, for example, by de-orphanizing known orphan GPCRs is their lack of canonical signaling. Thus, each of the known atypical receptors has been identified through serendipity rather than through directed signaling-based screening approaches.

Here, we will review the involvement of the four characterized ACKRs in inflammation and its resolution.

| TABLE 1 Ligands and expression patterns for the ACKRs. | | | |
|--|---|--|--|
| Gene | Ligands | Expression | |
| ACKR1 | CCL2, 5, 7, 11, 13, 14, 17; CXCL5, 6, 8, 11 | Erythrocytes, vascular endothelial cells, and Purkinje cells | |
| ACKR2 | CCL2, 3, 3L1, 4, 5, 7, 8, 11, 12, 13, 17, 22 | Lymphatic endothelial cells, leukocytes (especially B1 B cells), keratinocytes, and trophoblasts | |
| ACKR3 | CXCL11, 12 | Hematopoietic cells, lymphatic endothelial cells, mesenchymal cells, and neuronal cells | |
| ACKR4 | CCL19, 21, 25; CXCL13 | Lymphatic endothelial cells and epithelial cells | |

ACKR1 (DARC)

ACKR1 binds over 20 inflammatory chemokines belonging to the CC and CXC families (20). It is expressed by erythrocytes and endothelial cells lining small veins and venules (21). From a structural perspective, it is completely lacking the DRYLAIV motif in the second intracellular loop and has a low percentage of sequence homology with the other chemokine receptors (22). Thus, in contrast to the other ACKRs, the genes for which sit within chromosomal loci incorporating other canonical chemokine receptors, ACKR1 appears to share limited evolutionary relationship to the other receptors.

ACKR1 expressed by erythrocytes regulates the bioavailability of circulating chemokines by binding them with high affinity (23, 24). African people, referred to as "Duffy null" or negative because they lack ACKR1 expression on erythrocytes (but not endothelial cells), have higher concentrations of circulating chemokines (25), and genome-wide association studies have linked the ACKR1 variant Asp42Gly with serum CCL2 and CXCL8 levels (23). During inflammatory conditions, ACKR1 can function as a "sink" but also as a buffer for chemokines, increasing their systemic bioavailability and avoiding excessive changes in the concentration of circulating chemokines (26). In addition, it was found that ACKR1 expressed by endothelial cells is able to induce chemokine internalization and trancytosis (19, 27), thereby facilitating presentation of inflammatory chemokines on the luminal surface of vascular endothelial cells.

In the context of resolution of inflammation, the role of ACKR1 was studied in models of acute or chronic inflammation in WT and ACKR1 KO mice. Lack of the receptor results in reduced neutrophil recruitment to the lung after intratracheal administration of CXCL8 or LPS (28, 29) and in a model of acidinduced injury (30). Reduced neutrophil recruitment was also found in ACKR1 KO mice in a model of acute kidney damage induced by ischemia or LPS and was associated with renal protection (31). In a model of bone fracture, ACKR1 KO mice have decreased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1β, IL-6, and CCL2) and fewer macrophages around fractures (32). ACKR1 plays also a role in chronic inflammation, as demonstrated by the use of the ApoE KO mouse model of atherogenesis. ACKR1 KO mice are partially protected from atheroma development, and this is associated with decreased levels of inflammatory chemokines in the aorta and modest changes in T lymphocytes and inflammatory monocyte numbers in plaques (33). A role for ACKR1 was also found in infectious diseases: it is the receptor for the human malarial parasites Plasmodium vivax and Plasmodium knowlesi and individuals lacking ACKR1 (Duffy negative), or carrying polymorphic variants, are less susceptible to P. vivax infection (34).

The emerging picture is that ACKR1 expressed by erythrocytes acts as a chemokine buffer and can limit excessive leukocyte extravasation. In contrast, endothelial ACKR1 promotes acute and chronic inflammation by reducing chemokine concentrations in the inflamed tissues and creating a gradient that increases neutrophil and monocyte extravasation.

ACKR2 (D6 OR CCBP2)

ACKR2 is able to bind a broad panel of inflammatory CC chemokines. It is expressed by lymphatic endothelial cells, trophoblasts in the placenta, and some leukocytes such as alveolar macrophages and innate-like B cells (35). ACKR2 is a chemokine scavenger receptor which functions, in a catalytic manner, by transporting chemokines to degradative intracellular compartments (36, 37). It is able to dynamically adapt its scavenger function to the extracellular chemokine concentration activating a β-arrestin-dependent pathway that increases its plasma membrane localization without affecting the internalization rate (38, 39). ACKR2 promotes the resolution of inflammation and regulates lymphatic vessel function (40) and density (14), and ACKR2 KO mice in different pathological contexts exhibit dysregulated inflammatory reactions due to the lack of chemokine clearance and associated accumulation of inflammatory cells (41).

In response to phorbol ester, ACKR2 KO mice develop a severe skin inflammatory response resembling psoriasis (42), and after injection of complete Freund's adjuvant, KO mice develop larger granulomas compared to WT mice (43). ACKR2 also controls inflammatory responses in the gut (44, 45) and in the lung (46). ACKR2 expressed by trophoblasts inhibits inflammation in the placenta, where it protects from inflammation-associated miscarriage and allogeneic embryo rejection (47, 48). After myocardial infarction, ACKR2 prevents excessive infiltration of classical monocytes and neutrophils by scavenging CCL2, promoting cardiac remodeling (49). ACKR2 is also important for the control of inflammation in infectious diseases such as Mycobacterium tuberculosis (50). The role of ACKR2 in the context of autoimmune diseases is still controversial. It was reported that ACKR2 KO are resistant to the induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) (51) and have reduced renal inflammation in a model of diabetic nephropathy (52). More recently, it appears that ACKR2 deficiency does not suppress autoreactive T-cell priming and autoimmune pathology, but can enhance T-cell polarization toward Th17 cells (53).

In addition to these data indicating that ACKR2 promotes resolution of the inflammatory response by chemokine clearance and inhibition of excessive leukocyte recruitment, it was reported that ACKR2, expressed by leukocytes, inhibits their pro-inflammatory phenotype. ACKR2 restricts neutrophil migration (54) and regulates macrophage efferocytosis and cytokine secretion (55). Finally, a key role for ACKR2 in regulating the promotion of inflammation-dependent cancers has been shown using mouse models of both cutaneous (56) and colorectal cancer (45). In these contexts, ACKR2 functions essentially as a tumor suppressor gene by limiting tumor-promoting tissue inflammatory responses.

ACKR3 (CXCR7 OR RDC-1)

ACKR3 binds two chemokines, CXCL12, the ligand of CXCR4, and CXCL11, one of the ligands of CXCR3 (57). It is expressed by endothelial cells, some hematopoietic cells, mesenchymal cells, and neurons. ACKR3 mainly signals through β -arrestin pathways

activating extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs) or protein kinase B (PKB or Akt) (58). ACKR3 modulates CXCL12 activity in several ways. It downregulates CXCL12 concentrations by scavenging and modulates CXCR4 expression and signaling activity by forming heterodimers with CXCR4 (59). Elegant studies using zebrafish embryos have demonstrated important and evolutionary conserved roles for ACKR3 in the regulation of key cellular populations during embryogenesis (60). These studies have shed important light on the importance of ACKR3 for the generation of tissue gradients during cellular migration within the embryo. ACKR3 KO mice have defects in brain, heart, and kidney development (61–63).

During inflammatory conditions, both leukocytes and endothelial cells increase ACKR3 expression. Peripheral blood lymphocytes from patients with inflammatory bowel disease have enhanced ACKR3 expression, which was also upregulated upon stimulation (CD3) or costimulation (CD3/CD28) (64). ACKR3 was found expressed by macrophages in the atherosclerotic plaque and was associated with a pro-inflammatory phenotype that includes production of inflammatory chemokines and phagocytic activity (65). ACKR3 is also prominently expressed in a wide range of tumors both within the tumor cells and by cells of the tumor vasculature (66). It has therefore been highlighted as a potential therapeutic target in oncology.

In relation to endothelial cells, ACKR3 is expressed in rheumatoid arthritis synovium, in which it promotes the inflammatory process increasing angiogenesis (67). In addition, ACKR3 is induced in brain microvascular endothelial cells during experimental inflammatory conditions, such as permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion and EAE, and favors leukocyte extravasation by enhancing leukocyte adhesion to the endothelial surface (68). It should be noted that CXCR7 is also expressed by neurons and astrocytes in various brain regions and, during EAE, it is upregulated by oligodendrocyte progenitors, important cells for the remyelination process (69).

In summary, ACKR3 expression promotes inflammation inducing a leukocyte pro-inflammatory phenotype, enhancing angiogenesis and leukocyte extravasation.

ACKR4 (CCRL1 OR CCX-CKR)

ACKR4 binds the homeostatic chemokines CCL19, CCL21, CCL25, and CXCL13. It is expressed by thymic epithelial cells, bronchial cells, and keratinocytes. ACKR4 is a constitutively internalizing receptor with chemokine-scavenging function (70). After chemokine binding, it recruits β -arrestin 2, but it is not known if it activates signal transduction pathways.

Few data are available on the *in vivo* role of ACKR4 in the context of inflammation. It appears to be important in the correct trafficking of dendritic cells for the induction of adaptive immune responses. Indeed, ACKR4 expression in lymph nodes is necessary for creating a gradient of the CCR7 ligands, CCL19 and CCL21, in the subcapsular sinus (71). In addition, using ACKR4 in KO mice, it was demonstrated that homeostatic chemokine clearance is necessary to control excessive Th17 responses that can lead to immunopathologies (72).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The identification and characterization of the ACKRs has represented a major advance in our understanding of the overall orchestration of chemokine-driven immune and inflammatory responses. These receptors have been shown to play important roles in regulating cell migration in developmental, inflammatory, immune, and pathological contexts (**Table 2**). In this context, these receptors control the chemokine system by scavenging, transporting, or storing chemokines, but also by regulating the activity of canonical chemokine receptors with which they share the ligands by forming heterodimers or modulating their expression levels or signaling activity.

The essential roles that they play, particularly in the context of resolving inflammatory responses, highlights them as potential therapeutic targets. While the normal pharmacological approach is to develop chemokine receptor antagonists, in the case of the atypical receptors what would be more useful would be small molecule inducers of either expression or activity. Such inducers could work through known cytokine pathways that induce ACKRs (73) or by capitalizing on our developing understanding of the kinetics of cell surface mobilization of these receptors (37, 38).

If developed, these could be used to increase ACKR function and thus neutralize chemokine activity in a number of inflammatory pathologies. Topical application of such regulators could be envisaged as having therapeutic potential in, for example, psoriasis and intranasal administration in the context of lung inflammatory responses. Furthermore, it may be possible to adapt these molecules for use in cancer therapy to restrict cancer access to pro-tumorigenic inflammatory leukocytes.

TABLE 2 | Phenotype of ACKRs knockout mice in inflammation and infection models.

| Gene deletion | Phenotype | Reference |
|------------------|--|-----------|
| ACKR1 | Reduced neutrophil recruitment in acute inflammation models | (28–30) |
| | Renal protection in ischemia or LPS induced acute kidney damage | (31) |
| | Reduced macrophages infiltration in bone fracture model | (32) |
| | Reduced atheroma development in the Apo E KO | (33) |
| ACKR2 | Severe skin inflammatory reaction similar to psoriasis | (42) |
| | Increased granulomatous inflammatory response | (43) |
| | Increased gut and lung inflammation | (44–46) |
| | Increased tissue damage after myocardial infarction | (49) |
| | Increased inflammation-associated miscarriage and allogeneic embryo rejection | (47, 48) |
| | Uncontrolled Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection | (50) |
| ACKR3ª | Exacerbates neointimal hyperplasia | (65) |
| ACKR4 | Excessive Th17 responses | (72) |

^aTamoxifen-inducible knockout.

Atypical chemokine receptors therefore represent novel therapeutic targets likely to benefit in a number of pathologies with unmet clinical need.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GG and RB wrote the text and approved the final submission.

REFERENCES

- Soehnlein O, Lindbom L. Phagocyte partnership during the onset and resolution of inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10:427–39. doi:10.1038/ nri2779
- Griffith JW, Sokol CL, Luster AD. Chemokines and chemokine receptors: positioning cells for host defense and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2014) 32:659–702. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120145
- Zlotnik A, Yoshie O. Chemokines: a new classification system and their role in immunity. *Immunity* (2000) 12:121–7. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(00)80165-X
- Zlotnik A, Yoshie O, Nomiyama H. The chemokine and chemokine receptor superfamilies and their molecular evolution. *Genome Biol* (2006) 7:243. doi:10.1186/gb-2006-7-12-243
- Mantovani A. The chemokine system: redundancy for robust outputs. Immunol Today (1999) 20:254–7. doi:10.1016/S0167-5699(99)01469-3
- Bachelerie F, Ben-Baruch A, Burkhardt AM, Combadiere C, Farber JM, Graham GJ, et al. International Union of Pharmacology. LXXXIX. Update on the extended family of chemokine receptors and introducing a new nomenclature for atypical chemokine receptors. *Pharmacol Rev* (2014) 66:1–79. doi:10.1124/pr.113.007724
- Muñoz LM, Lucas P, Holgado BL, Barroso R, Vega B, Rodríguez-Frade JM, et al. Receptor oligomerization: a pivotal mechanism for regulating chemokine function. *Pharmacol Ther* (2011) 131:351–8. doi:10.1016/j. pharmthera.2011.05.002
- Zweemer AJM, Toraskar J, Heitman LH, Ijzerman AP. Bias in chemokine receptor signalling. *Trends Immunol* (2014) 35:243–52. doi:10.1016/j. it.2014.02.004
- Steen A, Larsen O, Thiele S, Rosenkilde MM. Biased and g protein-independent signaling of chemokine receptors. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:277. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2014.00277
- Viola A, Luster AD. Chemokines and their receptors: drug targets in immunity and inflammation. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* (2008) 48:171–97. doi:10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.48.121806.154841
- Schall TJ, Proudfoot AE. Overcoming hurdles in developing successful drugs targeting chemokine receptors. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2011) 11:355–63. doi:10.1038/nri2972
- Murphy PM, Tiffany HL. Cloning of complementary-DNA encoding a functional human interleukin-8 receptor. *Science* (1991) 253:1280–3. doi:10.1126/ science.1891716
- Serhan CN, Chiang N, Van Dyke TE. Resolving inflammation: dual anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution lipid mediators. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8:349–61. doi:10.1038/nri2294
- Lee KM, Danuser R, Stein JV, Graham D, Nibbs RJ, Graham GJ. The chemokine receptors ACKR2 and CCR2 reciprocally regulate lymphatic vessel density. *EMBO J* (2014) 33:2564–80. doi:10.15252/embj.201488887
- Ortega-Gómez A, Perretti M, Soehnlein O. Resolution of inflammation: an integrated view. *EMBO Mol Med* (2013) 5:661–74. doi:10.1002/ emmm.201202382
- Bachelerie F, Graham GJ, Locati M, Mantovani A, Murphy PM, Nibbs R, et al. New nomenclature for atypical chemokine receptors. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15:207–8. doi:10.1038/ni.2812
- Graham GJ, Locati M, Mantovani A, Rot A, Thelen M. The biochemistry and biology of the atypical chemokine receptors. *Immunol Lett* (2012) 145:30–8. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2012.04.004
- Nibbs RJB, Graham GJ. Immune regulation by atypical chemokine receptors. Nat Rev Immunol (2013) 13:815–29. doi:10.1038/nri3544

FUNDING

This study was supported by European Union's Programs for research, technological development and demonstration under grant agreement TIMER – 281608 (FP7). Work in GJGs lab is supported by a Wellcome Trust Investigator Award and an MRC Programme Grant.

- Chaudhuri A, Polyakova J, Zbrzezna V, Pogo AO, Hesselgesser J, Horuk R, et al. The major glycoprotein of the Duffy blood-group antigen (Gpd), which is the malarial plasmodium-vivax erythrocyte receptor is also a novel class of chemokine receptor and is present in brain, kidney, lung, thymus, and spleen. *FASEB J* (1994) 8:A1386–1386.
- Novitzky-Basso I, Rot A. Duffy antigen receptor for chemokines (DARC) and its involvement in patterning and control of inflammatory chemokines. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:266. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00266
- 21. Rot A. Contribution of Duffy antigen to chemokine function. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2005) 16:687–94. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2005.05.011
- Nomiyama H, Osada N, Yoshie O. A family tree of vertebrate chemokine receptors for a unified nomenclature. *Dev Comp Immunol* (2011) 35:705–15. doi:10.1016/j.dci.2011.01.019
- Schnabel RB, Baumert J, Barbalic M, Dupuis J, Ellinor PT, Durda P, et al. Duffy antigen receptor for chemokines (Darc) polymorphism regulates circulating concentrations of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and other inflammatory mediators. *Blood* (2010) 115:5289–99. doi:10.1182/ blood-2009-05-221382
- Mangalmurti NS, Xiong Z, Hulver M, Ranganathan M, Liu XH, Oriss T, et al. Loss of red cell chemokine scavenging promotes transfusion-related lung inflammation. *Blood* (2009) 113:1158–66. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-07-166264
- Howes RE, Patil AP, Piel FB, Nyangiri OA, Kabaria CW, Gething PW, et al. The global distribution of the Duffy blood group. *Nat Commun* (2011) 2:266. doi:10.1038/ncomms1265
- Hansell CAH, Hurson CE, Nibbs RJB. DARC and D6: silent partners in chemokine regulation? *Immunol Cell Biol* (2011) 89:197–206. doi:10.1038/ icb.2010.147
- Pruenster M, Mudde L, Bombosi P, Dimitrova S, Zsak M, Middleton J, et al. The Duffy antigen receptor for chemokines transports chemokines and supports their promigratory activity. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:101–8. doi:10.1038/ ni.1675
- Lee JS, Wurfel MM, Matute-Bello G, Frevert CW, Rosengart MR, Ranganathan M, et al. The duffy antigen modifies systemic and local tissue chemokine responses following lipopolysaccharide stimulation. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:8086–94. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.11.8086
- 29. Lee JS, Frevert CW, Wurfel MM, Peiper SC, Wong VA, Ballman KK, et al. Duffy antigen facilitates movement of chemokine across the endothelium in vitro and promotes neutrophil transmigration in vitro and in vivo. *J Immunol* (2003) 170:5244–51. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.10.5244
- Zarbock A, Bishop J, Müller H, Schmolke M, Buschmann K, Van Aken H, et al. Chemokine homeostasis vs. chemokine presentation during severe acute lung injury: the other side of the Duffy antigen receptor for chemokines. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol (2010) 298:L462–71. doi:10.1152/ ajplung.00224.2009
- Zarbock A, Schmolke M, Bockhorn SG, Scharte M, Buschmann K, Ley K, et al. The Duffy antigen receptor for chemokines in acute renal failure: a facilitator of renal chemokine presentation. *Crit Care Med* (2007) 35:2156–63. doi:10.1097/01.CCM.0000280570.82885.32
- Rundle CH, Mohan S, Edderkaoui B. Duffy antigen receptor for chemokines regulates post-fracture inflammation. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e77362. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0077362
- Wan W, Liu Q, Lionakis MS, Marino AP, Anderson SA, Swamydas M, et al. Atypical chemokine receptor 1 deficiency reduces atherogenesis in ApoEknockout mice. *Cardiovasc Res* (2015) 106(3):478–87. doi:10.1093/cvr/ cvv124
- 34. Zimmerman PA, Ferreira MU, Howes RE, Mercereau-Puijalon O. Chapter two - red blood cell polymorphism and susceptibility to *Plasmodium vivax*. In:

Hay SI, Baird JK, editors. *Advances in Parasitology*. Cambridge, MA: Academic Press (2013). p. 27–76.

- Lee KM, Nibbs RJB, Graham GJ. D6: the 'crowd controller' at the immune gateway. *Trends Immunol* (2013) 34:7–12. doi:10.1016/j.it.2012.08.001
- Fra AM, Locati M, Otero K, Sironi M, Signorelli P, Massardi ML, et al. Cutting edge: scavenging of inflammatory CC chemokines by the promiscuous putatively silent chemokine receptor D6. *J Immunol* (2003) 170:2279–82. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.5.2279
- Weber M, Blair E, Simpson CV, O'Hara M, Blackburn PE, Rot A, et al. The chemokine receptor D6 constitutively traffics to and from the cell surface to internalize and degrade chemokines. *Mol Biol Cell* (2004) 15:2492–508. doi:10.1091/mbc.E03-09-0634
- Bonecchi R, Borroni EM, Anselmo A, Doni A, Savino B, Mirolo M, et al. Regulation of D6 chemokine scavenging activity by ligand- and Rab11dependent surface up-regulation. *Blood* (2008) 112:493–503. doi:10.1182/ blood-2007-08-108316
- Borroni EM, Cancellieri C, Vacchini A, Benureau Y, Lagane B, Bachelerie F, et al. β-arrestin-dependent activation of the cofilin pathway is required for the scavenging activity of the atypical chemokine receptor D6. *Sci Signal* (2013) 6:ra30. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2003627
- McKimmie CS, Singh MD, Hewit K, Lopez-Franco O, Le Brocq M, Rose-John S, et al. An analysis of the function and expression of D6 on lymphatic endothelial cells. *Blood* (2013) 121:3768–77. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-04-425314
- Graham GJ, Locati M. Regulation of the immune and inflammatory responses by the 'atypical' chemokine receptor D6. *J Pathol* (2013) 229:168–75. doi:10.1002/path.4123
- Graham GJ. D6 and the atypical chemokine receptor family: novel regulators of immune and inflammatory processes. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) 39:342–51. doi:10.1002/eji.200838858
- Martinez de la Torre Y, Locati M, Buracchi C, Dupor J, Cook DN, Bonecchi R, et al. Increased inflammation in mice deficient for the chemokine decoy receptor D6. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) 35:1342–6. doi:10.1002/eji.200526114
- Bordon Y, Hansell CA, Sester DP, Clarke M, Mowat AM, Nibbs RJ. The atypical chemokine receptor D6 contributes to the development of experimental colitis. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:5032–40. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802802
- Vetrano S, Borroni EM, Sarukhan A, Savino B, Bonecchi R, Correale C, et al. The lymphatic system controls intestinal inflammation and inflammation-associated colon cancer through the chemokine decoy receptor D6. *Gut* (2010) 59:197–206. doi:10.1136/gut.2009.183772
- 46. Whitehead GS, Wang T, DeGraff LM, Card JW, Lira SA, Graham GJ, et al. The chemokine receptor D6 has opposing effects on allergic inflammation and airway reactivity. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2007) 175:243–9. doi:10.1164/ rccm.200606-839OC
- Madigan J, Freeman DJ, Menzies F, Forrow S, Nelson SM, Young A, et al. Chemokine scavenger D6 is expressed by trophoblasts and aids the survival of mouse embryos transferred into allogeneic recipients. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:3202–12. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902118
- Martinez de la Torre Y, Buracchi C, Borroni EM, Dupor J, Bonecchi R, Nebuloni M, et al. Protection against inflammation- and autoantibody-caused fetal loss by the chemokine decoy receptor D6. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2007) 104:2319–24. doi:10.1073/pnas.0607514104
- Cochain C, Auvynet C, Poupel L, Vilar J, Dumeau E, Richart A, et al. The chemokine decoy receptor D6 prevents excessive inflammation and adverse ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2012) 32:2206–13. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.112.254409
- Di Liberto D, Locati M, Caccamo N, Vecchi A, Meraviglia S, Salerno A, et al. Role of the chemokine decoy receptor D6 in balancing inflammation, immune activation, and antimicrobial resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. J Exp Med (2008) 205:2075–84. doi:10.1084/jem.20070608
- 51. Liu L, Graham GJ, Damodaran A, Hu T, Lira SA, Sasse M, et al. Cutting edge: the silent chemokine receptor d6 is required for generating T cell responses that mediate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:17–21. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.1.17
- 52. Zheng S, Coventry S, Cai L, Powell DW, Jala VR, Haribabu B, et al. Renal protection by genetic deletion of the atypical chemokine receptor ACKR2 in diabetic OVE mice. *J Diabetes Res* (2016) 2016:11. doi:10.1155/2016/5362506

- Hansell CAH, MacLellan LM, Oldham RS, Doonan J, Chapple KJ, Anderson EJ, et al. The atypical chemokine receptor ACKR2 suppresses Th17 responses to protein autoantigens. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2015) 93:167–76. doi:10.1038/ icb.2014.90
- Rot A, McKimmie C, Burt CL, Pallas KJ, Jamieson T, Pruenster M, et al. Cell-autonomous regulation of neutrophil migration by the D6 chemokine decoy receptor. *J Immunol* (2013) 190:6450–6. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1201429
- Pashover-Schallinger E, Aswad M, Schif-Zuck S, Shapiro H, Singer P, Ariel A. The atypical chemokine receptor D6 controls macrophage efferocytosis and cytokine secretion during the resolution of inflammation. *FASEB J* (2012) 26:3891–900. doi:10.1096/fj.11-194894
- Nibbs RJ, Gilchrist DS, King V, Ferra A, Forrow S, Hunter KD, et al. The atypical chemokine receptor D6 suppresses the development of chemically induced skin tumors. *J Clin Invest* (2007) 117:1884–92. doi:10.1172/ JCI30068
- Burns JM, Summers BC, Wang Y, Melikian A, Berahovich R, Miao Z, et al. A novel chemokine receptor for SDF-1 and I-TAC involved in cell survival, cell adhesion, and tumor development. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203:2201–13. doi:10.1084/jem.20052144
- Rajagopal S, Kim J, Ahn S, Craig S, Lam CM, Gerard NP, et al. Betaarrestin- but not G protein-mediated signaling by the "decoy" receptor CXCR7. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:628–32. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0912852107
- 59. Levoye A, Balabanian K, Baleux F, Bachelerie F, Lagane B. CXCR7 heterodimerizes with CXCR4 and regulates CXCL12-mediated G protein signaling. *Blood* (2009) 113:6085–93. doi:10.1182/ blood-2008-12-196618
- Sebastian JS, Guillaume V, Darren G, Lars H. Collective cell migration guided by dynamically maintained gradients. *Phys Biol* (2011) 8:045004. doi:10.1088/1478-3975/8/4/045004
- Haege S, Einer C, Thiele S, Mueller W, Nietzsche S, Lupp A, et al. CXC chemokine receptor 7 (CXCR7) regulates CXCR4 protein expression and capillary tuft development in mouse kidney. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e42814. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0042814
- Sierro F, Biben C, Martinez-Munoz L, Mellado M, Ransohoff RM, Li M, et al. Disrupted cardiac development but normal hematopoiesis in mice deficient in the second CXCL12/SDF-1 receptor, CXCR7. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104:14759–64. doi:10.1073/pnas.0702229104
- Zhu Y, Matsumoto T, Nagasawa T, Mackay F, Murakami F. Chemokine signaling controls integrity of radial glial scaffold in developing spinal cord and consequential proper position of boundary cap cells. *J Neurosci* (2015) 35:9211–24. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0156-15.2015
- Werner L, Elad H, Brazowski E, Tulchinsky H, Vigodman S, Kopylov U, et al. Reciprocal regulation of CXCR4 and CXCR7 in intestinal mucosal homeostasis and inflammatory bowel disease. *J Leukoc Biol* (2011) 90:583–90. doi:10.1189/jlb.0111101
- Chatterjee M, von Ungern-Sternberg SN, Seizer P, Schlegel F, Büttcher M, Sindhu NA, et al. Platelet-derived CXCL12 regulates monocyte function, survival, differentiation into macrophages and foam cells through differential involvement of CXCR4-CXCR7. *Cell Death Dis* (2015) 6:e1989. doi:10.1038/ cddis.2015.233
- Maksym RB, Tarnowski M, Grymula K, Tarnowska J, Wysoczynski M, Liu R, et al. The role of stromal-derived factor-1 – CXCR7 axis in development and cancer. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2009) 625:31–40. doi:10.1016/j. ejphar.2009.04.071
- Watanabe K, Penfold ME, Matsuda A, Ohyanagi N, Kaneko K, Miyabe Y, et al. Pathogenic role of CXCR7 in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2010) 62:3211–20. doi:10.1002/art.27650
- Cruz-Orengo L, Holman DW, Dorsey D, Zhou L, Zhang P, Wright M, et al. CXCR7 influences leukocyte entry into the CNS parenchyma by controlling abluminal CXCL12 abundance during autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208:327–39. doi:10.1084/jem.20102010
- Banisadr G, Podojil JR, Miller SD, Miller RJ. Pattern of CXCR7 gene expression in mouse brain under normal and inflammatory conditions. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol* (2016) 11:26–35. doi:10.1007/s11481-015-9616-y

- Comerford I, Milasta S, Morrow V, Milligan G, Nibbs R. The chemokine receptor CCX-CKR mediates effective scavenging of CCL19 in vitro. *Eur J Immunol* (2006) 36:1904–16. doi:10.1002/eji.200535716
- Ulvmar MH, Werth K, Braun A, Kelay P, Hub E, Eller K, et al. The atypical chemokine receptor CCRL1 shapes functional CCL21 gradients in lymph nodes. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15:623–30. doi:10.1038/ni.2889
- Comerford I, Nibbs RJ, Litchfield W, Bunting M, Harata-Lee Y, Haylock-Jacobs S, et al. The atypical chemokine receptor CCX-CKR scavenges homeostatic chemokines in circulation and tissues and suppresses Th17 responses. *Blood* (2010) 116:4130–40. doi:10.1182/ blood-2010-01-264390
- 73. Singh MD, King V, Baldwin H, Burden D, Thorrat A, Holmes S, et al. Elevated expression of the chemokine-scavenging receptor D6 is associated with

impaired lesion development in psoriasis. Am J Pathol (2012) 181:1158-64. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.06.042

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Bonecchi and Graham. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Regulatory Role of IL-1R8 in Immunity and Disease

Martina Molgora¹, Isabella Barajon², Alberto Mantovani^{1,2*} and Cecilia Garlanda^{1*}

¹ Department of Inflammation and Immunology, Humanitas Clinical and Research Center, Rozzano, Italy, ² Humanitas University, Rozzano, Italy

Interleukin-1 receptor family members (ILRs) and toll-like receptors (TLRs) are characterized by the presence of a conserved intracellular domain and the toll-IL-1resistance (TIR) domain and are key players in immunity and inflammation. ILR and TLR signaling is tightly regulated at different levels. All cell types of the innate immune system express ILRs and TLRs. In addition, IL-1 family members are emerging as key players in the differentiation and function of innate and adaptive lymphoid cells. IL-1R8, also known as TIR8 or SIGIRR, is a fringe member of the ILR family and acts as a negative regulator of ILR and TLR signaling, which dampens ILR- and TLR-mediated cell activation. IL-1R8 is a component of the receptor recognizing human IL-37. Here, we summarize our current understanding of the structure and function of IL-1R8, focusing on its role in different pathological conditions, ranging from infectious and sterile inflammation to autoimmunity and cancer-related inflammation.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Anna Rubartelli, IRCCS AOU San Martino IST, Italy

Reviewed by:

Mihai Netea, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Center, Netherlands David Brough, University of Manchester, UK

*Correspondence:

Alberto Mantovani alberto.mantovani@ humanitasresearch.it; Cecilia Garlanda cecilia.garlanda@ humanitasresearch.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 19 February 2016 Accepted: 05 April 2016 Published: 20 April 2016

Citation:

Molgora M, Barajon I, Mantovani A and Garlanda C (2016) Regulatory Role of IL-1R8 in Immunity and Disease. Front. Immunol. 7:149. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00149 Keywords: cytokine, interleukin-1, toll-like receptors, inflammation, inflection, inflammation-associated cancer

INTRODUCTION

Interleukin-1 receptor family members (ILRs) and toll-like receptors (TLRs) are members of a superfamily characterized by the presence of a common intracellular signaling domain, called toll-IL-1 resistance (TIR) domain, and Ig-like domains or leucine-rich repeats in their extracellular part (1) (**Figure 1**). ILRs and TLRs are phylogenetically conserved receptors responsible for the initiation and amplification of events leading to inflammation and innate and adaptive immune responses. TLRs work as sensors for exogenous infectious agents and host tissue injury, recognizing specific pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). Ten TLRs have been identified to date in humans and 12 in the mouse. The ILR subfamily is a growing family of receptors and accessory proteins (AcP) for the cytokines of the IL-1 family. The nomenclature of ILRs has recently been revised (2) and will be used here: IL-1R1 (IL-1RI), IL-1R2 (IL-1RII), IL-1R3 (IL-1RAcP), IL-1R4 (ST2), IL-1R5 (IL-18R α), IL-1R6 (IL-1Rrp2, IL-36R), IL-1R7 (IL-18R β), IL-1R8 (also known as TIR8 or SIGIRR), IL-1R9 (TIGIRR-2), and IL-1R10 (TIGIRR-1). The IL-1 system includes molecules with agonist activity (IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-18, IL-33, IL-36 α , IL-36 β , and IL-36 γ), three receptor antagonists (IL-1Ra, IL-36Ra, and IL-38), and an anti-inflammatory cytokine (IL-37) (**Figure 1**).

Upon ligand binding, TLRs and ILRs dimerize through their TIR domains, inducing the recruitment of TIR domain-containing adapter proteins, in particular MyD88, MAL, TRIF, TRAM, and SARM, which couple to downstream protein kinases [e.g., IL-1R-associated kinases (IRAKs) and tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6)]. The signal leads to the activation of key transcription factors associated with inflammatory and immune responses, such as nuclear factor- κ B



(NFκB), activator protein-1 (AP-1), c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), p38 mitogen-associated protein kinase, extracellular sig-

(JNK), p38 mitogen-associated protein kinase, extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs), mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs), and members of the interferon (IFN)-regulatory factor (IRF) (3–5).

IL-1 family and TLR signaling are a crucial network that covers a wide spectrum of functions in several tissues and cell types, ranging from tissue homeostasis regulation to protective responses against infections and modulation of inflammation. Given the huge capacity of ILR and TLR triggering to drive inflammatory responses, the strict regulation of this system plays a significant role in both physiological and pathological conditions.

Both ILR and TLR functional activations are modulated by several and diverse mechanisms. Among these, IL-1R2 exerts regulatory functions acting as decoy receptor for IL-1, dominant-negative molecule, and scavenger (6, 7). In addition, it is also present in the cytoplasm where it binds pro-IL-1 α and pro-IL-1 β , preventing their cleavage and activation (8). IL-1R8, also known as

TIR8 or SIGIRR, whose function will be detailed below, is a fringe member of the family that lacks conventional signaling capacities and behaves as a negative regulator of the family, acting intracellularly. Available information suggests that IL-1R8 interferes with the association of TIR-containing adaptor molecules to the receptor complex, thus dampening the signaling pathway leading to signal transduction (9, 10). In addition, IL-1R8 is a component of the receptor recognizing the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-37 (11). IL-37 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine that acts as a natural brake of inflammation, signaling through IL-1R5/IL-18Rα and IL-1R8 was recently described as a coreceptor, required for the formation of the tripartite complex IL-37-IL-1R5/IL-18Ra-IL-1R8 (11). IL-18BP is an extracellular protein that binds IL-18, preventing its interaction with the receptor IL-1R5/IL-18R, and thus neutralizing its activity (12-14). IL-1Ra and IL-36Ra are receptor antagonists that bind IL-1R1 and IL-1R6, respectively (5, 15-18).

IRAK-M and MyD88s are intracellular signaling molecules that negatively regulate ILR and TLR pathways (19, 20). Finally,

specific miRNAs (miR-155, miR-21, miR-146a, miR-132, miR-9, and miR-147) target ILR and TLR signaling proteins (21–23). The abundance of these regulatory mechanisms underlines the relevance of the negative regulation of both ILRs and TLRs, which if uncontrolled, may activate detrimental inflammation and cause tissue damage. For instance, local and systemic inflammation induced by IL-1 underlay a broad list of diseases, ranging from rheumatic diseases and autoinflammatory syndromes to cardiovascular diseases, type 2 diabetes, and infections and sepsis, and targeting of IL-1 has relevant therapeutic implications (24–27).

Here, we will review our current understanding of the structure and function of the negative regulator IL-1R8 (TIR8/ SIGIRR), focusing on its relevance in different inflammatory or immune-mediated pathological disorders and emphasizing recent discoveries.

IL-1R8 (TIR8/SIGIRR) GENE AND PROTEIN

IL-1R8 was identified by our group and reported as TIR8 in 1998 (Accession number: AF113795), and in parallel by John Sims' group in 1999 and reported as SIGIRR (28). IL-1R8 is localized on human chromosome 11, band p15.5, and is composed of 10 exons spanning about 11,700 bp (28). It is therefore not part of the IL-1R family cluster, which is located in humans on chromosome 2. The murine gene is localized on chromosome 7, band F4, and encompasses nine exons spanning about 4000 bp. The human protein is 410 amino acids long and displays unique features compared with other ILRs. It is composed of a single extracellular Ig domain, in contrast with the other family members which have three, a transmembrane domain, a cytoplasmic TIR domain, and an unusually long tail (95 residues), which is missing in other TIR domain-containing receptors. The IL-1R8 TIR domain lacks two conserved residues (Ser447 and Tyr536), which are replaced by Cys222 and Leu305 suggesting unconventional signaling. IL-1R6 and IL-1R3 display a similar amino acid substitution in their TIR domain, but the functional relevance of this replacement has not been addressed yet (28, 29).

IL-1R8 sequence is highly conserved among vertebrates, from chicken to human in terms of sequence and pattern of expression (30). Human and murine protein sequences are 82% identical and share 23% overall identity with IL-1R1. In teleost fish, the receptor DIGIRR, which has two Ig-like domains in its extracellular region and an Arg–Tyr-mutated TIR domain, exerts regulatory activities *in vitro*, negatively modulating LPS, and IL-1 β -dependent NF κ B activation, therefore resembling a "transitional" form between the signaling molecule IL-1R1 and the negative regulator IL-1R8 (31).

IL-1R8 has five potential N-glycosylation sites in the extracellular domain in humans and four in the mouse and is extensively *N*- and *O*-glycosylated. Zhao et al. recently showed that loss of N-linked glycosylation was associated with an inactive isoform of IL-1R8, generated by alternative splicing in colon cancer cells. Moreover, loss of complex glycan modifications was sufficient to suppress IL-1R8 activity *in vivo*, highlighting that posttranscriptional modifications are required for the functional activity of IL-1R8 (32).

IL-1R8 is widely expressed in several epithelial tissues, in particular by epithelial cells of the kidney, digestive tract, liver, lung, and in lymphoid organs. Among leukocytes, it is expressed by monocytes, B and T lymphocytes, dendritic cells, and NK cells (28, 33). Little is known about the regulation of IL-1R8 expression and the stimuli and pathways involved. In general, both IL-1R8 mRNA and protein expression are reduced in inflammatory conditions. IL-1R8 was downmodulated in ulcerative colitis in humans and colitis in the mouse, intestinal bacterial infections, and exposure to flagellin (34, 35). The expression of IL-1R8 (and other anti-inflammatory molecules) was reduced in leukocytes of psoriatic arthritis patients and, together with TLR4, it was reduced in asymptomatic bacteriuria patients (36, 37). Nanthakumar et al. showed that IL-1R8 level was decreased in intestinal cells of necrotizing enterocolitis patients compared with fetal human enterocytes, whereas pro-inflammatory proteins were expressed at high levels, in line with the exacerbated inflammatory response of the immature intestine (38). In the mouse, acute lung infection by Pseudomonas aeruginosa caused IL-1R8 mRNA downregulation in the lung and in neutrophils (39). IL-1R8 transcript was also reduced upon intestinal infection by Toxoplasma gondii (40). In a model of pyelonephritis induced by Escherichia coli, it was shown that renal IL-1R8 mRNA was downregulated in the early phase of infection and it started to return to basal level 24 h postinfection (41). Moreover, in vitro experiments in human bladder epithelial cells (BECs) demonstrated that IL-1R8 mRNA and protein expression were downregulated upon stimulation with LPS (42). Finally, colon tumorigenesis was shown to be associated with a lower expression level of IL-1R8 on the intestinal cell surface compared with the healthy counterpart. This was due to a mechanism of alternative splicing that caused the generation of an inactive mutant form of IL-1R8 that will be further discussed below (32).

Concerning the mechanism of IL-1R8 downregulation, Kadota et al. showed that LPS treatment reduced the binding between SP1, a zinc finger protein, and the proximal promoter of IL-1R8 (34). SP1 would normally directly interact with IL-1R8 promoter and favor gene transcription, but in presence of LPS the binding was inhibited and IL-1R8 expression transiently decreased in epithelial cells. Recently, the role of SP1 in the regulation of IL-1R8 mRNA expression was also confirmed in human primary monocytes and neutrophils. The inhibition of SP1 binding to IL-1R8 promoter induced by LPS was due to the activation of p38, which is downstream of TLR4. Indeed, treatment of both monocytes and neutrophils with a p38 inhibitor (SB203580) abolished the LPS-induced downregulation of IL-1R8 mRNA (43). Conversely, sepsis and sterile systemic inflammation have been associated with higher level of IL-1R8 expression by monocytes compared with homeostatic conditions, which correlated with reduced TNF α and enhanced IL-10 production in response to LPS and Pam₃CysSK₄ (44).

IL-1R8 is differentially expressed in polarized T lymphocytes. Murine Th2 cells displayed higher levels of IL-1R8 compared with Th1 or naive T cells (45). In *P. aeruginosa*-infected mice, IL-1R8 was upregulated by the neuropeptide vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) in a cAMP-independent manner in the cornea, in macrophages, and in Langerhans cells (46). The probiotic microorganism *Lactobacillus jensenii* was found to upregulate IL-1R8, *via* TLR2 in porcine Payer's patch antigen-presenting cells, and to favor the expression of IL-10 and TGF- β , thus inducing tolerogenic properties (47). Finally, in murine Payer's patch DCs, but not splenic DCs, LPS was shown to induce the upregulation of IL-1R8, Tollip, and IL-1R4. This could be a potential mechanism used by Payer's patch DCs to modulate the inflammation driven by TLR signaling (48).

Recently, Costello et al. proposed a mechanism involved in IL-1R8 regulation in the context of neuroinflammation. Amyloid β treatment increased the expression of TLR2 and decreased the expression of IL-1R8 in microglia. Interestingly, TLR2 neutralization led to an increase of IL-1R8 mRNA in microglia and hippocampal tissue (49). The transcription factor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) y is a key anti-inflammatory mediator that regulates $A\beta$ responses in the brain. Binding sites for the transcription factor PPARy were identified in the IL-1R8 gene and treatment with the PPARy inhibitor (GW9662) reduced the anti-TLR2-mediated IL-1R8 upregulation, supporting the involvement of PPARy in the modulation of IL-1R8 expression. The PI3K/Akt pathway was also involved in the regulation of IL-1R8, since PI3K inhibitor (LY294002) abolished the effect of TLR2 neutralization. The expression of IL-1R8 and TLR2 is therefore inversely correlated and IL-1R8 upregulation mediated by TLR2 neutralization may be a compensation mechanism adopted to limit the deleterious effect of $A\beta$ (49).

IL-1R8-MEDIATED ANTI-INFLAMMATORY ACTIVITY OF IL-37

IL-1R8 was considered an orphan receptor, lacking a specific ligand. IL-37 has been recently demonstrated to bind IL-1R8 and to generate the tripartite complex IL-37-IL-1R5/IL-18Rα-IL-1R8 (11) (Figure 2). IL-37 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine that dampens the inflammatory response triggered by TLRs and cytokines in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), in macrophages and epithelial cells, and IL-37-transgenic mice (IL-37tg mice) are protected in different inflammatory pathological conditions (50). Recently, advanced imaging analysis revealed a rapid interaction of IL-37 with both IL-1R5/IL-18Ra and IL-1R8 in human PBMCs and bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) of IL-37tg mice upon stimulation with LPS (11). In particular, following a pro-inflammatory stimulus, the tripartite complex IL-37-IL-1R5/ IL-18Rα-IL-1R8 was formed on the cell membrane of PBMCs and cell lines (RAW, HEK293, and A549). IL-1R8 and IL-1R5/ IL-18R α were both required to support the anti-inflammatory activity of IL-37 in PBMCs, THP-1 macrophages, and A549 epithelial cells. Indeed, silencing of IL-1R8 or IL-1R5/IL-18Rα or both in these cell types impaired the IL-37-mediated reduction of inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL- β and TNF), upon stimulation with LPS. Finally, proteomic and transcriptomic analysis demonstrated that the IL-37-IL-1R5/IL-18Ra-IL-1R8 complex triggered multiple signaling events leading to anti-inflammatory responses, such as inhibition of MAPK, NFkB, mTOR, TAK1, and Fyn and activation of STAT3, Mer, PTEN, and p62(dok). Thus, IL-1R8 acts as a coreceptor for IL-1R5/IL-18Rα upon IL-37 binding, and it is required for the anti-inflammatory activity of IL-37 (11, 51) (**Figure 2**). This mechanism is relevant *in vivo*, since IL-1R8 deficiency abolished the protection of IL-37tg mice against endotoxin challenge or the protective role of IL-37 in a model of non-resolving *Aspergillus fumigatus* infection and pulmonary damage (11, 52). Moreover, in a model of OVA-induced asthma, IL-37-driven anti-inflammatory effects were abolished in mice lacking either IL-1R5/IL-18Rα or IL-1R8 (53).

IL-37-overexpressing mice showed improved response to insulin and increased glucose tolerance and were protected from obesity. In addition, in adipocytes and macrophages IL-37 activated AMPK (54). Since IL-37–IL-1R8 signaling inhibited mTOR signaling, whereas AMPK, STAT6, and transcription factors of the Foxo family were activated (11), these results indicate that the IL-37–IL-1R8 axis is also involved in regulating inflammationdependent modification of cell metabolism, favoring a pseudostarvational state in macrophages and DCs.

Thus, these results demonstrate that IL-1R8 is part of the receptor complex of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-37 and mediates an anti-inflammatory signaling activation.

REGULATION OF ILR AND TLR SIGNALING BY IL-1R8

IL-1R8 exerts its regulatory activity by inhibiting NF κ B and JNK activation induced by TIR-containing ILRs or TLRs upon ligand binding, but not by other receptors such as TNF receptors. In particular, IL-1R8 was shown to tune the activation of IL-1R1, IL-1R5/IL-18R α , IL-1R4/ST2, TLR4, TLR7, TLR9, TLR3, and TLR1/2 (29, 45, 55–57) (**Figure 3**).

The knowledge about the mechanism of inhibition exerted by IL-1R8 is still fragmentary. Upon stimulation with IL-1, the IL-1R8 extracellular domain was shown to block the dimerization between IL-1R1 and IL-1R3/IL-1RAcP, and the intracellular TIR domain was shown to bind the TIR-containing adaptor protein MyD88 and downstream signaling molecules (IRAK and TRAF6), thus modulating IL-1 signaling (55, 57). Similarly, the targeting of IL-1R4/ST2 was shown to be dependent on both the extracellular immunoglobulin and TIR domains (45). In contrast, only the TIR domain was necessary for the inhibition of TLR4 signaling, as demonstrated by mutagenesis studies (55, 57). Indeed, a nonsense mutation (Q111*) and a frameshift mutation (P2fs) cause the generation of a truncated form of IL-1R8, which lose inhibitory activity (55, 57, 58). A computational approach revealed that IL-1R8 targeting of TLR4 and TLR7 signaling was dependent on IL-1R8 intracellular TIR domain and in particular on the BB-loop, which is shared by all TIR domain-containing proteins. The model proposed showed that IL-1R8 binds through its BB-loop region to TLR4 and TLR7 interfering with the dimerization site and replaces a MyD88 monomer, thus disturbing MyD88 homodimerization (59). Recent computational studies that predict the three-dimensional structures of the TLR family proteins suggested that IL-1R8 does not block the formation of the Myd88-dependent signalosome, but it inhibits NFkB activation by preventing the translocation of the signalosome from the receptor (58). This strategy would be similar to that used by


IRAK-M, which blocks the dissociation of the myddosome from the receptor (19).

Moreover, it was demonstrated that IL-1R8 could potentially interact with all TIR domain-containing proteins in the TLR pathway, preventing the dimerization of Mal, TRAM, and TRIF, and inhibiting signalosome formation. However, the BB-loop of IL-1R8 is not involved in the interaction with Mal and TRAM. Thus, in addition to MyD88-dependent pathway, IL-1R8 can inhibit TRIF-dependent signaling. Indeed, IL-1R8 was shown to target TRIF-dependent TLR3 signaling, probably by blocking TRAM homodimerization and TLR4–TRAM and TRIF–TRAM interactions (10, 58, 60). One of the clinically observed oncogenic mutations of IL-1R8 (L282M) is located on the IL-1R8–Mal and IL-1R8–TRIF interaction sites and abolishes the interaction with TRIF. These results indicate that the BB-loop of IL-1R8 is relevant in the interaction with TLRs, but not necessarily with other TIRcontaining molecules (58). c-Jun N-terminal kinase and mTOR phosphorylation were enhanced in IL-1R8-deficient Th17 cells. IL-1R8 is therefore crucial in the modulation of metabolism, differentiation, expansion, and effector functions of Th17 cells (61). IL-1R8 was also demonstrated to target mTOR phosphorylation driven by IL-1 or TLR agonists derived from commensal flora in intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) (62). IL-1R8 therefore emerges as a regulator of the cell cycle, playing a crucial role in homeostatic conditions (**Figure 3**).

The interaction between IL-1R8 and other receptors of the family is still poorly defined and sometimes contradictory. This could be due to posttranscriptional modifications in different cell types that can affect its functions.

Thus, these results indicate that IL-1R8 interferes with the formation of TIR domain signalosome, prevents the dimerization of receptors, AcP, and adaptor molecules, and blocks signal transduction.



ROLE OF IL-1R8 IN INFECTION-DRIVEN INFLAMMATION

IL-1R8 emerged as a non-redundant molecule in infectious conditions, playing a key role in the regulation of TLR and ILR responses to pathogens by dampening inflammation and tissue damage (**Figure 4**).

In *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection, IL-1R8-deficient mice displayed higher mortality compared with the control group, even if no difference in tissue bacterial load in the lung, liver, or spleen was observed. The increased susceptibility was dependent on the exacerbated systemic inflammatory response. Indeed, IL-R8-deficient mice presented an overwhelming inflammatory response, which is characterized by enhanced macrophage and neutrophil lung infiltration and increased systemic levels of inflammatory cytokines. The *in vivo* depletion of crucial inflammatory mediators (IL-1 and TNF α) in *M. tuberculosis* infection

significantly prolonged the survival of IL-1R8-deficient mice (63). In a model of keratitis induced by *P. aeruginosa*, IL-1R8 was involved in the regulation of IL-1R1 and TLR4 signaling in T cells and dampening Th1 response, thus preventing tissue damage and promoting resistance to infection (64). Similarly, in acute lung infections caused by *P. aeruginosa*, IL-1R8-deficient mice showed increased susceptibility to the pathogen, in terms of mortality and bacterial load, and increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, both locally and systemically. The enhanced susceptibility was dependent on the deregulation of IL-1 signaling, since IL-1R1 deficiency abolished the phenotype observed in IL-1R8-deficient mice. IL-1R8 therefore emerged as a non-redundant regulator of IL-1 mediated control of *P. aeruginosa* infection (39).

In *C. albicans* and *A. fumigatus* infections, the absence of IL-1R8 led to increased susceptibility to mucosal and disseminated or lung infections (65). IL-1R8-deficient mice showed increased mortality and fungal burden, enhanced activation



of IL-1 signaling and Th17 cell response, and reduced Treg activation. This correlated with higher levels of IL-12, IL-23, IL-6, IFN- γ , and IL-17 and reduced levels of IL-10. IL-1R8 was demonstrated to be a regulator of Th17 cells and IL-17A production by $\gamma\delta$ T cells and a modulator of T cell polarization. The phenotype observed in IL-1R8-deficient mice could be due to a deregulated Th17 response, which is dependent on the uncontrolled IL-1 signaling. Indeed, *in vitro* experiments demonstrated that IL-17 production by CD4⁺ T cells, primed with *Candida*-pulsed DCs, was reduced by the treatment with IL-1 β - and IL-23-blocking antibodies (65).

The role of IL-1R8 is therefore attributable to the negative regulation of IL-1 signaling in *P. aeruginosa*, *C. albicans*, and *M. tuberculosis* infections, since IL-1 neutralization was sufficient to abolish the phenotype in IL-1R8-deficient mice.

Moreover, IL-1R8-deficient mice on a BALB/c background showed enhanced mortality, upon endotoxin challenge (55). In line with this, IL-1R8 overexpression in lung epithelial cells reduced the inflammatory response and improved the survival of BALB/c mice in a model of LPS-dependent acute lung injury (66). Since IL-1R8-deficient mice on a C57BL/ 6×129 /Sv background revealed no difference in terms of LPS reaction, compared with controls, it has been hypothesized that IL-1R8-mediated regulation of LPS response may depend on the background of mice (56).

The relevance of these data in the mouse was supported by a case-population study design in Vietnam, showing that 3 SNPs (rs10902158, rs7105848, rs7111432) in IL-1R8 gene correlated with the development of both pulmonary tuberculosis and tuberculous meningitis. Moreover, coinheritance of these SNPs

with previously identified polymorphisms in TLR2 and TIRAP was associated with enhanced risk of susceptibility (67).

The protective role of IL-1R8 in the infections mentioned above is due to the regulation of ILR and TLR signaling that potentially cause detrimental inflammation and tissue damage. However, in a model of experimental urinary tract infection (UTI) induced by uropathogenic E. coli, IL-1R8-deficient mice displayed reduced renal bacteria outgrowth and diminished renal dysfunction UTI. IL-1R8 also modulated the recruitment of immune cells in the kidney, since a more sustained renal neutrophil influx was observed in the early phase of infection in IL-1R8-deficient mice. This is possibly due to the activity of IL-1R8 in dampening E. coli induced activation of tubular epithelial cells. Indeed, in vitro stimulation of IL-1R8-deficient tubular epithelial cells with LPS or heat-killed E. coli resulted in increased production of TNFa and chemokines (CXCL1, CCL2, and CCL3) and a mild increased expression of the adhesion molecule ICAM-1. Finally, IL-1R8 mRNA transcript was reduced in kidneys during the early phase of E. coli induced pyelonephritis (41). A recent in vitro study demonstrated that IL-1R8 regulates the responsiveness to LPS in a human BEC line, and, in line with previous studies, IL-1R8 mRNA and protein expression were downregulated upon stimulation with LPS (42). IL-1R8 silencing in BECs caused increased LPS-induced IL-6 and IL-8 production and this correlated with enhanced phosphorylation rate of JNK, p38, and ERK1/2. Finally, IL-1R8 siRNA transfected cells developed an impaired LPS tolerance, suggesting that IL-1R8 is involved in this process. Overall, these findings highlighted the importance of IL-1R8 in the negative regulation of urinary tract and renal response to bacterial infections (42).

Similar to what was observed in UTI, during pneumonia and sepsis induced by *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in the mouse, IL-1R8 deficiency was associated with delayed mortality, reduced bacterial load in the lungs, and reduced dissemination of the infection (68). Increased interstitial and perivascular inflammation was observed in IL-1R8-deficient lungs mice in the early phase of infection. Thus, IL-1R8 suppressed the protective antibacterial immune response in *S. pneumoniae* induced pneumonia (68).

Murine models of Citrobacter rodentium infection resemble human intestinal infections driven by enteric bacterial pathogens, such as enterohemorrhagic E. coli (EHEC) and Salmonella typhimurium. Upon C. rodentium infection, IL-1R8 deficiency correlated with accelerated IEC proliferation and enhanced proinflammatory and antimicrobial response. However, IL-1R8 was shown to be protective in this model, in terms of weight loss, intestinal damage, colitis score, and intestinal bacterial burden. IL-1R8 protective function was dependent on IL-1R1-MyD88 signaling, but not on TLR2 or TLR4 pathways, indicating that IL-1R1 may be the key receptor targeted by IL-1R8 in this context. Infected IL-1R8-deficient mice underwent a more rapid and dramatic loss of commensal flora, compared with controls. In infected mice, the microbiota depletion was directly dependent on the exacerbated antimicrobial response occurring in IL-1R8-deficient mice that favored pathogen colonization. Thus, IL-1R8-mediated regulation of IECs is responsible for the inhibition of a strong antimicrobial response that would otherwise lead to a rapid depletion of the commensal microbiota, during intestinal infection. In turn, the absence of competing microflora would favor the colonization by bacterial pathogens (69).

These studies indicate that IL-1R8 plays a crucial role in favoring the maintenance of a delicate equilibrium between the protective immune response against infections and the development of detrimental inflammation and host injury. The activity of IL-1R8 is therefore strictly dependent on the context and several lines of evidence suggest that during homeostasis the constitutive expression of IL-1R8 protects against inappropriate responses, whereas its downregulation during acute inflammatory stimulation enhances the effectiveness (and pathogenic potential) of antibacterial host defense.

ROLE OF IL-1R8 IN AUTOIMMUNITY AND ALLERGY

The interest in studying IL-1R8 involvement in autoimmunity arises from the fact that ILRs and TLRs are key players in the pathogenic mechanisms of autoimmune disorders (**Figure 4**). In particular, IL-1 regulates the differentiation and function of Th17 cells, which are involved in inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA), multiple sclerosis, psoriasis, and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (70). IL-33 is a driver of type 2 inflammatory responses and is implicated in allergy and asthma (71).

Gulen et al. recently showed that IL-1R8 was induced during Th17 cell polarization and that it controlled Th17 cell differentiation, expansion, and effector functions through the direct inhibition of IL-1 signaling in T cells. An increased phosphorylation rate of JNK, mTOR, and 4EBP1 was observed in IL-1R8-deficient T cells, upon stimulation with IL-1. In particular, IL-1-induced mTOR pathway was critical for the IL-1R8-mediated modulation of Th17 response. Thus, IL-1R8 emerged as a key regulator of IL-1 activity in Th17 cells, and it was also observed to be involved in the Th17-mediated development of central nervous system (CNS) autoimmune disorders. Indeed, IL-1R8-deficient mice revealed higher susceptibility to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), due to an increased Th17 infiltrate in the CNS and enhanced Th17 polarization and pathogenic functions (61).

Toll-like receptors and ILRs are involved in the pathogenesis of RA (72-74). IL-1R8 was shown to suppress the spontaneous release of cytokines in human RA synovial cells in vitro, suggesting its involvement in the modulation of chronic inflammation in RA. In vivo experiments supported this evidence, since IL-1R8deficient mice developed a more severe disease in both zymosaninduced arthritis and collagen antibody-induced arthritis models, which was associated with increased cellular infiltration into the affected joints. IL-1Ra treatment reduced the susceptibility of IL-1R8-deficient mice in zymosan-induced arthritis, suggesting that IL-1 played a central role in this model. However, the phenotype of IL-1R8-deficient mice was not completely rescued by the treatment, possibly because other TLR (e.g., TLR2) or ILR ligands are implicated in zymosan-induced arthritis pathogenesis (74). In agreement with this study, IL-1R8 expression was reduced in peripheral blood of patients with psoriatic arthritis, compared with healthy donors (36). Moreover, IL-1R8 deficiency caused

Role of IL-1R8

enhanced susceptibility to psoriasis, associated with increased infiltration and activation of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, in both Aldara- and rIL-23-induced psoriasis models. Interestingly, IL-R8 directly modulated IL-1-driven IL-17A expression by $\gamma\delta$ T cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and IL-17A depletion abolished the phenotype observed in IL-1R8-deficient mice (75).

Increasing evidences implicated IL-1R8 in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. Indeed, altered TLR signaling in DCs and B cells is one of the driving mechanisms of this autoimmune disorder. In particular, immune complexes containing the lupus autoantigen U1snRNP or nucleosomes activate DCs and autoreactive B cells via TLR7 and TLR9, respectively (76, 77). In the mouse, IL-1R8 deficiency alone did not induce autoimmunity against DNA. However, IL-1R8 deficiency in C57BL/6lpr/lpr mice, which develop delayed autoimmunity due to impaired Fasinduced apoptosis of autoreactive B and T cells, caused increased activation of DCs and B cells and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (CCL2, IL-6, and IL-12p40) and B cell antiapoptotic mediators (Baff/BlyS and Bcl-2). Moreover, IL-1R8 regulated B cell proliferation, upon exposure to RNA and DNA immune complexes or other TLR agonists. IL-1R8-deficient C57BL/6lpr/lpr mice also displayed and increased production of autoantibodies (antidsDNAIgG, anti-nucleosome, anti-Sm antigen, anti-snRNP, and rheumatoid factor) and presented a massive lymphoproliferative disorder, associated with enhanced autoimmune lung disease, lupus nephritis, and hypergammaglobulinemia, compared with IL-1R8-competent C57BL/6^{lpr/lpr} controls (78). In line with this, IL-1R8 was also protective in a model of hydrocarbon oil-induced lupus, in which it modulated TLR7-mediated activation of DCs and expansion of autoreactive lymphocyte clones. IL-1R8 is therefore involved in the regulation of DC and B cell activation, by preventing exacerbated autoimmune reactions, lymphoproliferation, and tissue damage in SLE (79). The data in the mouse were supported by recent analysis of IL-1R8 involvement in SLE in human. A case study of a cohort of SLE patients revealed a reduced frequency of IL-1R8+ CD4+ T cells in the peripheral blood of SLE patients compared with healthy individuals. Moreover, the frequency of IL-1R8⁺ CD4⁺ T cells was further reduced in SLE patients with nephritis, compared with those without nephritis (80). Zhu et al. showed that B cells from SLE patients displayed an upregulation of TLR7 and TLR9 compared with healthy controls, but the response to corresponding ligands was normal or even reduced. The authors suggested that this could be explained by the enhanced IL-1R8 expression in SLE B cells, even though the pathological significance of IL-1R8 increase in this context is still unclear (81). A genetic analysis of allelic variants of the IL-1R8 gene in a large European-descent population showed no correlation between IL-1R8 polymorphisms and SLE, but the analysis was restricted to a single missense SNP (rs3210908) (82). More recently, another genetic variant of IL-1R8 (rs7396562) was identified, and it was demonstrated to correlate with the susceptibility to SLE, in a Chinese population (83).

IL-33 signaling is a key driver of type 2 immunity, which favors protective immune responses in parasite infections and tissue repair but is also involved in pathological conditions, such as asthma, allergy, and eosinophilia (84). IL-33 receptor (IL-1R4/ ST2) affects innate and adaptive lymphoid cells (ILCs and Th2), inducing the production of type 2 cytokines (IL-4, IL-5, IL-13), and can be targeted by IL-1R8. Indeed, IL-1R8 inhibits IL-33mediated signaling in Th2 cells, controlling the production of type 2 cytokines in vitro and in vivo (45). IL-1R8-deficient mice were shown to be hyper responsive to IL-33, in terms of lung inflammation, splenomegaly, and increased serum levels of IL-5 and IL-13 (45). Moreover, in a model of allergic pulmonary inflammation induced by OVA, IL-1R8 deficiency was associated with increased leukocyte lung infiltration, IL-5 and IL-4 levels, and OVA-specific IgE induction, due to an exacerbated Th2 response (45). These results indicate that IL-1R8 serves as a negative feedback control in Th2 polarization and restimulation, thus controlling allergic inflammatory responses. However, a genetic study performed on a cohort of Japanese asthma patients revealed that none of the alleles or haplotypes of IL-1R8 identified were associated with asthma susceptibility or asthma-related conditions (85).

These data demonstrate the relevance of the control mediated by IL-1R8 on T and B lymphocytes and on antigen-presenting cells in the development of autoimmune and allergic diseases.

ROLE OF IL-1R8 IN KIDNEY STERILE INFLAMMATION

IL-1R8 is expressed at high levels in the kidney, in particular, by tubular epithelial cells and immune cells such as DCs and macrophages. Immunohistochemical analysis revealed extensive IL-1R8 positivity in the majority of tubular epithelial cells of the renal cortex, showing a predominant expression at the apical side of renal proximal tubules (29). IL-1R8 was shown to be a key player in sterile kidney diseases, by regulating TLR activation by nucleosomes and DAMPs, released during ischemic cell necrosis and associated with pathological conditions, such as lupus nephritis, postischemic acute renal failure, or kidney transplantation (78, 79, 86, 87) (**Figure 4**).

In a postischemic renal failure model, IL-1R8 deficiency was associated with increased renal injury, due to a massive activation of myeloid cells, increased intrarenal cytokine and chemokine production and increased leukocyte recruitment. In this model of sterile inflammation, DAMPs activate immune cells, in particular, neutrophils and macrophages, mainly via TLR4 and TLR2. In a model of renal ischemia/reperfusion, bone marrow chimeric mice demonstrated a major role of IL-1R8 in the hematopoietic compartment, since Il1r8+/+ animals transplanted with Il1r8^{-/-} hematopoietic cells reproduced the phenotype of IL-1R8-deficient mice (86). In line with this, in a mouse model of fully mismatched kidney allotransplantation, IL-1R8-deficient grafts were less tolerated compared with control grafts, leading to acute rejection. Moreover, IL-1R8 deficiency was associated with an enhanced ILR- and TLR-driven posttransplant kidney inflammatory response, in particular, due to increased neutrophil and macrophage infiltrate and higher expression of TNF α and chemokines. An amplified adaptive response was also observed in IL-1R8-deficient mice, in which expansion and maturation of DCs was enhanced and the immune response against donor antigens was exacerbated. The higher allostimulatory activity of DCs may possibly explain the increased frequency of reactive T cells and reduced Treg development in absence of IL-1R8. Thus,

IL-1R8 plays a key role in the regulation of the allogeneic immune response *in situ* and is involved in graft survival (87).

In case of renal fibrosis induced by unilateral ureteral obstruction (UUO), IL-1R8 deficiency did not modulate the renal pathology. Indeed, IL-1R8-deficient mice did not show any difference compared with controls in this model, in terms of mRNA transcript of pro-inflammatory and profibrotic mediators, leukocyte recruitment, and renal injury (88). These data are in line with the evidence that TLR2, TLR9, and MyD88 signaling are not involved in the pathogenesis of postobstructive renal fibrosis (89).

ROLE OF IL-1R8 IN BRAIN INFLAMMATION

IL-1R8 is expressed in the brain by neurons, microglia, and astrocytes, and it was shown to be involved in the regulation of LPS responsiveness in the brain (16, 33, 90) (**Figure 4**). Indeed, IL-1R8 deficiency was associated with a massive LPS-induced inflammation in the brain. In response to LPS, IL-1R8 negatively regulated CD40, ICAM, and cytokine (IL-6 and TNF α) mRNA expression in microglial cells and cytokine production in hippocampal tissue. This is in line with an increased hippocampal expression of CD14 and TLR4, and NF κ B activation in IL-1R8-deficient mice (91).

In addition, it has been observed that cognitive and synaptic functions, such as novel object recognition, spatial reference memory, and long-term potentiation (LTP), were impaired in IL-1R8-deficient mice, in absence of any external stimulus. This was associated with a higher expression of IL-1R1 and TLR4 and an enhanced activation of IL-1R1 and TLR4 downstream signaling molecules (IRAK1, c-Jun, JNK, and NFkB) (92). Indeed, treatment with IL-1Ra and anti-TLR4 antibody and the inhibition of JNK and NFkB rescued the deficit in LTP in IL-1R8-deficient animals, suggesting a central role of IL-1R1 and TLR4 signaling in this model. IL-1 α and high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), which activate IL-1R1 and TLR4, respectively, were proposed to play a central role in the phenotype observed and the expression levels of both molecules were increased in IL-1R8-deficient mice. These findings revealed a key role of IL-1R8 in modulating the inflammatory response associated with synaptic and cognitive decline and identified IL-1 α and HMGB-1 as central mediators in this process (92). Moreover, IL-1R6 antagonist (IL-36Ra) inhibits the IL-1- and LPS-induced inflammatory response in glial cells, and this effect was absent in mixed glia prepared from IL-1R8-deficient mice, suggesting the involvement of IL-1R8 in the anti-inflammatory activity of IL-36Ra, possibly mediated through the production of IL-4 (16). Finally, a recent study showed that IL-1R8 acted as a negative regulator of β-amyloid (A β) peptide-induced TLR2 signaling in the brain. A β is the main component of neuritic plaques in Alzheimer's disease (AD) and the primary mediator of the AD-associated neuroinflammation (49). The response to the TLR2 agonist (Pam₃Cys₄) was increased in glial cells from IL-1R8-deficient mice and Aβ-induced inflammation in the brain was enhanced in IL-1R8-deficient mice, in terms of cytokine production (IL-6 and TNF-α). In vitro experiments demonstrated that $A\beta$ treatment increased the expression of TLR2 and decreased the expression of IL-1R8 in microglia and this was mimicked by the treatment with the TLR2 agonist Pam₃Cys₄. Anti-TLR2 treatment of microglia attenuated the inflammatory response and the impairment in LTP, both induced by A β , confirming the central role of TLR2 in the A β -induced neuroinflammation. Interestingly, TLR2 neutralization also led to an increase of IL-1R8 mRNA (49). These findings highlighted the key role of IL-1R8 in the modulation of TLR2-induced inflammation in the brain and its relevance in a potential therapeutic approach targeting TLR2 in AD-related pathology.

ROLE OF IL-1R8 IN INTESTINAL INFLAMMATION AND INTESTINAL CANCER

IL-1R8 was demonstrated to be a key regulator of intestinal homeostasis (Figure 4). IECs are intrinsically hyporesponsive to bacterial products, thus not only preventing exaggerate inflammatory responses against the commensal flora but also limiting the enteric host defense (56). On the other hand, gut microfloramediated activation of ILRs and TLRs provides the survival signals for IECs and this pathway is targeted by IL-1R8, which is therefore involved in controlling proliferation and survival in colon crypts (93). IL-1R8-deficient mice displayed constitutive NFkB and JNK activation and increased expression of Cyclin D1 and Bcl-xL. The effect was further enhanced upon treatment with IL-1 or LPS, and it was dependent on the commensal flora, since microbiota depletion rescued the phenotype (93). This phenotype in healthy mice was not confirmed by other studies (56, 94), probably because of the animal house-dependent variation of the microflora. The relevance of IL-1R8 expression in IEC in terms of response to intestinal infections and control of commensal microbiota has been described above.

In dextran sodium sulfate (DSS)-induced colitis, IL-1R8 deficiency is associated with an exacerbated intestinal inflammation, in terms of weight loss, intestinal bleeding, local tissue damage, and a reduced survival. This correlates with an increased leukocyte infiltration in the intestine and higher level of proinflammatory cytokines (TNF α , IL-6, IL-1 β , IL-12p40, IL-17), chemokines (CXCL1, CCL2), and prostaglandins. Experiments with bone marrow chimeric mice demonstrated that the regulatory function exerted by IL-1R8 occurs in epithelial cells, in both DSS- and enteric pathogen-induced colitis (56, 93).

Epidemiological studies have shown that chronic inflammation, both dependent on infectious agents or not, can increase the risk of cancer. The hallmarks of cancer-related inflammation are comparable to those observed in chronic inflammatory conditions: inflammatory cells and mediators are present in the tumor tissue, and they are implicated in tissue repair, remodeling, and angiogenesis. This "smoldering inflammation" occurs even in tumors that are not directly caused by an inflammatory trigger. Cancer-related inflammation depends on two possible pathways: an intrinsic pathway, driven by oncogenic mutations that cause both neoplasia and inflammation, or an extrinsic pathway, driven by inflammatory conditions that favor tumor development (e.g., colitis-associated intestinal cancer) (95–98). Several studies have revealed a crucial role of ILR and TLR signaling in this context, in which NFkB is one of the key orchestrators, and that IL-1R8 plays a protective role in the pathogenesis of cancer-related inflammation in different murine models of colon cancer (98). IL-1R8 was studied in a model of CAC, induced by the treatment with the procarcinogen azoxymethane (AOM), followed by DSS, which favors chronic inflammation (93, 94). This model mimics intestinal cancer that develops in chronic IBD patients, in particular, ulcerative colitis patients. In the AOM-DSS CAC model, IL-1R8 deficiency was associated with exacerbated inflammation in the intestine, leading to increased susceptibility to cancer development, in terms of number, size, and severity of lesions. IL-1R8 negatively regulated intestinal permeability, in situ production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines and prostaglandin E2, and the expression of NFkB-induced genes involved in cell survival and proliferation (Bcl-xL and Cyclin D1) (93, 94). In this context, chemokines favored cancer progression, influencing the extent and type of leukocyte infiltrate (e.g., recruiting Th2 and Treg cells) and driving tumor cell and endothelial cell growth and migration (99, 100). Moreover, increased levels of IL-10 and TGF-β were observed in tumors of IL-1R8-deficient mice, reflecting an immunosuppressive microenvironment that inhibited T cell-dependent antitumoral immunity (100). The expression of IL-6, which promotes cancer growth, was also increased in the intestine of IL-1R8-deficient mice (101, 102). IL-1R8 overexpression in gut epithelial cells abolished the susceptibility of IL-1R8-deficient mice to CAC development, suggesting that the regulatory activity of IL-1R8 in IECs plays a central role in this model (93). Since commensal microflora-derived stimuli are necessary for the homeostasis of colon epithelium and are involved in colitis-associated carcinogenesis, IL-1R8 regulation may be possibly dependent on its direct modulation of microbiota-activated TLRs (103). However, IL-1R8-mediated targeting of other TLRand ILR-related pathways cannot be excluded in this model.

IL-1R8 involvement in colon cancer was also investigated in the genetic Apc^{min/+} model, in which tumor initiation is caused by loss of heterozygosity (LOH) of the tumor suppressor Apc and which mimics the familial adenomatous polyposis syndrome (104). In Apc^{min/+} mice, IL-1R8 deficiency led to an increased susceptibility to cancer development, due to a more sustained activation of the Akt/mTOR pathway, which plays a crucial role in tumor initiation (105). In agreement with the CAC model, commensal bacterial played a pivotal role in colonic tumorigenesis, suggesting that IL-1R8 regulation might occur through the inhibition of TLR signaling, even if mTOR enhanced activation was also observed upon stimulation of epithelial cells with IL-1. Thus, IL-1R8 exerts an antitumoral activity by suppressing IL-1- and TLR-induced mTOR-mediated cell cycle progression and consequent genetic instability (62).

A recent study has investigated the role of IL-1R8 in human colorectal cancer, demonstrating that colon tumors express lower level of IL-1R8 compared with healthy tissues and that IL-1R8 is frequently inactivated in human colorectal cancer (32). Indeed, Zhao et al. identified a dominant-negative isoform of IL-1R8 (IL-1R8^{ΔE8}) and RNA sequencing data demonstrated that the expression level of this isoform increased in human colon cancer, compared with healthy tissue. The IL-1R8^{ΔE8}

isoform originated from a transcript that lacks the exon 8 of the gene and exhibited compromised integrity of the TIR domain, increased retention in the cytoplasm, and reduced N-linked glycosylation. The cytoplasmic retention caused a decrease in the cell surface expression of IL-1R8 and a consequent loss of its inhibitory activity. Moreover, IL-1R8^{∆E8} isoform was shown to be able to interact with full-length IL-1R8, acting as an antagonist of IL-1R8 and thus suppressing its function. To investigate the mechanism responsible for IL-1R8^{∆E8} isoform synthesis in tumor cells, sequence analysis were performed and predicted that exon 8 would be intrinsically a "weak" exon, with high probability of exclusion. Exon 8 also displayed a binding site for CTCF, a factor that favors the inclusion of weak exons, and since the binding can be reduced by methylation, hypermethylation was proposed to be the strategy followed by cancer cells that leads to IL-1R8^{ΔE8} isoform expression. Indeed, treatment with decitabine, a methyltransferase inhibitor, reduced IL-1R8 $^{\Delta E8}$ isoform expression. To model the impact of IL-1R8 $^{\Delta E8}$ isoform in colon carcinogenesis in the mouse, gut epithelium-specific IL-1R8 transgenic mice were generated, expressing a mutant form of IL-1R8 (IL-1R8^{N85/101S}) that mimics IL-1R8^{Δ E8} isoform or wild-type IL-1R8 as a control. In both AOM and AOM-DSS models, the presence of wild-type IL-1R8 in IECs protected the mice from the development of colon cancer. On the contrary, mice expressing IL-1R8^{N85/101S} isoform had the same phenotype as IL-1R8-deficient mice, suggesting that complex glycan modifications and cell surface expression are necessary for IL-1R8 functional activity in vivo (32). Thus, IL-1R8 alternative splicing is an escape mechanism adopted by tumor cells to inactivate IL-1R8 through the generation of a dominantnegative isoform.

ROLE OF IL-1R8 IN CHRONIC LYMPHOCYTIC LEUKEMIA

Both genetic defects and microenvironment stimuli contribute to chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) development and progression. Moreover, factors originating from the microenvironment are involved in the selection and expansion of the malignant clone (106, 107). Human malignant B cells expressed lower levels of IL-1R8 mRNA than normal B cells, and accordingly, in the well-established transgenic mouse model of CLL (TCL1), CD19⁺ B cells expressed lower levels of IL-1R8 mRNA transcript, compared with controls (107-110). IL-1R8 deficiency did not affect B cell compartment in healthy mice, whereas it correlated with an earlier and more severe appearance of monoclonal B cell expansion and a reduced mouse life span in TCL1 transgenic mice, mimicking the aggressive variant of human CLL (110). These findings revealed IL-1R8 inhibitory role in CLL initiation and progression, even though the molecular mechanism is still unclear (Figure 4). Endogenous TLR or ILR ligands are known to be involved in CLL and may be candidate targets of IL-1R8.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

It is well established that IL-1R8 acts as negative regulator of ILR and TLR signaling, which are key pathways involved in inflammation and immunity. Early studies are consistent with the fact that IL-1R8 is a conserved and widely expressed molecule that plays a key role in the modulation of inflammation, tissue damage, and host defense against infections, autoimmunity, and cancer. Its mechanism of action is probably dependent on the interaction with TIR domain containing-signaling molecules, preventing the signalosome formation and activation. Although IL-1R8 was considered an orphan receptor, IL-36Ra has been proposed as brain-specific IL-1R8 ligand. Recently, IL-1R8 has been shown to act as a coreceptor for IL-37-IL-1R5/IL-18Ra and to be required for the anti-inflammatory activity of IL-37 (11, 51, 52). Indeed, IL-37 needs IL-1R8 to trigger a rapid anti-inflammatory program, revealing a novel role for IL-1R8. In addition to its regulatory activity, IL-1R8 therefore emerges as a coreceptor molecule, which able to boost IL-37-mediated signaling. Since IL-37 ameliorates insulin resistance and obesityinduced inflammation (54), it will be important to address whether IL-1R8 is involved in these contexts, preserving glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity and reducing inflammation in the adipose tissue.

IL-1R8 regulates the metabolism, activation and polarization of several innate and adaptive immune cell types, as well as of non-hematopoietic cells. Thus, it plays a non-redundant role in the regulation of both pathogen-induced and sterile inflammation, managing the delicate equilibrium between host defense and detrimental inflammation.

The IL-1 system and TLR ligands affect all cells of the immune system, as well as epithelial, endothelial, and stromal cells. Since IL-1R8 is expressed by most cell types, but its

REFERENCES

- Kang JY, Lee JO. Structural biology of the toll-like receptor family. Annu Rev Biochem (2011) 80:917–41. doi:10.1146/annurev-biochem-052909-141507
- Garlanda C, Dinarello CA, Mantovani A. The interleukin-1 family: back to the future. *Immunity* (2013) 39:1003–18. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.11.010
- O'Neill LA. How toll-like receptors signal: what we know and what we don't know. Curr Opin Immunol (2006) 18:3–9. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2005.11.012
- O'Neill LA. The interleukin-1 receptor/toll-like receptor superfamily: 10 years of progress. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 226:10–8. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00701.x
- Dinarello CA. Immunological and inflammatory functions of the interleukin-1 family. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2009) 27:519–50. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.021908.132612
- McMahan CJ, Slack JL, Mosley B, Cosman D, Lupton SD, Brunton LL, et al. A novel IL-1 receptor, cloned from B cells by mammalian expression, is expressed in many cell types. *EMBO J* (1991) 10:2821–32.
- Colotta F, Re F, Muzio M, Bertini R, Polentarutti N, Sironi M, et al. Interleukin-1 type II receptor: a decoy target for IL-1 that is regulated by IL-4. *Science* (1993) 261:472–5. doi:10.1126/science.8332913
- Zheng Y, Humphry M, Maguire JJ, Bennett MR, Clarke MC. Intracellular interleukin-1 receptor 2 binding prevents cleavage and activity of interleukin-1alpha, controlling necrosis-induced sterile inflammation. *Immunity* (2013) 38:285–95. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.01.008
- Li X, Qin J. Modulation of toll-interleukin 1 receptor mediated signaling. J Mol Med (Berl) (2005) 83:258–66. doi:10.1007/s00109-004-0622-4
- Garlanda C, Anders HJ, Mantovani A. TIR8/SIGIRR: an IL-1R/TLR family member with regulatory functions in inflammation and T cell polarization. *Trends Immunol* (2009) 30:439–46. doi:10.1016/j.it.2009.06.001
- Nold-Petry CA, Lo CY, Rudloff I, Elgass KD, Li S, Gantier MP, et al. IL-37 requires the receptors IL-18Ralpha and IL-1R8 (SIGIRR) to carry out its multifaceted anti-inflammatory program upon innate signal transduction. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16:354–65. doi:10.1038/ni.3103

functional characterization is still incomplete, future studies will be important to identify the peculiar role of IL-1R8 in the regulation of ILR- and TLR-dependent activation in specific cell types.

The involvement of IL-1R8 in human pathologies needs to be further investigated, since it could emerge as a potential target in several inflammatory contexts. Results showing that IL-1R8 inactivation is an escape mechanism adopted by cancer cells in human colon cancer are of particular importance, since they represent the first strong genetic evidence of the relevance of IL-1R8 in human disease. Further analysis of IL-1R8 polymorphisms and epigenetic regulations of IL-1R8 gene represent important future directions to gain a more precise view of IL-1R8 involvement in human diseases.

Given the well-established role of IL-1R8 as a key anti-inflammatory molecule in a broad spectrum of contexts, its targeting holds promise of innovative therapies in several pathological conditions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CG and MM wrote the manuscript. IB and AM critically revised the manuscript.

FUNDING

The contribution of the European Commission (TIMER, HEALTH-F4-2011-281608) and of the Ministry of Health (Ricerca Finalizzata) is gratefully acknowledged.

- Novick D, Kim SH, Fantuzzi G, Reznikov LL, Dinarello CA, Rubinstein M. Interleukin-18 binding protein: a novel modulator of the Th1 cytokine response. *Immunity* (1999) 10:127–36. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(00)80013-8
- Bufler P, Azam T, Gamboni-Robertson F, Reznikov LL, Kumar S, Dinarello CA, et al. A complex of the IL-1 homologue IL-1F7b and IL-18-binding protein reduces IL-18 activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) **99**:13723–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.212519099
- Watanabe M, Goto N, Watanabe Y, Nishiguchi S, Shimada K, Yasunga T, et al. Evolution of interleukin-18 binding proteins and interleukin-1 receptor, type II proteins. *Int J Mol Med* (2005) 15:561–6. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.15.4.56
- Towne JE, Garka KE, Renshaw BR, Virca GD, Sims JE. Interleukin (IL)-1F6, IL-1F8, and IL-1F9 signal through IL-1Rrp2 and IL-1RAcP to activate the pathway leading to NF-kappaB and MAPKs. *J Biol Chem* (2004) 279:13677– 88. doi:10.1074/jbc.M400117200
- Costelloe C, Watson M, Murphy A, McQuillan K, Loscher C, Armstrong ME, et al. IL-1F5 mediates anti-inflammatory activity in the brain through induction of IL-4 following interaction with SIGIRR/TIR8. *J Neurochem* (2008) 105:1960–9. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05304.x
- Aksentijevich I, Masters SL, Ferguson PJ, Dancey P, Frenkel J, van Royen-Kerkhoff A, et al. An autoinflammatory disease with deficiency of the interleukin-1-receptor antagonist. N Engl J Med (2009) 360:2426–37. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa0807865
- Reddy S, Jia S, Geoffrey R, Lorier R, Suchi M, Broeckel U, et al. An autoinflammatory disease due to homozygous deletion of the IL1RN locus. N Engl J Med (2009) 360:2438–44. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0809568
- Kobayashi K, Hernandez LD, Galan JE, Janeway CA Jr, Medzhitov R, Flavell RA. IRAK-M is a negative regulator of toll-like receptor signaling. *Cell* (2002) 110:191–202. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00827-9
- Janssens S, Burns K, Vercammen E, Tschopp J, Beyaert R. MyD88S, a splice variant of MyD88, differentially modulates NF-kappaB- and AP-1dependent gene expression. *FEBS Lett* (2003) 548:103–7. doi:10.1016/ S0014-5793(03)00747-6

- Bazzoni F, Rossato M, Fabbri M, Gaudiosi D, Mirolo M, Mori L, et al. Induction and regulatory function of miR-9 in human monocytes and neutrophils exposed to proinflammatory signals. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106:5282–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0810909106
- Quinn SR, O'Neill LA. A trio of microRNAs that control toll-like receptor signalling. *Int Immunol* (2011) 23:421–5. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxr034
- Alam MM, O'Neill LA. microRNAs and the resolution phase of inflammation in macrophages. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41:2482–5. doi:10.1002/eji.201141740
- Krelin Y, Voronov E, Dotan S, Elkabets M, Reich E, Fogel M, et al. Interleukinlbeta-driven inflammation promotes the development and invasiveness of chemical carcinogen-induced tumors. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:1062–71. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2956
- Liew FY, Pitman NI, McInnes IB. Disease-associated functions of IL-33: the new kid in the IL-1 family. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10:103–10. doi:10.1038/ nri2692
- 26. Dinarello CA. Interleukin-1 in the pathogenesis and treatment of inflammatory diseases. *Blood* (2011) **117**:3720–32. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-07-273417
- 27. Towne JE, Sims JE. IL-36 in psoriasis. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2012) **12**:486–90. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2012.02.009
- Thomassen E, Renshaw BR, Sims JE. Identification and characterization of SIGIRR, a molecule representing a novel subtype of the IL-1R superfamily. *Cytokine* (1999) 11:389–99. doi:10.1006/cyto.1998.0452
- Lech M, Garlanda C, Mantovani A, Kirschning CJ, Schlondorff D, Anders HJ. Different roles of TiR8/Sigirr on toll-like receptor signaling in intrarenal antigen-presenting cells and tubular epithelial cells. *Kidney Int* (2007) 72:182–92. doi:10.1038/sj.ki.5002293
- Riva F, Polentarutti N, Tribbioli G, Mantovani A, Garlanda C, Turin L. The expression pattern of TIR8 is conserved among vertebrates. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol* (2009) 131:44–9. doi:10.1016/j.vetimm.2009.03.009
- Gu YF, Fang Y, Jin Y, Dong WR, Xiang LX, Shao JZ. Discovery of the DIGIRR gene from teleost fish: a novel toll-IL-1 receptor family member serving as a negative regulator of IL-1 signaling. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:2514–30. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003457
- Zhao J, Bulek K, Gulen MF, Zepp JA, Karagkounis G, Martin BN, et al. human colon tumors express a dominant-negative form of SIGIRR that promotes inflammation and colitis-associated colon cancer in mice. *Gastroenterology* (2015) 149:1860.e–71.e. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2015.08.051
- Polentarutti N, Rol GP, Muzio M, Bosisio D, Camnasio M, Riva F, et al. Unique pattern of expression and inhibition of IL-1 signaling by the IL-1 receptor family member TIR8/SIGIRR. *Eur Cytokine Netw* (2003) 14:211-8.
- Kadota C, Ishihara S, Aziz MM, Rumi MA, Oshima N, Mishima Y, et al. Down-regulation of single immunoglobulin interleukin-1R-related molecule (SIGIRR)/TIR8 expression in intestinal epithelial cells during inflammation. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2010) 162:348–61. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249. 2010.04254.x
- Khan MA, Steiner TS, Sham HP, Bergstrom KS, Huang JT, Assi K, et al. The single IgG IL-1-related receptor controls TLR responses in differentiated human intestinal epithelial cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:2305–13. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0900021
- Batliwalla FM, Li W, Ritchlin CT, Xiao X, Brenner M, Laragione T, et al. Microarray analyses of peripheral blood cells identifies unique gene expression signature in psoriatic arthritis. *Mol Med* (2005) 11:21–9. doi:10.2119/2006-00003.Gulko
- Ragnarsdottir B, Samuelsson M, Gustafsson MC, Leijonhufvud I, Karpman D, Svanborg C. Reduced toll-like receptor 4 expression in children with asymptomatic bacteriuria. J Infect Dis (2007) 196:475–84. doi:10.1086/518893
- Nanthakumar N, Meng D, Goldstein AM, Zhu W, Lu L, Uauy R, et al. The mechanism of excessive intestinal inflammation in necrotizing enterocolitis: an immature innate immune response. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e17776. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0017776
- Veliz Rodriguez T, Moalli F, Polentarutti N, Paroni M, Bonavita E, Anselmo A, et al. Role of toll interleukin-1 receptor (IL-1R) 8, a negative regulator of IL-1R/toll-like receptor signaling, in resistance to acute *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* lung infection. *Infect Immun* (2012) 80:100–9. doi:10.1128/IAI.05695-11
- Gopal R, Birdsell D, Monroy FP. Regulation of toll-like receptors in intestinal epithelial cells by stress and *Toxoplasma gondii* infection. *Parasite Immunol* (2008) 30:563–76. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3024.2008.01055.x

- Leemans JC, Butter LM, Teske GJ, Stroo I, Pulskens WP, Florquin S. The toll interleukin-1 receptor (IL-1R) 8/single Ig domain IL-1R-related molecule modulates the renal response to bacterial infection. *Infect Immun* (2012) 80:3812–20. doi:10.1128/IAI.00422-12
- Li D, Zhang X, Chen B. SIGIRR participates in negative regulation of LPS response and tolerance in human bladder epithelial cells. *BMC Immunol* (2015) 16:73. doi:10.1186/s12865-015-0137-5
- 43. Ueno-Shuto K, Kato K, Tasaki Y, Sato M, Sato K, Uchida Y, et al. Lipopolysaccharide decreases single immunoglobulin interleukin-1 receptor-related molecule (SIGIRR) expression by suppressing specificity protein 1 (Sp1) via the toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-p38 pathway in monocytes and neutrophils. *J Biol Chem* (2014) 289:18097–109. doi:10.1074/jbc. M113.532093
- Adib-Conquy M, Adrie C, Fitting C, Gattolliat O, Beyaert R, Cavaillon JM. Up-regulation of MyD88s and SIGIRR, molecules inhibiting toll-like receptor signaling, in monocytes from septic patients. *Crit Care Med* (2006) 34:2377–85. doi:10.1097/01.CCM.0000233875.93866.88
- Bulek K, Swaidani S, Qin J, Lu Y, Gulen MF, Herjan T, et al. The essential role of single Ig IL-1 receptor-related molecule/toll IL-1R8 in regulation of Th2 immune response. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:2601–9. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0802729
- Jiang X, McClellan SA, Barrett RP, Zhang Y, Hazlett LD. Vasoactive intestinal peptide downregulates proinflammatory TLRs while upregulating anti-inflammatory TLRs in the infected cornea. *J Immunol* (2012) 189:269–78. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200365
- Villena J, Suzuki R, Fujie H, Chiba E, Takahashi T, Tomosada Y, et al. Immunobiotic *Lactobacillus jensenii* modulates the toll-like receptor 4-induced inflammatory response via negative regulation in porcine antigen-presenting cells. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* (2012) 19:1038–53. doi:10.1128/ CVI.00199-12
- Davies JM, MacSharry J, Shanahan F. Differential regulation of toll-like receptor signalling in spleen and Peyer's patch dendritic cells. *Immunology* (2010) 131:438–48. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2010.03317.x
- Costello DA, Carney DG, Lynch MA. Alpha-TLR2 antibody attenuates the Abeta-mediated inflammatory response in microglia through enhanced expression of SIGIRR. *Brain Behav Immun* (2015) 46:70–9. doi:10.1016/j. bbi.2015.01.005
- Nold MF, Nold-Petry CA, Zepp JA, Palmer BE, Bufler P, Dinarello CA. IL-37 is a fundamental inhibitor of innate immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:1014–22. doi:10.1038/ni.1944
- 51. Li S, Neff CP, Barber K, Hong J, Luo Y, Azam T, et al. Extracellular forms of IL-37 inhibit innate inflammation in vitro and in vivo but require the IL-1 family decoy receptor IL-1R8. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2015) **112**:2497–502. doi:10.1073/pnas.1424626112
- Moretti S, Bozza S, Oikonomou V, Renga G, Casagrande A, Iannitti RG, et al. IL-37 inhibits inflammasome activation and disease severity in murine aspergillosis. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10:e1004462. doi:10.1371/journal. ppat.1004462
- Lunding L, Webering S, Vock C, Schroder A, Raedler D, Schaub B, et al. IL-37 requires IL-18Ralpha and SIGIRR/IL-1R8 to diminish allergic airway inflammation in mice. *Allergy* (2015) **70**:366–73. doi:10.1111/ all.12566
- Ballak DB, van Diepen JA, Moschen AR, Jansen HJ, Hijmans A, Groenhof GJ, et al. IL-37 protects against obesity-induced inflammation and insulin resistance. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:4711. doi:10.1038/ncomms5711
- Wald D, Qin J, Zhao Z, Qian Y, Naramura M, Tian L, et al. SIGIRR, a negative regulator of toll-like receptor-interleukin 1 receptor signaling. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:920–7. doi:10.1038/ni968
- Garlanda C, Riva F, Polentarutti N, Buracchi C, Sironi M, De Bortoli M, et al. Intestinal inflammation in mice deficient in Tir8, an inhibitory member of the IL-1 receptor family. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101:3522–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0308680101
- Qin J, Qian Y, Yao J, Grace C, Li X. SIGIRR inhibits interleukin-1 receptorand toll-like receptor 4-mediated signaling through different mechanisms. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280:25233–41. doi:10.1074/jbc.M501363200
- Guven-Maiorov E, Keskin O, Gursoy A, Nussinov R. A structural view of negative regulation of the toll-like receptor-mediated inflammatory pathway. *Biophys J* (2015) 109:1214–26. doi:10.1016/j.bpj.2015.06.048

- Gong J, Wei T, Stark RW, Jamitzky F, Heckl WM, Anders HJ, et al. Inhibition of toll-like receptors TLR4 and 7 signaling pathways by SIGIRR: a computational approach. J Struct Biol (2010) 169:323–30. doi:10.1016/j.jsb.2009.12.007
- Drexler SK, Kong P, Inglis J, Williams RO, Garlanda C, Mantovani A, et al. SIGIRR/TIR-8 is an inhibitor of toll-like receptor signaling in primary human cells and regulates inflammation in models of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2010) 62:2249–61. doi:10.1002/art.27517
- Gulen MF, Kang Z, Bulek K, Youzhong W, Kim TW, Chen Y, et al. The receptor SIGIRR suppresses Th17 cell proliferation via inhibition of the interleukin-1 receptor pathway and mTOR kinase activation. *Immunity* (2010) 32:54–66. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.12.003
- Xiao H, Yin W, Khan MA, Gulen MF, Zhou H, Sham HP, et al. Loss of single immunoglobulin interlukin-1 receptor-related molecule leads to enhanced colonic polyposis in Apc(min) mice. *Gastroenterology* (2010) 139:574–85. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2010.04.043
- Garlanda C, Di Liberto D, Vecchi A, La Manna MP, Buracchi C, Caccamo N, et al. Damping excessive inflammation and tissue damage in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection by toll IL-1 receptor 8/single Ig IL-1-related receptor, a negative regulator of IL-1/TLR signaling. *J Immunol* (2007) **179**:3119–25. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.5.3119
- Huang X, Hazlett LD, Du W, Barrett RP. SIGIRR promotes resistance against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* keratitis by down-regulating type-1 immunity and IL-1R1 and TLR4 signaling. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:548–56. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.177.1.548
- Bozza S, Zelante T, Moretti S, Bonifazi P, DeLuca A, D'Angelo C, et al. Lack of toll IL-1R8 exacerbates Th17 cell responses in fungal infection. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:4022–31. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.6.4022
- Chen X, Zhao Y, Wu X, Qian G. Enhanced expression of single immunoglobulin IL-1 receptor-related molecule ameliorates LPS-induced acute lung injury in mice. *Shock* (2011) 35:198–204. doi:10.1097/SHK.0b013e3181f226f3
- Horne DJ, Randhawa AK, Chau TT, Bang ND, Yen NT, Farrar JJ, et al. Common polymorphisms in the PKP3-SIGIRR-TMEM16J gene region are associated with susceptibility to tuberculosis. *J Infect Dis* (2012) 205:586–94. doi:10.1093/infdis/jir785
- Blok DC, van Lieshout MH, Hoogendijk AJ, Florquin S, de Boer OJ, Garlanda C, et al. Single immunoglobulin interleukin-1 receptor-related molecule impairs host defense during pneumonia and sepsis caused by *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. J Innate Immun (2014) 6:542–52. doi:10.1159/000358239
- Sham HP, Yu EY, Gulen MF, Bhinder G, Stahl M, Chan JM, et al. SIGIRR, a negative regulator of TLR/IL-1R signalling promotes microbiota dependent resistance to colonization by enteric bacterial pathogens. *PLoS Pathog* (2013) 9:e1003539. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003539
- Mills KH. TLR-dependent T cell activation in autoimmunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2011) 11:807–22. doi:10.1038/nri3095
- Lloyd CM. IL-33 family members and asthma bridging innate and adaptive immune responses. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2010) 22:800–6. doi:10.1016/j. coi.2010.10.006
- 72. Sacre SM, Andreakos E, Kiriakidis S, Amjadi P, Lundberg A, Giddins G, et al. The toll-like receptor adaptor proteins MyD88 and Mal/TIRAP contribute to the inflammatory and destructive processes in a human model of rheumatoid arthritis. *Am J Pathol* (2007) **170**:518–25. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2007.060657
- Abdollahi-Roodsaz S, Joosten LA, Koenders MI, van den Brand BT, van de Loo FA, van den Berg WB. Local interleukin-1-driven joint pathology is dependent on toll-like receptor 4 activation. *Am J Pathol* (2009) 175:2004–13. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2009.090262
- Drexler SK, Foxwell BM. The role of toll-like receptors in chronic inflammation. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2010) 42:506–18. doi:10.1016/j. biocel.2009.10.009
- 75. Russell SE, Stefanska AM, Kubica M, Horan RM, Mantovani A, Garlanda C, et al. Toll IL-1R8/single Ig IL-1-related receptor regulates psoriasiform inflammation through direct inhibition of innate IL-17A expression by gammadelta T cells. *J Immunol* (2013) **191**:3337–46. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300828
- Leadbetter EA, Rifkin IR, Hohlbaum AM, Beaudette BC, Shlomchik MJ, Marshak-Rothstein A. Chromatin-IgG complexes activate B cells by dual engagement of IgM and toll-like receptors. *Nature* (2002) 416:603–7. doi:10.1038/416603a
- 77. Marshak-Rothstein A, Rifkin IR. Immunologically active autoantigens: the role of toll-like receptors in the development of chronic inflammatory

disease. Annu Rev Immunol (2007) 25:419-41. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.22.012703.104514

- Lech M, Kulkarni OP, Pfeiffer S, Savarese E, Krug A, Garlanda C, et al. Tir8/Sigirr prevents murine lupus by suppressing the immunostimulatory effects of lupus autoantigens. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205:1879–88. doi:10.1084/ jem.20072646
- Lech M, Skuginna V, Kulkarni OP, Gong J, Wei T, Stark RW, et al. Lack of SIGIRR/TIR8 aggravates hydrocarbon oil-induced lupus nephritis. *J Pathol* (2010) 220:596–607. doi:10.1002/path.2678
- Wang DY, Su C, Chen GM, Pan HF, Wang FM, Liu GL, et al. The decreased frequency of SIGIRR-positive CD4+ T cells in peripheral blood of patients with SLE and its correlation with disease activity. *Mol Biol Rep* (2015) 42:423–30. doi:10.1007/s11033-014-3783-4
- Zhu YY, Su Y, Li ZG, Zhang Y. The largely normal response to toll-like receptor 7 and 9 stimulation and the enhanced expression of SIGIRR by B cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e44131. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0044131
- Sanchez E, Garcia-Bermudez M, Jimenez-Alonso J, de Ramon E, Sanchez-Roman J, Ortego-Centeno N, et al. Association study of IRAK-M and SIGIRR genes with SLE in a large European-descent population. *Lupus* (2012) 21:1166–71. doi:10.1177/0961203312449494
- Zhu Y, Wang DG, Yang XK, Tao SS, Huang Q, Pan HF, et al. Emerging role of SIGIRR rs7396562(T/G) polymorphism in systemic lupus erythematosus in a Chinese population. *Inflammation* (2014) 37:1847–51. doi:10.1007/ s10753-014-9916-z
- Schmitz J, Owyang A, Oldham E, Song Y, Murphy E, McClanahan TK, et al. IL-33, an interleukin-1-like cytokine that signals via the IL-1 receptor-related protein ST2 and induces T helper type 2-associated cytokines. *Immunity* (2005) 23:479–90. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.09.015
- Nakashima K, Hirota T, Obara K, Shimizu M, Jodo A, Kameda M, et al. An association study of asthma and related phenotypes with polymorphisms in negative regulator molecules of the TLR signaling pathway. *J Hum Genet* (2006) 51:284–91. doi:10.1007/s10038-005-0358-1
- Lech M, Avila-Ferrufino A, Allam R, Segerer S, Khandoga A, Krombach F, et al. Resident dendritic cells prevent postischemic acute renal failure by help of single Ig IL-1 receptor-related protein. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:4109–18. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900118
- Noris M, Cassis P, Azzollini N, Cavinato R, Cugini D, Casiraghi F, et al. The toll-IL-1R member Tir8/SIGIRR negatively regulates adaptive immunity against kidney grafts. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:4249–60. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0803549
- Skuginna V, Lech M, Allam R, Ryu M, Clauss S, Susanti HE, et al. Tolllike receptor signaling and SIGIRR in renal fibrosis upon unilateral ureteral obstruction. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e19204. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0019204
- Chowdhury P, Sacks SH, Sheerin NS. Endogenous ligands for TLR2 and TLR4 are not involved in renal injury following ureteric obstruction. *Nephron Exp Nephrol* (2010) 115:e122–30. doi:10.1159/000313493
- Andre R, Lerouet D, Kimber I, Pinteaux E, Rothwell NJ. Regulation of expression of the novel IL-1 receptor family members in the mouse brain. *J Neurochem* (2005) 95:324–30. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2005.03364.x
- Watson MB, Costello DA, Carney DG, McQuillan K, Lynch MA. SIGIRR modulates the inflammatory response in the brain. *Brain Behav Immun* (2010) 24:985–95. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2010.04.002
- Costello DA, Watson MB, Cowley TR, Murphy N, Murphy Royal C, Garlanda C, et al. Interleukin-1alpha and HMGB1 mediate hippocampal dysfunction in SIGIRR-deficient mice. *J Neurosci* (2011) 31:3871–9. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.6676-10.2011
- Xiao H, Gulen MF, Qin J, Yao J, Bulek K, Kish D, et al. The toll-interleukin-1 receptor member SIGIRR regulates colonic epithelial homeostasis, inflammation, and tumorigenesis. *Immunity* (2007) 26:461–75. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2007.02.012
- Garlanda C, Riva F, Veliz T, Polentarutti N, Pasqualini F, Radaelli E, et al. Increased susceptibility to colitis-associated cancer of mice lacking TIR8, an inhibitory member of the interleukin-1 receptor family. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:6017–21. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-0560
- Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F. Cancer-related inflammation. Nature (2008) 454:436–44. doi:10.1038/nature07205

- Colotta F, Allavena P, Sica A, Garlanda C, Mantovani A. Cancer-related inflammation, the seventh hallmark of cancer: links to genetic instability. *Carcinogenesis* (2009) 30:1073–81. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgp127
- Biswas SK, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:889–96. doi:10.1038/ni.1937
- Ben-Neriah Y, Karin M. Inflammation meets cancer, with NF-kappaB as the matchmaker. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:715–23. doi:10.1038/ni.2060
- Vetrano S, Borroni EM, Sarukhan A, Savino B, Bonecchi R, Correale C, et al. The lymphatic system controls intestinal inflammation and inflammation-associated colon cancer through the chemokine decoy receptor D6. *Gut* (2010) 59:197–206. doi:10.1136/gut.2009.183772
- 100. Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. *Nat Med* (2004) 10:942–9. doi:10.1038/ nm1093
- Karin M. Nuclear factor-kappaB in cancer development and progression. Nature (2006) 441:431–6. doi:10.1038/nature04870
- Karin M, Lawrence T, Nizet V. Innate immunity gone awry: linking microbial infections to chronic inflammation and cancer. *Cell* (2006) 124:823–35. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.016
- 103. Vaishnava S, Behrendt CL, Ismail AS, Eckmann L, Hooper LV. Paneth cells directly sense gut commensals and maintain homeostasis at the intestinal host-microbial interface. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) **105**:20858–63. doi:10.1073/pnas.0808723105
- 104. Yamada Y, Hata K, Hirose Y, Hara A, Sugie S, Kuno T, et al. Microadenomatous lesions involving loss of Apc heterozygosity in the colon of adult Apc(Min/+) mice. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62:6367–70.
- 105. Aoki K, Tamai Y, Horiike S, Oshima M, Taketo MM. Colonic polyposis caused by mTOR-mediated chromosomal instability in Apc+/Delta716 Cdx2± compound mutant mice. Nat Genet (2003) 35:323–30. doi:10.1038/ ng1265

- 106. Muzio M, Bertilaccio MT, Simonetti G, Frenquelli M, Caligaris-Cappio F. The role of toll-like receptors in chronic B-cell malignancies. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2009) 50:1573–80. doi:10.1080/10428190903115410
- 107. Muzio M, Scielzo C, Bertilaccio MT, Frenquelli M, Ghia P, Caligaris-Cappio F. Expression and function of toll like receptors in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells. *Br J Haematol* (2009) **144**:507–16. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2008.07475.x
- 108. Arvaniti E, Ntoufa S, Papakonstantinou N, Touloumenidou T, Laoutaris N, Anagnostopoulos A, et al. Toll-like receptor signaling pathway in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: distinct gene expression profiles of potential pathogenic significance in specific subsets of patients. *Haematologica* (2011) 96:1644–52. doi:10.3324/haematol.2011.044792
- 109. Bichi R, Shinton SA, Martin ES, Koval A, Calin GA, Cesari R, et al. Human chronic lymphocytic leukemia modeled in mouse by targeted TCL1 expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) **99**:6955–60. doi:10.1073/ pnas.102181599
- Bertilaccio MT, Simonetti G, Dagklis A, Rocchi M, Rodriguez TV, Apollonio B, et al. Lack of TIR8/SIGIRR triggers progression of chronic lymphocytic leukemia in mouse models. *Blood* (2011) 118:660–9. doi:10.1182/ blood-2011-01-329870

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Molgora, Barajon, Mantovani and Garlanda. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pyruvate Kinase M2: A Potential Target for Regulating Inflammation

Jose C. Alves-Filho1* and Eva M. Pålsson-McDermott2*

¹ Department of Pharmacology, Ribeirao Preto Medical School, University of São Paulo, Ribeirao Preto, Brazil, ² Biomedical Science Institute, School of Biochemistry and Immunology, Trinity College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland

Pyruvate kinase (PK) is the enzyme responsible for catalyzing the last step of glycolysis. Of the four PK isoforms expressed in mammalian cells, PKM2 has generated the most interest due to its impact on changes in cellular metabolism observed in cancer as well as in activated immune cells. As our understanding of dysregulated metabolism in cancer develops, and in light of the growing field of immunometabolism, intense efforts are in place to define the mechanism by which PKM2 regulates the metabolic profile of cancer as well as of immune cells. The enzymatic activity of PKM2 is heavily regulated by endogenous allosteric effectors as well as by intracellular signaling pathways, affecting both the enzymatic activity of PKM2 as a PK and the regulation of the recently described non-canonical nuclear functions of PKM2. We here review the current literature on PKM2 and its regulation, and discuss the potential for this protein as a therapeutic target in inflammatory disorders.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mariagrazia Uguccioni, Institute for Research in Biomedicine, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Paola Allavena, Clinical Institute Humanitas, Italy Salvatore Papa, Birkbeck University of London, UK

*Correspondence:

Jose C. Alves-Filho jcafilho@usp.br; Eva M. Pålsson-McDermott palssone@tcd.ie

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 29 January 2016 Accepted: 04 April 2016 Published: 21 April 2016

Citation:

Alves-Filho JC and Pålsson-McDermott EM (2016) Pyruvate Kinase M2: A Potential Target for Regulating Inflammation. Front. Immunol. 7:145. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00145 Keywords: PKM2, inflammation, HIF-1 α , glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation, immunometabolism, cancer

INTRODUCTION

Cancer cells and most activated immune cells display a radical shift in metabolism becoming highly dependent on glucose, which is metabolized through an increased rate of aerobic glycolysis, a metabolic state termed the Warburg effect (1, 2). Normal cell metabolism involves generating energy through a relatively low rate of glycolysis giving rise to pyruvate, which enters the mitochondrial tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. Pyruvate undergoes a series of oxidizing reactions, thereby generating ATP. In contrast, cells displaying Warburg metabolism will instead rely on an increased rate of glycolysis to generate energy. Pyruvate is now diverted away from the oxidative phosphorylation of the TCA cycle and is converted to lactate by lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) in the cytosol. Since this process allows for ATP generation during low oxygen, it may provide an explanation for the tolerance of cancer cells to extreme local hypoxia providing the cells with obvious growth advantages compared to surrounding tissue and immune cells. The high rate of glycolysis ensures that the increased demand for biosynthetic precursors, including proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids, is met. As glucose is broken down to pyruvate, intermediates of glycolysis are used for nucleotide and amino acid synthesis as well as for nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) production through the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP). Furthermore, fatty acids, required for membrane lipid synthesis, are synthesized from citrate in the cytosol generating acetyl-CoA. This metabolic reprograming renders the cells highly dependent on glucose, which can lead to nutrient competition within the tumor microenvironment, a scenario that has been shown to directly contribute to cancer progression (3). Interest in the metabolic state of immune cells during inflammation and infection has recently surged as it is becoming clear that resting immune cells display distinct

PKM2 and Inflammation

metabolic configurations compared to activated immune cells. Hence, the field of immunometabolism has evolved incorporating the concept that alterations in metabolism may influence the phenotype of immune cells and regulate transcriptional, as well as posttranscriptional events, upon activation.

Pyruvate kinase (PK) is the enzyme responsible for the final rate-limiting step of glycolysis, catalyzing phosphoenolpyruvic acid (PEP) and ADP to pyruvate and ATP. Due to the vast literature supporting the role of the PK isoform PKM2 as a key regulator of the metabolic changes observed in cancers [reviewed recently in Ref. (4, 5)], an interest in defining the potential role of this protein in inflammation has emerged. Here, we will review our understanding of PKM2's regulation and functions in cancer and immune cells, and examine the current literature on its role in inflammatory disorders while discussing the potential in targeting PKM2 function therapeutically.

PKM2 GENE EXPRESSION

Pyruvate kinase isozyme type M2 (PKM2) is one of the four PK isoforms expressed in mammalian cells and is generally accepted to be the embryonic isoform, also expressed in cancer and normal proliferating cells such as lymphocytes and intestinal epithelial cells (6–8). PKM1 is the alternatively spliced product of the same *Pkm* gene (9–11). PKM1 has high PK enzymatic activity and is expressed in tissues with increased catabolic demands such as heart, muscle, and brain. The remaining isoforms PKL and PKR are expressed in the liver and red blood cells, respectively.

PKM1 and PKM2 are generated by exclusive alternative splicing of a pair of mutually exclusive exons of the *Pkm* premRNA. The full open reading frame is composed of 12 exons where inclusion of exon 9 will generate PKM1 transcript, and exon 10 is specific for expression of PKM2 (9, 11). Although only different by a small number of amino acids, the two gene products display distinct function and characteristics due to the isoform specific exons giving rise to structural differences in the fructose-1,6-bisphosphate (FBP)-binding site (discussed below) and dimer–dimer interface.

Two regulatory events have been identified resulting in reciprocal effects on the mutually exclusive exons 9 and 10, such that exon 9 is repressed and exon 10 is activated. First, three heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins (hnRNPs) polypyrimidine tract-binding protein (PTB, also known as hnRNPI), hnRNPA1 and hnRNPA2, have been shown to bind specifically and repressively to sequences flanking exon 9 resulting in exon 10 inclusion (12). These hnRNP proteins are in turn controlled by c-Myc, contributing to deregulated PK mRNA splicing in cancer. Second, the serine/arginine-rich splicing factor 3 (SRSF3) will, through binding within exon 10, promote its inclusion, resulting in increased transcript for PKM2 (13).

Evidence supports a switch in the expression of PKM1 in favor of PKM2 during malignant transformation such that expression of PKM1 decreases proportionally as the expression of PKM2 increases. However, this has recently been reevaluated, suggesting that upregulation of PKM2 is primarily due to the elevated transcriptional levels of the entire *Pkm* gene, where no decrease in PKM1 expression is

observed, rather than due to a switch in isoform expression (7, 14, 15).

In addition, efforts to identify specific micro-RNAs (miRs) that target PKM2 expression have revealed a possible role for miR-let-7a, miR-122, miR-326, miR-133a, and miR133b (16–19); however further validation will be required.

REGULATION OF PKM2 ACTIVITY

Since PKM2 plays a critical role in the metabolic changes observed in cancer and inflammation, discovering the mechanism of the regulation of PKM2 activity is important to our understanding of how alterations in cellular metabolism are controlled.

The enzymatic activity of PK is, in part, determined by the configuration of the enzyme into a tetramer, dimer, or monomer. PKM1 naturally exists as a stable tetramer, which allows for optimal binding of the substrate PEP. Experiments using partially denatured PKM1 demonstrate that the monomeric and dimeric forms retain only a fraction of the PK activity observed with PKM1 as a tetramer (20).

On the other hand, PKM2 requires binding of an activator in order to trigger high enzymatic PK activity (**Figure 1**). PKM2 can be allosterically activated by multiple endogenous regulators that affect binding affinity of PEP to the active site on the enzyme. One such example is FBP, an upstream glycolytic intermediate (21). In the absence of FBP, PKM2 even as a tetramer has a low affinity for PEP. Binding of FBP to PKM2, at a site distinct to the active PEP binding site, will promote and stabilize tetramer formation of PKM2 as well as increase PEP binding affinity, making the kinetic parameters of PKM2 almost identical to those of PKM1.

In addition to FBP, other non-glycolytic metabolites, amino acids, and small molecules also affect PKM2 activity. The smallmolecules DASA 58 and TEPP 46 are highly specific activators of PKM2 (22-24). They bind to PKM2, at a site distinct from the FBP binding site, resulting in PKM2 forming a tight tetramer with PKM1-like kinetic properties, an event that is resistant to inhibition by tyrosine phosphorylation (see below). In cancer cells, as well as in activated macrophages, the increase in PKM2 expression and the decrease in overall PK activity will allow for glycolytic intermediates to be channeled into production of, for example, serine and glycine (23). This increased metabolic flux into serine and glycine biosynthetic pathways is critical for cancer cell survival [for review, see Ref. (25)]. It is, therefore, not surprising that a link between serine abundance and PKM2 activity has been reported, where serine is shown to act as a natural ligand and allosteric activator of PKM2 (26) (Figure 1). In a similar manner, cellular accumulation of the de novo purine nucleotide synthesis intermediate SAICAR promotes cancer cell survival through interaction of SAICAR with PKM2 (27). Since SAICAR is synthesized as a by-product of glutaminolysis and can be cleaved to provide the TCA cycle with fumarate, this interaction allows for a potential mechanism to convey cellular metabolic demands to PKM2.

Death-associated protein kinase (DAPk) is a serine/threonine kinase with tumor suppressor properties that was identified as binding to PKM2 in a yeast-two-hybrid screen (28). The direct



in cancer, proliferating cells, and populations of activated immune cells. The activity of PKM2 can be controlled by stabilizing or destabilizing the formation of PKM2 tetramers. Allosteric activation of PKM2 by, for example, succinylaminoimidazolecarboxamide ribose-5'-phosphate (SAICAR), serine, FBP, or small-molecule activators, such as TEPP 46 and DASA 58, encourages tetramer formation of PKM2, thereby promoting the last rate-limiting step of glycolysis, converting PEP to pyruvate. Pyruvate will enter the TCA cycle of the mitochondria where it is used to generate ATP through oxidative phosphorylation. In the absence of allosteric activators PKM2 primarily takes on a dimeric or monomeric form, which through lacking enzymatic activity will give rise to accumulation of glycolytic intermediates, thereby meeting the requirements for biosynthetic precursors of the activated or proliferating cell. Dimeric PKM2 can translocate to the nucleus where it further promotes aerobic glycolysis through Hif-1 α co-activation, aiding expression of proglycolytic genes, such as *Idha* and *glut-1*, as well as proinflammatory IL-1 β . Furthermore, PKM2 can interact with other transcription factors, such as STAT3, as well as histone H3 and JMJD5, thereby further regulating genes important for proliferation and glycolysis.

binding of DAPk to PKM2 increases the PK activity of PKM2 and provides another means of regulating the cellular glycolytic rate.

PKM2 enzymatic activity can also be allosterically inhibited. Binding of phenylalanine to a site distinct from both the active site and the FBP binding site will decrease the affinity of PEP to PKM2 through stabilizing PKM2 in an inactive tetrameric form (29, 30). Alternatively, the same site can be occupied by alanine, a scenario that promotes dissociation of PKM2 into a less-active dimeric form. Moreover, the thyroid hormone triiodo-L-thyronine (T3) stabilizes an inactive monomeric form of PKM2, an inhibitory event that can be overcome by binding of PKM2 to FBP (31, 32). Furthermore, tyrosine phosphorylation has been reported as a mechanism for negatively regulating PKM2, thereby promoting tumor growth (33). This phosphorylation event on tyrosine 105 (Y105) disrupts tetramer formation of PKM2 by releasing FBP, thereby regulating the switch from oxidative phosphorylation to aerobic glycolysis. In addition, Y105 phosphorylation of PKM2 by nucleophosminanaplastic lymphoma kinase (NPM–ALK) results in decreased enzymatic activity of PKM2 in anaplasic large-cell lymphoma, supporting a role for NPM–ALK in the regulation of metabolism (34). Another kinase important in regulating PKM2 activity in hepatocellular carcinoma is the proapoptotic enzyme JNK-1, which phosphorylates PKM2 at threonine 365. JNK-1 activity in turn is negatively regulated by poly(ADP-ribose) polymer-ase (PARP)14, which thereby regulates Warburg metabolism, and promotes cell survival and tumor growth (35). A role for *O*-GlcNAc transferase regulating serine phosphorylation and *O*-GlcNAcylation levels of PKM2 in colorectal cancer has also been reported (36). Shikonin and its derivatives are also inhibitors of PKM2 activity (37, 38). Shikonin is a naturally occurring naphthoquinone isolated from the herb *Lithospermum erythrorhizon* and has been investigated as a potential anticancer drug. Shikonin and its analog alkannin showed promising selectivity toward PKM2, since they did not inhibit PKM1 and PKL activity at IC_{50} to PKM2 (38).

Superfluous production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), commonly associated with cancer cells, requires detoxification by the tripeptide glutathione (GSH). GSH in turn is maintained in the cell by the reduced form of NADPH, which is provided by the PPP. This increase in intracellular ROS has been shown to be alleviated by the inhibition of PKM2 through oxidation of Cys³⁵⁸ (39). This inhibitory event will promote glucose flux into the PPP, providing the reducing power required for ROS detoxification and promoting cancer cell survival during conditions of oxidative stress.

NON-GLYCOLYTIC PROCESSES

In addition to being an important control point in glycolysis, PKM2, upon mitogenic, oncogenic, and LPS stimulation, also translocates to the nucleus where it regulates the expression of numerous proglycolytic enzymes (Figure 1). In cells activated with EGRF, ERK2 binds directly to PKM2 and phosphorylates Ser37 on PKM2, leading to recruitment of peptidyl-prolyl cistrans isomerase NIMA-interacting 1 (PIN1). PIN1 aids binding of PKM2 to import n α 5, thereby facilitating translocation of PKM2 to the nucleus (40, 41). Modification of PKM2 through sumoylation by the SUMO-E3 ligase as well as acetylation by p300 acetyltransferase will prevent binding of PKM2 to FBP and promote nuclear translocation (42, 43). A recent study proposes a role for sirtuin 6 (Sirt6) in regulating nuclear localization of PKM2. Sirt6 will bind and deacetylate PKM2 at lysine 433, thereby promoting nuclear export resulting in reduced cell proliferation and oncogenic properties of PKM2 (44). Furthermore, enhanced tetramer formation of PKM2 using TEPP 46 and DASA 58 will prevent nuclear localization of PKM2 (23, 45). In addition, nuclear PKM2 has been linked to caspase-independent programed cell death (46).

In cancer cells, PKM2 has been shown to function as a coactivator of hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha (HIF-1 α) (**Figure 1**). HIF-1 α is a key mediator of the Warburg effect and was originally identified as part of a family of transcription factors responsive under conditions of low oxygen or hypoxia. HIF-1 α plays a critical role in the induction and maintenance of aerobic glycolysis, partly through inducing expression of glycolytic enzymes. Prolyl hydroxylase 3 (PHD3) acts as a cofactor to PKM2, promoting HIF-1 α transactivation of target genes including lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), the glucose transporter GLUT-1, and pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase-1 (PDK-1) (47, 48).

Expression of Jumonji C domain-containing dioxygenase 5 (JMJD5) has been linked to carcinogenesis and regulates PKM2 activity by binding and preventing PKM2 tetramers to form, thereby blocking the enzymatic activity and promoting nuclear translocation (45). PKM2 together with HIF-1 α and JMJD5 are then recruited to the HRE element of LDHA (**Figure 1**). PKM2 can

also bind and regulate the activity of octamer-binding transcription factor 4 (Oct-4), a protein important for the maintenance and regulation of undifferentiated stem cells (49).

Recent findings propose a role for nuclear PKM2 as a transcriptional coactivator of c-Src-phosphorylated β-catenin as well as in promoting phosphorylation of histone H3 by PKM2 in EGFR-activated cells (50, 51) (Figure 1). Numerous other reports have confirmed the protein kinase function of PKM2, where PKM2 catalyzes transfer of phosphate from PEP to serine, threonine, or tyrosine residues on target substrates. Phosphorylation of histone H3 suggests a critical role for PKM2 in the epigenetic regulation of gene transcription in the metabolic switch observed during Warburg metabolism, as well as in G1-S phase transition of the cell cycle (51). Furthermore, PKM2 may also regulate the cell cycle through phosphorylation of important cell cycle regulators, including Bub3 and myosin light chain 2 (MLC2), to initiate cytokinesis (52). Nuclear PKM2 directly phosphorylates STAT3 on tyrosine 107-promoting transcription of MEK-5 (53). However, recent data failed to demonstrate PKM2-dependent phosphorylation in vitro using either PEP or ATP as phosphate donors, questioning the role of PKM2 as a protein kinase (54).

PKM2 AS A NEW PLAYER IN INFLAMMATION

Understanding the intricate interplay between cell signaling and metabolic pathways has emerged as an important focus of research in the field of cancer and, most recently, in inflammation.

Inflammation is a well-controlled process triggered by signals from damaged tissue or infection aiming to re-establish tissue homeostasis. It is a complex reaction that starts with activation of the "front-line" resident leukocytes (i.e., macrophages and dendritic cells) that leads to activation of surrounding microcirculation, and recruitment of neutrophils and other leukocytes to infected/damaged foci (55). Therefore, the inflammatory response is an energy-intensive process that involves a dramatic switch from a resting to a highly active metabolic state. This metabolic reprograming thereby directs nutrients to the efficient generation of ATP and synthesis of macromolecules that are required for the production of proinflammatory mediators, cytoskeleton rearrangement, and proliferation by immune cells. In this realm, it is not surprising that such highly active inflammatory cells undergo a metabolic shift from oxidative phosphorylation to aerobic glycolysis, resembling the well-described Warburg effect found in tumor cells. Indeed, it is becoming increasingly clear that metabolic enzymes and their regulators, initially implicated in the control of cellular metabolism, also display critical roles in regulating immune cell functions. Thus, immune cell metabolism has become a new attractive target area for the development of potential therapies for inflammatory diseases.

Although the full picture in cancer progression still needs to be resolved, increased expression of PKM2 has been reported in a wide range of tumors. Accumulating evidence suggests a central role of this protein in regulating the Warburg effect and many biological processes in cancer cells, including proliferation and survival [for review, see Ref. (56, 57)]. Emerging evidence has also implicated PKM2 as critical regulator of immune cell metabolism and functions via regulating the Warburg effect, supporting its potential role in the genesis of inflammation. It has been shown that the expression of PKM2 is strongly increased in LPS-activated macrophages, mainly in a less-active monomeric/ dimeric conformation and phosphorylated state (23, 58, 59). As mentioned above, the less active monomeric/dimeric form of PKM2 drives aerobic glycolysis, while the active PKM2 tetramer provides pyruvate for the TCA cycle. Thus, the expression PKM2 in LPS-activated macrophages adds another piece to the puzzle of metabolic reprograming toward aerobic glycolysis in activated macrophages. Meanwhile, LPS-induced PKM2 translocates into the nucleus and forms a transcriptional complex with HIF-1 α that directly binds to the IL-1ß promoter gene and activates its transcription. This highlights the interplay between metabolic reprograming and control of gene expression in activated macrophages induced by PKM2. Driving PKM2 into tetramer conformation with DASA-58 and TEPP-46 inhibited LPS-induced nuclear translocation and, subsequent LPS-induced expression of IL-1 β and a range of other HIF-1 α -dependent genes. Accordingly, macrophages lacking PKM2 also showed reduced expression of the HIF-1 α -responsive genes *Il1* β and *Ldha* in response to LPS (23). Moreover, it was also demonstrated that PKM2 functions as a regulator of high mobility group box-1 (HMGB1) release by activated macrophages through interaction and activation of HIF-1 α (58). HMGB1 is a ubiquitous nuclear protein that can be released by activated macrophages and act as a potent proinflammatory cytokine (60). The knockdown or inhibition of PKM2 using shRNA or shikonin, respectively, markedly reduces the release of HMGB1 by activated macrophages (58). Additionally, activation of colorectal carcinoma cells with LPS results in an increased production of TNF-α and IL-1β in a PKM2/STAT3dependent manner. Mechanistically, LPS induces PKM2 nuclear translocation and binding to the STAT3 promoter, enhancing its transcription and subsequent activation (61). A recent report has also directly implicated a critical role for dimeric PKM2 in the hyper-inflammatory behavior of macrophages from coronary artery disease (CAD) patients (59). It was shown that nuclear translocation of dimeric PKM2 results in phosphorylation of STAT3 in LPS-activated CAD macrophages, boosting IL-1ß and IL-6 transcription. Forcing PKM2 into tetramer conformation with ML265 prevented its LPS-induced nuclear translocation and STAT3 phosphorylation. Thus, PKM2 seems to be a critical regulator of expression and secretion of proinflammatory mediators, highlighting the possibility of targeting this protein in the treatment of inflammatory and infectious diseases.

Indeed, inhibition of dimeric PKM2 by shikonin conferred significant protection of mice against LPS-induced endotoxemia (58). Furthermore, mice treated with TEPP-46 showed reduced produced of IL-1 β in response to LPS and *Salmonella typhimurium*-induced production *in vivo* (23). In line with these observations, studies in recent years have reported increased expression of PKM2 in different inflammatory disorders. The expression of PKM2 in intestinal tissue was found at high levels in patients with Crohn's disease and positively correlated with disease activity scores or serum inflammatory markers (62). Moreover, elevated levels of PKM2 were found in stool samples from patients with active Crohn's disease, suggesting that this protein

can be a useful non-invasive marker for inflammatory bowel disease (63, 64). In accordance with this, expression of PKM2 was progressively increased in intestinal tissue of mice undergoing TNBS-induced colitis (62, 65). Finally, proteomic analysis revealed that PKM2 was one of the 33 over-expressed proteins found in synovial tissue from patients with rheumatoid arthritis (66). These findings indicate that PKM2 expression is upregulated in a multitude of inflammatory disorders. However, further studies are warranted to understand the regulatory functions of PKM2 on different inflammatory conditions.

PERSPECTIVES AND CONCLUSION

During the past years, metabolism and immunology have existed as two distinct fields of investigation, but there is now a general consensus that they intersect at several points. The concept of metabolic reprograming as a mechanism to drive an inflammatory response has mainly focused on how an immune cell's metabolic status can directly influence its activity and function. In recent years, PKM2 has emerged not just as a key regulator of metabolic reprograming but also as a key player in controlling the transcription of critical genes in cancer cells, and most recently, in immune cells.

The current strategy for the treatment of inflammatory diseases is fundamentally based on interrupting the production or action of mediators that orchestrate the host's response to tissue injury. An ideal drug to treat inflammatory disease would be able to both turn off the inflammatory response as well as activate the resolution program, including the induction of neutrophil apoptosis and polarization of macrophages into M2 (alternatively activated or pro-resolution) phenotype. Notably, recent studies show that PKM2 regulates the expression of proinflammatory mediators, prevents apoptosis, and drives macrophage polarization toward M1 phenotype (23, 58, 61, 67–69), indicating the potential of this enzyme as a target for the development of anti-inflammatory and proresolutive therapies.

Furthermore, recent studies have unraveled a notable involvement of PKM2 in controlling the transcriptional activity of HIF-1 α and STAT3 pathways during inflammation. The expression and enzymatic activity of PKM2 can be regulated at multiple levels, including transcription, posttranslational modifications, and allosteric regulation of conformational stability. Therefore, PKM2 represents a novel potential target for the development of anti-inflammatory drugs.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge funding from the European Community's Seventh Framework Programme [FP7-2007-2013] under grant agreement no. HEALTH-F4-2011-281608 (TIMER), Science Foundation Ireland and São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP) under grant agreements no. 2011/19670-0 (Projeto Temático) and 2013/08216-2 (Center for Research in Inflammatory Disease).

REFERENCES

- 1. Warburg O. Metabolism of tumours. Biochem Z (1923) 142:317-33.
- Palsson-McDermott EM, O'Neill LA. The Warburg effect then and now: from cancer to inflammatory diseases. *Bioessays* (2013) 35(11):965–73. doi:10.1002/ bies.201300084
- Chang CH, Qiu J, O'Sullivan D, Buck MD, Noguchi T, Curtis JD, et al. Metabolic competition in the tumor microenvironment is a driver of cancer progression. *Cell* (2015) 162(6):1229–41. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.016
- Israelsen WJ, Vander Heiden MG. Pyruvate kinase: function, regulation and role in cancer. Semin Cell Dev Biol (2015) 43:43–51. doi:10.1016/j. semcdb.2015.08.004
- 5. Yang W, Lu Z. Pyruvate kinase M2 at a glance. *J Cell Sci* (2015) **128**(9):1655–60. doi:10.1242/jcs.174870
- Imamura K, Tanaka T. Multimolecular forms of pyruvate kinase from rat and other mammalian tissues. I. Electrophoretic studies. *J Biochem* (1972) 71(6):1043–51.
- Clower CV, Chatterjee D, Wang Z, Cantley LC, Vander Heiden MG, Krainer AR. The alternative splicing repressors hnRNP A1/A2 and PTB influence pyruvate kinase isoform expression and cell metabolism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A (2010) 107(5):1894–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0914845107
- Eigenbrodt E, Leib S, Krämer W, Friis RR, Schoner W. Structural and kinetic differences between the M2 type pyruvate kinases from lung and various tumors. *Biomed Biochim Acta* (1983) 42(11–12):S278–82.
- Takenaka M, Noguchi T, Sadahiro S, Hirai H, Yamada K, Matsuda T, et al. Isolation and characterization of the human pyruvate kinase M gene. *Eur J Biochem* (1991) 198(1):101–6. doi:10.1111/j.1432-1033.1991.tb15991.x
- Takenaka M, Yamada K, Lu T, Kang R, Tanaka T, Noguchi T. Alternative splicing of the pyruvate kinase M gene in a minigene system. *Eur J Biochem* (1996) 235(1–2):366–71. doi:10.1111/j.1432-1033.1996.00366.x
- Noguchi T, Inoue H, Tanaka T. The M1- and M2-type isozymes of rat pyruvate kinase are produced from the same gene by alternative RNA splicing. *J Biol Chem* (1986) 261(29):13807–12.
- David CJ, Chen M, Assanah M, Canoll P, Manley JL. HnRNP proteins controlled by c-Myc deregulate pyruvate kinase mRNA splicing in cancer. *Nature* (2010) 463(7279):364–8. doi:10.1038/nature08697
- Wang Z, Chatterjee D, Jeon HY, Akerman M, Vander Heiden MG, Cantley LC, et al. Exon-centric regulation of pyruvate kinase M alternative splicing via mutually exclusive exons. J Mol Cell Biol (2012) 4(2):79–87. doi:10.1093/ jmcb/mjr030
- Bluemlein K, Grüning NM, Feichtinger RG, Lehrach H, Kofler B, Ralser M. No evidence for a shift in pyruvate kinase PKM1 to PKM2 expression during tumorigenesis. *Oncotarget* (2011) 2(5):393–400. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.278
- Zhan C, Yan L, Wang L, Ma J, Jiang W, Zhang Y, et al. Isoform switch of pyruvate kinase M1 indeed occurs but not to pyruvate kinase M2 in human tumorigenesis. *PLoS One* (2015) **10**(3):e0118663. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0118663
- Lu W, Zhang Y, Zhou L, Wang X, Mu J, Jiang L, et al. miR-122 inhibits cancer cell malignancy by targeting PKM2 in gallbladder carcinoma. *Tumour Biol* (2015). doi:10.1007/s13277-015-4308-z
- Tang R, Yang C, Ma X, Wang Y, Luo D, Huang C, et al. MiR-let-7a inhibits cell proliferation, migration, and invasion by down-regulating PKM2 in gastric cancer. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(5):5972–84. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.6821
- Wong TS, Liu XB, Chung-Wai Ho A, Po-Wing Yuen A, Wai-Man Ng R, Ignace Wei W. Identification of pyruvate kinase type M2 as potential oncoprotein in squamous cell carcinoma of tongue through microRNA profiling. *Int J Cancer* (2008) 123(2):251–7. doi:10.1002/ijc.23583
- Kefas B, Comeau L, Erdle N, Montgomery E, Amos S, Purow B. Pyruvate kinase M2 is a target of the tumor-suppressive microRNA-326 and regulates the survival of glioma cells. *Neuro Oncol* (2010) 12(11):1102–12. doi:10.1093/ neuonc/noq080
- Cottam GL, Hollenberg PF, Coon MJ. Subunit structure of rabbit muscle pyruvate kinase. J Biol Chem (1969) 244(6):1481–6.
- Jurica MS, Mesecar A, Heath PJ, Shi W, Nowak T, Stoddard BL. The allosteric regulation of pyruvate kinase by fructose-1,6-bisphosphate. *Structure* (1998) 6(2):195–210. doi:10.1016/S0969-2126(98)00021-5
- Anastasiou D, Yu Y, Israelsen WJ, Jiang JK, Boxer MB, Hong BS, et al. Pyruvate kinase M2 activators promote tetramer formation and suppress tumorigenesis. *Nat Chem Biol* (2012) 8(10):839–47. doi:10.1038/nchembio1212-1008b

- Palsson-McDermott EM, Curtis AM, Goel G, Lauterbach MA, Sheedy FJ, Gleeson LE, et al. Pyruvate kinase M2 regulates Hif-1alpha activity and IL-1beta induction and is a critical determinant of the warburg effect in LPS-activated macrophages. *Cell Metab* (2015) 21(1):65–80. doi:10.1016/j. cmet.2014.12.005
- Vander Heiden MG, Christofk HR, Schuman E, Subtelny AO, Sharfi H, Harlow EE, et al. Identification of small molecule inhibitors of pyruvate kinase M2. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2010) **79**(8):1118–24. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2009.12.003
- Amelio I, Cutruzzolá F, Antonov A, Agostini M, Melino G, et al. Serine and glycine metabolism in cancer. *Trends Biochem Sci* (2014) **39**(4):191–8. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2014.02.004
- Chaneton B, Hillmann P, Zheng L, Martin AC, Maddocks OD, Chokkathukalam A, et al. Serine is a natural ligand and allosteric activator of pyruvate kinase M2. *Nature* (2012) 491(7424):458–62. doi:10.1038/nature11540
- Keller KE, Tan IS, Lee YS. SAICAR stimulates pyruvate kinase isoform M2 and promotes cancer cell survival in glucose-limited conditions. *Science* (2012) 338(6110):1069–72. doi:10.1126/science.1224409
- Mor I, Carlessi R, Ast T, Feinstein E, Kimchi A. Death-associated protein kinase increases glycolytic rate through binding and activation of pyruvate kinase. Oncogene (2012) 31(6):683–93. doi:10.1038/onc.2011.264
- Vijayvargiya R, Schwark WS, Singhal RL. Pyruvate kinase: modulation by L-phenylalanine and L-alanine. *Can J Biochem* (1969) 47(9):895–8. doi:10.1139/o69-140
- Weber G. Inhibition of human brain pyruvate kinase and hexokinase by phenylalanine and phenylpyruvate: possible relevance to phenylketonuric brain damage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1969) 63(4):1365–9. doi:10.1073/ pnas.63.4.1365
- Ashizawa K, McPhie P, Lin KH, Cheng SY. An in vitro novel mechanism of regulating the activity of pyruvate kinase M2 by thyroid hormone and fructose 1, 6-bisphosphate. *Biochemistry* (1991) **30**(29):7105–11. doi:10.1021/ bi00243a010
- Morgan HP, O'Reilly FJ, Wear MA, O'Neill JR, Fothergill-Gilmore LA, Hupp T, et al. M2 pyruvate kinase provides a mechanism for nutrient sensing and regulation of cell proliferation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2013) 110(15):5881–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1217157110
- Hitosugi T, Kang S, Vander Heiden MG, Chung TW, Elf S, Lythgoe K, et al. Tyrosine phosphorylation inhibits PKM2 to promote the Warburg effect and tumor growth. *Sci Signal* (2009) 2(97):ra73. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2000431
- McDonnell SR, Hwang SR, Rolland D, Murga-Zamalloa C, Basrur V, Conlon KP, et al. Integrated phosphoproteomic and metabolomic profiling reveals NPM-ALK-mediated phosphorylation of PKM2 and metabolic reprogramming in anaplastic large cell lymphoma. *Blood* (2013) 122(6):958–68. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-01-482026
- Iansante V, Choy PM, Fung SW, Liu Y, Chai JG, Dyson J, et al. PARP14 promotes the Warburg effect in hepatocellular carcinoma by inhibiting JNK1-dependent PKM2 phosphorylation and activation. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:7882. doi:10.1038/ncomms8882
- Chaiyawat P, Chokchaichamnankit D, Lirdprapamongkol K, Srisomsap C, Svasti J, Champattanachai V. Alteration of O-GlcNAcylation affects serine phosphorylation and regulates gene expression and activity of pyruvate kinase M2 in colorectal cancer cells. *Oncol Rep* (2015) 34(4):1933–42. doi:10.3892/ or.2015.4178
- Kung C, Hixon J, Choe S, Marks K, Gross S, Murphy E, et al. Small molecule activation of PKM2 in cancer cells induces serine auxotrophy. *Chem Biol* (2012) 19(9):1187–98. doi:10.1016/j.chembiol.2012.07.021
- Chen J, Xie J, Jiang Z, Wang B, Wang Y, Hu X. Shikonin and its analogs inhibit cancer cell glycolysis by targeting tumor pyruvate kinase-M2. Oncogene (2011) 30(42):4297–306. doi:10.1038/onc.2011.137
- Anastasiou D, Poulogiannis G, Asara JM, Boxer MB, Jiang JK, Shen M, et al. Inhibition of pyruvate kinase M2 by reactive oxygen species contributes to cellular antioxidant responses. *Science* (2011) 334(6060):1278–83. doi:10.1126/ science.1211485
- Yang W, Zheng Y, Xia Y, Ji H, Chen X, Guo F, et al. ERK1/2-dependent phosphorylation and nuclear translocation of PKM2 promotes the Warburg effect. *Nat Cell Biol* (2012) 14(12):1295–304. doi:10.1038/ncb2629
- Yang W, Lu Z. Nuclear PKM2 regulates the Warburg effect. *Cell Cycle* (2013) 12(19):3154–8. doi:10.4161/cc.26182
- 42. Lv L, Xu YP, Zhao D, Li FL, Wang W, Sasaki N, et al. Mitogenic and oncogenic stimulation of K433 acetylation promotes PKM2 protein kinase

activity and nuclear localization. *Mol Cell* (2013) **52**(3):340–52. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2013.09.004

- Spoden GA, Morandell D, Ehehalt D, Fiedler M, Jansen-Dürr P, Hermann M, et al. The SUMO-E3 ligase PIAS3 targets pyruvate kinase M2. J Cell Biochem (2009) 107(2):293–302. doi:10.1002/jcb.22125
- Bhardwaj A, Das S. SIRT6 deacetylates PKM2 to suppress its nuclear localization and oncogenic functions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2016) 113(5):E538–47. doi:10.1073/pnas.1520045113
- Wang HJ, Hsieh YJ, Cheng WC, Lin CP, Lin YS, Yang SF, et al. JMJD5 regulates PKM2 nuclear translocation and reprograms HIF-1alpha-mediated glucose metabolism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111(1):279–84. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1311249111
- Steták A, Veress R, Ovádi J, Csermely P, Kéri G, Ullrich A. Nuclear translocation of the tumor marker pyruvate kinase M2 induces programmed cell death. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(4):1602–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2870
- Luo W, Hu H, Chang R, Zhong J, Knabel M, O'Meally R, et al. Pyruvate kinase M2 is a PHD3-stimulated coactivator for hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Cell* (2011) 145(5):732–44. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.03.054
- Luo W, Semenza GL. Pyruvate kinase M2 regulates glucose metabolism by functioning as a coactivator for hypoxia-inducible factor 1 in cancer cells. *Oncotarget* (2011) 2(7):551–6. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.299
- Lee J, Kim HK, Han YM, Kim J. Pyruvate kinase isozyme type M2 (PKM2) interacts and cooperates with Oct-4 in regulating transcription. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2008) 40(5):1043–54. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2007.11.009
- Yang W, Xia Y, Ji H, Zheng Y, Liang J, Huang W, et al. Nuclear PKM2 regulates beta-catenin transactivation upon EGFR activation. *Nature* (2011) 480(7375):118–22. doi:10.1038/nature10598
- Yang W, Xia Y, Hawke D, Li X, Liang J, Xing D, et al. PKM2 phosphorylates histone H3 and promotes gene transcription and tumorigenesis. *Cell* (2012) 150(4):685–96. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.07.018
- 52. Jiang Y, Li X, Yang W, Hawke DH, Zheng Y, Xia Y, et al. PKM2 regulates chromosome segregation and mitosis progression of tumor cells. *Mol Cell* (2014) **53**(1):75–87. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2013.11.001
- Gao X, Wang H, Yang JJ, Liu X, Liu ZR. Pyruvate kinase M2 regulates gene transcription by acting as a protein kinase. *Mol Cell* (2012) 45(5):598–609. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2012.01.001
- Hosios AM, Fiske BP, Gui DY, Vander Heiden MG. Lack of evidence for PKM2 protein kinase activity. *Mol Cell* (2015) 59(5):850–7. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2015.07.013
- Kotas ME, Medzhitov R. Homeostasis, inflammation, and disease susceptibility. Cell (2015) 160(5):816–27. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.02.010
- Luo W, Semenza GL. Emerging roles of PKM2 in cell metabolism and cancer progression. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2012) 23(11):560–6. doi:10.1016/j. tem.2012.06.010
- Iqbal MA, Gupta V, Gopinath P, Mazurek S, Bamezai RN. Pyruvate kinase M2 and cancer: an updated assessment. *FEBS Lett* (2014) 588(16):2685–92. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2014.04.011
- Yang L, Xie M, Yang M, Yu Y, Zhu S, Hou W, et al. PKM2 regulates the Warburg effect and promotes HMGB1 release in sepsis. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:4436. doi:10.1038/ncomms5436

- Shirai T, Nazarewicz RR, Wallis BB, Yanes RE, Watanabe R, Hilhorst M, et al. The glycolytic enzyme PKM2 bridges metabolic and inflammatory dysfunction in coronary artery disease. *J Exp Med* (2016) 213(3):337–54. doi:10.1084/ jem.20150900
- Andersson U, Wang H, Palmblad K, Aveberger AC, Bloom O, Erlandsson-Harris H, et al. High mobility group 1 protein (HMG-1) stimulates proinflammatory cytokine synthesis in human monocytes. *J Exp Med* (2000) 192(4):565–70. doi:10.1084/jem.192.4.565
- Yang P, Li Z, Li H, Lu Y, Wu H, Li Z. Pyruvate kinase M2 accelerates pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion and cell proliferation induced by lipopolysaccharide in colorectal cancer. *Cell Signal* (2015) 27(7):1525–32. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2015.02.032
- Tang Q, Ji Q, Xia W, Li L, Bai J, Ni R, et al. Pyruvate kinase M2 regulates apoptosis of intestinal epithelial cells in Crohn's disease. *Dig Dis Sci* (2015) 60(2):393–404. doi:10.1007/s10620-014-3189-0
- Chung-Faye G, Hayee B, Maestranzi S, Donaldson N, Forgacs I, Sherwood R. Fecal M2-pyruvate kinase (M2-PK): a novel marker of intestinal inflammation. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2007) 13(11):1374–8. doi:10.1002/ibd.20214
- Day AS, Judd T, Lemberg DA, Leach ST. Fecal M2-PK in children with Crohn's disease: a preliminary report. *Dig Dis Sci* (2012) 57(8):2166–70. doi:10.1007/ s10620-012-2215-3
- 65. Bertrand J, Marion-Letellier R, Azhar S, Chan P, Legrand R, Goichon A, et al. Glutamine enema regulates colonic ubiquitinated proteins but not proteasome activities during TNBS-induced colitis leading to increased mitochondrial activity. *Proteomics* (2015) 15(13):2198–210. doi:10.1002/ pmic.201400304
- Li XJ, Xu M, Zhao XQ, Zhao JN, Chen FF, Yu W, et al. Proteomic analysis of synovial fibroblast-like synoviocytes from rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2013) 31(4):552–8.
- Goldberg MS, Sharp PA. Pyruvate kinase M2-specific siRNA induces apoptosis and tumor regression. J Exp Med (2012) 209(2):217–24. doi:10.1084/ jem.20111487
- Qin X, Du Y, Chen X, Li W, Zhang J, Yang J. Activation of Akt protects cancer cells from growth inhibition induced by PKM2 knockdown. *Cell Biosci* (2014) 4:20. doi:10.1186/2045-3701-4-20
- Morfouace M, Lalier L, Oliver L, Cheray M, Pecqueur C, Cartron PF, et al. Control of glioma cell death and differentiation by PKM2-Oct4 interaction. *Cell Death Dis* (2014) 5:e1036. doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.561

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Alves-Filho and Pålsson-McDermott. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Modulation of Chemokine Responses: Synergy and Cooperativity

Amanda E. I. Proudfoot¹ and Mariagrazia Uguccioni^{2*}

¹Novimmune S.A., Geneva, Switzerland, ²Laboratory of Chemokines in Immunity, Institute for Research in Biomedicine, Università della Svizzera italiana, Bellinzona, Switzerland

Chemokine biology is mediated by more complex interactions than simple monomolecular ligand-receptor interactions, as chemokines can form higher order quaternary structures, which can also be formed after binding to glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) on endothelial cells, and their receptors are found as dimers and/or oligomers at the cell surface. Due to the complexity of the chemokine binding and signaling system, several mechanisms have been proposed to provide an explanation for the synergy observed between chemokines in leukocyte migration. Pioneering studies on interactions between different chemokines have revealed that they can act as antagonists, or synergize with other chemokines. The synergism can occur at different levels, involving either two chemokine receptors triggered simultaneously or sequentially exposed to their agonists, or the activation of one type of chemokine receptor triggered by chemokine heterocomplexes. In addition to the several chemokines that, by forming a heterocomplex with chemokine receptor agonists, act as enhancers of molecules of the same family, we have recently identified HMGB1, an endogenous damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) molecule, as an enhancer of the activity of CXCL12. It is now evident that synergism between chemokines is crucial at the very early stage of inflammation. In addition, the low-affinity interaction with GAGs has recently been shown to induce cooperativity allowing synergy or inhibition of activity by displacement of other ligands.

Keywords: chemokines, cell migration, synergy, oligomerization, glycosaminoglycan

Specialty section:

*Correspondence: Mariagrazia Uguccioni

OPEN ACCESS

Institut National de la Transfusion

Georgia Regents University, USA

mariagrazia.uguccioni@irb.usi.ch

Edited by: Olivier Garraud,

Sanguine, France

Markus Bosmann, Gutenberg University Mainz,

Ganesan Ramesh,

Krishna Rajarathnam,

University of Texas Medical

Reviewed by:

Germany

Branch, USA

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 25 February 2016 Accepted: 29 April 2016 Published: 19 May 2016

Citation:

Proudfoot AEI and Uguccioni M (2016) Modulation of Chemokine Responses: Synergy and Cooperativity. Front. Immunol. 7:183. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00183 CHEMOKINES AND THEIR RECEPTORS

Chemokines are key regulators of leukocyte migration and function, playing fundamental roles both in physiological and pathological immune responses, such as inflammatory diseases (1). The chemokine system includes ~50 ligands, which engage a panel of over 20 chemokine receptors in a promiscuous fashion, which are differentially expressed by all leukocytes and many non-hematopoietic cells (2). Proper tissue distribution of distinct leukocyte subsets, under normal and pathological conditions, is guaranteed by the resulting combinatorial diversity in cell responsiveness to chemokines.

To mediate their activity chemokines bind to cell surface receptors which belong to the largest branch of the γ subfamily of rhodopsin-like G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) (3), a receptor superfamily which represents the most successful target of small molecule inhibitors for treating diseases affecting different systems in modern pharmacology. All chemokine receptors couple to

heterotrimeric $G\alpha_i$ -proteins and accordingly most responses can be fully inhibited by treatment of cells with Bordetella pertussis toxin. Today, a total of 19 signaling receptors have been identified: 7 CXCRs (CXCR1-6 and CXCR8), 10 CCRs (CCR1-10), CX3R3, and CKR1. In addition, there are four "atypical" receptors that use alternative signaling pathways, and act mainly by sequestering and degrading the chemokines present in the microenvironment (4). Thus, the ~50 chemokines outnumber their receptors indicating that a receptor can bind more than one chemokine. In addition, several chemokines can also bind to multiple receptors (2, 5). Novel findings indicate that polysialylation of CCR7, the central chemokine receptor controlling immune cell trafficking to secondary lymphatic organs, is essential for the recognition of the CCR7 ligand CCL21 (6), and that the glycosylation pattern of this receptor shapes receptor signaling (7), suggesting that this further level of control might be shared with other chemokine receptors.

CHEMOKINE SYNERGY AND COOPERATION

A vast range of *in situ* experiments, aimed at understanding which chemokines are produced under specific circumstances, has revealed that a variety of chemokines can be concomitantly produced at the target sites of leukocyte trafficking and homing (8–12). This renders the chemokine system a good target for therapy and has promoted the search by pharmaceutical companies for small molecule chemokine antagonists (13–16). While we understand the effects of different chemokines singly, much less is known about the potential consequences of the concomitant expression of multiple chemokines and their interaction with other inflammatory molecules (17, 18).

The suggestion that chemokines might have additional regulatory mechanisms started with the identification of natural chemokine antagonists. Many reports have demonstrated that certain chemokines can also antagonize non-cognate chemokine receptors, by altering agonist-induced signaling and abrogating cellular responses *via* several mechanisms, including occupancy of the chemokine receptor-binding pocket or signaling through Rac-2 (19–24).

The studies on possible regulatory mechanisms continued when three reports showed that chemokines can synergize to enhance leukocyte functions in response to chemoattractants. The first described a bovine chemokine, regakine 1 that induces enhanced neutrophil migration when combined with CXCL7, CXCL8, and C5a. The receptor or the mechanism of regakine-1-induced synergism is not known. Competition with labeled C5a for binding to neutrophils or receptor-transfected cell lines demonstrated that regakine 1 does not alter receptor recognition. The protein kinase inhibitors 2' amino 3' methoxyflavone (PD98059), wortmannin, and staurosporine had no effect on the synergy between C5a and regakine 1 (25). The second study showed that migration of natural IFN-producing cells, a subpopulation of murine and human lymphocytes, to the CXCR3 agonists requires stimulation of CXCR4 by CXCL12. The mechanism by which CXCL12 induces enhanced migration in response to CXCR3 agonists is yet unknown. CXCL12 does not upregulate the expression of CXCR3 and does not increase the affinity of CXCR3 for its agonists (26). The third report (27) showed the same enhanced migration, on human plasmacytoid dendritic cells, in response to CXCR3 agonists induced by stimulation with CXCL12 as observed by Krug et al. (26). These reports undoubtedly indicate, as for the natural antagonist chemokines, that it is necessary to carefully analyze the effects that the concomitant expression of chemokines can have on cell functions and to elucidate the molecular mechanisms governing cell activities at sites of inflammation. Synergism can thus occur at different levels, involving either two chemokine receptors triggered simultaneously or sequentially exposed to their agonists (26-30). We have identified a further mechanism by which chemokines, forming chemokine heteromeric complexes, can activate one type of chemokine receptor (Figure 1A) (31): (i) CXCL13 enhances CCL19 and CCL21 triggering of CCR7 (32); (ii) CXCL10 enhances CCL22 triggering of CCR4 (33); (iii) CCL19 and CCL21 enhance the activity of CCR2 ligands and protect them from degradation (34); and (iv) CXCL9 enhances migration induced by CXCL12 on CXCR4+/CXCR3- malignant B cells (35). Other groups have also shown that the synergism between a chemokine agonist and a non-ligand chemokine can enhance the activity of selective chemokine receptors (36-40).

Chemokines have a second important interaction with cell surface expressed glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), which mediates their immobilization on the endothelial surface in order to provide their directional signal (41-43). This interaction was shown to be essential for their ability to recruit cells in vivo by the loss of activity of chemokine variants, which had abrogated GAGbinding capacity (44). Without the interaction with endothelial GAGs, most chemokines would be washed away from the local production site, especially under flow conditions, diluted to a concentration below the threshold required for binding, and distributed uniformly throughout the vasculature such that no localized chemotactic signal is generated for leukocytes to allow directional mobilization. Furthermore, differential binding to GAGs plays an important role in localization. Neutrophil recruitment to the lung is greater in response to chemokines that bind GAGs less strongly. This was demonstrated both by mutants of CXCL8 with abrogated GAG binding as well as comparison of another neutrophil chemoattractant, CXCL1. Although increased recruitment was postulated to be mediated by the stronger GAG binder, lower binding capacity resulted in enhanced recruitment, demonstrating that the tissue microenvironment plays a pivotal role in the spatial formation of chemokine gradients and defining GAGs functions (45, 46).

Recently, binding to cell surface GAGs has identified more subtle roles in chemokine biology, where competitive binding of chemokines to GAGs can either induce cooperative enhancement of activity or inhibition of activity by displacement of certain chemokines. Cooperative enhancement has been demonstrated for both classical receptors as well as atypical or non-signaling receptors such as CCX-CKR/ACKR4 (47). In both cases, competitive displacement of the chemokines from GAGs was shown to be responsible for the effects, using modified chemokines lacking the GAG-binding sequence. The competitive displacement is limited to chemokines which bind GAGs strongly such as CCL11,



CXCL12, and CXCL13, compared with low-affinity binders, such as CCL3 and CCL4, being unable to induce this synergy.

A similar phenomenon was observed for CCL18, an interesting chemokine in that is has been shown to be unregulated in many pathological conditions, yet its receptor remained elusive until it was shown recently to activate CCR8 (48). Moreover, CCL18 is always present at considerably higher concentrations in the circulation than most chemokines, and it was shown to displace certain chemokines bound to heparin (49). This property led to the hypothesis that it could prevent the recruitment of leukocytes by these chemokines by removing them from the endothelial surface.

Since chemokine cooperativity *via* GAG binding would allow chemokines to activate their cognate receptors at lower chemokine concentrations, it is likely that *in vivo*, this phenomenon would extend the range from which chemokines can induce recruitment of leukocytes (50). GAG binding and/or formation of heterocomplexes can definitively contribute to the fine-tuning modulation of chemokine activities occurring *in vivo*.

It is well established that many chemokines exist in equilibrium between the monomeric and dimeric state, and even as higher order oligomers (51–53). It is therefore clear that chemokine biology is more complex than simple monomolecular ligand–receptor interactions. It has been shown *in vitro* that the quaternary structure of chemokines influences the affinity of binding to GAGs (54, 55). Moreover, *in vitro* studies have suggested that dimerization may also occur after binding to GAGs on endothelial cells (56). In fact, this phenomenon is essential for certain chemokines *in vivo* since obligate monomers of the proinflammatory chemokines, CCL2, CCL4, and CCL5, are unable to recruit cells when injected into the peritoneal cavity (44).

It is however important to note that alterations in GAG composition can occur in several pathological conditions (57-59). In addition, chemokine receptors can be found as dimers and/ or oligomers at the cell surface (60-62). Due to the complexity of chemokine binding and signaling (63), several mechanisms have been proposed to provide an explanation for synergy between chemokines in leukocyte migration. It is now evident that the synergism between chemokines is crucial at the very early stage of inflammation, as in vivo disruption of pro-atherogenic heteromers of CCL5 and CXCL4 resulted in a significant decrease in atherosclerotic lesion formation (38, 64). Moreover, disruption of the heteromers, formed between CCL5 and the α -defensin HNP1, attenuated monocyte and macrophage recruitment in a mouse model of myocardial infarction (65). On the contrary, the study of the role of synergy-inducing chemokines in the tumor microenvironment is at its infancy, as it has been shown in vitro that the distinct co-expression of B and T cell attractant chemokines, present in the tumor microenvironment, control cell trafficking of both tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and malignant B cells (35).

CHEMOKINES AND DAMPs

Under inflammatory conditions, the cross talk between different molecules plays a crucial role in reaching the balance in tissue regeneration. A complete system for the detection, containment, and repair of damage caused to cells in the organism requires warning signals for the cells to respond. These warning signals are called endogenous damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) or alarmins. In addition to the several chemokines that act as enhancers of molecules of the same family, by forming a heterocomplex with chemokine receptor agonists, we have recently identified HMGB1, an alarmin, as an enhancer of the activity of CXCL12 (Figure 1B) (66-68). The heterocomplex HMGB1/ CXCL12 can be disrupted with a specific molecule, glycyrrhizin, which inhibits cell influx into the injured tissue. This indicates that a number of components, in addition to the direct activation of the receptor via a selective agonist, can regulate chemokine functions via a direct interaction with chemokines or chemokine receptors. Multiple chemokines within inflamed tissues selectively enhance each other's migratory functions, depending on their concentrations, proximity, and simultaneous exposure to leukocytes. The mechanisms underlying the involvement of endogenous DAMPs in chronic diseases are still largely unexplored, and the interaction with other molecules might be a possible approach to understand their targets and functions. The interaction between chemokines and inflammatory molecules needs to be taken into account when chemokine cleavage by proteolysis, or chemokine degradation by atypical chemokine receptors, would be beneficial to achieve a resolving microenvironment favorable for resolution of inflammation by abrogating chemokine signals and the recruitment of inflammatory cells (69). The heterocomplex HMGB1/CXCL12 was demonstrated to prevent CXCL12 degradation (70), similarly to the observation that the complex CCL19/CCL7 prevents CCL7 degradation by the atypical receptor ACKR2 (34).

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The chemokine system remains a promising biological target for the development of new therapeutic tools for the treatment of immunological disorders. Nevertheless, drug discovery programs have not yet produced successful drugs targeting the chemokine system for the treatment of inflammatory diseases. Most of the competitive chemokine receptor antagonists developed by all major pharma companies have been disappointingly

REFERENCES

- Charo IF, Ransohoff RM. The many roles of chemokines and chemokine receptors in inflammation. N Engl J Med (2006) 354(6):610–21. doi:10.1056/ NEJMra052723
- Bachelerie F, Ben-Baruch A, Burkhardt AM, Combadiere C, Farber JM, Graham GJ, et al. International Union of Pharmacology. LXXXIX. Update on the extended family of chemokine receptors and introducing a new nomenclature for atypical chemokine receptors. *Pharmacol Rev* (2014) 66(1):1–79. doi:10.1124/pr.113.007724
- Griffith JW, Sokol CL, Luster AD. Chemokines and chemokine receptors: positioning cells for host defense and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2014) 32:659–702. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120145
- Vacchini A, Locati M, Borroni EM. Overview and potential unifying themes of the atypical chemokine receptor family. *J Leukoc Biol* (2016). doi:10.1189/ jlb.2MR1015-477R
- Zlotnik A. Chemokines and cancer. Int J Cancer (2006) 119(9):2026–9. doi:10.1002/ijc.22024
- Kiermaier E, Moussion C, Veldkamp CT, Gerardy-Schahn R, de Vries I, Williams LG, et al. Polysialylation controls dendritic cell trafficking by regulating chemokine recognition. *Science* (2016) 351(6269):186–90. doi:10.1126/ science.aad0512
- Hauser MA, Kindinger I, Laufer JM, Spate AK, Bucher D, Vanes SL, et al. Distinct CCR7 glycosylation pattern shapes receptor signaling and endocytosis to modulate chemotactic responses. *J Leukoc Biol* (2016). doi:10.1189/ jlb.2VMA0915-432RR

unsuccessful when tested in clinical trials (71), and as a matter of fact, the only two small molecule inhibitors approved by the FDA do not target inflammation. Taking into account GAGs-binding properties, synergy induced by heterocomplexes formed with non-ligand chemokines or inflammatory molecules, and the possibility that the heterocomplexes might induce differential signaling pathways, will certainly help in elaborating the biology involved in this family and will surely contribute to the successful development of inhibitors of the chemokine system as therapeutics.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Special thanks to Dr. Giorgia Brambilla Pisoni for her work in transforming our data on the synergism into a visual figure.

FUNDING

The authors would like to thank, for the support received for the studies on the modulation of chemokines activities, the Swiss National Science Foundation (3100A0-143718/1 and 141773-RM3 to MU); European Union's Programs for research, technological development and demonstration under grant agreements INNOCHEM – LSHB-CT-2005-518167 (FP6), DEC-VAC – LSHP-CT-2005-018685 (FP6), ADITEC – 280873 (FP7), and TIMER – 281608 (FP7). Further support was obtained by the San Salvatore Foundation, the Novartis Foundation (to MU), the Helmut Horten Foundation, the Institute for Arthritis Research, and the Gottfried and Julia Bangerter-Rhyner-Foundation.

- Agace WW, Amara A, Roberts AI, Pablos JL, Thelen S, Uguccioni M, et al. Constitutive expression of stromal derived factor-1 by mucosal epithelia and its role in HIV transmission and propagation. *Curr Biol* (2000) 10(6):325–8. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00380-8
- Manzo A, Paoletti S, Carulli M, Blades MC, Barone F, Yanni G, et al. Systematic microanatomical analysis of CXCL13 and CCL21 in situ production and progressive lymphoid organization in rheumatoid synovitis. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) 35(5):1347–59. doi:10.1002/eji.200425830
- Mazzucchelli L, Blaser A, Kappeler A, Scharli P, Laissue JA, Baggiolini M, et al. BCA-1 is highly expressed in Helicobacter pylori-induced mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue and gastric lymphoma. *J Clin Invest* (1999) **104**(10):R49–54. doi:10.1172/JCI7830
- Smith JR, Braziel RM, Paoletti S, Lipp M, Uguccioni M, Rosenbaum JT. Expression of B-cell-attracting chemokine 1 (CXCL13) by malignant lymphocytes and vascular endothelium in primary central nervous system lymphoma. *Blood* (2003) 101(3):815–21. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-05-1576
- Uguccioni M, Gionchetti P, Robbiani DF, Rizzello F, Peruzzo S, Campieri M, et al. Increased expression of IP-10, IL-8, MCP-1, and MCP-3 in ulcerative colitis. *Am J Pathol* (1999) 155(2):331–6. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)65128-0
- de Zeeuw D, Bekker P, Henkel E, Hasslacher C, Gouni-Berthold I, Mehling H, et al. The effect of CCR2 inhibitor CCX140-B on residual albuminuria in patients with type 2 diabetes and nephropathy: a randomised trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2015) 3(9):687–96. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00261-2
- Proudfoot AE, Power CA, Rommel C, Wells TN. Strategies for chemokine antagonists as therapeutics. *Semin Immunol* (2003) 15(1):57–65. doi:10.1016/ S1044-5323(02)00128-8

- Wells TN, Power CA, Shaw JP, Proudfoot AE. Chemokine blockers therapeutics in the making? *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2006) 27(1):41–7. doi:10.1016/j. tips.2005.11.001
- Yokoyama W, Kohsaka H, Kaneko K, Walters M, Takayasu A, Fukuda S, et al. Abrogation of CC chemokine receptor 9 ameliorates collagen-induced arthritis of mice. Arthritis Res Ther (2014) 16(5):445. doi:10.1186/s13075-014-0445-9
- Loos T, Dekeyzer L, Struyf S, Schutyser E, Gijsbers K, Gouwy M, et al. TLR ligands and cytokines induce CXCR3 ligands in endothelial cells: enhanced CXCL9 in autoimmune arthritis. *Lab Invest* (2006) 86(9):902–16. doi:10.1038/ labinvest.3700453
- Panzer U, Uguccioni M. Prostaglandin E2 modulates the functional responsiveness of human monocytes to chemokines. *Eur J Immunol* (2004) 34(12):3682–9. doi:10.1002/eji.200425226
- Fulkerson PC, Zhu H, Williams DA, Zimmermann N, Rothenberg ME. CXCL9 inhibits eosinophil responses by a CCR3- and Rac2-dependent mechanism. *Blood* (2005) 106(2):436–43. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-02-0489
- Fulkerson PC, Zimmermann N, Brandt EB, Muntel EE, Doepker MP, Kavanaugh JL, et al. Negative regulation of eosinophil recruitment to the lung by the chemokine monokine induced by IFN-gamma (Mig, CXCL9). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) **101**(7):1987–92. doi:10.1073/pnas.0308544100
- Ogilvie P, Bardi G, Clark-Lewis I, Baggiolini M, Uguccioni M. Eotaxin is a natural antagonist for CCR2 and an agonist for CCR5. *Blood* (2001) 97(7):1920-4. doi:10.1182/blood.V97.7.1920
- Ogilvie P, Paoletti S, Clark-Lewis I, Uguccioni M. Eotaxin-3 is a natural antagonist for CCR2 and exerts a repulsive effect on human monocytes. *Blood* (2003) 102(3):789–94. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-09-2773
- Petkovic V, Moghini C, Paoletti S, Uguccioni M, Gerber B. Eotaxin-3/CCL26 is a natural antagonist for CC chemokine receptors 1 and 5. A human chemokine with a regulatory role. J Biol Chem (2004) 279(22):23357–63. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M309283200
- Petkovic V, Moghini C, Paoletti S, Uguccioni M, Gerber B. I-TAC/CXCL11 is a natural antagonist for CCR5. *J Leukoc Biol* (2004) 76(3):701–8. doi:10.1189/ jlb.1103570
- Gouwy M, Struyf S, Mahieu F, Put W, Proost P, Van Damme J. The unique property of the CC chemokine regakine-1 to synergize with other plasmaderived inflammatory mediators in neutrophil chemotaxis does not reside in its NH2-terminal structure. *Mol Pharmacol* (2002) 62(1):173–80. doi:10.1124/ mol.62.1.173
- Krug A, Uppaluri R, Facchetti F, Dorner BG, Sheehan KC, Schreiber RD, et al. IFN-producing cells respond to CXCR3 ligands in the presence of CXCL12 and secrete inflammatory chemokines upon activation. *J Immunol* (2002) 169(11):6079–83. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.169.11.6079
- Vanbervliet B, Bendriss-Vermare N, Massacrier C, Homey B, de Bouteiller O, Briere F, et al. The inducible CXCR3 ligands control plasmacytoid dendritic cell responsiveness to the constitutive chemokine stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1)/CXCL12. *J Exp Med* (2003) **198**(5):823–30. doi:10.1084/ jem.20020437
- Gouwy M, Struyf S, Berghmans N, Vanormelingen C, Schols D, Van Damme J. CXCR4 and CCR5 ligands cooperate in monocyte and lymphocyte migration and in inhibition of dual-tropic (R5/X4) HIV-1 infection. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) **41**(4):963–73. doi:10.1002/eji.201041178
- Gouwy M, Struyf S, Noppen S, Schutyser E, Springael JY, Parmentier M, et al. Synergy between coproduced CC and CXC chemokines in monocyte chemotaxis through receptor-mediated events. *Mol Pharmacol* (2008) 74(2):485–95. doi:10.1124/mol.108.045146
- Mellado M, Rodriguez-Frade JM, Vila-Coro AJ, Fernandez S, Martin de AA, Jones DR, et al. Chemokine receptor homo- or heterodimerization activates distinct signaling pathways. *EMBO J* (2001) 20(10):2497–507. doi:10.1093/ emboj/20.10.2497
- Cecchinato V, D'Agostino G, Raeli L, Uguccioni M. Chemokine interaction with synergy-inducing molecules: fine tuning modulation of cell trafficking. *J Leukoc Biol* (2015). doi:10.1189/jlb.1MR1015-457R
- Paoletti S, Petkovic V, Sebastiani S, Danelon MG, Uguccioni M, Gerber BO. A rich chemokine environment strongly enhances leukocyte migration and activities. *Blood* (2005) 105(9):3405–12. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-04-1648
- Sebastiani S, Danelon G, Gerber B, Uguccioni M. CCL22-induced responses are powerfully enhanced by synergy inducing chemokines via CCR4: evidence for the involvement of first beta-strand of chemokine. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) 35(3):746–56. doi:10.1002/eji.200525800

- Kuscher K, Danelon G, Paoletti S, Stefano L, Schiraldi M, Petkovic V, et al. Synergy-inducing chemokines enhance CCR2 ligand activities on monocytes. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) **39**(4):1118–28. doi:10.1002/eji.200838906
- Venetz D, Ponzoni M, Schiraldi M, Ferreri AJ, Bertoni F, Doglioni C, et al. Perivascular expression of CXCL9 and CXCL12 in primary central nervous system lymphoma: T-cell infiltration and positioning of malignant B cells. *Int J Cancer* (2010) 127(10):2300–12. doi:10.1002/ijc.25236
- 36. Gijsbers K, Gouwy M, Struyf S, Wuyts A, Proost P, Opdenakker G, et al. GCP-2/CXCL6 synergizes with other endothelial cell-derived chemokines in neutrophil mobilization and is associated with angiogenesis in gastrointestinal tumors. *Exp Cell Res* (2005) 303(2):331–42. doi:10.1016/j. yexcr.2004.09.027
- Gouwy M, Schiraldi M, Struyf S, Van Damme J, Uguccioni M. Possible mechanisms involved in chemokine synergy fine tuning the inflammatory response. *Immunol Lett* (2012) 145(1–2):10–4. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2012.04.005
- Koenen RR, von Hundelshausen P, Nesmelova IV, Zernecke A, Liehn EA, Sarabi A, et al. Disrupting functional interactions between platelet chemokines inhibits atherosclerosis in hyperlipidemic mice. *Nat Med* (2009) 15(1):97–103. doi:10.1038/nm.1898
- von Hundelshausen P, Koenen RR, Sack M, Mause SF, Adriaens W, Proudfoot AE, et al. Heterophilic interactions of platelet factor 4 and RANTES promote monocyte arrest on endothelium. *Blood* (2005) 105(3):924–30. doi:10.1182/ blood-2004-06-2475
- Weber C, Koenen RR. Fine-tuning leukocyte responses: towards a chemokine 'interactome'. *Trends Immunol* (2006) 27(6):268–73. doi:10.1016/j. it.2006.04.002
- Hamel DJ, Sielaff I, Proudfoot AE, Handel TM. Chapter 4. Interactions of chemokines with glycosaminoglycans. *Methods Enzymol* (2009) 461:71–102. doi:10.1016/S0076-6879(09)05404-4
- Kuschert GSV, Coulin F, Power CA, Proudfoot AEI, Hubbard RE, Hoogewerf AJ, et al. Glycosaminoglycans interact selectively with chemokines and modulate receptor binding and cellular responses. *Biochemistry* (1999) 38(39):12959–68. doi:10.1021/bi990711d
- Rot A. Neutrophil attractant/activation protein-1 (interleukin-8) induces in vitro neutrophil migration by haptotactic mechanism. Eur J Immunol (1993) 23:303–6. doi:10.1002/eji.1830230150
- Proudfoot AE, Handel TM, Johnson Z, Lau EK, LiWang P, Clark-Lewis I, et al. Glycosaminoglycan binding and oligomerization are essential for the in vivo activity of certain chemokines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100(4):1885–90. doi:10.1073/pnas.0334864100
- Gangavarapu P, Rajagopalan L, Kolli D, Guerrero-Plata A, Garofalo RP, Rajarathnam K. The monomer-dimer equilibrium and glycosaminoglycan interactions of chemokine CXCL8 regulate tissue-specific neutrophil recruitment. J Leukoc Biol (2012) 91(2):259–65. doi:10.1189/jlb.0511239
- Tanino Y, Coombe DR, Gill SE, Kett WC, Kajikawa O, Proudfoot AE, et al. Kinetics of chemokine-glycosaminoglycan interactions control neutrophil migration into the airspaces of the lungs. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(5):2677–85. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903274
- Verkaar F, van OJ, van der Lee MM, van Lith LH, Watts AO, Rops AL, et al. Chemokine cooperativity is caused by competitive glycosaminoglycan binding. *J Immunol* (2014) **192**(8):3908–14. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1302159
- Islam SA, Ling MF, Leung J, Shreffler WG, Luster AD. Identification of human CCR8 as a CCL18 receptor. J Exp Med (2013) 210(10):1889–98. doi:10.1084/ jem.20130240
- Krohn SC, Bonvin P, Proudfoot AE. CCL18 exhibits a regulatory role through inhibition of receptor and glycosaminoglycan binding. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(8):e72321. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072321
- Adage T, Konya V, Weber C, Strutzmann E, Fuchs T, Zankl C, et al. Targeting glycosaminoglycans in the lung by an engineered CXCL8 as a novel therapeutic approach to lung inflammation. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2015) 748:83–92. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2014.12.019
- Campanella GS, Grimm J, Manice LA, Colvin RA, Medoff BD, Wojtkiewicz GR, et al. Oligomerization of CXCL10 is necessary for endothelial cell presentation and in vivo activity. *J Immunol* (2006) 177(10):6991–8. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.177.10.6991
- Das ST, Rajagopalan L, Guerrero-Plata A, Sai J, Richmond A, Garofalo RP, et al. Monomeric and dimeric CXCL8 are both essential for in vivo neutrophil recruitment. *PLoS One* (2010) 5(7):e11754. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0011754

- Rajarathnam K, Sykes BD, Kay CM, Dewald B, Geiser T, Baggiolini M, et al. Neutrophil activation by monomeric interleukin-8. *Science* (1994) 264(5155):90–2. doi:10.1126/science.8140420
- Dyer DP, Salanga CL, Volkman BF, Kawamura T, Handel TM. The dependence of chemokine-glycosaminoglycan interactions on chemokine oligomerization. *Glycobiology* (2016) 26(3):312–26. doi:10.1093/glycob/ cwv100
- Joseph PR, Mosier PD, Desai UR, Rajarathnam K. Solution NMR characterization of chemokine CXCL8/IL-8 monomer and dimer binding to glycosaminoglycans: structural plasticity mediates differential binding interactions. *Biochem J* (2015) 472(1):121–33. doi:10.1042/BJ20150059
- Hoogewerf AJ, Kuschert GSV, Proudfoot AEI, Borlat F, Clark-Lewis I, Power CA, et al. Glycosaminoglycans mediate cell surface oligomerization of chemokines. *Biochemistry* (1997) 36:13570–8. doi:10.1021/bi971125s
- Monneau Y, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Lortat-Jacob H. The sweet spot: how GAGs help chemokines guide migrating cells. *J Leukoc Biol* (2015). doi:10.1189/ jlb.3MR0915-440R
- Tarbell JM, Cancel LM. The glycocalyx and its significance in human medicine. J Intern Med (2016). doi:10.1111/joim.12465
- Taylor KR, Gallo RL. Glycosaminoglycans and their proteoglycans: hostassociated molecular patterns for initiation and modulation of inflammation. *FASEB J* (2006) 20(1):9–22. doi:10.1096/fj.05-4682rev
- Johnson Z, Schwarz M, Power CA, Wells TN, Proudfoot AE. Multi-faceted strategies to combat disease by interference with the chemokine system. *Trends Immunol* (2005) 26(5):268–74. doi:10.1016/j.it.2005.03.001
- Springael JY, Urizar E, Parmentier M. Dimerization of chemokine receptors and its functional consequences. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2005) 16(6):611–23. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2005.05.005
- Thelen M, Munoz LM, Rodriguez-Frade JM, Mellado M. Chemokine receptor oligomerization: functional considerations. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2010) 10(1):38–43. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2009.09.004
- Corbisier J, Gales C, Huszagh A, Parmentier M, Springael JY. Biased signaling at chemokine receptors. *J Biol Chem* (2015) 290(15):9542–54. doi:10.1074/jbc. M114.596098
- Back M, Weber C, Lutgens E. Regulation of atherosclerotic plaque inflammation. J Intern Med (2015) 278(5):462–82. doi:10.1111/joim.12367

- Alard JE, Ortega-Gomez A, Wichapong K, Bongiovanni D, Horckmans M, Megens RT, et al. Recruitment of classical monocytes can be inhibited by disturbing heteromers of neutrophil HNP1 and platelet CCL5. *Sci Transl Med* (2015) 7(317):317ra196. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aad5330
- 66. Schiraldi M, Raucci A, Munoz LM, Livoti E, Celona B, Venereau E, et al. HMGB1 promotes recruitment of inflammatory cells to damaged tissues by forming a complex with CXCL12 and signaling via CXCR4. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209(3):551–63. doi:10.1084/jem.20111739
- Venereau E, Casalgrandi M, Schiraldi M, Antoine DJ, Cattaneo A, De Marchis F, et al. Mutually exclusive redox forms of HMGB1 promote cell recruitment or proinflammatory cytokine release. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209(9):1519–28. doi:10.1084/jem.20120189
- Venereau E, Schiraldi M, Uguccioni M, Bianchi ME. HMGB1 and leukocyte migration during trauma and sterile inflammation. *Mol Immunol* (2013) 55(1):76–82. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2012.10.037
- Ortega-Gomez A, Perretti M, Soehnlein O. Resolution of inflammation: an integrated view. *EMBO Mol Med* (2013) 5(5):661–74. doi:10.1002/ emmm.201202382
- Campana L, Bosurgi L, Bianchi ME, Manfredi AA, Rovere-Querini P. Requirement of HMGB1 for stromal cell-derived factor-1/CXCL12dependent migration of macrophages and dendritic cells. *J Leukoc Biol* (2009) 86(3):609–15. doi:10.1189/jlb.0908576
- Solari R, Pease JE, Begg M. Chemokine receptors as therapeutic targets: why aren't there more drugs? *Eur J Pharmacol* (2015) **746**:363–7. doi:10.1016/j. ejphar.2014.06.060

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Proudfoot and Uguccioni. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Paradoxical Roles of the Neutrophil in Sepsis: Protective and Deleterious

Fabiane Sônego^{1†}, Fernanda Vargas e Silva Castanheira¹, Raphael Gomes Ferreira¹, Alexandre Kanashiro¹, Caio Abner Vitorino Gonçalves Leite¹, Daniele Carvalho Nascimento¹, David Fernando Colón², Vanessa de Fátima Borges¹, José Carlos Alves-Filho¹ and Fernando Queiróz Cunha^{1*}

¹ Departamento de Farmacologia, Faculdade de Medicina de Ribeirão Preto, Universidade de São Paulo, Ribeirão Preto, Brazil, ² Departamento de Bioquímica e Imunologia, Faculdade de Medicina de Ribeirão Preto, Universidade de São Paulo, Ribeirão Preto, Brazil

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mariagrazia Uguccioni, Institute for Research in Biomedicine, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Daniele Souza, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Brazil Marco A. Cassatella, University of Verona, Italy

*Correspondence:

Fernando Queiróz Cunha fdqcunha@fmrp.usp.br

[†]Present address:

Fabiane Sônego, Imagopole, Institut Pasteur, Paris, France

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 19 February 2016 Accepted: 11 April 2016 Published: 26 April 2016

Citation:

Sônego F, Castanheira FVS, Ferreira RG, Kanashiro A, Leite CAVG, Nascimento DC, Colón DF, Borges VF, Alves-Filho JC and Cunha FQ (2016) Paradoxical Roles of the Neutrophil in Sepsis: Protective and Deleterious. Front. Immunol. 7:155. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00155 Sepsis, an overwhelming inflammatory response syndrome secondary to infection, is one of the costliest and deadliest medical conditions worldwide. Neutrophils are classically considered to be essential players in the host defense against invading pathogens. However, several investigations have shown that impairment of neutrophil migration to the site of infection, also referred to as neutrophil paralysis, occurs during severe sepsis, resulting in an inability of the host to contain and eliminate the infection. On the other hand, the neutrophil antibacterial arsenal contributes to tissue damage and the development of organ dysfunction during sepsis. In this review, we provide an overview of the main events in which neutrophils play a beneficial or deleterious role in the outcome of sepsis.

Keywords: sepsis, neutrophil migration, organ dysfunction, toll-like receptors, chemotactic receptors

INTRODUCTION

Sepsis represents a challenging health care and economical problem worldwide with lingering aftereffects (1). The incidence of sepsis has increased over the last decades (2). In terms of diagnosis, sepsis is a systemic response to infection, with increasing severity recognized as severe sepsis or septic shock. Severe sepsis is defined as sepsis in the presence of organ dysfunction and septic shock as the presence of hypotension unresponsive to vasoconstrictors (3). Intensive preclinical studies performed in the last decades have contributed greatly to the understanding the pathophysiology of sepsis, though it is not yet fully understood. Neutrophils are important players in the outcome of sepsis. Therefore, we will review the involvement of neutrophils in the pathophysiology of sepsis in this work.

CONTROL OF INFECTIONS BY NEUTROPHILS

Neutrophils are leukocytes with multi-lobed nuclei that form in the bone marrow and are released in their mature form to the blood. Neutrophils have a short life span and do not show proliferative properties (4, 5).

Classically recognized as phagocytic cells, neutrophils are associated with the innate immune response. These cells are recruited to the site of the infection in response to chemotactic mediators, where they play antimicrobial roles (5, 6).

The presence of neutrophils at the site of infection has been demonstrated to be essential for controlling the bacterial and fungal burden and avoiding the systemic spread of the infection (7). Indeed, depletion of neutrophils in mice infected with *Staphylococcus aureus* markedly reduced the clearance of the bacteria and also survival (8). Similarly, depletion of neutrophils in mice infected with *Candida albicans* induced dissemination of the fungus and led to a higher mortality rate. Likewise, neutropenic patients are more susceptible to bacterial and fungal infections (9–11).

Neutrophils induce killing of pathogens *via* phagocytosis, degranulation, or even the release of intracellular components such as DNA, histones, and lytic proteins, which form neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) (12, 13). Nitric oxide (NO), a mediator produced by the enzyme inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), is one crucial mediator of the microbicidal activity of neutrophils. Deletion of *iNOS* induces a high mortality rate due to impaired control of the infection, despite the presence of neutrophils in the locale of the infection (14).

Additionally, neutrophils are equipped with receptors that recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns or damageassociated molecular patterns, initiating signaling cascades and leading to the production of inflammatory mediators to establish an appropriate response against the pathogen. This results in amplification of the inflammatory process, including emigration of the new waves of neutrophils to the site of infection (15).

Chemokines are a family of small cytokines that are divided into small subfamilies based on variations of a conserved cysteine motif and play an important role in neutrophil recruitment (16). Most chemokines belong to the CC and CXC chemokine subfamilies (17), which exhibit two juxtaposed cysteine residues or one amino acid between the first two cysteine residues, respectively (18). Under physiological conditions, lymphocytes, monocytes, and macrophages express CC receptors (CCR) and respond to CC chemokines, whereas neutrophils express CXC receptors (CXCR)1 (IL-8R in humans) and CXCR2 and respond to CXC chemokines (19).

NEUTROPHIL MIGRATION IS IMPAIRED DURING SEVERE SEPSIS

As mentioned above, the control of an infection depends on the efficient migration of neutrophils to the site of infection as well as appropriate microbicidal activity (20). Our group and others have demonstrated that mice subjected to severe sepsis show inadequate migration of neutrophils to the site of infection, despite the high levels of chemokines at the site. The insufficient number of neutrophils recruited to the site of infection does not control the infection locally, contributing to the systemic spread of the pathogen. As consequence, a marked systemic inflammatory response is established, which is associated with high mortality rates (21).

Among the mechanisms leading to the failure of neutrophil migration, it has been shown that CXCR2 is internalized in circulating neutrophils from mice or patients with severe sepsis (22–24). Accordingly, neutrophils isolated from septic patients

show reduced migration toward chemotactic mediators *ex vivo*, which is associated with patient survival: survivors show higher neutrophil migration compared with non-survivors (25).

In recent years, several studies have described the mechanisms underlying CXCR2 internalization in circulating neutrophils during sepsis, resulting in failure of migration to the infectious focus (**Figure 1**) (24, 26–29). It has been reported that chemokine receptors belong to the G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), and their expression is precisely regulated (30). Prolonged or repeated exposure to agonists induces desensitization and



FIGURE 1 | Neutrophil migration in sepsis. During non-severe sepsis, neutrophils expressing CXCR2 are recruited from the blood to the site of infection in response to CXCL2 and other chemoattractants. Neutrophils migrate to the locale of the infection, where they release NETs and produce reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates (such as NO) to kill the pathogens and avoid its spreading. By contrast, neutrophils are systemically stimulated during severe sepsis, which leads to impaired neutrophil migration to the infection focus. Bacterial components present in the blood activate TLRs expressed on neutrophils, leading to the up-regulation of GRK2, which induces desensitization of CXCR2 on the neutrophil surface. Additionally, TLR activation induces the expression of TNF- α and iNOS, the latter of which might also be activated by PI3K. Both TNF- α and NO can lead to upregulation of GRK2, exacerbating the down-regulation of CXCR2 on the neutrophil surface. As a consequence, neutrophil migration fails, and bacterial growth is not controlled. Furthermore, activation of TLRs also induces the expression of CCR2 on the surface of neutrophils, favoring the recruitment of these cells to distant organs producing CCL2, which contributes to organ damage in association with the capillary occlusion and the hypoperfusion observed in sepsis. The systemic activation of neutrophils also induces the release of NETs in the blood vessels, which causes endothelial damage, culminating in the aggravation of sepsis and possible death. Interestingly, it has been demonstrated that IL-33 can prevent the upregulation of GRK2 expression induced by TLR overactivation and consequently prevent the failure of neutrophil migration to the site of infection.

internalization of GPCRs in a process dependent on the activation of GPCR kinases (GRKs) (31). GRKs phosphorylate the intracellular domains of the activated GPCR, leading to the recruitment of arrestin, which decouples the G protein from the receptor and trigger its internalization (32). Our group and others have demonstrated that ligands of Toll-like receptor (TLR)2, TLR4, and TLR9 (lipoteichoic acid (LTA), lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and CpG-oligodeoxynucleotide, respectively) induce GRK2 upregulation in circulating neutrophils, which in turn, leads to CXCR2 internalization (26, 29, 33-35). Indeed, pretreatment of neutrophils with a GRK2 inhibitor prevented the effect of TLR4 and TLR9 activation on CXCR2 internalization (33, 34). Corroborating these data, tlr2-, 4-, and 9-deficient mice show an increase in CXCR2 expression on circulating neutrophils, compared with WT mice subjected to severe sepsis (26, 34, 36). Additionally, IL-33, a member of the IL-1 family that binds to the heterodimeric receptor complex ST2, has been shown to prevent the up-regulation of GRK2 mediated by TLR signaling. IL-33 treatment improved the recruitment of neutrophils to the site of infection in mice and prevented LPS-induced chemotaxis reduction in human neutrophils (33, 37).

It is noteworthy that in contrast to the harmful TLR overactivation in circulating neutrophils, adequate activation of TLRs in migrated neutrophils is crucial for establishing the local immune response. Indeed, *tlr4*-mutant mice fail to control a low-dose infection with the Gram-negative bacterium *Salmonella typhimurium* (36). Moreover, *myd88*-deficient mice are highly susceptible to polymicrobial sepsis because the lack of the adaptor protein involved in most of TLR signaling prevents the establishment of the local inflammatory response. In contrast to the TLRs, the pattern recognition receptors Nod-like receptors 1 and 2 are not involved in neutrophil migration to the site of infection or in the establishment of the inflammatory response locale in mice subjected to CLP-induced polymicrobial sepsis (38).

Further investigation of how TLRs modulate the expression of CXCR2 on the neutrophil surface suggested the involvement of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α and NO. Neutrophils isolated from tnf receptor-deficient mice activated with LPS do not show internalization of CXCR2 or impaired chemotaxis to CXCL2. Additionally, neutrophils treated with TNF- α exhibit reduced chemotaxis toward CXCL2 (27). Moreover, NO confers a similar effect in LPS- or IL-8-stimulated neutrophils. Indeed, inhibition of iNOS reduces the effect of the LPS or IL-8 on the internalization of CXCR2 and the chemotactic activity of CXCR2 agonists (24, 29). NO triggers the activation of soluble guanylate cyclases (GCs) as well as cyclic-GMP formation and protein kinase G (PKG) phosphorylation (39). As expected, inhibition of sGC or PKG had the same effect as iNOS inhibition after LPS stimulation of neutrophils. Interestingly, inhibition of sGC and PKG during experimental sepsis protected mice from death, and this effect was associated with reduced expression of GRK2 in neutrophils, increased expression of CXCR2 and, consequently, increased neutrophil migration to the infectious focus compared with non-treated animals (29).

Based on these observations, we could suggest that $TNF-\alpha$ production and/or release in neutrophils is important to the effect of TLRs on the CXCR2 expression on these cells. In addition,

both TLR- and TNF-dependent pathways upregulate inducible NO synthase, which could in turn induce GRK2 expression, leading to reduced CXCR2 expression on the neutrophil surface (40).

In addition to TNF- α and iNOS, it has been demonstrated that phosphoinositide-3 kinase gamma (PI3K γ) plays an important role in this process (28). Interestingly, PI3K may be involved in the dimerization of iNOS, an essential process for the activity of this enzyme (41). GRK2 upregulation and CXCR2 internalization were shown to be inhibited in *PI3K\gamma^{-/-}* neutrophils incubated with CXCL2. Additionally, *PI3K\gamma^{-/-}* mice subjected to CLP present reduced GRK2 expression and increased CXCR2 expression on the neutrophil surface, resulting in higher survival rates (28). Altogether, these data provide substantial evidence of the links between all pathways discussed above and highlight new potential targets for sepsis treatment.

In contrast to the deleterious role of the pathways described above, there are also mediators that protect the organism against sepsis. One example is hydrogen sulfide (H₂S), a gas produced by the organism that is synthesized from L-cysteine, mainly via the cystathionine b-synthase and cystathionine g-lyase (CSE) enzymes (42). It has been demonstrated that CSE activity is increased during sepsis, and inhibition of CSE reduces CLP-induced leukocyte-endothelial interactions in mesenteric venules, decreases neutrophil migration to the site of infectious, and consequently decreases the survival rate of animals subjected to non-severe sepsis (43). In contrast, treatment of mice subjected to severe sepsis with an H₂S donor has the opposite effect, resulting in increased CXCR2 expression on circulating neutrophils, increased neutrophil migration to the infection focus, and improvement survival (43). Thus, H₂S donors could be considered for use in sepsis treatment.

Additionally, neutrophil migration events during sepsis have been demonstrated to be regulated by several other mediators, such as lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor (LOX)-1, peroxynitrite, and the acute-phase alpha-1 acid protein, which contribute to the failure of neutrophil migration to the site of infection (44–46). Conversely, the cytokine IL-17 has been shown to be crucial for recruiting neutrophils to the site of infection during sepsis (47). In contrast, the role of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor in neutrophil migration during sepsis remains to be confirmed, as both protective and deleterious role have been described (48, 49). The effects of these mediators on the neutrophil migration have been reviewed elsewhere (20, 50, 51) and will not be further addressed here.

NEUTROPHIL-INDUCED ORGAN DAMAGE

In addition to the host-protective role of neutrophils in sepsis *via* the killing of microorganisms, these cells have been described as exhibiting deleterious functions (6). During sepsis, it has been shown that the systemic inflammatory response leads to the activation of circulating neutrophils sequestered in capillary beds, occluding the lumen, and inducing tissue ischemia. Additionally, neutrophils can migrate to vital organs and release lytic factors and pro-inflammatory cytokines, contributing to organ damage and subsequent multiple organ dysfunction (52, 53). Chemokines

and chemokine receptors are also involved in the process of neutrophil infiltration into vital organs during sepsis. In contrast to the observation that CXCR2 is internalized in circulating neutrophils during severe sepsis (24), this receptor has been implicated in neutrophil infiltration into the lungs, due to the release of CXC chemokines in this organ during sepsis (54, 55). This apparent contradiction could be explained by the differences in the severity of sepsis induced in each study.

Furthermore, our group and others have demonstrated that CCR receptors, which are not expressed on neutrophils under physiological conditions, are induced in this cell type in various inflammatory processes (56–60). It was demonstrated that CCR2 is induced on the neutrophil surface in mice and patients with sepsis in a TLR2- or TLR4-dependent manner. Importantly, CCR2 does not mediate neutrophil recruitment to the site of infection, but it does mediate neutrophil infiltration in vital organs, such as the lungs, kidneys, and heart. Blockage of CCR2 decreases organ damage and death in animals subjected to severe CLP. Moreover, CCR2 expression is positively correlated with the severity of the disease, as measured using the Sepsis-related Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score. Accordingly, human neutrophils isolated from non-surviving septic patients express more CCR2 than neutrophils from surviving patients (59).

Another important feature of neutrophils is the formation of NETs, a network of chromatin fibers associated with granules of antimicrobial peptides and enzymes such as myeloperoxidase, elastase, and cathepsin G, which immobilize and kill invading microorganisms to prevent their spreading (61). The role of NETs in the control of bacterial spreading in sepsis is controversial. Similar bacterial loads were observed in animals lacking an important enzyme (peptidylarginine deiminase 4) for NET formation and in animals treated with rhDNAse compared with control mice (62, 63). However, our group and others (64, 65) have observed an important role of NETs in the control of bacterial spreading during sepsis.

In addition to the role of the NETs in bacterial control during infection, excessive formation of NETs has been observed in many pathological conditions, which is related to organ damage (66). Activated endothelial cells induce the formation of NETs by neutrophils *in vitro* (67, 68). Moreover, in an LPS-induced endotoxic shock model, NETs have adhered and activated the vascular endothelium (69). Additionally, the interaction between neutrophils and activated platelets during sepsis induces NET formation, which contributes to endothelial cell damage and organ injuries (70). Moreover, it has been reported that histones and myeloperoxidase could be responsible for NET-induced endothelial dysfunction, and histones can also interact with TLR2 and TLR4 to induce cytokine production *via* MyD88 signaling, contributing to the systemic inflammatory response observed in sepsis (68, 71–74).

Surprisingly, the survival rate was not found to differ between rhDNAse-treated and non-treated mice after CLP (65). Further investigations revealed that this lack of a difference was due to the deleterious role of NETs in organ damage, as discussed above. Thus, when antibiotic therapy and rhDNAse treatment or inhibition of the enzyme peptidylarginine deiminase 4 were used in combination to control a bacterial infection, a marked increase in the survival rate of the animals was observed, which was associated with decreased organ damage (63, 65). In addition, pretreatment with rh-DNAse in animals challenged with LPS decreased the organ damage and increased the survival rate during endotoxemia (65).

The observations from mouse models confirm the human ones. Notably, autopsy examinations of tissues from septic patients with multiple organ dysfunction syndrome indicate the presence of neutrophils sequestered into the kidneys and lungs (75). Furthermore, severity of acute respiratory distress syndrome in septic patients is proportional to the intensity of the inflammatory infiltrate and proteolytic enzymes in the bronchoalveolar lavage (76).

During sepsis, organ failure is associated with hypoperfusion and tissue hypoxia, both of which are attributed to hypotension and occlusion of neutrophils in the microcirculation (77, 78). The cytokines secreted by neutrophils attached to a vessel wall can also cause endothelial dysfunction, establishing a thrombogenic profile and favoring intravascular coagulation (79). Additionally, neutrophil products can also induce increased NO production by various cell types, which can contribute to lowering blood pressure (80) and favors the generation of peroxynitrite, a potent oxidant agent. In the heart, peroxynitrite can cause changes in the structure and function of proteins that may be related to sepsis-associated myocardial failure (81). Thus, the adhesion of neutrophil to the endothelium and their sequestration to the heart may have multiple deleterious cardiovascular effects.

CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES

It is clear that sepsis continues to represent a challenge for basic and clinical researchers. Despite the massive amount of basic and clinical results related to this syndrome that has been published in the literature in the last several decades, there has been an absence of effective new treatments. The high mortality associated with sepsis together with its increased incidence, points to the importance of re-evaluation of the literature as well as the new translational studies addressing the disease. Together, these approaches will help to identify new effective targets for the development of new therapies. In this context, the present review described the dual roles of neutrophils in the evolution of sepsis. These cells are key players in the innate immune response in the early phase of sepsis and their recruitment to sites of infection is crucial for controlling microorganism growth. Aggravation of sepsis is associated with failure of neutrophil migration to the site of infection. The molecular mechanism involved in this phenomenon was described, and several potential targets for the development of new therapies were identified. By contrast, neutrophils can be harmful and induce secondary organ damage during infection. Neutrophil recruitment to organs far from the site of infection is mediated by the expression of CCR2 under septic conditions. The mechanism involved in the harmful effect of the neutrophils was also described in this review, noting potential targets for the development of new therapies. In this context, new therapies targeting the harmful activity of neutrophils, such as blocking

NET formation or CCR2 activity, might be more helpful than targeting the general inflammatory response.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FS, FC, AK, CL, RF, DN, DC, VB, JA-F, and FC wrote and approved the text. CL draws the figure.

REFERENCES

- Horeczko T, Green JP, Panacek EA. Epidemiology of the Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome (SIRS) in the emergency department. West J Emerg Med (2014) 15:329–36. doi:10.5811/westjem.2013.9.18064
- Kumar G, Kumar N, Taneja A, Kaleekal T, Tarima S, McGinley E, et al. Nationwide trends of severe sepsis in the 21st century (2000–2007). *Chest* (2011) 140:1223–31. doi:10.1378/chest.11-0352
- Bone RC, Sibbald WJ, Sprung CL. The ACCP-SCCM consensus conference on sepsis and organ failure. *Chest* (1992) 101:1481–3. doi:10.1378/ chest.101.6.1481
- Galli SJ, Borregaard N, Wynn TA. Phenotypic and functional plasticity of cells of innate immunity: macrophages, mast cells and neutrophils. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:1035–44. doi:10.1038/ni.2109
- Kolaczkowska E, Kubes P. Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13:159–75. doi:10.1038/nri3399
- Mantovani A, Cassatella MA, Costantini C, Jaillon S. Neutrophils in the activation and regulation of innate and adaptive immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2011) 11:519–31. doi:10.1038/nri3024
- Ermert D, Zychlinsky A, Urban C. Fungal and bacterial killing by neutrophils. Methods Mol Biol (2009) 470:293–312. doi:10.1007/978-1-59745-204-5_21
- Robertson CM, Perrone EE, McConnell KW, Dunne WM, Boody B, Brahmbhatt T, et al. Neutrophil depletion causes a fatal defect in murine pulmonary *Staphylococcus aureus* clearance. *J Surg Res* (2008) 150:278–85. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2008.02.009
- Bouma G, Ancliff PJ, Thrasher AJ, Burns SO. Recent advances in the understanding of genetic defects of neutrophil number and function. *Br J Haematol* (2010) 151:312–26. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2010.08361.x
- Brown GD, Denning DW, Gow NA, Levitz SM, Netea MG, White TC. Hidden killers: human fungal infections. *Sci Transl Med* (2012) 4:165rv113. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3004404
- Swamydas M, Gao JL, Break TJ, Johnson MD, Jaeger M, Rodriguez CA, et al. CXCR1-mediated neutrophil degranulation and fungal killing promote Candida clearance and host survival. *Sci Transl Med* (2016) 8:322ra310. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aac7718
- Nathan C. Neutrophils and immunity: challenges and opportunities. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6:173–82. doi:10.1038/nri1785
- Bardoel BW, Kenny EF, Sollberger G, Zychlinsky A. The balancing act of neutrophils. *Cell Host Microbe* (2014) 15:526–36. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2014.04.011
- Benjamim CF, Silva JS, Fortes ZB, Oliveira MA, Ferreira SH, Cunha FQ. Inhibition of leukocyte rolling by nitric oxide during sepsis leads to reduced migration of active microbicidal neutrophils. *Infect Immun* (2002) 70:3602–10. doi:10.1128/IAI.70.7.3602-3610.2002
- Bianchi ME. DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. J Leukoc Biol (2007) 81:1–5. doi:10.1189/jlb.0306164
- Luster AD. Chemokines chemotactic cytokines that mediate inflammation. N Engl J Med (1998) 338:436–45. doi:10.1056/nejm199802123380706
- Graham GJ. D6 and the atypical chemokine receptor family: novel regulators of immune and inflammatory processes. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) 39:342–51. doi:10.1002/eji.200838858
- 18. Rollins BJ. Chemokines. *Blood* (1997) **90**:909–28.
- Mantovani A, Bonecchi R, Locati M. Tuning inflammation and immunity by chemokine sequestration: decoys and more. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2006) 6:907–18. doi:10.1038/nri1964
- Sonego F, Alves-Filho JC, Cunha FQ. Targeting neutrophils in sepsis. Expert Rev Clin Immunol (2014) 10:1019–28. doi:10.1586/1744666X.2014.922876

FUNDING

This work was supported by São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP), grant #2008/11593-4 and #2011/19670-0, CNPq (Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico) and European Community's Seventh Framework Programme [FP7-2007-2013] under grant agreement n° HEALTH-F4-2011-281608 (TIMER).

- Alves-Filho JC, de Freitas A, Spiller F, Souto FO, Cunha FQ. The role of neutrophils in severe sepsis. *Shock* (2008) **30**(Suppl 1):3–9. doi:10.1097/ SHK.0b013e3181818466
- Chishti AD, Shenton BK, Kirby JA, Baudouin SV. Neutrophil chemotaxis and receptor expression in clinical septic shock. *Intensive Care Med* (2004) 30:605–11. doi:10.1007/s00134-004-2175-y
- Arraes SM, Freitas MS, da Silva SV, de Paula Neto HA, Alves-Filho JC, Auxiliadora Martins M, et al. Impaired neutrophil chemotaxis in sepsis associates with GRK expression and inhibition of actin assembly and tyrosine phosphorylation. *Blood* (2006) 108:2906–13. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-05-024638
- Rios-Santos F, Alves-Filho JC, Souto FO, Spiller F, Freitas A, Lotufo CM, et al. Down-regulation of CXCR2 on neutrophils in severe sepsis is mediated by inducible nitric oxide synthase-derived nitric oxide. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2007) 175:490–7. doi:10.1164/rccm.200601-103OC
- Tavares-Murta BM, Zaparoli M, Ferreira RB, Silva-Vergara ML, Oliveira CH, Murta EF, et al. Failure of neutrophil chemotactic function in septic patients. *Crit Care Med* (2002) **30**:1056–61. doi:10.1097/ 00003246-200205000-00017
- Alves-Filho JC, Freitas A, Souto FO, Spiller F, Paula-Neto H, Silva JS, et al. Regulation of chemokine receptor by Toll-like receptor 2 is critical to neutrophil migration and resistance to polymicrobial sepsis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A (2009) 106:4018–23. doi:10.1073/pnas.0900196106
- Secher T, Vasseur V, Poisson DM, Mitchell JA, Cunha FQ, Alves-Filho JC, et al. Crucial role of TNF receptors 1 and 2 in the control of polymicrobial sepsis. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:7855–64. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0804008
- Martin EL, Souza DG, Fagundes CT, Amaral FA, Assenzio B, Puntorieri V, et al. Phosphoinositide-3 kinase gamma activity contributes to sepsis and organ damage by altering neutrophil recruitment. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2010) 182:762–73. doi:10.1164/rccm.201001-00880C
- Paula-Neto HA, Alves-Filho JC, Souto FO, Spiller F, Amendola RS, Freitas A, et al. Inhibition of guanylyl cyclase restores neutrophil migration and maintains bactericidal activity increasing survival in sepsis. *Shock* (2011) 35:17–27. doi:10.1097/SHK.0b013e3181e37ea8
- Murdoch C, Finn A. Chemokine receptors and their role in inflammation and infectious diseases. *Blood* (2000) 95:3032–43.
- Moore CA, Milano SK, Benovic JL. Regulation of receptor trafficking by GRKs and arrestins. *Annu Rev Physiol* (2007) 69:451–82. doi:10.1146/annurev. physiol.69.022405.154712
- Lefkowitz RJ, Shenoy SK. Transduction of receptor signals by beta-arrestins. Science (2005) 308:512–7. doi:10.1126/science.1109237
- Alves-Filho JC, Sonego F, Souto FO, Freitas A, Verri WA Jr, Auxiliadora-Martins M, et al. Interleukin-33 attenuates sepsis by enhancing neutrophil influx to the site of infection. *Nat Med* (2010) 16:708–12. doi:10.1038/nm.2156
- Trevelin SC, Alves-Filho JC, Sonego F, Turato W, Nascimento DC, Souto FO, et al. Toll-like receptor 9 activation in neutrophils impairs chemotaxis and reduces sepsis outcome. *Crit Care Med* (2012) 40:2631–7. doi:10.1097/ CCM.0b013e318258fb70
- Lee SK, Kim SD, Kook M, Lee HY, Ghim J, Choi Y, et al. Phospholipase D2 drives mortality in sepsis by inhibiting neutrophil extracellular trap formation and down-regulating CXCR2. J Exp Med (2015) 212:1381–90. doi:10.1084/ jem.20141813
- Alves-Filho JC, de Freitas A, Russo M, Cunha FQ. Toll-like receptor 4 signaling leads to neutrophil migration impairment in polymicrobial sepsis*. *Crit Care Med* (2006) 34:461–70. doi:10.1097/01.ccm.0000198527.71819.e1
- 37. Le HT, Tran VG, Kim W, Kim J, Cho HR, Kwon B. IL-33 priming regulates multiple steps of the neutrophil-mediated anti-Candida albicans response

by modulating TLR and dectin-1 signals. J Immunol (2012) 189:287-95. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103564

- Sonego F, Castanheira FV, Czaikoski PG, Kanashiro A, Souto FO, Franca RO, et al. MyD88-, but not Nod1- and/or Nod2-deficient mice, show increased susceptibility to polymicrobial sepsis due to impaired local inflammatory response. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e103734. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0103734
- Dal-Secco D, Freitas A, Abreu MA, Garlet TP, Rossi MA, Ferreira SH, et al. Reduction of ICAM-1 expression by carbon monoxide via soluble guanylate cyclase activation accounts for modulation of neutrophil migration. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* (2010) 381:483–93. doi:10.1007/ s00210-010-0500-2
- Cunha FQ, Assreuy J, Moss DW, Rees D, Leal LM, Moncada S, et al. Differential induction of nitric oxide synthase in various organs of the mouse during endotoxaemia: role of TNF-alpha and IL-1-beta. *Immunology* (1994) 81:211–5.
- Sakai K, Suzuki H, Oda H, Akaike T, Azuma Y, Murakami T, et al. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase in nitric oxide synthesis in macrophage: critical dimerization of inducible nitric-oxide synthase. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281:17736–42. doi:10.1074/jbc.M601896200
- Szabo C. Hydrogen sulphide and its therapeutic potential. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2007) 6:917–35. doi:10.1038/nrd2425
- Spiller F, Orrico MI, Nascimento DC, Czaikoski PG, Souto FO, Alves-Filho JC, et al. Hydrogen sulfide improves neutrophil migration and survival in sepsis via K+ATP channel activation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2010) 182:360–8. doi:10.1164/rccm.200907-1145OC
- 44. Mestriner FL, Spiller F, Laure HJ, Souto FO, Tavares-Murta BM, Rosa JC, et al. Acute-phase protein alpha-1-acid glycoprotein mediates neutrophil migration failure in sepsis by a nitric oxide-dependent mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) **104**:19595–600. doi:10.1073/pnas.0709681104
- Torres-Duenas D, Celes MR, Freitas A, Alves-Filho JC, Spiller F, Dal-Secco D, et al. Peroxynitrite mediates the failure of neutrophil migration in severe polymicrobial sepsis in mice. *Br J Pharmacol* (2007) 152:341–52. doi:10.1038/ sj.bjp.0707393
- Wu Z, Sawamura T, Kurdowska AK, Ji HL, Idell S, Fu J. LOX-1 deletion improves neutrophil responses, enhances bacterial clearance, and reduces lung injury in a murine polymicrobial sepsis model. *Infect Immun* (2011) 79:2865–70. doi:10.1128/IAI.01317-10
- Freitas A, Alves-Filho JC, Victoni T, Secher T, Lemos HP, Sonego F, et al. IL-17 receptor signaling is required to control polymicrobial sepsis. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:7846–54. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803039
- Reddy RC, Narala VR, Keshamouni VG, Milam JE, Newstead MW, Standiford TJ. Sepsis-induced inhibition of neutrophil chemotaxis is mediated by activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-{gamma}. *Blood* (2008) 112:4250–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-12-128967
- Ferreira AE, Sisti F, Sonego F, Wang S, Filgueiras LR, Brandt S, et al. PPAR-gamma/IL-10 axis inhibits MyD88 expression and ameliorates murine polymicrobial sepsis. *J Immunol* (2014) **192**:2357–65. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1302375
- Alves-Filho JC, Spiller F, Cunha FQ. Neutrophil paralysis in sepsis. Shock (2010) 34(Suppl 1):15–21. doi:10.1097/SHK.0b013e3181e7e61b
- Kovach MA, Standiford TJ. The function of neutrophils in sepsis. *Curr Opin* Infect Dis (2012) 25:321–7. doi:10.1097/QCO.0b013e3283528c9b
- Hoesel LM, Neff TA, Neff SB, Younger JG, Olle EW, Gao H, et al. Harmful and protective roles of neutrophils in sepsis. *Shock* (2005) 24:40–7. doi:10.1097/01. shk.0000170353.80318.d5
- Brown KA, Brain SD, Pearson JD, Edgeworth JD, Lewis SM, Treacher DF. Neutrophils in development of multiple organ failure in sepsis. *Lancet* (2006) 368:157–69. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(06)69005-3
- Zhang S, Rahman M, Qi Z, Thorlacius H. Simvastatin antagonizes CD40L secretion, CXC chemokine formation, and pulmonary infiltration of neutrophils in abdominal sepsis. *J Leukoc Biol* (2011) 89:735–42. doi:10.1189/ jlb.0510279
- Hwaiz R, Rahman M, Syk I, Zhang E, Thorlacius H. Rac1-dependent secretion of platelet-derived CCL5 regulates neutrophil recruitment via activation of alveolar macrophages in septic lung injury. *J Leukoc Biol* (2015) **97**:975–84. doi:10.1189/jlb.4A1214-603R
- Johnston B, Burns AR, Suematsu M, Issekutz TB, Woodman RC, Kubes P. Chronic inflammation upregulates chemokine receptors and induces neutrophil migration to monocyte chemoattractant protein-1. *J Clin Invest* (1999) 103:1269–76. doi:10.1172/JCI5208

- Speyer CL, Gao H, Rancilio NJ, Neff TA, Huffnagle GB, Sarma JV, et al. Novel chemokine responsiveness and mobilization of neutrophils during sepsis. *Am J Pathol* (2004) 165:2187–96. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63268-3
- Hartl D, Krauss-Etschmann S, Koller B, Hordijk PL, Kuijpers TW, Hoffmann F, et al. Infiltrated neutrophils acquire novel chemokine receptor expression and chemokine responsiveness in chronic inflammatory lung diseases. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:8053–67. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.11.8053
- Souto FO, Alves-Filho JC, Turato WM, Auxiliadora-Martins M, Basile - Filho A, Cunha FQ. Essential role of CCR2 in neutrophil tissue infiltration and multiple organ dysfunction in sepsis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2011) 183:234–42. doi:10.1164/rccm.201003-0416OC
- Talbot J, Bianchini FJ, Nascimento DC, Oliveira RD, Souto FO, Pinto LG, et al. CCR2 expression in neutrophils plays a critical role in their migration into the joints in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2015) 67:1751–9. doi:10.1002/art.39117
- Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. *Science* (2004) 303:1532–5. doi:10.1126/science.1092385
- Luo L, Zhang S, Wang Y, Rahman M, Syk I, Zhang E, et al. Proinflammatory role of neutrophil extracellular traps in abdominal sepsis. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* (2014) **307**:L586–96. doi:10.1152/ajplung.00365.2013
- Martinod K, Fuchs TA, Zitomersky NL, Wong SL, Demers M, Gallant M, et al. PAD4-deficiency does not affect bacteremia in polymicrobial sepsis and ameliorates endotoxemic shock. *Blood* (2015) 125:1948–56. doi:10.1182/ blood-2014-07-587709
- McDonald B, Urrutia R, Yipp BG, Jenne CN, Kubes P. Intravascular neutrophil extracellular traps capture bacteria from the bloodstream during sepsis. *Cell Host Microbe* (2012) 12:324–33. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2012.06.011
- Czaikoski PG, Mota JM, Nascimento DC, Sonego F, Castanheira FV, Melo PH, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps induce organ damage during experimental and clinical sepsis. *PLoS One* (2016) 11:e0148142. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0148142
- Liu FC, Chuang YH, Tsai YF, Yu HP. Role of neutrophil extracellular traps following injury. *Shock* (2014) 41:491–8. doi:10.1097/shk. 000000000000146
- Gupta AK, Joshi MB, Philippova M, Erne P, Hasler P, Hahn S, et al. Activated endothelial cells induce neutrophil extracellular traps and are susceptible to NETosis-mediated cell death. *FEBS Lett* (2010) 584:3193–7. doi:10.1016/j. febslet.2010.06.006
- Gao X, Hao S, Yan H, Ding W, Li K, Li J. Neutrophil extracellular traps contribute to the intestine damage in endotoxemic rats. *J Surg Res* (2015) 195:211–8. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2014.12.019
- Tanaka K, Koike Y, Shimura T, Okigami M, Ide S, Toiyama Y, et al. In vivo characterization of neutrophil extracellular traps in various organs of a murine sepsis model. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e111888. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0111888
- Clark SR, Ma AC, Tavener SA, McDonald B, Goodarzi Z, Kelly MM, et al. Platelet TLR4 activates neutrophil extracellular traps to ensnare bacteria in septic blood. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:463–9. doi:10.1038/nm1565
- Scheibner KA, Lutz MA, Boodoo S, Fenton MJ, Powell JD, Horton MR. Hyaluronan fragments act as an endogenous danger signal by engaging TLR2. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:1272–81. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.2.1272
- Xu J, Zhang X, Pelayo R, Monestier M, Ammollo CT, Semeraro F, et al. Extracellular histones are major mediators of death in sepsis. *Nat Med* (2009) 15:1318–21. doi:10.1038/nm.2053
- Allam R, Scherbaum CR, Darisipudi MN, Mulay SR, Hagele H, Lichtnekert J, et al. Histones from dying renal cells aggravate kidney injury via TLR2 and TLR4. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2012) 23:1375–88. doi:10.1681/ asn.2011111077
- 74. Saffarzadeh M, Juenemann C, Queisser MA, Lochnit G, Barreto G, Galuska SP, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps directly induce epithelial and endothelial cell death: a predominant role of histones. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e32366. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0032366
- Brealey D, Singer M. Multi-organ dysfunction in the critically ill: effects on different organs. J R Coll Physicians Lond (2000) 34:428–31. doi:10.7861/ jroycollphys.34-5-428
- Windsor AC, Mullen PG, Fowler AA, Sugerman HJ. Role of the neutrophil in adult respiratory distress syndrome. *Br J Surg* (1993) 80:10–7. doi:10.1002/ bjs.1800800106

- Astiz ME, DeGent GE, Lin RY, Rackow EC. Microvascular function and rheologic changes in hyperdynamic sepsis. *Crit Care Med* (1995) 23:265–71. doi:10.1097/00003246-199502000-00011
- Fink MP, Evans TW. Mechanisms of organ dysfunction in critical illness: report from a Round Table Conference held in Brussels. *Intensive Care Med* (2002) 28:369–75. doi:10.1007/s00134-001-1205-2
- Aird WC. The role of the endothelium in severe sepsis and multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. *Blood* (2003) 101:3765-77. doi:10.1182/ blood-2002-06-1887
- Rees DD, Monkhouse JE, Cambridge D, Moncada S. Nitric oxide and the haemodynamic profile of endotoxin shock in the conscious mouse. *Br J Pharmacol* (1998) 124:540–6. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0701815
- Kooy NW, Lewis SJ, Royall JA, Ye YZ, Kelly DR, Beckman JS. Extensive tyrosine nitration in human myocardial inflammation: evidence for the presence

of peroxynitrite. Crit Care Med (1997) 25:812-9. doi:10.1097/00003246-199705000-00017

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Sônego, Castanheira, Ferreira, Kanashiro, Leite, Nascimento, Colón, Borges, Alves-Filho and Cunha. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Allosteric Modulation of Chemoattractant Receptors

Marcello Allegretti^{1*}, Maria Candida Cesta¹ and Massimo Locati^{2,3}

¹Dompé farmaceutici s.p.a, L'Aquila, Italy, ²Department of Medical Biotechnologies and Translational Medicine, University of Milan, Segrate, Italy, ³Humanitas Clinical and Research Center, Rozzano, Italy

Chemoattractants control selective leukocyte homing *via* interactions with a dedicated family of related G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR). Emerging evidence indicates that the signaling activity of these receptors, as for other GPCR, is influenced by allosteric modulators, which interact with the receptor in a binding site distinct from the binding site of the agonist and modulate the receptor signaling activity in response to the orthosteric ligand. Allosteric modulators have a number of potential advantages over orthosteric agonists/antagonists as therapeutic agents and offer unprecedented opportunities to identify extremely selective drug leads. Here, we resume evidence of allosterism in the context of chemoattractant receptors, discussing in particular its functional impact on functional selectivity and probe/concentration dependence of orthosteric ligands activities.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Masaaki Murakami, Hokkaido University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Hideki Ogura, Yale University, USA Yasunobu Arima, Osaka University, Japan

*Correspondence:

Marcello Allegretti marcello.allegretti@dompe.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 16 February 2016 Accepted: 18 April 2016 Published: 02 May 2016

Citation:

Allegretti M, Cesta MC and Locati M (2016) Allosteric Modulation of Chemoattractant Receptors. Front. Immunol. 7:170. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00170 Keywords: biased signaling, functional selectivity, chemoattractant, chemokine receptor, leukocyte recruitment

INTRODUCTION

G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) are the largest family of cell-surface receptors encoded by the human genome and are involved in most pathophysiological aspects (1, 2). GPCRs fulfill the vital biological function of transducing effects of extracellular signals (photons, lipids, neurotransmitters, proteins, etc.) across the cellular membrane into the cytosolic space *via* the activation of dedicated signaling pathways. Physiologically, when the extracellular signal interacts with the so-called "orthosteric binding site" of a GPCR, a conformational change occurs that conveys the signal through the plasma membrane, thus triggering intracellular signaling cascades *via* heterotrimeric G proteins and other signal transducers (3). Because of the involvement of GPCRs in a plethora of physiological and pathological processes, this receptor family includes most of the targets of actual and potential drugs (1, 4, 5), thus making GPCRs the largest class of targets for drug discovery.

Selective leukocyte homing *via* chemoattractant/receptor interactions is pivotal for the organization of the immune system and for protection against infectious diseases. Chemoattractants are also key players in the development and exacerbation of immunomediated pathological conditions, such as allergic responses, autoimmune diseases, and other acute and chronic inflammatory disorders, and their fine regulation plays a crucial role for the development of an appropriate immune

Abbreviations: ACKRs, atypical chemokine receptors; ANCA, anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies; C5aR, activated complement component 5a receptor; FPR, formyl peptide receptor; GPCRs, G protein-coupled receptors; LTB4R, leukotriene B4 receptor; NAMs, negative allosteric modulators; NOD, non-obese diabetic; PAFR, platelet-activating factor receptor; PAMs, positive allosteric modulators; SAMs, silent allosteric modulators; TM, transmembrane helices; WHIM, warts, hypogammaglobulinemia, infections, and myelokathexis.

response (6). Leukocyte chemoattractant ligands include a structurally diverse collection of bioactive molecules, including lipids (leukotrienes, prostaglandins, and platelet-activating factor), peptides (formyl peptides), and proteins (chemokines, nonchemokine cytokines, and defensins). Chemoattractant ligands are recognized by a distinct GPCR family categorized into classical chemoattractant and chemokine GPCRs on the basis of their ligands. Classical chemoattractant GPCRs include formyl peptide receptors (FPR and its variants), the platelet-activating factor receptor (PAFR), activated complement component 5a receptor (C5aR), and leukotriene B4 receptors (LTB4R and its variants). Chemokine GPCRs are subcategorized in four families termed CCR, CXCR, CX3CR, and XCR based on the relative positioning of conserved cysteine residues in the N-terminal domain of their mature ligands. So far, roughly 50 chemokines and at least 18 chemokine GPCRs have been identified in humans (7). Beyond chemokine GPCRs, a group of atypical chemokine receptors (ACKRs), which appear to shape chemokine gradients and dampen inflammation by scavenging chemokines in a G protein-independent β-arrestin-dependent manner, has also recently been recognized (8).

G protein-coupled receptors are integral membrane proteins in constant equilibrium between various functionally distinct conformational states, and this equilibrium is influenced by their exogenous and endogenous ligands (9). Exogenous GPCR ligands can bind to their receptor either competitively (orthosterically) by interacting with the same receptor binding site as the endogenous agonist and are classified as agonists, antagonists, and/or inverse agonists, based on their effects on G protein signaling. Allosteric modulators induce biological responses through interaction with a distinct binding site and can directly modulate binding of orthosteric ligands and their signaling activity. Allosteric modulators have a number of potential advantages over orthosteric agonists/antagonists as therapeutic agents, including greater selectivity for receptor subtypes and the opportunity to identify synthetic ligands for a receptor whose orthosteric binding site has been proven to be chemically intractable, as for glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor agonists (10, 11). However, implications and potentials of allosteric modulation in chemoattractant GPCR biology are far to be fully elucidated, and this review aims at highlighting emerging concepts and open questions.

ALLOSTERISM AND GPCR SIGNALING

The ternary complex model for GPCRs activation, which describes a receptor that moves laterally in the cell membrane to physically couple to a trimeric G protein after activation by an agonist, only accounts for part of the complexity of GPCR-signaling system (12). Ligand binding in the extracellular compartment activates intracellular signals propagated not only through G proteins, but also through β -arrestin and accessory proteins binding, and literature (13) proposes more complex models for receptor activation accounting for multiple signaling states with several conformations stabilized by both different ligands and by single ligand in different conditions. Functional selectivity, probe dependence, and concentration dependence are all properties of chemoattactant receptors' signaling unraveling aspects of the complex processes underlying receptor activation.

Concentration-dependence signaling accounts for different concentrations of the same ligand inducing different receptor responses (14). The typical bell-shaped dose-response curve of chemoattractant-dependent cell migration represents a clear example of this behavior and is particularly relevant in the biology of chemoattractant receptors as they are sensitive to ligand gradients. As an example, high concentrations of a chemokine ligand, such as CXCL12, have been reported to induce inverse migration of CXCR4 expressing cells in several in vitro and ex vivo models (15, 16). The biological significance of this phenomenon, defined as chemorepulsion or fugitaxis, has been defined in the specific context of T-cell trafficking during thymic migration (17). A number of explanations have been proposed, including the existence of high- and low-affinity-binding sites for the same ligand and the concentration-dependent dimerization/oligomerization of the cognate receptor (18, 19).

A second property of GPCR signaling is functional selectivity or "biased signaling," an effect mainly observed for class A and C GPCRs (20), which refers to the ability of different ligands to activate a certain intracellular signaling pathway over another on a given receptor (21). At least three elements contribute to make functional selectivity a key element for chemoattractants: (i) spatiotemporal and tissue-specific expression of chemoattractant receptors and their ligands; (ii) modulation of receptor activity by proteins interacting with the receptor (or receptor oligomers) or making heterocomplexes with the ligand; (iii) receptor-intrinsic biased signaling triggered by different chemokines binding to the same receptor (22). Indeed, several chemoattractant receptors are activated by multiple endogenous ligands, which may activate distinct signaling pathways through the same receptor, thus suggesting the existence of different "active" conformations of the receptor associated with a particular repertoire of intracellular proteins (23). Consistent with this, several examples of chemoattractant receptors with biased signaling have been reported. This is particularly prominent in receptors with a large number of ligands, such as CCR1, which has partial agonists (CCL14, CCL15, and CCL23) becoming fully active after processing of their extended N-terminal domain (24, 25), β-arrestin-biased ligands (CCL5, CC15, and CCL23) (26), and G protein-biased agonists (CCL5) (26). CCR7 is activated by CCL19 and CCL21, which are equivalent for G protein signaling but differ in their GRK and β -arrestin engagement (27, 28), while all CCR2 ligands have balanced G protein/β-arrestin signaling but interestingly CCL8 is biased for signaling to β -arrestin2 vs. β -arrestin1 (29). Most importantly, there is also clear evidence of the biological relevance of biased signaling in chemokine receptors, as the warts, hypogammaglobulinemia, infections, and myelokathexis (WHIM) syndrome is caused by mutations deleting the CXCR4 C-terminal domain which generate receptor variants acting as G protein-biased receptors because compromised in their ability to engage β -arrestin for the absence of relevant phosphorylation residues (30). Finally, in the chemokine field, ACKR represents a striking evidence of β -arrestin-biased signaling receptors (31-33). Thus, not only chemokine receptors are complex

signaling molecules able to engage different signaling pathways, but different ligands have biased signaling effects, and this has become of particular relevance considering the chemokine system promiscuity. In this context, the property of allosteric ligands of interacting with ligand-bound receptors introduces a further element of complexity and, not surprisingly, the action of an allosteric modulator may differentially affect receptor functions depending on which agonist is used as activating probe. Probe dependence, a phenomenon widely reported for chemokine receptors (6), is therefore a clear consequence of the cooperativity between orthosteric and allosteric sites. An interesting example of the probe-dependent behavior of allosteric modulators has been reported for a series of CCR1 ligands showing opposite effect on the affinity of two endogenous receptor ligands with not overlapping binding sites. In fact, these metal ion chelating compounds originally selected as full CCR1 agonists were found to act as allosteric enhancers of CCL3 binding while displacing CCL5 binding at the orthosteric site (34). Similarly, AMD3100 acts as a potent allosteric inhibitor of CXCL12-induced CXCR4 activation but does not affect receptor-mediated response to CXCL12 peptide fragments with agonistic properties (35). Allosteric-biased modulation on GPCRs can also occur between G proteins and other signaling effectors, such as β -arrestins, as demonstrated in the case of a CXCR4 allosteric modulator (36). If, on the one hand, probe dependence gives a very high hurdle to the characterization of allosteric ligands; on the other hand, it offers unprecedented opportunities to identify extremely selective drug leads, allowing a fine modulation of receptor-activated signals in complex biological systems.

As discussed, GPCRs are allosteric proteins and G proteins behave as natural endogenous allosteric modulators of this class of receptors. The progressive characterization and identification of functionally conserved allosteric sites in different GPCRs unavoidably raise the question whether these sites may represent binding motifs for unknown ligands, physiologically behaving as allosteric receptor modulators (37). In this perspective, a huge number of natural substances belonging to diverse chemical classes (ions, lipids, and peptides) have been reported as putative endogenous allosteric modulators of GPCRs. Our studies have highlighted the functional relevance of a minor pocket conserved in both classical chemoattractant and chemokine GPCRs accounting for the fine regulation of receptors activation and not involved in the orthosteric ligand binding (38) (see below). The existence of specific endogenous ligands behaving as non-competitive allosteric modulators interacting at this minor pocket represents an attractive work hypothesis.

While offering unprecedented opportunities for the design of highly selective pharmacological tools, the allosterism concept implies a profound revision of the entire drug discovery process having impact on the design and characterization of novel lead candidates targeting the GPCR family. From the structural point of view, biased allosteric modulation, probe dependence, and ligand cooperativity require the ability to model multiple conformational states in the presence of different ligands that still represents a major hurdle for the rational design of drugs. Several independent studies have shown how subtle structural and electronic modifications in a class of allosteric GPCRs modulators may result in dramatic changes of the biological activity, thus limiting the possibilities to conduct large and efficient lead optimization programs (39-41). In this context, the synthesis of focused iterative libraries with limited structural variability is often more efficient than the classical high-throughput screening of large diverse chemical libraries. Furthermore, the biological characterization of a new class necessitates a multistep approach that carefully takes into account the multifaceted characteristics of the allosteric modulation mechanisms. When multiple endogenous ligands for the target receptor are reported, as for chemokine receptors, several in vitro assays using different probes are recommended for a correct evaluation of probedependent effects. The complexity further increases when biased signal is considered, in fact the development of several functional assays in relevant cellular systems is crucial to assess the effect of selected leads on the different signaling pathways including non G protein-mediated signaling. In many cases, the ideal drug profile for the treatment of a specific pathological condition may be scarcely predicted a priori; thus, the ultimate goal of a lead optimization program should be the selection of several chemical classes with distinct in vitro (probe dependence and functional selectivity) profiles to be in parallel evaluated in relevant in vivo models.

NEGATIVE AND POSITIVE ALLOSTERISM

Receptor allosteric sites are normally devoted to bind endogenous mineral cations, such as sodium, calcium, zinc, and magnesium, or synthetic drugs (42). From a structural point of view, allosteric modulators can be unrelated to the structure of competitive agonists or antagonists. Within the A class GPCR family, orthosteric binding sites are highly conserved and amino acid sequences necessary for the binding of endogenous ligands are retained, while allosteric modulator binding sites show a great structural diversity, thus displaying a high selectivity for a receptor subtype (43). Allosteric modulators can promote or reduce the binding affinity of orthosteric ligands via conformational coupling between the orthosteric and allosteric binding sites, or modulate efficacy by altering the functional response of the receptor to orthosteric ligand binding, thus resulting in positive, negative, or neutral effects on receptor activation (Figure 1). Negative allosteric modulators (NAMs) bind at the allosteric site to inhibit the efficacy or affinity of agonists to the orthosteric site and do not have any intrinsic agonist efficacy. This effect occurs either by stabilizing an inactive conformation of the receptor or by raising the energy barrier requested to activate the receptor (44). NAMs produce rightward and/or downward shifts in agonist concentration-response curves. This can result from the NAM decreasing agonist affinity (at equilibrium) by stabilizing a lower affinity receptor conformation, from the NAM increasing the energy barrier for transition to the active state, or both. The degree of shift is finite and reaches a maximum as the allosteric site is fully occupied by the NAM, differently from what occurs with competitive orthosteric antagonists which produce ever greater shifts at increasing concentrations with no theoretical limit, because of the direct competition for the agonist-binding site (44). Positive allosteric modulators (PAMs) bind to their



FIGURE 1 | Allosteric modulators effects on orthosteric agonist efficacy and potency. Positive (PAM) and negative (NAM) allosteric modulators modulated the affinity and/or the efficacy of orthosteric agonists, while silent allosteric modulators (SAM) have no effect on the affinity and/or efficacy mediated by the orthosteric agonist. Abbreviations used: OA, orthosteric agonist; NAM, negative allosteric modulator; PAM, positive allosteric modulator; SAM, silent allosteric modulator; modulator.

allosteric site and either promote the binding of the agonists at the orthosteric site or lower the energy barrier necessary to shift the receptor to the active conformation. PAMs do not display any activity or pharmacological effect in the absence of the endo/ exogenous agonists, but when combined with an orthosteric agonist, they increase its efficacy, thus improving the overall side-effect profile of the agonist. From the mechanistic perspective, NAMs and PAMs can exert their effects either by altering the binding affinity of the orthosteric ligand or by inducing a conformational change that affects the ability of the ligand/receptor complex to propagate the stimulus to intracellular proteins. Finally, neutral allosteric ligands, previously referred to as silent allosteric modulators (SAMs), have no effect on orthosteric agonists affinity or efficacy but are able to act as competitive antagonists at the same allosteric site and block PAM or NAM activity, and are often used to confirm the receptor engagement by NAMs or PAMs (45).

ALLOSTERIC MODULATION OF CHEMOKINE RECEPTORS

The most relevant efforts to develop chemokine receptor inhibitors have been focused on drugs blocking HIV infection (see **Table 1**). This effort led to the registration as anti-HIV drug of the CCR5 antagonist Maraviroc (Celsentri/Selzentry; Pfizer), while the CXCR4 antagonist Plerixafor (Mozobil/AMD-3100; Genzyme), originally developed as a second anti-HIV drug, was subsequently assessed as an hematopoietic stem cell mobilizer and is now indicated in combination with G-CSF to mobilize stem cells to the peripheral blood in autologous transplantation in patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and multiple myeloma. Conversely, a number of clinical trials of chemokine receptor antagonists for immunomediated diseases have been disappointingly unsuccessful, generally due to a lack of efficacy in Phase II for inappropriate target selection and/or insufficient receptor

| Name | Structure | ΜοΑ | Company | Stage | Indication |
|----------------------|--|-----------------------|----------------------|-------|-----------------------------|
| Cinacalcet | F F F | CaSR PAM | Amgen | М | End-stage renal disease |
| Plerixafor (AMD3100) | | CXCR4 NAM | Genzyme | Μ | Bone marrow transplantation |
| Maraviroc | | CCR5 NAM | Pfizer | Μ | HIV |
| Reparixin (DF1681Y) | H O N S' | CXCR1 NAM | Dompé farmaceutici | III | β-cell transplantation |
| Ladarixin (DF2156A) | $\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}}^{\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{O}}^{\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{O}}^{\mathbf{I}}}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}}^{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}}^{\mathbf{I}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{I}}},\mathbf{F}_{$ | CXCR2 CXCR2 NAM | Dompé farmaceutici | II | Onset type 1 diabetes |
| Navarixin | | CXCR2 NAM | Pharmacopeia | D | COPD |
| PMX-53 | $\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ $ | C5aR antagonist | Cephalon (now Arana) | D | Immunity inflammation |
| Avacopan (CCX-168) | | C5aR antagonist | ChemoCentrix | III | ANCA vasculitis |
| DF2593A | | C5aR NAM | Dompé farmaceutici | Ρ | Pain |

CaSR, calcium-sensing receptor; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; ANCA, anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies; M, marketed; P, preclinical; D, discontinued.
coverage. However, new clinical programs in focused indications are ongoing, setting the premises for a better understanding of the therapeutic potential of these important targets. Among these, 29 drugs are reported as "allosteric modulators of chemokine receptors," three of them being in Phase II and two in Phase III of development (Thomson Reuters Cortellis Business Intelligence; https://cortellis.thomsonreuterslifesciences.com).

Reparixin (formerly known as repertaxin) and ladarixin represent the first examples of non-competitive allosteric modulators of chemokine receptors, showing the ability to behave as NAMs of CXCR1/CXCR2 without affecting the cognate ligand binding affinity. Interleukin-8 (IL-8; CXCL8) and related ELR+ CXC chemokines are able to interact with CXCR1 and CXCR2 at a different degree, with IL-8 and CXCL6 being potent agonists for both CXCR1 and CXCR2, whereas the other chemokines show a higher selectivity degree toward the CXCR2 subtype. CXCR1 and CXCR2 are largely expressed on PMNs but also T lymphocytes and natural killer cells, and play a key role in leukocyte trafficking in inflammatory conditions (46-49). The contribution of IL-8 and its CXCR1/CXCR2 receptors to the physiopathology of several acute and chronic inflammatory conditions, from ischemia/ reperfusion injury to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and fibrosis, is well assessed by the scientific literature (50-53). Modulators of CXCR1 and CXCR2 function may be useful to treat chronic inflammatory conditions in humans (46). Reparixin was the first known non-competitive allosteric inhibitor of IL-8 receptors, with a 400-fold higher efficacy in inhibiting CXCR1 activity than CXCR2. Its molecular mechanism of action was thoroughly investigated showing that the molecule binds CXCR1 in an allosteric site spanning between transmembrane helices (TM) 1, 3, 6, and 7 and inhibits the signaling triggered by IL-8 without affecting its binding to the receptor (54). The efficacy of the molecule in preventing PMN recruitment and associated tissue damage was demonstrated in experimental models of ischemia/reperfusion injury (2, 55, 56) and organ transplantation (57), thus paving the way to clinical development. The molecule recently completed the first Phase III trial aimed at demonstrating its efficacy in the prevention of graft loss in allogeneic pancreatic islet transplantation, thus confirming the validity of the approach. The knowledge of reparixin molecular mechanism of action paved the way to a rational design approach to identify potent dual CXCR1/CXCR2 inhibitors with improved pharmacokinetic properties suitable for long term administration (41). Ladarixin (DF 2156A), the second clinical candidate in this class, is a highly potent CXCR1 and CXCR2 inhibitor (IC₅₀ = 0.1 nM) that is able to block in a probe-independent manner the receptor activation process. Interestingly, mechanistic studies support the rationally derived binding mode hypothesis, thus confirming that the allosteric site is conserved among the two receptor subtypes. The binding mode of the molecule with CXCR1 and CXCR2 is in keeping with the concept that allosteric sites in the TM domains of GPCRs could represent valuable targets for selective allosteric inhibitors able to finely modulate receptor signaling, and suggests their therapeutic investigation in inflammatory disorders. Pharmacological studies were conducted to investigate the potency of CXCR1/ CXCR2 inhibition for the prevention of inflammation- and autoimmunity-mediated damage of pancreatic islets. Blockade of CXCR1/CXCR2 was associated with inhibition of insulitis and modification of leukocytes distribution in blood, spleen, bone marrow, and lymph nodes, and was effective in preventing diabetes in an inflammation-mediated model based on multiple low dose injections of streptozotocin and in preventing diabetes in NOD mice (58). Pharmacokinetic, toxicological, and pharmacodynamic data have reinforced the therapeutic clinical potential of Ladarixin, and a Phase II clinical study to test ladarixin at the onset of type 1 diabetes has been recently activated with the aim to confirm this strategy and further investigate its potential in preserving residual β -cell function.

ALLOSTERIC MODULATION OF CLASSICAL CHEMOATTRACTANT RECEPTORS

The complement has long been recognized as a potentially useful therapeutic target, and a number of strategic approaches and therapeutic agents have been developed during the last years (see Table 1) (59, 60). Inhibition of complement activation has been approached with low molecular weight natural and synthetic compounds, polypeptides, and macromolecules; nevertheless, to place in the market, a complement-directed drug resulted more challenging than expected. Eculizumab, a humanized mAb against C5, was approved for the treatment of rare disorders only in 2007, then followed in 2008 by the approval of nanofiltered C1 inhibitor, and by the orphan drug designation for the human mAb OMS721 targeting mannan-binding lectin-associated serine protease-2. C5 and its GPCR C5aR have been the main targets for the inhibition of complement activation, with two molecules that have reached clinical stage. In Phase I clinical trials in rheumatoid arthritis and psoriasis, the C5aR cyclic peptidomimetic antagonist PMX-53 (Cephalon, now Arana) was found safe and well tolerated, and able to block C5aR at a stage in immune and inflammatory processes earlier than other current antiinflammatory drugs, but has been discontinued in 2012 due to poor pharmacokinetic profile and off-target side effects. CCX-168 (now avacopan) ChemoCentrix is an orally administered C5aR inhibitor under development for various autoimmune disorders, including ANCA-associated vasculitis, atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome, and IgA nephropathy. Recently, positive top-line data from CCX-168 Phase II CLEAR trial have been announced in patients with ANCA-associated vasculitis, paving the way for a Phase III trial announced to start within 2016. At the same time, other Phase II trials in rare and orphan indications are ongoing (Thomson Reuters Cortellis Business Intelligence; https://cortellis.thomsonreuterslifesciences.com).

Among molecules still at a preclinical stage, DF2593A represents an interesting case of study on the topic of GPCR allosteric/ regulatory sites. Our studies on C5aR were guided by the hypothesis that a minor allosteric pocket conserved across the TM region of the chemoattractant receptor family could represent a "triggering domain" crucial for the fine tuning of receptor activation (61). This pocket spanning between TM 1, 3, 6, and 7 was the same reported as the binding site of reparixin and ladarixin. Despite the low homology between C5aR, CXCR1, and CXCR2, the key features of the minor pocket were found conserved, thus allowing the rational design of DF2593A as a putative high affinity selective ligand of C5aR. Extensive mutagenesis studies confirmed the mechanistic hypothesis showing that this region, as observed for CXCR1 and CXCR2, is not involved in orthosteric ligand biding but essential for intracellular signal transduction and receptor function (61). DF2593A was shown effective in several animal models of acute and chronic inflammatory and neuropathic pain (61), and is currently under evaluation as a potential clinical candidate in these indications. These studies further confirm the great potential of allosteric modulation as a promising strategy to generate potent and selective modulators of chemoattractant receptors.

ALLOSTERIC MODULATORS: NEW OPPORTUNITIES FOR DRUG DISCOVERY

Studies on allosteric ligands with different binding properties at cognate GPCRs have led to a substantial increase in our understanding of GPCR pharmacology, thus smoothing the way to the design of safer, better-tolerated, and more efficacious drugs. The recent advances in GPCR structure biology, with the elucidation of several high resolution crystal structures of GPCRs [references in Ref. (62)], will give a further significant boost to this complex and stimulating research field (62), offering new tools for the rational design of allosteric modulators.

As thoroughly discussed, allosteric GPCR modulators present unique advantages as compared to orthosteric ligands, mostly by virtue of their high receptor subtype selectivity and functional selectivity. The first characteristic relies on the greater divergence in the amino acid sequence of allosteric sites between receptor subtypes. While functionally conserved, allosteric sites apparently evolved under a lower evolutionary pressure as compared to the orthosteric sites involved in the recognition of the endogenous ligand. The functional selectivity and probe-dependence properties of many allosteric modulators are intrinsically associated with ability of these molecules to fine tune the dynamic conformational rearrangement of the receptor and ligand/receptor complexes. This second level of selectivity may offer unprecedented opportunities for the design of tailored pharmacological tools but also implicates a profound evolution of the drug discovery process demanding for a deep in vitro characterization of the new lead candidates for a correct interpretation of in vivo studies results. A fascinating aspect of this research field originates from the continuous mutual feedback between drug discovery and receptor biology research: in a virtuous circle, new lead candidates stemmed from medicinal chemistry programs become important research tools useful to improve the knowledge of GPCR structure and function that fundamentally influence the drug design and development process.

From the drug discovery point of view, allosteric modulators may provide functional advantages over classical orthosteric agonists and antagonists (63). First, as allosteric modulators do not compete with endogenous ligands, their effect on GPCRs is saturable, meaning that when all allosteric sites are occupied no more effects are achieved. Second, as allosteric ligands modulate activities of endogenous ligands engaging the orthosteric site, their influence on receptors' conformation and signaling will be evident only when the endogenous ligand is present. Third, NAMs often show only partial antagonist activity without exhibiting any agonist activity (64), thus suggesting that a partial NAM could have a greater safety index than a full antagonist. Also for PAMs, the above described ligand-dependent activity may improve safety profile, due to the fact that normal physiological regulation of signaling, including temporal regulation, remains unchanged (65).

The multifactorial interactions implicated in chemoattractant biology make very difficult to predict the in vivo behavior of allosteric ligands in pathological conditions, and a deep in vitro characterization in different conditions is absolutely required for the interpretation of the results of pharmacological studies. Antagonist affinities can vary depending on the agonist, the presence or absence of allosteric ligands, the specific site through which the effect is exerted, and the specific signaling under consideration. Since most GPCRs can engage different downstream signaling pathways, which are often cell-, tissue-, and/or context-specific, it is crucial to take into account the entire signaling repertoire for the drugs of reference in normal vs. pathological conditions. Future research efforts should be oriented toward the development of approaches aiming to elucidate the full spectrum of ligand signaling in different cell models and able to integrate new screening and quantitative analytical methods, with the aim to link these signaling signatures to preclinical or clinical data.

CONCLUSION

The discovery of allosteric modulators has represented a profound advance in the research of drugs acting on chemoattractant receptors, and over the last years, several NAMs and PAMs of both chemoattractant receptors belong to both classical chemoattractant (Cinacalcet, PAM of CaSR of PTH) and chemokine GPCRs (Reparixin, NAM of CXCR1; Ladarixin NAM of CXCR1/ CXCR2; and Navarixin, NAM of CXCR2) entered clinical trials, and in some cases, successfully reached the market (Maraviroc, NAM of CCR5; Plerixafor, NAM of CXCR4). The pharmacological implications potentially deriving from the availability of multiplicity of molecules that, acting through a single receptor, differentially regulate its signaling activity are still far from being fully exploited and will offer opportunities for the development of new drugs targeting chemoattractant receptors in the near future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MA, MC, and ML contributed equally to writing and critically revised the paper.

FUNDING

Research activities on this topic in authors' institutions are supported by the research grant HEALTH-F4-2011-281608 (TIMER), issued by the European Community's Seventh Framework Program (FP7-2007-2013).

REFERENCES

- Lagerstrom MC, Schioth HB. Structural diversity of G protein-coupled receptors and significance for drug discovery. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2008) 7:339–57. doi:10.1038/nrd2518
- Huang J, Chen K, Gong W, Dunlop NM, Wang JM. G-protein coupled chemoattractant receptors and cancer. *Front Biosci* (2008) 13:3352–63. doi:10.2741/2930
- Oldham WM, Hamm HE. Structural basis of function in heterotrimeric G proteins. Q Rev Biophys (2006) 39:117–66. doi:10.1017/S0033583506004306
- Rask-Andersen M, Almen MS, Schioth HB. Trends in the exploitation of novel drug targets. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2011) 10:579–90. doi:10.1038/nrd3478
- Conn PJ, Lindsley CW, Meiler J, Niswender CM. Opportunities and challenges in the discovery of allosteric modulators of GPCRs for treating CNS disorders. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2014) 13:692–708. doi:10.1038/nrd4308
- Charo IF, Ransohoff RM. The many roles of chemokines and chemokine receptors in inflammation. N Engl J Med (2006) 354:610–21. doi:10.1056/ NEJMra052723
- Bachelerie F, Ben-Baruch A, Burkhardt AM, Combadiere C, Farber JM, Graham GJ, et al. International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology [corrected]. LXXXIX. Update on the extended family of chemokine receptors and introducing a new nomenclature for atypical chemokine receptors. *Pharmacol Rev* (2014) 66:1–79. doi:10.1124/pr.113.007724
- Bachelerie F, Graham GJ, Locati M, Mantovani A, Murphy PM, Nibbs R, et al. New nomenclature for atypical chemokine receptors. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15:207–8. doi:10.1038/ni.2812
- Kenakin T, Miller LJ. Seven transmembrane receptors as shapeshifting proteins: the impact of allosteric modulation and functional selectivity on new drug discovery. *Pharmacol Rev* (2010) 62:265–304. doi:10.1124/pr.108.000992
- Gasparini F, Kuhn R, Pin JP. Allosteric modulators of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors: novel subtype-selective ligands and therapeutic perspectives. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2002) 2:43–9. doi:10.1016/S1471-4892(01)00119-9
- Knudsen LB, Kiel D, Teng M, Behrens C, Bhumralkar D, Kodra JT, et al. Smallmolecule agonists for the glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2007) 104:937–42. doi:10.1073/pnas.0605701104
- Kenakin T. Principles: receptor theory in pharmacology. Trends Pharmacol Sci (2004) 25:186–92. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2004.02.012
- Perez DM, Karnik SS. Multiple signaling states of G-protein-coupled receptors. *Pharmacol Rev* (2005) 57:147–61. doi:10.1124/pr.57.2.2
- Ding BS, Cao Z, Lis R, Nolan DJ, Guo P, Simons M, et al. Divergent angiocrine signals from vascular niche balance liver regeneration and fibrosis. *Nature* (2014) 505:97–102. doi:10.1038/nature12681
- Poznansky MC, Olszak IT, Foxall R, Evans RH, Luster AD, Scadden DT. Active movement of T cells away from a chemokine. *Nat Med* (2000) 6:543–8. doi:10.1038/75022
- Zlatopolskiy A, Laurence J. 'Reverse gear' cellular movement mediated by chemokines. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2001) **79**:340–4. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1711. 2001.01015.x
- Bunting MD, Comerford I, McColl SR. Finding their niche: chemokines directing cell migration in the thymus. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2011) 89:185–96. doi:10.1038/icb.2010.142
- Guyon A, Nahon JL. Multiple actions of the chemokine stromal cell-derived factor-1 alpha on neuronal activity. J Mol Endocrinol (2007) 38:365–76. doi:10.1677/JME-06-0013
- Tan JHY, Ludeman JP, Wedderburn J, Canals M, Hall P, Butler SJ, et al. Tyrosine sulfation of chemokine receptor CCR2 enhances interactions with both monomeric and dimeric forms of the chemokine monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1). *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288:10024–34. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M112.447359
- Khoury E, Clement S, Laporte SA. Allosteric and biased G protein-coupled receptor signaling regulation: potentials for new therapeutics. *Front Endocrinol* (2014) 5:68. doi:10.3389/fendo.2014.00068
- Luttrell LM, Kenakin TP. Refining efficacy: allosterism and bias in G protein-coupled receptor signaling. *Methods Mol Biol* (2011) 756:3–35. doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-160-4_1
- Zweemer AJ, Toraskar J, Heitman LH, IJzerman AP. Bias in chemokine receptor signalling. *Trends Immunol* (2014) 35:243–52. doi:10.1016/j.it.2014.02.004
- Changeux JP, Edelstein SJ. Allosteric mechanisms of signal transduction. Science (2005) 308:1424–8. doi:10.1126/science.1108595

- Crump MP, Gong JH, Loetscher P, Rajarathnam K, Amara A, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, et al. Solution structure and basis for functional activity of stromal cell-derived factor-1; dissociation of CXCR4 activation from binding and inhibition of HIV-1. *EMBO J* (1997) 16:6996–7007. doi:10.1093/ emboj/16.23.6996
- Tian Y, New DC, Yung LY, Allen RA, Slocombe PM, Twomey BM, et al. Differential chemokine activation of CC chemokine receptor 1-regulated pathways: ligand selective activation of Galpha 14-coupled pathways. *Eur J Immunol* (2004) 34:785–95. doi:10.1002/eji.200324166
- Rajagopal S, Bassoni DL, Campbell JJ, Gerard NP, Gerard C, Wehrman TS. Biased agonism as a mechanism for differential signaling by chemokine receptors. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288:35039–48. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M113.479113
- Kohout TA, Nicholas SL, Perry SJ, Reinhart G, Junger S, Struthers RS. Differential desensitization, receptor phosphorylation, beta-arrestin recruitment, and ERK1/2 activation by the two endogenous ligands for the CC chemokine receptor 7. *J Biol Chem* (2004) 279:23214–22. doi:10.1074/jbc. M402125200
- Schmid CL, Bohn LM. Physiological and pharmacological implications of beta-arrestin regulation. *Pharmacol Ther* (2009) 121:285–93. doi:10.1016/j. pharmthera.2008.11.005
- Berchiche YA, Gravel S, Pelletier ME, St-Onge G, Heveker N. Different effects of the different natural CC chemokine receptor 2b ligands on beta-arrestin recruitment, Galphai signaling, and receptor internalization. *Mol Pharmacol* (2011) **79**:488–98. doi:10.1124/mol.110.068486
- McCormick PJ, Segarra M, Gasperini P, Gulino AV, Tosato G. Impaired recruitment of Grk6 and beta-arrestin 2 causes delayed internalization and desensitization of a WHIM syndrome-associated CXCR4 mutant receptor. *PLoS One* (2009) 4:e8102. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008102
- Zabel BA, Wang Y, Lewen S, Berahovich RD, Penfold ME, Zhang P, et al. Elucidation of CXCR7-mediated signaling events and inhibition of CXCR4mediated tumor cell transendothelial migration by CXCR7 ligands. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:3204–11. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900269
- 32. Rajagopal S, Kim J, Ahn S, Craig S, Lam CM, Gerard NP, et al. Betaarrestin- but not G protein-mediated signaling by the "decoy" receptor CXCR7. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) **107**:628–32. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0912852107
- Borroni EM, Cancellieri C, Vacchini A, Benureau Y, Lagane B, Bachelerie F, et al. β-arrestin-dependent activation of the cofilin pathway is required for the scavenging activity of the atypical chemokine receptor D6. *Sci Signal* (2013) 6:S1–3. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2003627
- Jensen PC, Thiele S, Ulven T, Schwartz TW, Rosenkilde MM. Positive versus negative modulation of different endogenous chemokines for CC-chemokine receptor 1 by small molecule agonists through allosteric versus orthosteric binding. J Biol Chem (2008) 283:23121–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.M803458200
- Sachpatzidis A, Benton BK, Manfredi JP, Wang H, Hamilton A, Dohlman HG, et al. Identification of allosteric peptide agonists of CXCR4. J Biol Chem (2003) 278:896–907. doi:10.1074/jbc.M204667200
- Quoyer J, Janz JM, Luo J, Ren Y, Armando S, Lukashova V, et al. Pepducin targeting the C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 acts as a biased agonist favoring activation of the inhibitory G protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110:E5088–97. doi:10.1073/pnas.1312515110
- van der Westhuizen ET, Valant C, Sexton PM, Christopoulos A. Endogenous allosteric modulators of G protein-coupled receptors. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* (2015) 353:246–60. doi:10.1124/jpet.114.221606
- Allegretti M, Bertini R, Bizzarri C, Beccari A, Mantovani A, Locati M. Allosteric inhibitors of chemoattractant receptors: opportunities and pitfalls. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2008) 29:280–6. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2008.03.005
- Melancon BJ, Tarr JC, Panarese JD, Wood MR, Lindsley CW. Allosteric modulation of the M1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor: improving cognition and a potential treatment for schizophrenia and Alzheimer's disease. *Drug Discov Today* (2013) 18:1185–99. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2013.09.005
- Menniti FS, Lindsley CW, Conn PJ, Pandit J, Zagouras P, Volkmann RA. Allosteric modulators for the treatment of schizophrenia: targeting glutamatergic networks. *Curr Top Med Chem* (2013) 13:26–54. doi:10.2174/1568026 611313010005
- Moriconi A, Cesta MC, Cervellera MN, Aramini A, Coniglio S, Colagioia S, et al. Design of noncompetitive interleukin-8 inhibitors acting on CXCR1 and CXCR2. J Med Chem (2007) 50:3984–4002. doi:10.1021/jm061469t

- Christopoulos A. Allosteric binding sites on cell-surface receptors: novel targets for drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2002) 1:198–210. doi:10.1038/ nrd746
- Mohr K, Schmitz J, Schrage R, Trankle C, Holzgrabe U. Molecular alliance-from orthosteric and allosteric ligands to dualsteric/bitopic agonists at G protein coupled receptors. *Angew Chem Int Ed Engl* (2013) 52:508–16. doi:10.1002/anie.201205315
- Burford NT, Watson J, Bertekap R, Alt A. Strategies for the identification of allosteric modulators of G-protein-coupled receptors. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2011) 81:691–702. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2010.12.012
- Burford NT, Clark MJ, Wehrman TS, Gerritz SW, Banks M, O'Connell J, et al. Discovery of positive allosteric modulators and silent allosteric modulators of the mu-opioid receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110:10830–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1300393110
- 46. Bizzarri C, Beccari AR, Bertini R, Cavicchia MR, Giorgini S, Allegretti M. ELR+ CXC chemokines and their receptors (CXC chemokine receptor 1 and CXC chemokine receptor 2) as new therapeutic targets. *Pharmacol Ther* (2006) **112**:139–49. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2006.04.002
- Baggiolini M, Loetscher P. Chemokines in inflammation and immunity. Immunol Today (2000) 21:418–20. doi:10.1016/S0167-5699(00)01672-8
- Tani K, Su SB, Utsunomiya I, Oppenheim JJ, Wang JM. Interferon-gamma maintains the binding and functional capacity of receptors for IL-8 on cultured human T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (1998) 28:502–7. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1521-4141(199802)28:02<502::AID-IMMU502>3.0.CO;2-5
- Robertson MJ. Role of chemokines in the biology of natural killer cells. J Leukoc Biol (2002) 71:173–83.
- Russo RC, Garcia CC, Teixeira MM. Anti-inflammatory drug development: broad or specific chemokine receptor antagonists? *Curr Opin Drug Discov Dev* (2010) 13:414–27.
- Russo RC, Guabiraba R, Garcia CC, Barcelos LS, Roffe E, Souza AL, et al. Role of the chemokine receptor CXCR2 in bleomycin-induced pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2009) 40:410–21. doi:10.1165/ rcmb.2007-0364OC
- Bizzarri C, Allegretti M, Di Bitondo R, Cervellera MN, Colotta F, Bertini R. Pharmacological inhibition of Interleukin-8 (CXCL8) as a new approach for the prevention and treatment of several human diseases. *Curr Med Chem Anti Inflamm Anti Allergy Agents* (2003) 2:67–79. doi:10.2174/1568014033355844
- Brandolini L, Allegretti M, Colagioia S, Novellini R, Colotta F, Bertini R, et al. Update on current and future pharmacological therapy of COPD. *Curr Med Chem Anti Inflamm Anti Allergy Agents* (2004) 3:81–101. doi:10.2174/ 1568014043355429
- Bertini R, Allegretti M, Bizzarri C, Moriconi A, Locati M, Zampella G, et al. Noncompetitive allosteric inhibitors of the inflammatory chemokine receptors CXCR1 and CXCR2: prevention of reperfusion injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2004) 101:11791–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0402090101
- 55. Souza DG, Bertini R, Vieira AT, Cunha FQ, Poole S, Allegretti M, et al. Repertaxin, a novel inhibitor of rat CXCR2 function, inhibits inflammatory

responses that follow intestinal ischaemia and reperfusion injury. Br J Pharmacol (2004) 143:132-42. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0705862

- Garau A, Bertini R, Colotta F, Casilli F, Bigini P, Cagnotto A, et al. Neuroprotection with the CXCL8 inhibitor repertaxin in transient brain ischemia. *Cytokine* (2005) 30:125–31. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2004.12.014
- Cugini D, Azzollini N, Gagliardini E, Cassis P, Bertini R, Colotta F, et al. Inhibition of the chemokine receptor CXCR2 prevents kidney graft function deterioration due to ischemia/reperfusion. *Kidney Int* (2005) 67:1753–61. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00272.x
- Citro A, Valle A, Cantarelli E, Mercalli A, Pellegrini S, Liberati D, et al. CXCR1/2 inhibition blocks and reverses type 1 diabetes in mice. *Diabetes* (2015) 64:1329–40. doi:10.2337/db14-0443
- Larghi EL, Kaufman TS. Modulators of complement activation: a patent review (2008-2013). *Expert Opin Ther Pat* (2014) 24:665–86. doi:10.1517/1 3543776.2014.898063
- Woodruff TM, Nandakumar KS, Tedesco F. Inhibiting the C5-C5a receptor axis. *Mol Immunol* (2011) 48:1631–42. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2011.04.014
- Moriconi A, Cunha TM, Souza GR, Lopes AH, Cunha FQ, Carneiro VL, et al. Targeting the minor pocket of C5aR for the rational design of an oral allosteric inhibitor for inflammatory and neuropathic pain relief. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111:18799–18799. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1417365111
- Brogi S, Tafi A, Desaubry L, Nebigil CG. Discovery of GPCR ligands for probing signal transduction pathways. *Front Pharmacol* (2014) 5:255. doi:10.3389/ fphar.2014.00255
- Anderson CA, Solari R, Pease JE. Biased agonism at chemokine receptors: obstacles or opportunities for drug discovery? *J Leukoc Biol* (2015). doi:10.1189/jlb.2MR0815-392R
- Rodriguez AL, Nong Y, Sekaran NK, Alagille D, Tamagnan GD, Conn PJ. A close structural analog of 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine acts as a neutral allosteric site ligand on metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype 5 and blocks the effects of multiple allosteric modulators. *Mol Pharmacol* (2005) 68:1793–802. doi:10.1124/mol.105.016139
- Conn PJ, Christopoulos A, Lindsley CW. Allosteric modulators of GPCRs: a novel approach for the treatment of CNS disorders. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2009) 8:41–54. doi:10.1038/nrd2760

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Allegretti, Cesta and Locati. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Evasins: Therapeutic Potential of a New Family of Chemokine-Binding Proteins from Ticks

Pauline Bonvin^{1,2†}, Christine A. Power^{1†} and Amanda E. I. Proudfoot^{1,2*}

¹ Geneva Research Centre, Merck Serono S.A., Geneva, Switzerland, ² Research Department, Novimmune S.A., Plan-les-Ouates, Switzerland

Blood-sucking parasites, such as ticks, remain attached to their hosts for relatively long periods of time in order to obtain their blood meal without eliciting an immune response. One mechanism used to avoid rejection is the inhibition of the recruitment of immune cells, which can be achieved by a class of chemokine-binding proteins (CKBPs) known as Evasins. We have identified three distinct Evasins produced by the salivary glands of the common brown dog tick, *Rhipicephalus sanguineus*. They display different selectivities for chemokines, the first two identified show a narrow selectivity profile, while the third has a broader binding spectrum. The Evasins showed efficacy in animal models of inflammatory disease. Here, we will discuss the potential of their development for therapeutic use, addressing both the advantages and disadvantages that this entails.

Keywords: chemokines, binding proteins, antagonists, pathogens, ticks, protein therapeutics

INTRODUCTION

The recruitment of immune cells is essential for the establishment of an immune response that, if uncontrolled, can lead to an unwanted inflammatory situation. The pharmaceutical industry has, for several decades, sought to inhibit excessive leukocyte recruitment by interference with the chemokine system, unfortunately with only limited success to date. Therefore, we investigated the manner in which pathogens and parasites avoid rejection by an immune response. It has been known for some time that pathogens, such as viruses, have pirated many molecules of the mammalian immune system, including molecules that either mimic or inhibit chemokines and their receptors to subvert the immune system. Among these molecules, there are a number of chemokine-binding proteins (CKBPs) that directly interact with chemokines to inhibit their activity (1). The vast majority of CKBPs have been identified in viruses, and these proteins are often able to recognize a large number of chemokines. As an example, M3, a protein encoded by the murine gammaherpesvirus-68, binds to chemokines from the four different subfamilies (CC, CXC, C, and CX₃C) (2), whereas gG (from herpes simplex virus) and Crm (encoded by smallpox virus) interact with chemokines from at least three subfamilies (3, 4). In 2005, the first eukaryotic CKBP was identified in the worm Schistosoma mansoni and was shown to bind promiscuously to some CC chemokines, notably CCL3 and CCL5, CXCL8, and CX3CL1 in vitro (5).

Following a report describing anti-CXCL8 activity in the salivary glands of several Ixodid tick (or hard tick) species (6), we extended this observation by identifying the molecule responsible for this activity. To do this, we first tested the ability of the saliva from the hard tick *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* to inhibit the binding of three chemokines, CCL3, CCL5, and CXCL8 to their receptors, and were also able to identify the presence of these molecules in the saliva by surface plasmon

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mauro Martins Teixeira, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Christian Jorgensen, INSERM, France Kai Fang, University of California Los Angeles, USA

*Correspondence:

Amanda E. I. Proudfoot amandapf@orange.fr

[†]Present address:

Pauline Bonvin, Novartis Pharma Schweiz AG, Rotkreuz, Switzerland; Christine A. Power, Arsanis Biosciences, Vienna, Austria

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 09 March 2016 **Accepted:** 15 May 2016 **Published:** 07 June 2016

Citation:

Bonvin P, Power CA and Proudfoot AEI (2016) Evasins: Therapeutic Potential of a New Family of Chemokine-Binding Proteins from Ticks. Front. Immunol. 7:208. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00208 resonance (SPR) and mass spectrometry (7). Using cDNA expression libraries constructed from the tick salivary glands, we used a cross-linking approach to analyze the proteins secreted into culture supernatants after transient expression of pools of cDNAs in HEK293 cells. We successfully identified three CKBPs that we named the Evasins (7, 8).

CHARACTERISTICS

Evasins have been quite extensively characterized in terms of their chemokine-binding profile and inhibitory potency in vitro and in vivo activity. On the one hand, Evasin-1 demonstrated the highest specificity as it binds only to three closely related chemokines, CCL3, CCL4, and CCL18. On the other hand, Evasin-3 recognizes a subset of CXC chemokines, the family of the so-called ELR+ chemokines, i.e., CXCL1, -2, -3, -5, -6, and -8. Both of these CKBPs efficiently inhibit the activity of their ligands, preventing cell migration in vitro. Evasin-4, which was initially identified using I125-labeled CCL5 and CCL11 as bait, displayed a broader selectivity profile than the other two Evasins, being able to interact with at least 18 chemokines, yet it is still highly specific as it recognizes only members of the CC subfamily (9). Although minor discrepancies were observed between the binding and the inhibitory profile of Evasin-4, it blocks the activity of the majority of its ligands, including the proinflammatory chemokines CCL3, 5, 8, and 11.

Based on their binding profile, Evasin-1 and -3 would be expected to inhibit the migration of neutrophils in mice, which is crucial in the first steps of the immune response. Here, it should be noted that one of the major differences in the leukocyte recruitment profiles in the chemokine system is that of the neutrophil. In mice, neutrophils express both CCR1 as well as CXCR2, which results in the recruitment of this leukocyte by both the CCL ligands and the CXCL ligands activating these receptors, respectively. Regarding Evasin-4, its ability to prevent the interaction of CC chemokines with their receptors may also lead to the inhibition of eosinophil recruitment, an essential cellular component of the response against parasites.

Vancova et al. have reported the presence of anti-CXCL8 activity and anti-CXCL1 activity in salivary gland extracts from males and females of several other species of ticks: Amblyomma variegatum, Rhipicephalus appendiculatus, and Dermacentor reticulatus, suggesting that Evasin-3-like activity is common among metastriate ixodid tick species (10). In a separate study, the same group also reported activity against human CXCL8, CCL2, CCL3, CCL5, and CCL11 in adult R. appendiculatus ticks (11), suggesting that Evasin-1 and Evasin-4 orthologs probably exist in this species too. Also in this study, the authors showed that anti-chemokine activity differed significantly at different times during feeding and also differed between males and females supporting the concept of "mate guarding," in which males help their mates to engorge by controlling their host's immune response, and the possibility that ticks benefit from feeding together in close proximity by exploiting molecular individuality. Interestingly, in this species, anti-CCL11 activity was high in unfed ticks, initially declined, and then increased in both males and females as feeding progressed (11).

As previously mentioned, the existence of viral CKBPs was reported before the identification of Evasins. However, although they probably share similar functions *in vivo*, several differences have been highlighted between these two families of CKBP. First, as mentioned above, the large majority of viral CKBPs display broad-spectrum chemokine-binding profiles, whereas the Evasins are much more selective. It is noteworthy that the Evasin-4-binding profile closely mimics that of the viral CKBP vCCI. These two CKBPs recognize between 13 and 18 chemokines, yet are still highly selective in that they bind only to CC chemokines (9, 12). Therefore, among CKBPs, they form a unique class of chemokine binders with "semi-broad" selectivity.

Another key difference between tick and viral CKBPs is the size of these proteins. Viral CKBPs are large proteins, which might even form dimers as reported for M3 (13). On the contrary, Evasins are small proteins of around 80–100 amino acids, indicating that the two partners of the chemokine:Evasin interaction have similar sizes.

DO EVASINS EXIST IN OTHER SPECIES?

We were intrigued to know whether these molecules formed a family of CKBPs in both ticks and in other species, particularly man. Blasting their sequences against the human genome, and all other mammalian genomes available, did not produce any significant hits.

However, at least five putative Evasin-1 and Evasin-3 homologs have been identified following in-depth sequence analysis of the R. sanguineus sialotranscriptome (14). Expressed sequence tags that are Evasin-3-like have been identified in Ixodes scapularis, Ixodes ricinus, and Dermacentor andersoni (10), and the sequences of potential Evasin homologs have also been identified in Genbank for Boophilus microplus and I. scapularis (Power, unpublished analysis). At least 18 Evasin homologs have been identified for Amblyomma maculatum (15), and Radulovic et al. recently reported a sequence homologous to Evasin-1 in Amblyomma americanum (16). Considering there are over 700 Ixodidae species, and about 200 soft tick or Argasidae species, with recent developments in next generation sequencing and proteomics, it is likely that many more homologous sequences will be identified in the coming years. Yet whether any of the homologs described above encode a CKBP has not yet been confirmed by functional analysis.

Even though blasting the primary sequences of the Evasins did not reveal homologs in mammals, we hypothesized that proteins with similar folds might exist in eukaryotics. While the structures of Evasin-1 and Evasin-3 were found to be totally different from each other, blasting the PDB database of three-dimensional protein structures, once again did not produce any hits. The third CKBP, Evasin-4, has a disulfide bridge pattern that aligned with that of Evasin-1, indicating that it would probably have the same three-dimensional fold (**Figure 1**) (17), so it was unlikely to possess a different structural motif. Thus, it appears that while this tick species has unique CKBPs, one cannot rule out that other ticks, particularly hard ticks that feed for extended periods, will have their own unique CKBP(s).



ACTIVITY IN VIVO

The Evasins have all shown efficacy in vivo in several disease models. As predicted from its binding profile, Evasin-1 reduced neutrophil recruitment induced by CCL3 in a peritoneal cell recruitment assay in a dose-dependent manner (8). This highlights one of the anomalies of translating in vivo data from mice to man as described above. In humans, CCL3 is not a principal mediator of neutrophil recruitment since its receptors CCR1 and CCR5 are primarily expressed on monocytes/macrophages, although they can be induced, for example, by IFN γ (18). However, in mice, CCR1 is highly expressed on neutrophils, resulting in strong recruitment in response to CCL3. On the other hand, neutrophil recruitment in mice is also mediated by CXCR2 ligands, as it is in the human system. Thus, in accordance with its ability to inhibit neutrophil infiltration, Evasin-1 showed good efficacy in reducing the fibrosis, which follows neutrophil infiltration into the lung after bleomycin administration, and also reduced the mortality observed in this model (19).

Evasin-3 was effective in several neutrophil-dependent disease models as expected from its in vitro selectivity profile, showing that it binds and inhibits ELR⁺ chemokines that bind to CXCR2. Again, dose-dependent inhibition of leukocyte infiltration into the peritoneal cavity, this time in response to CXCL8, was inhibited by Evasin-3. Antigen-induced arthritis (AIA), induced by intradermal administration of mouse BSA, is highly neutrophil dependent. In AIA, disease symptoms were significantly decreased by the administration of Evasin-3. In another neutrophil-mediated scenario, ischemic reperfusion injury, both Evasin-1 and Evasin-3 were effective, but Evasin-3 was shown to be more efficacious, indicating that the CXCR2 ligands play a predominant role in this model. On the contrary, only Evasin-1 and not Evasin-3 was effective in inhibiting the first wave of dendritic cell recruitment to the site of infection with Leishmania major, since it is mediated by neutrophil-secreted CCL3 (20). Intriguingly, despite the fact that Evasin-1 has only been shown to bind to three chemokines *in vitro*, it was able to reduce the skin inflammation observed in the $D6^{-/-}$ mice in response to 12-*O*-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA) (8), a model which had previously been shown to depend on several inflammatory ligands (21).

Studies with Evasin-4 produced some puzzling observations. In line with its broad selectivity profile and inhibitory activity against several CC chemokines known to have proinflammatory activity, it was shown to be effective in reducing post-infarction myocardial injury and remodeling (22) and DSS-induced colitis (23), yet Evasin-3 that only binds ELR⁺ CXC chemokines *in vitro* was also effective in the myocardial injury model. This highlights the problem in the translation of agents inhibiting neutrophilmediated inflammation in mice to the human setting.

Because of its broad CC chemokine-binding spectrum, Evasin-4 was considered the most suitable Evasin for development as a possible therapeutic candidate. However, it is well known that small proteins have a very short half-life in vivo and are not orally available, which means that for chronic indications, they would have to be injected with a frequency that is not convenient for patients. In order to prolong the serum half-life of therapeutic proteins, the strategy of making Fc fusions is often employed. Therefore, we created fusions of Evasin-4 with the Fc portion of human IgG1, making both N- and C-terminal versions (9). Having characterized the Fc fusion proteins in vitro and selected the format that had activity closest to wild-type Evasin-4, we compared their activity in a simple disease model, fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-induced contact hypersensitivity. While Evasin-4 had dose-dependent efficacy in reducing the disease symptoms, molar equivalents of the fusion protein were totally ineffective (Figure 2).

The negative result obtained with Evasin 4 fused to the C-terminal of Fc (Fc-Evasin-4) was unexpected as we predicted that the Fc domain would increase the therapeutic potential of Evasin-4 and not abrogate its anti-inflammatory activity. In the hypersensitivity model, the treatment schedule was based





on the half-life of the protein, and as Fc-Evasin-4 exhibited a much longer half-life than Evasin-4, Evasin-4 was injected twice, whereas Fc-Evasin-4 was injected only once, before the challenge with FITC. These different treatment schedules may explain the lack of activity of Fc-Evasin-4 in comparison to Evasin-4. Our current hypothesis is based on the fact that during inflammation, a large amount of chemokines is produced and that the administration of one single dose of the Fc fusion protein might not have been sufficient to saturate the system.

This was confirmed by the measurement of chemokine levels in serum samples from contact hypersensitivity models, which demonstrated a significant accumulation of MCP-1 (the murine equivalent to CCL2), MIP-1 α (equivalent to CCL3), and RANTES (equivalent to CCL5) following treatment with Fc-Evasin-4, as has been reported for administration of an anti-CCL2 antibody (24). Therefore, although the extended half-life of Fc-Evasin-4 allows it to remain in the circulation for more than 1 week, the drug is probably rapidly saturated and no unbound Fc-Evasin-4 molecules are available to inhibit newly produced chemokines and to reduce inflammation. In the case of Evasin-4, CKBP:chemokine complexes are probably more rapidly degraded, preventing their accumulation in circulation. Furthermore, the second bolus of drug provides an additional amount of free Evasin-4 molecules available to inhibit chemokine activity. Therefore, although theoretically equimolar, the doses of Evasin-4 and Fc-Evasin-4 used are probably not equivalent *in vivo*. Thus, the Fc fusion would only be useful if the chemokine is released and degraded in the endosome allowing the fusion protein to recycle back into the circulation to pick up more chemokines, necessitating engineering the Evasin to bind chemokine at pH 7.2 and release it at pH 6.0, as has been reported for mAbs (25, 26).

THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL

A major consideration for the development of protein therapeutics is immunogenicity – where the body elicits an immune response (production of antibodies) against the therapeutic entity. Antibodies against a therapeutic protein may elicit a wide range of consequences, from no detectable change to life-threatening conditions. One of the main concerns is altered drug safety or compromised efficacy. Antibody formation may attenuate the efficacy even to the extent that higher doses cannot overcome the clinical resistance induced by the antibody response. Deleterious effects can occur when antibodies against a therapeutic agent cross-react with endogenous proteins. Neutralizing the endogenous protein can be particularly dangerous, especially if it is a unique protein with non-redundant function. Such was the case for erythropoietin a few years ago. An immune response that neutralized the activity of both the administered recombinant protein Eprex[®] and that of the endogenous protein in patients had dramatic consequences, resulting in an acute anemia called pure red-cell aplasia (PRCA) that was fatal in a few patients [reviewed in Ref. (27)]. In the case of non-human proteins, especially those with no homology to any known human protein, this type of reaction would not be relevant. Nevertheless, nearly all therapeutic proteins - be they native human proteins, monoclonal antibodies, antibody drug conjugates, or fusion proteins - can elicit an immune response. Another potential danger of antibody formation against therapeutic proteins is the elicitation of immunoglobulin (Ig) E-mediated hypersensitivity reactions ranging from local skin reactions to more severe systemic reactions such as anaphylaxis. However, cases of anaphylaxis have been seen with almost every substance administered to man, ranging from peanuts to recombinant interferon- β , but fortunately are not common.

Nevertheless, there are already examples of non-human proteins in the clinic. Hirudin, a small protein produced by leeches, is an inhibitor of thrombin and is used extensively for the retreatment of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia for patients undergoing hip replacement surgery (28). A second example is the GLP-1 receptor agonist exenatide (synthetic exendin-4), a 39 amino acid peptide, marketed as Byetta®, which was originally identified in the salivary secretions of a poisonous lizard known as the Gila monster (Heloderma suspectum). Exenatide was developed as a first-in-class type 2 diabetes therapy (29). In a recent report, it was shown that low-titer anti-exenatide antibodies were common with exenatide treatment but had no apparent effect on efficacy. Higher titer antibodies were less common, and increasing antibody titer was associated with reduced average efficacy, but other than injection-site reactions there were no safety issues (30).

A number of factors are now known to influence the immunogenicity of therapeutic proteins, but in general, the less "human" a protein is, the more likely it is to elicit an immune response, particularly following repeated administrations. However, predicting immunogenicity remains a subject of much debate. We used both proprietary (Antipred) and publicly available software (TEPITOPE) for *in silico* prediction of potential CD4⁺ T-cell epitopes in the Evasins. Interestingly, interferon- β , one of the most widely used treatments for multiple sclerosis, was predicted to contain more antigenic sites than the Evasins (unpublished data).

It should also be noted that the Evasins produced by the tick are highly glycosylated proteins. Their apparent molecular

weights as estimated by SDS-PAGE analysis during their expression cloning was about five times their actual protein mass. This could be hypothesized to render them less susceptible to a host immune response. The counter argument to their status of immune-silent is that they are injected into the host in saliva containing a plethora of other proteins, which could equally play a role in preventing an immune reaction. This is obviously not the case for a therapeutic protein, where in fact the route of administration and relatively large amounts that would be administered systemically (compared to the miniscule amounts injected locally in tick saliva) would be influential on the ensuing immunogenicity.

In view of the potential of the Evasins as therapeutic modalities, we produced Evasin-3 and -4 as Fc fusion proteins. This was to counteract their rapid elimination as is the case for all small proteins. Both fusion proteins retained neutralizing activity in vitro comparable to the wild-type proteins. However, surprisingly, Evasin-4 lost its neutralizing activity when administered as an Fc fusion. The WT protein showed dose-related activity in inhibiting the clinical symptoms in a contact hypersensitivity model, but administration of equivalent molar amounts of the Fc fusion had no effect whatsoever. The reason for this remains unexplained, but these results prompt us to wonder whether simultaneous inhibition of chemokines with a multispecific chemokinebinding protein may be an efficient strategy to clinically improve chemokine-driven diseases. As pan-specific chemokine inhibitors bind to multiple targets, and as the amount of chemokines present in the body may be very large, due to immobilization on cell surfaces, as well as to rapid turnover and production rates, multispecific inhibitors might be saturated in vivo, and very high doses may be required to observe an anti-inflammatory activity. This hypothesis may also explain the lack of long-term efficacy reported with the fusion protein vCCI-Fc (31). As discussed above, a solution could be the engineering of the CKBPs to render them pH dependent. Alternatively, if simultaneous inhibition of several chemokines is required, a more successful strategy may be the broad inhibition of chemokine-induced cell migration without direct interaction with chemokines or their receptors. This strategy is exemplified by the broad-spectrum chemokine inhibitors known as somatotaxins, such as NR58-3.14.3, which is effective in a range of inflammatory disease models, including atherosclerosis and graft-versus-host disease (32-34). Another example of broad-spectrum chemokine inhibition would be by interfering with chemokine signaling as demonstrated by PI3K inhibitors. These results suggest that indirect interference with cell migration may be a promising strategy to prevent excessive recruitment to inflamed sites.

It is clear from the above examples that certain pathologies may be driven by the action of several chemokines acting on distinct receptors, thus arguing that the use of broad-spectrum chemokine antagonists or at least multispecific antagonists would be beneficial. However, a recent report demonstrating biased agonism (35) has provided rationale for targeting individual ligands with biologicals, such as mAbs, to avoid off-target effects. A good example is the receptor CXCR3, whose ligands CXL10 and CXCL11 play opposing roles – the former having a proinflammatory activity while the latter is anti-inflammatory (36). To date,



most of the therapeutic approaches taken by the pharmaceutical industry have been to inhibit individual chemokine receptors. Nevertheless, there are still gaps in our understanding of their precise roles. An interesting example is CCR2 that binds several CC chemokines: CCL7, CCL8, and CCL14, which also bind to other receptors, but the CCL2/CCR2 interaction is non-redundant. CCR2 has been targeted in three separate clinical trials without much success. Is this due to a problem with the target or the drug? The importance of the CCL2/CCR2 interaction in monocyte recruitment is compelling, yet animal models suggest that CCR1 may also play role (37). How does this relate to monocyte recruitment in human disease? In a recent in vitro study, we looked at the ability of specific chemokine receptor antagonists and Evasins to block monocyte chemotaxis in response to synovial fluid harvested from six rheumatoid arthritis patients (Proudfoot et al., unpublished data).1 We observed that only Evasin-4 could inhibit monocyte migration in all samples (Figure 3). In this system, Evasin-4 acts as a soluble chemokine receptor with specificity for multiple monocyte-directed ligands, providing a much more simple approach to chemokine antagonism than targeting one, two, or even multiple chemokine receptors with small-molecule antagonists or antibodies.

Thus, the Evasins present therapeutic potential in pathologies where several chemokines are involved. However, there are certain aspects that must be addressed for future development of these molecules. In view of the observed lack of activity with the Evasin-Fc fusion, treatment of acute indications, where short half-life is not a problem, would be first choice. Moreover, the administration of such proteins for an acute regimen would circumvent the potential issues of immunogenicity. The development of the Evasins for more chronic diseases would require optimization of the potential biologic modality, for example, half-life extension. Production of a pH-dependent chemokine-binding

¹A. Proudfoot, C. Gabay, A. Garin. 2016, unpublished work

REFERENCES

 Heidarieh H, Hernaez B, Alcami A. Immune modulation by virus-encoded secreted chemokine binding proteins. *Virus Res* (2015) 209:67–75. doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2015.02.028 molecule could also solve the problem of the large amount of target protein(s) to be neutralized. With their small size and unique structure, Evasins are also very attractive targets for protein engineering to introduce exquisite specificity, as more and more information becomes available on the role of specific chemokines in human disease. However, we believe that future directions in the search for novel innovative approaches to the treatment of inflammatory diseases should include the study of how nature deals with the immune system – there is still a lot to be learnt from pathogens and parasites that have evolved elegant mechanisms to avoid rejection by their hosts.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AP initiated and directed the project and wrote the manuscript; CP supervised the cloning and characterization of Evasins and wrote the manuscript; and PB performed experiments and wrote the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Prof. Cem Gabay for providing the synovial fluid samples. We would also like to thank several collaborators who have participated in the identification, cloning, and characterization of the Evasins: Beatrice Ferreira, Achim Frauenschuh, Maud Deruaz, Fredéric Borlat, Joao Dias, Jeffrey Shaw, India Severin, Aurelie Herman, and Alexandre Garin.

FUNDING

The research leading to these results has received funding from the European Union FP6 (INNOCHEM, grant number LSHB-CT-2005-518167) and the European Union Seventh Framework Programme (FP7-2007-2013) under grant agreement no. HEALTH-F4-2011-281608 (TIMER).

Parry CM, Simas JP, Smith VP, Stewart CA, Minson AC, Efstathiou S, et al. A broad spectrum secreted chemokine binding protein encoded by a herpesvirus. *J Exp Med* (2000) 191:573–8. doi:10.1084/jem.191.3.573

^{3.} Alejo A, Ruiz-Arguello MB, Ho Y, Smith VP, Saraiva M, Alcami A. A chemokine-binding domain in the tumor necrosis factor receptor from variola

(smallpox) virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2006) 103:5995–6000. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0510462103

- Bryant NA, Davis-Poynter N, Vanderplasschen A, Alcami A. Glycoprotein G isoforms from some alphaherpesviruses function as broad-spectrum chemokine binding proteins. *EMBO J* (2003) 22:833–46. doi:10.1093/emboj/ cdg092
- Smith P, Fallon RE, Mangan NE, Walsh CM, Saraiva M, Sayers JR, et al. Schistosoma mansoni secretes a chemokine binding protein with antiinflammatory activity. J Exp Med (2005) 202:1319–25. doi:10.1084/jem.20050955
- Hajnicka V, Kocakova P, Slavikova M, Slovak M, Gasperik J, Fuchsberger N, et al. Anti-interleukin-8 activity of tick salivary gland extracts. *Parasite Immunol* (2001) 23:483–9. doi:10.1046/j.1365-3024.2001.00403.x
- Frauenschuh A, Power CA, Deruaz M, Ferreira BR, Silva JS, Teixeira MM, et al. Molecular cloning and characterization of a highly selective chemokine-binding protein from the tick *Rhipicephalus sanguineus*. *J Biol Chem* (2007) 282:27250–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.M704706200
- Deruaz M, Frauenschuh A, Alessandri AL, Dias JM, Coelho FM, Russo RC, et al. Ticks produce highly selective chemokine binding proteins with antiinflammatory activity. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205:2019–31. doi:10.1084/ jem.20072689
- Deruaz M, Bonvin P, Severin IC, Johnson Z, Krohn S, Power CA, et al. Evasin-4, a tick-derived chemokine-binding protein with broad selectivity can be modified for use in preclinical disease models. *FEBS J* (2013) 280:4876–87. doi:10.1111/febs.12463
- Vancova I, Hajnicka V, Slovak M, Kocakova P, Paesen GC, Nuttall PA. Evasin-3-like anti-chemokine activity in salivary gland extracts of ixodid ticks during blood-feeding: a new target for tick control. *Parasite Immunol* (2010) 32:460–3. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3024.2010.01203.x
- Vancova I, Hajnicka V, Slovak M, Nuttall PA. Anti-chemokine activities of ixodid ticks depend on tick species, developmental stage, and duration of feeding. *Vet Parasitol* (2010) 167:274–8. doi:10.1016/j.vetpar.2009.09.029
- Burns JM, Dairaghi DJ, Deitz M, Tsang M, Schall TJ. Comprehensive mapping of poxvirus vCCI chemokine-binding protein. Expanded range of ligand interactions and unusual dissociation kinetics. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277:2785–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109884200
- Alexander JM, Nelson CA, van Berkel V, Lau EK, Studts JM, Brett TJ, et al. Structural basis of chemokine sequestration by a herpesvirus decoy receptor. *Cell* (2002) 111:343–56. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(02)01007-3
- Anatriello E, Ribeiro JM, de Miranda-Santos IK, Brandao LG, Anderson JM, Valenzuela JG, et al. An insight into the sialotranscriptome of the brown dog tick, *Rhipicephalus sanguineus*. *BMC Genomics* (2010) 11:450. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-11-450
- Karim S, Singh P, Ribeiro JM. A deep insight into the sialotranscriptome of the gulf coast tick, *Amblyomma maculatum. PLoS One* (2011) 6:e28525. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0028525
- Radulovic ZM, Kim TK, Porter LM, Sze SH, Lewis L, Mulenga A. A 24-48 h fed *Amblyomma americanum* tick saliva immuno-proteome. *BMC Genomics* (2014) 15:518. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-15-518
- Bonvin P, Dunn SM, Rousseau F, Dyer DP, Shaw J, Power CA, et al. Identification of the pharmacophore of the CC chemokine-binding proteins Evasin-1 and -4 using phage display. *J Biol Chem* (2014) 289:31846–55. doi:10.1074/jbc. M114.599233
- Bonecchi R, Polentarutti N, Luini W, Borsatti A, Bernasconi S, Locati M, et al. Up-regulation of CCR1 and CCR3 and induction of chemotaxis to CC chemokines by IFN-gamma in human neutrophils. *J Immunol* (1999) 162:474–9.
- Russo RC, Alessandri AL, Garcia CC, Cordeiro BF, Pinho V, Cassali GD, et al. Therapeutic effects of evasin-1, a chemokine binding protein, in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2011) 45:72–80. doi:10.1165/rcmb.2009-0406OC
- Charmoy M, Brunner-Agten S, Aebischer D, Auderset F, Launois P, Milon G, et al. Neutrophil-derived CCL3 is essential for the rapid recruitment of dendritic cells to the site of *Leishmania major* inoculation in resistant mice. *PLoS Pathog* (2010) 6:e1000755. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000755
- Jamieson T, Cook DN, Nibbs RJ, Rot A, Nixon C, McLean P, et al. The chemokine receptor D6 limits the inflammatory response in vivo. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:403–11. doi:10.1038/ni1182

- Braunersreuther V, Montecucco F, Pelli G, Galan K, Proudfoot AE, Belin A, et al. Treatment with the CC chemokine-binding protein Evasin-4 improves post-infarction myocardial injury and survival in mice. *Thromb Haemost* (2013) 110:807–25. doi:10.1160/TH13-04-0297
- Vieira AT, Fagundes CT, Alessandri AL, Castor MG, Guabiraba R, Borges VO, et al. Treatment with a novel chemokine-binding protein or eosinophil lineage-ablation protects mice from experimental colitis. *Am J Pathol* (2009) 175:2382–91. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2009.090093
- 24. Haringman JJ, Smeets TJ, Reinders-Blankert P, Tak PP. Chemokine and chemokine receptor expression in paired peripheral blood mononuclear cells and synovial tissue of patients with rheumatoid arthritis, osteoarthritis, and reactive arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2006) 65:294–300. doi:10.1136/ard.2005.037176
- Bonvin P, Venet S, Fontaine G, Ravn U, Gueneau F, Kosco-Vilbois M, et al. De novo isolation of antibodies with pH-dependent binding properties. *MAbs* (2015) 7:294–302. doi:10.1080/19420862.2015.1006993
- Igawa T, Mimoto F, Hattori K. pH-dependent antigen-binding antibodies as a novel therapeutic modality. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2014) 1844:1943–50. doi:10.1016/j.bbapap.2014.08.003
- Schellekens H, Jiskoot W. Erythropoietin-associated PRCA: still an unsolved mystery. J Immunotoxicol (2006) 3:123–30. doi:10.1080/15476910600845567
- Greinacher A, Warkentin TE. The direct thrombin inhibitor hirudin. *Thromb Haemost* (2008) 99:819–29. doi:10.1160/TH07-11-0693
- Parkes DG, Mace KF, Trautmann ME. Discovery and development of exenatide: the first antidiabetic agent to leverage the multiple benefits of the incretin hormone, GLP-1. *Expert Opin Drug Discov* (2013) 8:219–44. doi:10. 1517/17460441.2013.741580
- Fineman MS, Mace KF, Diamant M, Darsow T, Cirincione BB, Booker Porter TK, et al. Clinical relevance of anti-exenatide antibodies: safety, efficacy and cross-reactivity with long-term treatment. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2012) 14:546–54. doi:10.1111/j.1463-1326.2012.01561.x
- Buatois V, Fagete S, Magistrelli G, Chatel L, Fischer N, Kosco-Vilbois MH, et al. Pan-CC chemokine neutralization restricts splenocyte egress and reduces inflammation in a model of arthritis. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:2544–54. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000182
- Grainger DJ, Reckless J, Fox DJ. Broad spectrum chemokine inhibitors related to NR58-3.14.3. *Mini Rev Med Chem* (2005) 5:825–32. doi:10.2174/1389557054867101
- 33. Miklos S, Mueller G, Chang Y, Bouazzaoui A, Spacenko E, Schubert TE, et al. Preventive usage of broad spectrum chemokine inhibitor NR58-3.14.3 reduces the severity of pulmonary and hepatic graft-versus-host disease. *Int J Hematol* (2009) 89:383–97. doi:10.1007/s12185-009-0272-y
- Reckless J, Tatalick L, Wilbert S, McKilligin E, Grainger DJ. Broad-spectrum chemokine inhibition reduces vascular macrophage accumulation and collagenolysis consistent with plaque stabilization in mice. *J Vasc Res* (2005) 42:492–502. doi:10.1159/000088139
- Steen A, Larsen O, Thiele S, Rosenkilde MM. Biased and gprotein-independent signaling of chemokine receptors. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:277. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2014.00277
- Zohar Y, Wildbaum G, Novak R, Salzman AL, Thelen M, Alon R, et al. CXCL11-dependent induction of FOXP3-negative regulatory T cells suppresses autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Clin Invest* (2014) 124:2009–22. doi:10.1172/JCI71951
- Schall TJ, Proudfoot AE. Overcoming hurdles in developing successful drugs targeting chemokine receptors. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2011) 11:355–63. doi:10.1038/nri2972

Conflict of Interest Statement: AP, PB, and CP are former employees of Merck Serono S.A. AP and PB are former employees of Novimmune S.A.

Copyright © 2016 Bonvin, Power and Proudfoot. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





STAT3, a Key Parameter of Cytokine-Driven Tissue Protection during Sterile Inflammation – the Case of Experimental Acetaminophen (Paracetamol)-Induced Liver Damage

Heiko Mühl*

Pharmazentrum Frankfurt/ZAFES, University Hospital Goethe-University Frankfurt am Main, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mariagrazia Uguccioni, Institute for Research in Biomedicine, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Jean-Christophe Renauld, Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research, Belgium Jo A. Van Ginderachter, VIB-Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Belgium

*Correspondence: Heiko Mühl h.muehl@em.uni-frankfurt.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 20 February 2016 Accepted: 15 April 2016 Published: 02 May 2016

Citation:

Mühl H (2016) STAT3, a Key Parameter of Cytokine-Driven Tissue Protection during Sterile Inflammation – the Case of Experimental Acetaminophen (Paracetamol)-Induced Liver Damage. Front. Immunol. 7:163. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00163 Acetaminophen (APAP, N-acetyl-p-aminophenol, or paracetamol) overdosing is a prevalent cause of acute liver injury. While clinical disease is initiated by overt parenchymal hepatocyte necrosis in response to the analgetic, course of intoxication is substantially influenced by associated activation of innate immunity. This process is supposed to be set in motion by release of danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) from dving hepatocytes and is accompanied by an inflammatory cytokine response. Murine models of APAP-induced liver injury emphasize the complex role that DAMPs and cytokines play in promoting either hepatic pathogenesis or resolution and recovery from intoxication. Whereas the function of key inflammatory cytokines is controversially discussed, a subclass of specific cytokines capable of efficiently activating the hepatocyte signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT)-3 pathway stands out as being consistently protective in murine models of APAP intoxication. Those include foremost interleukin (IL)-6, IL-11, IL-13, and IL-22. Above all, activation of STAT3 under the influence of these cytokines has the capability to drive hepatocyte compensatory proliferation, a key principle of the regenerating liver. Herein, the role of these specific cytokines during experimental APAP-induced liver injury is highlighted and discussed in a broader perspective. In hard-to-treat or at-risk patients, standard therapy may fail and APAP intoxication can proceed toward a fatal condition. Focused administration of recombinant STAT3-activating cytokines may evolve as novel therapeutic approach under those ill-fated conditions.

Keywords: acetaminophen, acute liver injury, hepatocytes, STAT3, IL-6, IL-11, IL-13, IL-22

INTRODUCTION

Acute liver injury (ALI) is a major burden of health care systems worldwide. Viral infections and side effects of pharmacotherapy stand out among pathological challenges provoking ALI. Specifically, overdosing of the weak-to-moderate analgesic acetaminophen (APAP; *N*-acetyl-*p*-aminophenol; or paracetamol) is regarded as one major cause of ALI in the developed countries. Notably, over-the-counter availability, underrated toxicity, and a narrow therapeutic margin further APAP

misuse/intoxication which, if not timely treated with its antidote N-acetylcysteine, can proceed toward a fulminant condition requiring transplantation for patient survival (1–3).

Specifically, APAP is hold responsible for up to 80,000 emergency visits, 2500 hospitalizations and 500 fatal intoxications in the United States annually (2, 4). A recent study analyzing between 2005 and 2007 patients from selected European countries documented 114 drug overdose-related cases of ALI demanding transplantation (of 600 totals). Ninety-seven percent (111 cases) of those concerned APAP (5). In Germany, 850 hospitalizations due to APAP intake were recorded 2012 for patients with statutory health insurance. However, only four fatalities were documented (6). Altogether, epidemiological studies indicate noticeable variations in the incidence of severe APAP-induced ALI in different populations within Europe (5) and the developed countries altogether.

On a cellular level, liver injury by APAP is regarded a two-hit process involving initial direct induction of hepatocyte cell death and, subsequent to that, activation of innate immunity that triggers an inflammatory response having the complex potential to either aggravate disease or to actually support tissue repair and hepatic regeneration (7–12).

Hepatocyte cell death, being at the root of APAP toxicity, is dependent on drug metabolizing cytochrome P450 enzymes (Cyp), particularly Cyp2e1 and Cyp1a2 (8, 13). These enzymes generate from APAP poisonous N-acetyl-p-benzoquinone imine (NAPQI), a highly reactive metabolite capable of coupling to protein sulfhydryl groups thereby disturbing hepatocyte cell physiology. Specifically, NAPQI mediates mitochondrial oxidative stress, drop in ATP generation, c-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) activation, and eventually cell death (8, 14). Although apoptosis and necrosis as well as necrosis-related necroptosis have all been detected during experimental APAP-induced ALI, the latter two types of cell demise prevail in the context of pathological intoxication. Notably, as opposed to immune-deactivating apoptosis, necrosis and necroptosis connect to activation of innate immunity and inflammation (7, 8, 14, 15) whereby the leukocytic cell compartment becomes involved into course and outcome of APAP-induced ALI.

THE COMPLEX ROLE OF INNATE IMMUNITY AND INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINES IN EXPERIMENTAL MURINE APAP-INDUCED LIVER INJURY

Key to sterile necro-inflammation, as detected in APAP-induced ALI, is release of danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) from cells undergoing necrosis. Once increasingly present in the extracellular compartment or later on taken up by leukocytes, those are detected by sensors of innate immunity, e.g., toll-like receptors (TLR), setting in motion inflammatory processes that can drive pathology but also setting the stage for parenchymal tissue repair and regeneration (9–12, 16, 17).

DAMPs reported to mediate pathological immunoactivation during APAP-induced ALI include high-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1) (18–20) and histones (21). Both couple to TLR4 on hepatic monocytes/macrophages, including resident Kupffer cells. Besides that, HMGB1 was found to activate the receptor for advanced glycation end product (RAGE) on neutrophils, whereas histones may mediate pathological effects also via TLR2. Nucleic acids released from necrotic hepatocytes likewise display a strong potential to aggravate APAP intoxication by action on TLR sensors. Specifically, DNA targeting TLR9 (22, 23) and RNA targeting leukocytic or hepatocyte TLR3 (24) contribute to hepatic injury. A pivotal role for TLR9 was confirmed by pharmacological application of a small-molecule TLR9 antagonist to mice undergoing APAP intoxication (25). Among DAMPs sensed independently from the TLR system, ATP and uric acid stand out. Both can aggravate APAP-induced ALI (26-28) supposedly by action on the inflammasome, a multiprotein complex consisting of interleukin (IL)-1β/IL-18activating caspase-1. In this scenario, ATP binds to purinergic P2X7 receptors on monocytes/macrophages (including Kupffer cells) at the hepatic microenvironment connecting to cellular K⁺-efflux and subsequent inflammasome activation. After being released by dying cells or derived from degradation of nucleic acids, uric acid, on the other hand, is taken up in the form of crystals that directly activate inflammasomes and, thus, IL-1β/ IL-18-dependent inflammation (29, 30).

Although, at first sight, it appears obvious that innate immunity and sterile inflammation amplify pathogenesis of APAP-induced ALI, this topic in fact is controversially discussed. For example, while several studies indicate a pathological role of TLR4 (21, 31, 32), a recent report did not endorse a disease-promoting but rather a protective function of myeloid TLR4 signaling in APAP-related liver damage. Interestingly, deleterious action of RAGE and TLR9 was confirmed in this same study (33). Another recent report disputed a pathogenic role for P2X7 receptors in APAP intoxication (34). While some parameters, such as mice characteristics, including their microbiome (35), or APAP dosage cannot be fully ruled out as sources of discrepancies, those divergent observations may actually reflect janus-faced functions of innate immunity and sterile inflammation in APAP-induced ALI - aggravating tissue damage, likely at an early phase of disease, but simultaneously displaying the strong potential to initiate and perpetuate hepatic repair and regeneration (36). The unique ability of the liver to, upon injury, most efficiently initiate processes aiming at preservation of organ function is driven by initial hepatocyte hypertrophy (increase in size) and an adjacent proliferative phase enabling compensatory hyperplasia (37, 38). Notably, if hepatic damage stays below a pathological threshold, the regenerative capacity of the liver can fully restore organ function in response to APAP (39, 40).

The remarkable fact of quite divergent observations concerning the role of sterile inflammation in APAP-induced ALI particularly applies to the function of nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B)-activating inflammatory cytokines that are induced adjacent–distal to innate sensing. This specifically holds true for prototypic IL-1 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α (41), both produced during APAP-induced ALI (22, 24, 42–46). Whereas aggravation of disease by pretreatment of mice with recombinant TNF α is undisputed (47), modulation of endogenous TNF α biological activity, as achieved by administering neutralizing

antibodies or by investigating TNF receptor-1-deficient mice, resulted in quite heterogeneous outcome. Reports, on the one hand, demonstrate amelioration of APAP-induced toxicity by application of anti-TNF α antibodies (48, 49) or by using TNF receptor-1-deficient mice (49). By contrast, other reports observed either no effect of TNF α -neutralization (50, 51) or even aggravation of disease as detected using TNF receptor-1-deficient mice (52, 53). Those latter two studies actually indicate a tissue-protective function of endogenous TNFα in APAP-induced ALI that coincides with enhanced hepatocyte proliferation and activation of the key pro-regenerative transcription factor signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT)-3 (54). To assess the role of IL-1 in APAP-toxicity is likewise puzzling. Either pathogenic functions (22, 55), no major role (42), or protection (56) by IL-1 has been put on record. The view that inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 and $TNF\alpha$, have the potential to actually promote liver regeneration was recently extended to the IL-1 family member IL-36y (57, 58). In fact, administration of IL-36 receptor antagonist and thus blockage of IL-36 biological activity during APAP-induced ALI impairs recovery in the late phase of intoxication (58). Interestingly, IL-36 mediating tissue protection likewise applies to intestinal healing (59, 60).

Altogether, current data support the concept that sterile inflammation and accompanied NF- κ B-activating cytokines may promote hepatic repair and regeneration particularly in the later phase of APAP toxicity thereby affecting disease outcome (12). It is tempting to speculate that secondary induction of STAT3-activating cytokines, alike IL-6 (61), by NF- κ B-activating cytokines essentially contributes to the vital process of restoring liver homeostasis in response to APAP.

STAT3 IN HEPATIC REPAIR AND REGENERATION

STAT-3 is a member of the STAT family of transcription factors, which exerts decisive and context-dependent functions in inflammation, tissue survival, and carcinogenesis. Those characteristically include promotion of anti-apoptosis, proliferation, and stress resistance. Efficient activation of STAT3 is achieved under the influence of specific cytokines displaying janus-kinase signaling but also by selected growth factors, among others epidermal and platelet-derived growth factor. Phosporylation at Tyr705 is regarded a hallmark of STAT3 activation that couples to protein dimerization, nuclear translocation, and regulation of gene expression (62-65). In addition, phosphorylation at Ser727 (63, 65) and/or protein acetylation (66) amplify, whereas S-nitrosylation at Cys259 (67) and/or protein sumoylation (68) curb STAT3 activity. As already alluded to, enforcing hepatocyte anti-apoptosis and proliferation is key to liver protection by STAT3. Those functions are achieved by upregulation of gene products pivotally involved in cell fate decisions, among others, B-cell lymphoma-extra large (bclxL), myeloid cell leukemia-1 (mcl1), or survivin mediating anti-apoptosis as well as c-myc (myc), cyclin B1/D1 (ccnb1/ccnd1), or cyclin-dependent kinase-2 (*cdc2*) mediating proliferation (62, 63).

The albumin-promoter was used to generate hepatocytespecific conditional STAT3 knockout mice in order to address the role of STAT3 in this cell type. Experiments revealed that hepatocyte STAT3 is, to a substantial part, accountable for hepatocyte proliferation and liver regeneration after murine partial hepatectomy. Notably, hepatocyte c-myc expression is aberrant and its inducibility retarded in aforementioned conditional STAT3deficient mice undergoing this procedure (69). In a study using a similar approach, hepatocyte STAT3 was functionless regarding parameters of liver injury evaluated in early APAP-induced ALI. However, analysis in that study was performed only 6 h after APAP administration and, thus, in the initial phase of intoxication (70) - leaving open the question of STAT3 functions during the later repair/regeneration phase. Notably, increased STAT3 activation in murine liver is still detectable 24 h after APAP application (71); the same holds true for expression of STAT3activating IL-6 (72, 73).

TISSUE PROTECTION BY STAT3-ACTIVATING CYTOKINES AS DETECTED IN APAP-INDUCED ALI: IL-6, IL-11, IL-13, AND IL-22 – AND IL-10

Whereas the role of NF- κ B-activating cytokines in APAPinduced ALI appears complex and bewildering, STAT3-activating cytokines capable of directly targeting hepatocytes must be regarded as major drivers of liver regeneration. Those include IL-6, IL-11, IL-13, and IL-22.

Interleukin-6 is the flagship of a family of cytokines operating through transmembrane gp130 as signal transducing unit thereby coupling to activation of STAT transcription factors, in case of IL-6 foremost STAT3 (61). This also applies to its cytokine sibling IL-11 (74). Both, IL-6 and IL-11, are upregulated during initial hepatocyte injury and stay elevated, along with activated STAT3 (71), in the repair/regeneration phase at 24 h after APAP administration to mice (72, 73). In fact, protection by endogenous IL-6 was observed early on. Particularly in time-wise advanced disease 24 h (73) or 48 h (75) after APAP administration, IL-6-deficient mice endure aggravated toxicity associated with low production of hepatocyte-associated proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) and weakened liver macrophage inflammatory protein-2 (MIP-2) expression (75). Both, PCNA and MIP-2 (76), are key parameters of hepatocyte proliferation under the influence of APAP. Those observations suggest impaired recovery upon lack of IL-6. As expected, treatment of IL-6 deficient mice with recombinant IL-6 attenuated retardation of repair and regeneration (75). It is noteworthy that hepatocytes are among the few non-leukocytic cell types expressing functional IL-6 receptors and, thus, allow classical IL-6 signaling. Despite this fact, recent data indicate that trans-signaling by soluble IL-6R/IL-6 complexes (61, 77) is essential for the function of this cytokine during APAP-induced ALI (78). In fact, specific blockage of IL-6 trans-signaling by sgp130Fc (77) substantially exacerbated disease (78); whereas pretreatment of mice with hyper-IL-6 (77), a recombinant agent specifically activating trans-signaling, ameliorated APAP toxicity - albeit to a more moderate degree (78).

Interleukin-11 is a further STAT3-activating member of the IL-6 family directly targeting hepatocytes (74, 79) and, in stark contrast to IL-6, is efficiently expressed by inflamed/stressed hepatocytes under the influence of APAP (71). Autocrine or paracrine action may, thus, ensure high local IL-11 bioactivity that likely feeds back on the course of APAP-induced ALI. Notably, early data already revealed amelioration of murine APAP-toxicity by recombinant human IL-11 (80). This observation has been corroborated recently. A super-active modification of human IL-11 indeed enhanced protective hepatocyte compensatory proliferation in diseased mice. In female IL-11 receptor-deficient mice (IL11Ra^{-/-}) aggravated toxicity and diminished hepatocyte proliferation indicate a significant role for endogenous IL-11 during APAP-induced ALI. Interestingly, this observation does not apply to male *IL11Ra^{-/-}* mice that actually display compensatory augmentation of supposedly protective IL-6 (71). It should be emphasized that female mice, compared to males, generally display reduced sensitivity toward APAP that is connected to an enhanced capability in females to restore hepatocyte mitochondrial glutathione levels (81).

Interleukin-13 is renowned as key Th2 cytokine that, however, is produced by various cell types of foremost leukocytic origin. By binding to its heterodimeric IL-4R α /IL-13R α 1 receptor complex, IL-13 activates STAT3 (along with STAT6) in even more diverse cell types (82), including murine hepatocytes (83). Elevated systemic levels of IL-13 are well-detectable at 4, 12, and 24 h after APAP administration to mice (51, 84). Notably, exacerbated disease connecting to IL-13 blockage by neutralizing antibodies or lack of bioactivity in knockout mice firmly indicates protection by this cytokine during APAP intoxication (51). Activation of hepatocyte STAT3 by IL-13 (83) suggests direct protective action during APAP-induced ALI. However, upregulation of the supposedly detrimental IL-12/IFNy-axis (72) during intoxication in IL-13-deficient mice (51) additionally implicates macrophageaddressing immunomodulatory functions of IL-13 (85). Whether administration of surplus recombinant IL-13 can ameliorate APAP-induced ALI has, to the best of our knowledge, not been investigated.

Interleukin-22 is mainly a lymphocyte-derived member of the IL-10 cytokine family that gained significant attention due to tissue-protective properties largely mediated by STAT3 activation specifically in epithelial (-like) cells, including hepatocytes. Accordingly, IL-22 mediates favorable effects in various preclinical disease models affecting biological barriers at the lung, intestine, and liver. Notably, IL-22 generally does not activate leukocytes (86-88). A single dosage of recombinant IL-22 is actually sufficient to ameliorate APAP toxicity in mice (43, 70). Protection by IL-22 is dependent on STAT3 (70), does not involve modulation of APAP-metabolizing cytochrome P450 enzymes but is associated with increased compensatory hepatocyte proliferation (43). The role of endogenous IL-22 during APAP-induced ALI has, to the best of our knowledge, not been investigated. Recently, a functionally relevant aspect of IL-22 biology attracted attention. A potent synergism between the IFN signaling system and IL-22 concerning activation of STAT1 was identified in human colon carcinoma cells, HepG2 hepatoma cells, and primary keratinocytes on a biochemical level

(89). In contrast to STAT3, STAT1 (e.g., activated by IFN γ) promotes cell death, inhibits proliferation, is generally considered pro-inflammatory (90), and pathogenic in APAP-induced ALI (72). This regulatory path has recently been extended to murine *in vivo* pathology during viral infection (91) or graft-versus-host disease (92) and may affect the function of IL-22 not only under conditions of overt IFN production but likewise in the context of typ I IFN immunotherapy (90).

Interleukin-10 is a mainly leukocyte-derived protein that drops out of the list of aforementioned STAT3-activating cytokines because it is supposed to act foremost on leukocytic cells. IL-10 serves as principal deactivator of T cells and in particular of mononuclear phagocytes thereby modulating in STAT3-dependent manner inflammatory processes (93, 94) and holding in check potentially poisonous mediators, among others inducible nitric oxide (NO) synthase (95) -derived NO (84). During APAP intoxication systemic levels and hepatic expression of IL-10 increase. Notably, IL-10 deficient mice display enhanced sensitivity to APAP-induced ALI, which is unrelated to APAP metabolism but detectable on the level of serum ALT, morphologically, and by analysis of mortality rates (84). Since STAT3 can principally drive IL-10 expression (93, 96, 97), this regulatory path may possibly contribute to tissue protection by STAT3-activating cytokines, such as IL-6. However, the therapeutic potential of surplus exogenously applied IL-10 in APAP-induced ALI seems limited as administration of the recombinant cytokine failed to protect diseased mice (50).

Although this review focuses on cytokines efficiently targeting hepatocytes, it is important to note that modulation of murine APAP-induced ALI by endogenous IL-10 (and IL-13) unequivocally indicate a pivotal function of STAT3 also in myeloid cells (monocytes/macrophages/Kupffer cells) for determining course and outcome of APAP intoxication. Besides addressing STAT3 in hepatocytes, hepatic myeloid STAT3, thus, certainly is a further promising target for development of therapeutic strategies aiming at APAP-induced ALI.

TRANSLATIONAL/THERAPEUTIC IMPLICATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

Administering hepatocyte STAT3-activating cytokines emerges from preclinical studies as encouraging pharmacological strategy that aims at hard-to-treat patients with APAP-induced ALI. Moreover, APAP intoxication may serve as paradigm for a whole group of injury-driven acute inflammatory liver diseases independent on the nature of the initiating insult (54). To translate preclinical knowledge to clinical application is, however, in some cases advantaged in others complicated by specific properties ascribed to aforementioned cytokines.

Although IL-6 displays significant tissue-protective characteristics, administration of the recombinant cytokine to patients is hampered by its pro-inflammatory effects especially on lymphocyte biology (61). Specifically, IL-6 promotes human IL-17 production and associated Th17 differentiation (98). Notably, IL-17 is pathogenic in murine APAP-induced ALI (19). As IL-6-induced Th17 associates with compromised Treg functions (99–101) and, if applicable, pathological antibody production (102), current knowledge supports serious concerns that administration of IL-6 to patients may initiate or enhance autoimmune inflammation.

Mice undergoing APAP toxicity did not benefit from exogenously provided IL-10 (50), which may likewise apply to human intoxication. As chief deactivator of leukocytes (93, 94), recombinant IL-10 should actually interfere with desired production of potentially pro-regenerative factors. In fact, this has been demonstrated for IL-6 and TNF α production by human Kupffer cells under the influence of active TLR4 signaling (103).

Interleukin-11 and IL-22 are functionally related cytokines that efficiently activate hepatocyte STAT3 signaling and associated downstream gene expression. Both have been described to mediate tissue protection at host/environment interfaces, in particular at the digestive tract. For example, IL-11 (104, 105) and IL-22 (106, 107) display protective properties in Citrobacter rodentium-driven infectious as well as in trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid chemically induced experimental colitis. Accordingly, use of both cytokines is discussed, albeit with caution, for the treatment of inflammatory bowel diseases (108). Aforementioned liver protective properties of IL-11 and IL-22 are not restricted to APAP intoxication. Among others, experimental hepatic disorders mediated by reperfusion injury (109, 110) or administration of either carbon tetrachloride (111, 112) or concanavalin A (112, 113) likewise exposed beneficial effects of both cytokines. Although the role of IL-11 and IL-22 in liver repair/regeneration should primarily be mediated by STAT3, it must be stressed that activation of MAPK- and PI3K/Akt-pathways may support IL-11/IL-22 action in this context (74, 86, 114). The feasibility of recombinant IL-11 therapy for the treatment of ALI is emphasized by its relatively favorable compatibility in clinical trials (115). In fact, recombinant IL-11 has been approved for the treatment of severe thrombocytopenia by the US Food and Drug Administration (79). At dosages showing biological activity, F-652 [Generon (Shanghai) Corporation Ltd.], an IL-22-like biopharmaceutical agent consisting of a human IL-22-Fc-fusion protein (116), is likewise reported to have a good safety profile as determined in a phase I study in healthy volunteers (http:// www.businesswire.com/news/home/20151123005647/en/ Generon-Collaborating-Mayo-Clinic-Initiate-Phase-IIa).

Pharmacotherapy of APAP-induced ALI must obviously be successful when initiated hours after ingestion. Whereas most studies assessed prophylactic treatment, therapeutic application has been investigated in a translational setting for IL-22. Specifically, when administered 2 h after APAP together with suboptimal N-acetylcysteine dosing, recombinant IL-22

REFERENCES

- Bernal W, Auzinger G, Dhawan A, Wendon J. Acute liver failure. Lancet (2010) 376(9736):190–201. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60274-7
- Lee WM. Acetaminophen and the U.S. Acute Liver Failure Study Group: lowering the risks of hepatic failure. *Hepatology* (2004) 40(1):6–9. doi:10.1002/ hep.20293
- Brune K, Renner B, Tiegs G. Acetaminophen/paracetamol: a history of errors, failures and false decisions. Eur J Pain (2015) 19(7):953–65. doi:10.1002/ejp.621



improved murine intoxication (43). Notably, IL-22 application 2 h post-APAP is after the drop of cellular glutathione as well as the onset of APAP-adduct formation and liver necrosis (43, 117). More studies on treatment timing, however, are needed before experimental models can be translated to clinical intoxication.

Altogether, APAP-induced ALI is a complex disorder determined by the extent of initial hepatotoxicity, by the nature of adjacent sterile inflammation, and by the actual regenerative potential of the liver at the time of injury (**Figure 1**). Preclinical data suggest that providing recombinant STAT3-activating cytokines directly targeting hepatocytes, especially IL-11 and IL-22, may evolve as additional novel pro-regenerative therapeutic option in hard-to-treat patients where standard therapy with N-acetylcysteine alone falls short. Notably, the benefit of focused short-term application of IL-11 or IL-22 in acute disorders, such as APAP-induced ALI, should likely outweigh the inherent danger of these cytokines to promote in the long run tumor growth (74, 86, 118), which has been detected for IL-22 and hepatocellular carcinoma patients (118–120).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

The work of the author is supported by a grant from the DFG (MU 1284/6-1).

- Budnitz DS, Lovegrove MC, Crosby AE. Emergency department visits for overdoses of acetaminophen-containing products. *Am J Prev Med* (2011) 40(6):585–92. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2011.02.026
- Gulmez SE, Larrey D, Pageaux GP, Bernuau J, Bissoli F, Horsmans Y, et al. Liver transplant associated with paracetamol overdose: results from the seven-country SALT study. Br J Clin Pharmacol (2015) 80(3):599–606. doi:10.1111/bcp.12635
- Rotthauwe J. Wirksamkeit und Risiken von Paracetamol. Bulletin zur Arzneimittelsicherheit (2012) 3:11–3.

- Bantel H, Schulze-Osthoff K. Mechanisms of cell death in acute liver failure. *Front Physiol* (2012) 3:79. doi:10.3389/fphys.2012.00079
- Jaeschke H, Xie Y, McGill MR. Acetaminophen-induced liver injury: from animal models to humans. *J Clin Transl Hepatol* (2014) 2(3):153–61. doi:10.14218/JCTH.2014.00014
- Kubes P, Mehal WZ. Sterile inflammation in the liver. Gastroenterology (2012) 143(5):1158–72. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.09.008
- 10. Maher JJ. DAMPs ramp up drug toxicity. J Clin Invest (2009) 119(2):246-9.
- Brenner C, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Decoding cell death signals in liver inflammation. *J Hepatol* (2013) 59(3):583–94. doi:10.1016/j. jhep.2013.03.033
- Jaeschke H, Williams CD, Ramachandran A, Bajt ML. Acetaminophen hepatotoxicity and repair: the role of sterile inflammation and innate immunity. *Liver Int* (2012) 32(1):8–20. doi:10.1111/j.1478-3231.2011.02501.x
- Zaher H, Buters JT, Ward JM, Bruno MK, Lucas AM, Stern ST, et al. Protection against acetaminophen toxicity in CYP1A2 and CYP2E1 double-null mice. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* (1998) 152(1):193–9. doi:10.1006/taap.1998.8501
- Hinson JA, Roberts DW, James LP. Mechanisms of acetaminophen-induced liver necrosis. *Handb Exp Pharmacol* (2010) **196**:369–405. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-00663-0_12
- Luedde T, Kaplowitz N, Schwabe RF. Cell death and cell death responses in liver disease: mechanisms and clinical relevance. *Gastroenterology* (2014) 147(4):765.e–83.e. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2014.07.018
- Matzinger P. The danger model: a renewed sense of self. Science (2002) 296(5566):301-5. doi:10.1126/science.1071059
- 17. Vénéreau E, Ceriotti C, Bianchi ME. DAMPs from cell death to new life. *Front Immunol* (2015) **6**:422. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00422
- Huebener P, Pradere JP, Hernandez C, Gwak GY, Caviglia JM, Mu X, et al. The HMGB1/RAGE axis triggers neutrophil-mediated injury amplification following necrosis. J Clin Invest (2015) 125(2):539–50. doi:10.1172/JCI76887
- Wang X, Sun R, Wei H, Tian Z. High-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1)-Tolllike receptor (TLR)4-interleukin (IL)-23-IL-17A axis in drug-induced damage-associated lethal hepatitis: interaction of γδ T cells with macrophages. *Hepatology* (2013) 57(1):373–84. doi:10.1002/hep.25982
- Antoine DJ, Dear JW, Lewis PS, Platt V, Coyle J, Masson M, et al. Mechanistic biomarkers provide early and sensitive detection of acetaminophen-induced acute liver injury at first presentation to hospital. *Hepatology* (2013) 58(2):777–87. doi:10.1002/hep.26294
- Xu J, Zhang X, Monestier M, Esmon NL, Esmon CT. Extracellular histones are mediators of death through TLR2 and TLR4 in mouse fatal liver injury. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(5):2626–31. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003930
- Imaeda AB, Watanabe A, Sohail MA, Mahmood S, Mohamadnejad M, Sutterwala FS, et al. Acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity in mice is dependent on Tlr9 and the Nalp3 inflammasome. *J Clin Invest* (2009) 119(2):305–14. doi:10.1172/JCI35958
- Marques PE, Oliveira AG, Pereira RV, David BA, Gomides LF, Saraiva AM, et al. Hepatic DNA deposition drives drug-induced liver injury and inflammation in mice. *Hepatology* (2015) 61(1):348–60. doi:10.1002/hep.27216
- Cavassani KA, Moreira AP, Habiel D, Ito T, Coelho AL, Allen RM, et al. Toll like receptor 3 plays a critical role in the progression and severity of acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(6):e65899. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0065899
- Hoque R, Farooq A, Malik A, Trawick BN, Berberich DW, McClurg JP, et al. A novel small-molecule enantiomeric analogue of traditional (-)-morphinans has specific TLR9 antagonist properties and reduces sterile inflammation-induced organ damage. *J Immunol* (2013) **190**(8):4297–304. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202184
- Hoque R, Sohail MA, Salhanick S, Malik AF, Ghani A, Robson SC, et al. P2X7 receptor-mediated purinergic signaling promotes liver injury in acetaminophen hepatotoxicity in mice. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* (2012) 302(10):G1171–9. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00352.2011
- Kono H, Chen CJ, Ontiveros F, Rock KL. Uric acid promotes an acute inflammatory response to sterile cell death in mice. *J Clin Invest* (2010) 120(6):1939–49. doi:10.1172/JCI40124
- Kataoka H, Yang K, Rock KL. The xanthine oxidase inhibitor Febuxostat reduces tissue uric acid content and inhibits injury-induced inflammation in the liver and lung. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2015) **746**:174–9. doi:10.1016/j. ejphar.2014.11.013

- Gombault A, Baron L, Couillin I. ATP release and purinergic signaling in NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *Front Immunol* (2013) 3:414. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2012.00414
- Martinon F. Mechanisms of uric acid crystal-mediated autoinflammation. Immunol Rev (2010) 233(1):218–32. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2009.00860.x
- Yohe HC, O'Hara KA, Hunt JA, Kitzmiller TJ, Wood SG, Bement JL, et al. Involvement of Toll-like receptor 4 in acetaminophen hepatotoxicity. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* (2006) **290**(6):G1269–79. doi:10.1152/ ajpgi.00239.2005
- 32. Shah N, Montes de Oca M, Jover-Cobos M, Tanamoto K, Muroi M, Sugiyama K, et al. Role of toll-like receptor 4 in mediating multiorgan dysfunction in mice with acetaminophen induced acute liver failure. *Liver Transpl* (2013) 19(7):751–61. doi:10.1002/lt.23655
- Cai C, Huang H, Whelan S, Liu L, Kautza B, Luciano J, et al. Benzyl alcohol attenuates acetaminophen-induced acute liver injury in a Toll-like receptor-4-dependent pattern in mice. *Hepatology* (2014) 60(3):990–1002. doi:10.1002/hep.27201
- Kataoka H, Kono H, Patel Z, Kimura Y, Rock KL. Evaluation of the contribution of multiple DAMPs and DAMP receptors in cell death-induced sterile inflammatory responses. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(8):e104741. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0104741
- Schnabl B, Brenner DA. Interactions between the intestinal microbiome and liver diseases. *Gastroenterology* (2014) 146(6):1513–24. doi:10.1053/j. gastro.2014.01.020
- Böhm F, Köhler UA, Speicher T, Werner S. Regulation of liver regeneration by growth factors and cytokines. *EMBO Mol Med* (2010) 2(8):294–305. doi:10.1002/emmm.201000085
- Fujiyoshi M, Ozaki M. Molecular mechanisms of liver regeneration and protection for treatment of liver dysfunction and diseases. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci (2011) 18(1):13–22. doi:10.1007/s00534-010-0304-2
- Miyaoka Y, Miyajima A. To divide or not to divide: revisiting liver regeneration. *Cell Div* (2013) 8(1):8. doi:10.1186/1747-1028-8-8
- Bhushan B, Walesky C, Manley M, Gallagher T, Borude P, Edwards G, et al. Pro-regenerative signaling after acetaminophen-induced acute liver injury in mice identified using a novel incremental dose model. *Am J Pathol* (2014) 184(11):3013–25. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.07.019
- Lesna M, Watson AJ, Douglas AP, Hamlyn AN, James OF. Evaluation of paracetamol-induced damage in liver biopsies. Acute changes and follow-up findings. *Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histol* (1976) **370**(4):333–44. doi:10.1007/BF00445778
- Dinarello CA. Proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines as mediators in the pathogenesis of septic shock. *Chest* (1997) 112(6 Suppl):321S–9S. doi:10.1378/chest.112.6_Supplement.321S
- 42. Williams CD, Farhood A, Jaeschke H. Role of caspase-1 and interleukin-1beta in acetaminophen-induced hepatic inflammation and liver injury. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* (2010) **247**(3):169–78. doi:10.1016/j.taap.2010.07.004
- Scheiermann P, Bachmann M, Goren I, Zwissler B, Pfeilschifter J, Mühl H. Application of interleukin-22 mediates protection in experimental acetaminophen-induced acute liver injury. *Am J Pathol* (2013) 182(4):1107–13. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.12.010
- Dragomir AC, Sun R, Choi H, Laskin JD, Laskin DL. Role of galectin-3 in classical and alternative macrophage activation in the liver following acetaminophen intoxication. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(12):5934–41. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1201851
- Henderson NC, Pollock KJ, Frew J, Mackinnon AC, Flavell RA, Davis RJ, et al. Critical role of c-jun (NH2) terminal kinase in paracetamol-induced acute liver failure. *Gut* (2007) 56(7):982–90. doi:10.1136/gut. 2006.104372
- Liu ZX, Govindarajan S, Kaplowitz N. Innate immune system plays a critical role in determining the progression and severity of acetaminophen hepatotoxicity. *Gastroenterology* (2004) 127(6):1760–74. doi:10.1053/j. gastro.2004.08.053
- 47. Gandhi A, Guo T, Ghose R. Role of c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) in regulating tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) mediated increase of acetaminophen (APAP) and chlorpromazine (CPZ) toxicity in murine hepatocytes. *J Toxicol Sci* (2010) **35**(2):163–73. doi:10.2131/jts.35.163
- Blazka ME, Elwell MR, Holladay SD, Wilson RE, Luster MI. Histopathology of acetaminophen-induced liver changes: role of interleukin 1 alpha

and tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Toxicol Pathol* (1996) **24**(2):181–9. doi:10.1177/019262339602400206

- Ishida Y, Kondo T, Tsuneyama K, Lu P, Takayasu T, Mukaida N. The pathogenic roles of tumor necrosis factor receptor p55 in acetaminophen-induced liver injury in mice. *J Leukoc Biol* (2004) 75(1):59–67. doi:10.1189/ jlb.0403152
- Simpson KJ, Lukacs NW, McGregor AH, Harrison DJ, Strieter RM, Kunkel SL. Inhibition of tumour necrosis factor alpha does not prevent experimental paracetamol-induced hepatic necrosis. *J Pathol* (2000) **190**(4):489–94. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9896(200003)190:4<489::AID -PATH534>3.3.CO;2-M
- Yee SB, Bourdi M, Masson MJ, Pohl LR. Hepatoprotective role of endogenous interleukin-13 in a murine model of acetaminophen-induced liver disease. *Chem Res Toxicol* (2007) 20(5):734–44. doi:10.1021/tx600349f
- Chiu H, Gardner CR, Dambach DM, Durham SK, Brittingham JA, Laskin JD, et al. Role of tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 (p55) in hepatocyte proliferation during acetaminophen-induced toxicity in mice. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* (2003) 193(2):218–27. doi:10.1016/j.taap.2003.07.003
- James LP, Kurten RC, Lamps LW, McCullough S, Hinson JA. Tumour necrosis factor receptor 1 and hepatocyte regeneration in acetaminophen toxicity: a kinetic study of proliferating cell nuclear antigen and cytokine expression. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol* (2005) **97**(1):8–14. doi:10.111 1/j.1742-7843.2005.pto_97102.x
- Wang H, Lafdil F, Kong X, Gao B. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 in liver diseases: a novel therapeutic target. *Int J Biol Sci* (2011) 7(5):536–50. doi:10.7150/ijbs.7.536
- Chen CJ, Kono H, Golenbock D, Reed G, Akira S, Rock KL. Identification of a key pathway required for the sterile inflammatory response triggered by dying cells. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(7):851–6. doi:10.1038/nm1603
- Ishibe T, Kimura A, Ishida Y, Takayasu T, Hayashi T, Tsuneyama K, et al. Reduced acetaminophen-induced liver injury in mice by genetic disruption of IL-1 receptor antagonist. *Lab Invest* (2009) 89(1):68–79. doi:10.1038/ labinvest.2008.110
- Gabay C, Towne JE. Regulation and function of interleukin-36 cytokines in homeostasis and pathological conditions. *J Leukoc Biol* (2015) 97(4):645–52. doi:10.1189/jlb.3RI1014-495R
- Scheiermann P, Bachmann M, Härdle L, Pleli T, Piiper A, Zwissler B, et al. Application of IL-36 receptor antagonist weakens CCL20 expression and impairs recovery in the late phase of murine acetaminophen-induced liver injury. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:8521. doi:10.1038/srep08521
- Medina-Contreras O, Harusato A, Nishio H, Flannigan KL, Ngo V, Leoni G, et al. Cutting edge: IL-36 receptor promotes resolution of intestinal damage. *J Immunol* (2016) **196**(1):34–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1501312
- Scheibe K, Backert I, Wirtz S, Hueber A, Schett G, Vieth M, et al. IL-36R signalling activates intestinal epithelial cells and fibroblasts and promotes mucosal healing in vivo. *Gut* (2016). doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2015-310374
- Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Kishimoto T. IL-6 in inflammation, immunity, and disease. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2014) 6(10):a016295. doi:10.1101/ cshperspect.a016295
- 62. Yu H, Jove R. The STATs of cancer new molecular targets come of age. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2004) 4(2):97–105. doi:10.1038/nrc1275
- Jarnicki A, Putoczki T, Ernst M. Stat3: linking inflammation to epithelial cancer – more than a "gut" feeling? *Cell Div* (2010) 5:14. doi:10.1186/1747-1028-5-14
- Qi QR, Yang ZM. Regulation and function of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3. World J Biol Chem (2014) 5(2):231–9. doi:10.4331/wjbc. v5.i2.231
- Rébé C, Végran F, Berger H, Ghiringhelli F. STAT3 activation: a key factor in tumor immunoescape. JAKSTAT (2013) 2(1):e23010. doi:10.4161/jkst.23010
- Zhuang S. Regulation of STAT signaling by acetylation. *Cell Signal* (2013) 25(9):1924–31. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2013.05.007
- Kim J, Won JS, Singh AK, Sharma AK, Singh I. STAT3 regulation by S-nitrosylation: implication for inflammatory disease. *Antioxid Redox Signal* (2014) 20(16):2514–27. doi:10.1089/ars.2013.5223
- Droescher M, Begitt A, Marg A, Zacharias M, Vinkemeier U. Cytokineinduced paracrystals prolong the activity of signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT) and provide a model for the regulation of protein solubility by small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO). *J Biol Chem* (2011) 286(21):18731–46. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.235978

- Li W, Liang X, Kellendonk C, Poli V, Taub R. STAT3 contributes to the mitogenic response of hepatocytes during liver regeneration. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277(32):28411–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.M202807200
- Feng D, Wang Y, Wang H, Weng H, Kong X, Martin-Murphy BV, et al. Acute and chronic effects of IL-22 on acetaminophen-induced liver injury. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(5):2512–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400588
- Nishina T, Komazawa-Sakon S, Yanaka S, Piao X, Zheng DM, Piao JH, et al. Interleukin-11 links oxidative stress and compensatory proliferation. *Sci Signal* (2012) 5(207):ra5. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2002056
- Ishida Y, Kondo T, Ohshima T, Fujiwara H, Iwakura Y, Mukaida N. A pivotal involvement of IFN-gamma in the pathogenesis of acetaminophen-induced acute liver injury. *FASEB J* (2002) 16(10):1227–36. doi:10.1096/fj.02-0046com
- Masubuchi Y, Bourdi M, Reilly TP, Graf ML, George JW, Pohl LR. Role of interleukin-6 in hepatic heat shock protein expression and protection against acetaminophen-induced liver disease. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2003) 304(1):207–12. doi:10.1016/S0006-291X(03)00572-2
- Ernst M, Putoczki TL. Molecular pathways: IL11 as a tumor-promoting cytokine-translational implications for cancers. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 20(22):5579–88. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-2492
- James LP, Lamps LW, McCullough S, Hinson JA. Interleukin 6 and hepatocyte regeneration in acetaminophen toxicity in the mouse. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2003) 309(4):857–63. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2003.08.085
- Hogaboam CM, Bone-Larson CL, Steinhauser ML, Lukacs NW, Colletti LM, Simpson KJ, et al. Novel CXCR2-dependent liver regenerative qualities of ELR-containing CXC chemokines. *FASEB J* (1999) 13(12):1565–74.
- Drucker C, Gewiese J, Malchow S, Scheller J, Rose-John S. Impact of interleukin-6 classic- and trans-signaling on liver damage and regeneration. *J Autoimmun* (2010) 34(1):29–37. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2009.08.003
- Li SQ, Zhu S, Han HM, Lu HJ, Meng HY. IL-6 trans-signaling plays important protective roles in acute liver injury induced by acetaminophen in mice. *J Biochem Mol Toxicol* (2015) 29(6):288–97. doi:10.1002/jbt.21708
- Garbers C, Scheller J. Interleukin-6 and interleukin-11: same same but different. Biol Chem (2013) 394(9):1145–61. doi:10.1515/hsz-2013-0166
- Trepicchio WL, Bozza M, Bouchard P, Dorner AJ. Protective effect of rhIL-11 in a murine model of acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity. *Toxicol Pathol* (2001) 29(2):242–9. doi:10.1080/019262301317052521
- Du K, Williams CD, McGill MR, Jaeschke H. Lower susceptibility of female mice to acetaminophen hepatotoxicity: role of mitochondrial glutathione, oxidant stress and c-jun N-terminal kinase. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* (2014) 281(1):58–66. doi:10.1016/j.taap.2014.09.002
- May RD, Fung M. Strategies targeting the IL-4/IL-13 axes in disease. *Cytokine* (2015) 75(1):89–116. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2015.05.018
- Stanya KJ, Jacobi D, Liu S, Bhargava P, Dai L, Gangl MR, et al. Direct control of hepatic glucose production by interleukin-13 in mice. *J Clin Invest* (2013) 123(1):261–71. doi:10.1172/JCI64941
- Bourdi M, Masubuchi Y, Reilly TP, Amouzadeh HR, Martin JL, George JW, et al. Protection against acetaminophen-induced liver injury and lethality by interleukin 10: role of inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Hepatology* (2002) 35(2):289–98. doi:10.1053/jhep.2002.30956
- Doherty TM, Kastelein R, Menon S, Andrade S, Coffman RL. Modulation of murine macrophage function by IL-13. J Immunol (1993) 151(12):7151–60.
- Mühl H, Scheiermann P, Bachmann M, Härdle L, Heinrichs A, Pfeilschifter J. IL-22 in tissue-protective therapy. *Br J Pharmacol* (2013) 169(4):761–71. doi:10.1111/bph.12196
- Sabat R, Ouyang W, Wolk K. Therapeutic opportunities of the IL-22-IL-22R1 system. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2014) 13(1):21–38. doi:10.1038/nrd4176
- Dudakov JA, Hanash AM, van den Brink MR. Interleukin-22: immunobiology and pathology. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2015) 33:747–85. doi:10.1146/ annurev-immunol-032414-112123
- Bachmann M, Ulziibat S, Härdle L, Pfeilschifter J, Mühl H. IFNα converts IL-22 into a cytokine efficiently activating STAT1 and its downstream targets. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2013) 85(3):396–403. doi:10.1016/j. bcp.2012.11.004
- Mühl H. Pro-inflammatory signaling by IL-10 and IL-22: bad habit stirred up by interferons? *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:18. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00018
- Hernández PP, Mahlakõiv T, Yang I, Schwierzeck V, Nguyen N, Guendel F, et al. Interferon-λ and interleukin 22 act synergistically for the induction of interferon-stimulated genes and control of rotavirus infection. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(7):698–707. doi:10.1038/ni.3180

- 92. Lamarthée B, Malard F, Gamonet C, Bossard C, Couturier M, Renauld JC, et al. Donor interleukin-22 and host type I interferon signaling pathway participate in intestinal graft-versus-host disease via STAT1 activation and CXCL10. *Mucosal Immunol* (2016) 9(2):309–21. doi:10.1038/mi.2015.61
- Ouyang W, Rutz S, Crellin NK, Valdez PA, Hymowitz SG. Regulation and functions of the IL-10 family of cytokines in inflammation and disease. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2011) 29:71–109. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101312
- Mocellin S, Marincola F, Rossi CR, Nitti D, Lise M. The multifaceted relationship between IL-10 and adaptive immunity: putting together the pieces of a puzzle. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2004) 15(1):61–76. doi:10.1016/j. cytogfr.2003.11.001
- Mühl H, Bachmann M, Pfeilschifter J. Inducible NO synthase and antibacterial host defence in times of Th17/Th22/T22 immunity. *Cell Microbiol* (2011) 13(3):340–8. doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2010.01559.x
- Stumhofer JS, Silver JS, Laurence A, Porrett PM, Harris TH, Turka LA, et al. Interleukins 27 and 6 induce STAT3-mediated T cell production of interleukin 10. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(12):1363–71. doi:10.1038/ni1537
- 97. Kinjyo I, Inoue H, Hamano S, Fukuyama S, Yoshimura T, Koga K, et al. Loss of SOCS3 in T helper cells resulted in reduced immune responses and hyperproduction of interleukin 10 and transforming growth factor-beta 1. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(4):1021–31. doi:10.1084/jem.20052333
- Acosta-Rodriguez EV, Napolitani G, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F. Interleukins 1beta and 6 but not transforming growth factor-beta are essential for the differentiation of interleukin 17-producing human T helper cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(9):942–9. doi:10.1038/ni1496
- Goodman WA, Levine AD, Massari JV, Sugiyama H, McCormick TS, Cooper KD. IL-6 signaling in psoriasis prevents immune suppression by regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(5):3170–6. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0803721
- 100. Samson M, Audia S, Janikashvili N, Ciudad M, Trad M, Fraszczak J, et al. Brief report: inhibition of interleukin-6 function corrects Th17/Treg cell imbalance in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2012) 64(8):2499–503. doi:10.1002/art.34477
- 101. Kimura A, Kishimoto T. IL-6: regulator of Treg/Th17 balance. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(7):1830–5. doi:10.1002/eji.201040391
- Nishimoto N, Kishimoto T. Interleukin 6: from bench to bedside. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol (2006) 2(11):619–26. doi:10.1038/ncprheum0372
- Knolle P, Schlaak J, Uhrig A, Kempf P, Meyer zum Büschenfelde KH, Gerken G. Human Kupffer cells secrete IL-10 in response to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) challenge. J Hepatol (1995) 22(2):226–9. doi:10.1016/0168-8278(95)80433-1
- 104. Gibson DL, Montero M, Ropeleski MJ, Bergstrom KS, Ma C, Ghosh S, et al. Interleukin-11 reduces TLR4-induced colitis in TLR2-deficient mice and restores intestinal STAT3 signaling. *Gastroenterology* (2010) 139(4):1277–88. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2010.06.057
- 105. Qiu BS, Pfeiffer CJ, Keith JC Jr. Protection by recombinant human interleukin-11 against experimental TNB-induced colitis in rats. *Dig Dis Sci* (1996) 41(8):1625–30. doi:10.1007/BF02087911
- 106. Zheng Y, Valdez PA, Danilenko DM, Hu Y, Sa SM, Gong Q, et al. Interleukin-22 mediates early host defense against attaching and effacing bacterial pathogens. *Nat Med* (2008) 14(3):282–9. doi:10.1038/nm1720
- 107. Monteleone I, Rizzo A, Sarra M, Sica G, Sileri P, Biancone L, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-induced signals up-regulate IL-22 production and inhibit inflammation in the gastrointestinal tract. *Gastroenterology* (2011) 141(1):237–48.e1. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2011.04.007

- Nguyen PM, Putoczki TL, Ernst M. STAT3-activating cytokines: a therapeutic opportunity for inflammatory bowel disease? J Interferon Cytokine Res (2015) 35(5):340–50. doi:10.1089/jir.2014.0225
- 109. Zhu M, Lu B, Cao Q, Wu Z, Xu Z, Li W, et al. IL-11 attenuates liver ischemia/ reperfusion injury (IRI) through STAT3 Signaling Pathway in Mice. PLoS One (2015) 10(5):e0126296. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0126296
- Chestovich PJ, Uchida Y, Chang W, Ajalat M, Lassman C, Sabat R, et al. Interleukin-22: implications for liver ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Transplantation* (2012) 93(5):485–92. doi:10.1097/TP.0b013e3182449136
- 111. Kuhara T, Tanaka A, Yamauchi K, Iwatsuki K. Bovine lactoferrin ingestion protects against inflammation via IL-11 induction in the small intestine of mice with hepatitis. Br J Nutr (2014) 111(10):1801–10. doi:10.1017/ S0007114513004315
- 112. Radaeva S, Sun R, Pan HN, Hong F, Gao B. Interleukin 22 (IL-22) plays a protective role in T cell-mediated murine hepatitis: IL-22 is a survival factor for hepatocytes via STAT3 activation. *Hepatology* (2004) **39**(5):1332–42. doi:10.1002/hep.20184
- 113. Bozza M, Bliss JL, Maylor R, Erickson J, Donnelly L, Bouchard P, et al. Interleukin-11 reduces T-cell-dependent experimental liver injury in mice. *Hepatology* (1999) **30**(6):1441–7. doi:10.1002/hep.510300616
- 114. Brand S, Dambacher J, Beigel F, Zitzmann K, Heeg MH, Weiss TS, et al. IL-22-mediated liver cell regeneration is abrogated by SOCS-1/3 overexpression in vitro. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol (2007) 292(4):G1019–28. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00239.2006
- 115. Gordon MS, McCaskill-Stevens WJ, Battiato LA, Loewy J, Loesch D, Breeden E, et al. A phase I trial of recombinant human interleukin-11 (neumega rhIL-11 growth factor) in women with breast cancer receiving chemotherapy. *Blood* (1996) 87(9):3615–24.
- Lindemans CA, Calafiore M, Mertelsmann AM, O'Connor MH, Dudakov JA, Jenq RR, et al. Interleukin-22 promotes intestinal-stem-cell-mediated epithelial regeneration. *Nature* (2015) 528(7583):560–4. doi:10.1038/nature16460
- 117. Roberts DW, Bucci TJ, Benson RW, Warbritton AR, McRae TA, Pumford NR, et al. Immunohistochemical localization and quantification of the 3-(cystein-S-yl)-acetaminophen protein adduct in acetaminophen hepatotoxicity. *Am J Pathol* (1991) **138**(2):359–71.
- 118. Lim C, Savan R. The role of the IL-22/IL-22R1 axis in cancer. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2014) **25**(3):257–71. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2014.04.005
- Jiang R, Tan Z, Deng L, Chen Y, Xia Y, Gao Y, et al. Interleukin-22 promotes human hepatocellular carcinoma by activation of STAT3. *Hepatology* (2011) 54(3):900–9. doi:10.1002/hep.24486
- 120. Waidmann O, Kronenberger B, Scheiermann P, Köberle V, Mühl H, Piiper A. Interleukin-22 serum levels are a negative prognostic indicator in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology* (2014) **59**(3):1207. doi:10.1002/ hep.26528

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Mühl. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Potential of PEGylated Toll-Like Receptor 7 Ligands for Controlling Inflammation and Functional Changes in Mouse Models of Asthma and Silicosis

Tatiana Paula Teixeira Ferreira¹, Lívia Lacerda Mariano¹, Roberta Ghilosso-Bortolini¹, Ana Carolina Santos de Arantes¹, Andrey Junior Fernandes¹, Michelle Berni², Valentina Cecchinato², Mariagrazia Uguccioni², Roberto Maj³, Alcide Barberis³, Patricia Machado Rodrigues e Silva¹ and Marco Aurélio Martins^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Olivier Garraud, Institut National de la Transfusion Sanguine, France

Reviewed by:

John P. Vasilakos, 3M Company, USA Rakesh K. Kumar, University of New South Wales, Australia

*Correspondence:

Marco Aurélio Martins mmartins@ioc.fiocruz.br

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 28 January 2016 Accepted: 26 February 2016 Published: 11 March 2016

Citation:

Ferreira TPT, Mariano LL, Ghilosso-Bortolini R, Arantes ACS, Fernandes AJ, Berni M, Cecchinato V, Uguccioni M, Maj R, Barberis A, Silva PMR and Martins MA (2016) Potential of PEGylated Toll-Like Receptor 7 Ligands for Controlling Inflammation and Functional Changes in Mouse Models of Asthma and Silicosis. Front. Immunol. 7:95. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00095 ¹Laboratory of Inflammation, Oswaldo Cruz Institute, FIOCRUZ, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, ²Institute for Research in Biomedicine, Universitá della Svizzera Italiana, Bellinzona, Switzerland, ³Telormedix SA, Bioggio, Switzerland

Prior investigations show that signaling activation through pattern recognition receptors can directly impact a number of inflammatory lung diseases. While toll-like receptor (TLR) 7 agonists have raised interest for their ability to inhibit allergen-induced pathological changes in experimental asthma conditions, the putative benefit of this treatment is limited by adverse effects. Our aim was to evaluate the therapeutic potential of two PEGylated purine-like compounds, TMX-302 and TMX-306, characterized by TLR7 partial agonistic activity; therefore, the compounds are expected to induce lower local and systemic adverse reactions. In vitro approaches and translation to murine models of obstructive and restrictive lung diseases were explored. In vitro studies with human PBMCs showed that both TMX-302 and TMX-306 marginally affects cytokine production as compared with equivalent concentrations of the TLR7 full agonist, TMX-202. The PEGylated compounds did not induce monocyte-derived DC maturation or B cell proliferation, differently from what observed after stimulation with TMX-202. Impact of PEGylated ligands on lung function and inflammatory changes was studied in animal models of acute lung injury, asthma, and silicosis following Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), allergen (ovalbumin), and silica inhalation, respectively. Subcutaneous injection of TMX-302 prevented LPSand allergen-induced airway hyper-reactivity (AHR), leukocyte infiltration, and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the lung. However, intranasal instillation of TMX-302 led to neutrophil infiltration and failed to prevent allergen-induced AHR, despite inhibiting leukocyte counts in the BAL. Aerosolized TMX-306 given prophylactically, but not therapeutically, inhibited pivotal asthma features. Interventional treatment with intranasal instillation of TMX-306 significantly reduced the pulmonary fibrogranulomatous response and the number of silica particles in lung interstitial space in silicotic mice. These findings highlight the potential of TMX-306, emphasizing its value in drug development for lung diseases, and particularly silicosis.

Keywords: TLR7, PEGylated ligands, asthma, ALI, silicosis

INTRODUCTION

Inhalation of environmental airborne substances in the form of aeroallergens and particulate matter can result in allergic respiratory dysfunctions and pneumoconiosis, such as asthma and silicosis, respectively (1–4). Moreover, air pollutants may impact on allergic airway-related morbidity and mortality (5, 6). While asthma is among those diseases with an obstructive pulmonary function pattern (7), silicosis is pathologically characterized as a fibrogranulomatous disease with a restrictive pulmonary function profile (8). Both asthma and silicosis are highly prevalent worldwide, cause elevated socioeconomic costs, and can be fatal (3). Steroidal anti-inflammatory agent combined to bronchodilators is the best way of controlling asthma currently, but glucocorticoid resistance and adverse effects limit the efficacy of this treatment (2). The situation is even more alarming in case of silicosis, since no proper therapy is available (9).

Pulmonary inflammation is central in these diseases. In asthma, inflammation is driven by the adaptive arm of host immunity and reflects an aberrant immune response specifically against otherwise harmless environmental factors in genetically predisposed individuals (2). Yet, the basis of the inflammatory response mounted following exposure to occupational air pollutants, such as crystalline silica particles, remains poorly understood (9). What is well established for both diseases, however, is the crucial role displayed by the airway wall as an immune-privileged innate barrier in which interdigitated dendritic cells (DCs), with the help of macrophages and epithelial cells, sense and respond to antigens, pollutant particles, and infectious microorganisms that traffic into the lung (10, 11). Upon intrusion, pathogens are recognized by pattern recognition receptors, and among them scavenger receptors (12-14) and Toll-like receptors (TLRs) play a pivotal role (15-18).

Toll-like receptors are located on the plasma membrane (TLR1, 2, 4, 5, 6, and 10) and endosomal/lisosomal vesicles (TLR3, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, and 13) of immune cells (17). In humans, TLR1–10 are expressed by DCs, monocytes, macrophages, T cells, and B cells, and play important roles in their task of sensing and responding to "danger signals" presented by pathogens (19). All TLRs signal through the myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MyD88) adapter, with the exception of TLR3 that depends on TIR domain-containing adaptor inducing IFN β (TRIF) (20–22). No detectable signaling occurs through TLRs in the absence of MyD88 and TRIF (20, 21). Within the airways, activation of TLR7 decreases adaptive response in a mechanism associated with upregulation of type 1 interferon (15, 16, 23). Moreover, TLR7 rapidly relaxes human airways (24).

Several synthetic small TLR7 agonists have been studied for their potential use to treat asthma (25, 26), but with limited benefits because of local and systemic inflammatory reactions (27–29). More recent investigations indicate that the conjugation of TLR7 ligands with a 6-unit oligo-ethylene glycol (PEG) moiety showed potential to inhibit the course of inflammatory diseases, such as diabetes, with retained TLR7 specificity and attenuated non-specific inflammation (30, 31). We hypothesize that PEGylated TLR7 partial agonists have potential to control not only allergic inflammatory lung diseases but also pneumoconiosis, with minimized adverse side effects. Hence, this study was undertaken in order to assess the impact of treatment with two PEGylated purine-like compounds, TMX-302 and TMX-306, upon pulmonary inflammation and function changes triggered by Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), allergen, or silica particles in mice. TMX-302 was previously planned by linking a specific TLR7 ligand, 9-benzyl-8-hydroxy-2-(2-methoxyethoxy) adenine (1V136), to a six-unit polyethylene glycol (PEG) (30), whereas, TMX-306 resulted from a molecular simplification of TMX-302.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Reagents

The PEGylated TLR7 ligands TMX-302 [3-(1-(1-(4-((6-amino-8-hydroxy-2-(2-methoxyethoxy)-9H-purin-9-yl)methyl)phenyl)-1-oxo-5,8,11,14,17,20-hexaoxa-2-azadocosan-22-yl)-1H-1,2,3-triazol-4-yl) propanoic acid] (MW = 791) and TMX-306 [1-(4-((6-amino-2-(2-methoxyethoxy)-8-oxo-7H-purin-9(8H)-yl)methyl)phenyl)-1-oxo-5,8,11,14,17,20-hexaoxa-2-azatricosan-23-oic acid] (MW = 695), as well as the reference compound TMX-202 <math>[2-(4-((6-Amino-2-(2-methoxyethoxy)-8-oxo-7H-purin-9(8H)-yl)methyl) benzamido) ethyl 2,3-Bis (dodecanoyloxy) proyl phosphate] (MW = 920) were provided by Telormedix (Bioggio, CH). LPS (strain*Escherichia coli*O127:B8), ovalbumin (OVA) (grade V), and crystalline silica particles were purchased from Sigma Chemical, St. Louis, MO, USA. All the others were obtained as further indicated.

Animals

Male A/J and Swiss Webster mice (18–20 g) were obtained from the Oswaldo Cruz Foundation breeding colony and housed in standard laboratory cages at 22–25°C, on a 12 h light/dark cycle, and fed with food and water *ad libitum*. All the protocols involving animal care and use were approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the Oswaldo Cruz Institute (License L-030/2015). C57BL/6 mice, purchased from Harlan (Italy), were maintained in the animal facility of the Institute for Research in Biomedicine, and all procedures were approved by the veterinarian authorities from the local committee (Comitato Etico Cantonale del Ticino, Switzerland) with the authorization number TI17/2010.

Human Cell Isolation and Stimulation

Human PBMCs were isolated from buffy-coats (Central Laboratory of the Swiss Red Cross, Basel, Switzerland) using Ficoll-hypaque density centrifugation. Monocytes were isolated from PBMCs using CD14-magnetic beads (Miltenyi Biotec) and monocyte-derived dendritic cells (mo-DCs) generated *in vitro*, as previously described (32). Briefly, CD14⁺ cells were cultured for 4 days in complete medium supplemented with GM-CSF and IL-4 to induce mo-DCs differentiation. At day 4, medium was completely washed out, and cells were treated for 24 h with 10 μ M of the indicated PEGylated TLR7 agonists or with vehicle only. At day 5, mo-DCs supernatant was collected to quantify the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by stimulated cells, and mo-DCs were stained for maturation markers. Total PBMCs were cultured for 24 h in complete medium, supplemented with different concentrations of PEGylated TLR7 agonists (1 or 10 μ M),

and the supernatant was collected to quantify pro-inflammatory cytokine release.

Cytokines Detection in Cell Supernatant

The concentration of IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12, and TNF in the supernatant of human PBMCs and human mo-DCs was determined using the BDTM cytometric bead array (CBA) (human inflammatory cytokine kit – 551811, BD Biosciences), according to manufacturer's instructions.

Flow Cytometric Analysis

For surface staining of human specimens, cell suspensions were incubated with the appropriate combination of the following monoclonal antibodies: CD19-PC5 (J3-119, Beckman Coulter), CD80-Brilliant Violet 421[™] (2D10, BioLegend®), CD83-APC (HB15e, BioLegend®), CD86-APC (IT2.2, BioLegend®), and HLA-DR-V500 (G46-6, BD HorizonTM). For surface staining of mouse specimens, cell suspensions were incubated with Fc-blocking antibody (Bioxcell, 2.4G2) to avoid unspecific Fc-Receptor binding. After washing, the cells were incubated with the appropriate combination of the following antibodies: CD11b-PECy7 (M1/70, BioLegend®), Ly6G-PE (1A8, BD Biosciences), Ly6C-Biotin (AL-21, BD Biosciences), CD3-APC(17A2, BioLegend®), CD45R-B220-PerCP-Cy5.5 (RA3-6B2, eBiosciences). To detect anti-Ly6C-Biotin antibody binding, cells were subsequently stained with streptavidin-FITC (Dako). The samples were acquired with BD LSRFortessa (BD Biosciences), and results were analyzed with FlowJo software (Tree Star, Inc.).

B Lymphocytes Proliferation

Total human PBMCs were stained with 5 μ M carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE), using CellTraceTM CFSE Cell Proliferation kit (Invitrogen Molecular Probes, C34554), according to manufacturer's instructions, and cultured in complete medium supplemented with 10 μ M of the indicated PEGylated TLR7 agonists for 4 days. At day 4, B lymphocytes were stained with an anti-CD19 antibody, and proliferation was assessed by CFSE dilution.

Leukocyte Mobilization from Bone Marrow

Age- and sex-matched mice (6–8 weeks) were randomly assigned to two groups, which were injected intraperitoneally with sterile saline (n = 5) or 200 nmoles of TMX-306 (n = 5). After 24 h, mice were sacrificed, and cellular suspension was obtained by blood, spleen, and bone marrow and analyzed by flow cytometry.

LPS-Induced Inflammation

A/J mice were exposed to a single dose of LPS (25 μ g/mouse) or phosphate buffered solution (PBS) by intranasal route. The analyses were performed 24 h after stimulation. Treatment with TMX-302 (500 nmoles/mouse) was performed subcutaneously, 1 and 24 h prior to LPS exposure (**Figure 1A**).

Ovalbumin-Induced Inflammation

A/J mice were sensitized, subcutaneously, with 50 μ g of OVA and 5 mg of aluminum hydroxide dissolved in 0.2 mL PBS. Two protocols to induce the allergic response were used. For the short-term protocol (**Figure 1B**), mice were sensitized at



FIGURE 1 | **Treatment protocols**. Mice were treated 1 and 24 h before LPS (25 µg/25 µL), and analyses were made 24 h after provocation **(A)**. Mice were sensitized at days 0 and 14 and subjected to two consecutive daily injections of OVA (25 µg/25 µL) at days 19 and 20 postsensitization. TMX-302 was given subcutaneously (500 nmoles/mouse) or intranasally (65 nmoles/mouse), 1 and 24 h before OVA. TMX-306 was aerosolized (2 and 6 mg/mL, 30 min) under the same conditions. Analyses occurred 24 h after the last challenge **(B)**. Mice were sensitized at days 0 and 7 and subjected to a series of four provocations with OVA (50 µg/25 µL) at days 14, 21, 28, and 35 postsensitization. TMX-306 (70 nmoles/mouse) was intranasally injected at days 27 and 34 **(C)**. Mice were challenged with crystalline silica particles at day 0 and subjected to three treatments with TMX-306 (70 nmoles/mouse) at days 15, 20, and 25 **(D)**. Analyses were performed at day 30 post-silica.

day 0, boosted on day 14, and then exposed to intranasal OVA (25 µg/mouse), or sterile PBS, at days 19 and 20 (33). Treated animals received TMX-302 either by subcutaneous (500 nmoles/ mouse) or intranasal route (65 nmoles/mouse), 1 and 24 h before allergen challenge. In another set of experiments, mice were exposed to aerosol of TMX-306 (2 and 6 mg/mL) also following protocol B (**Figure 1B**). For the interventional treatment, mice were sensitized at day 0, boosted at day 7, and then challenged with OVA (50 µg/mouse), or PBS, days 14, 21, 28, and 35 postsensitization (4). Treated animals received intranasal TMX-306 (70 nmoles/mouse) or oral dexamethasone (1 mg/kg), at days 26 and 33 postsensitization. In both protocols, the analyses were performed 24 h after the last OVA challenge (**Figure 1C**).

Silica-Induced Chronic Inflammation

Swiss Webster mice were exposed to crystalline silica particles (10 mg/mouse) (size 0.5–10 μ m) or sterile PBS as control (1).

The interventional treatment with TMX-306 (70 nmoles/mouse) was given at days 15, 20, and 25, and the analyses performed at day 30 after silica instillation (**Figure 1D**).

Invasive Assessment of Respiratory Mechanics

Mice were anesthetized with nembutal (60 mg/kg), and neuromuscular activity was blocked with bromide pancuronium (1 mg/kg). Lung resistance (cmH₂O s/mL) and elastance (mL/ cmH₂O) were assessed in tracheostomized and mechanically ventilated mice using a FinePointe R/C Buxco Platform (Buxco[®] Electronics, Sharon, CT, USA) (1).

Bronchoalveolar Lavage

Airways were lavaged by a polyethylene cannula, inserted into the trachea, with two consecutive instillations of 0.75 mL of PBS containing 10 mM of EDTA. Bronchoalveolar Lavage (BAL) was centrifuged at $300 \times g$ for 10 min at 4°C, and the cell pellet was resuspended in 0.25 mL of PBS for leukocyte enumeration. Total cells were counted in Neubauer chamber by means of light microscopy, after dilution of samples in Turk solution. The differential analysis was performed in cytocentrifuged smears stained for identification of mononuclear cells, neutrophils, and eosinophils by May-Grunwald-Giemsa under an oil immersion objective and light microscope (BX51, Olympus) (34).

Histology

The left lung was removed, fixed in Milloning buffer solution (pH 7.4) with 4% paraformaldehyde to preserve pulmonary architecture. Briefly, samples were embedded in paraffin (Sigma-Aldrich), and 4 μ m-thick sections were cut and stained with hematoxylin and eosin for quantification of granuloma area, Picrosirius for collagen fibers and Sirius Red (pH 10.2) for neutrophils and eosinophils counted in the parenchyma and in peribronchiolar area, respectively. Slides were scanned with 3DHISTECH–Pannoramic MIDI whole slide scanner (capture with a 20× objective lens) and the resulting images analyzed with CaseViewer 3.3, Pannoramic Viewer 1.15.4, and HistoQuant softwares (3DHISTECH). Silica crystals were analyzed, in 15 independent fields, with a light microscope (Olympus BX50) equipped with polarizing attachment for detecting birefringent particles and Image-Pro Plus Version 4.

Immunohistochemistry

Left lung samples were examined for immunohistochemical localization of TGF- β using paraffin-embedded sections. Primary anti-TGF- β 1/2/3 (sc-7892) was obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas, TX, USA). Secondary antibody HAF008 was conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) and obtained from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA). In negative controls, primary antibody was omitted, and tissues were incubated with antibody diluent only. To improve visualization of the primary label, slides were counterstained with Mayer's Hematoxylin (Lillie's modification) as previously described (1). The slides were scanned with 3DHISTECH–Pannoramic MIDI and quantified as previously reported (1).

Cytokine Quantification

Murine TNF- α , MIP-1 α /CXCL-3, MIP-2/CXCL-2, IL-6, and eotaxin-2 levels were measured in the right lung tissue samples, which were homogenized in PBS containing 0.05% Triton X-100 and a protease inhibitor cocktail (Hoffmann-La Roche, Basel, Switzerland). Samples were quantified using commercially available ELISA kits (DuoSet system, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The results were expressed as picograms of cytokine per right lung.

Protein Quantification

Total protein levels were measured by Bradford technique. Right lung tissue samples were homogenized in PBS 1 mL with Triton X-100 (0.1%), containing protease inhibitor COMPLETE (Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd., Switzerland). The results were expressed as micrograms of protein per right lung.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyzes were performed using GraphPad Prism Software, version 5.0 (USA). For *in vitro* experiments on human PBMCs, the analyses were performed with repeated measures two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison. For *in vivo* experiments, the analyses were done with one-way ANOVA followed by the Student–Newman–Keuls test or two-way ANOVA with *post hoc* Bonferroni correction. Statistical differences were considered significant if *p* values were less than 0.05 (two-tailed tests).

RESULTS

PEGylated TLR7 Partial Agonists Activity of Human Leukocytes

The effects of the two 1V136 PEGylated derivatives, TMX-302 and TMX-306, on human PBMCs and on the maturation of mo-DCs, were assessed in cells from healthy donors. In vitro, none of the PEGylated compounds resulted to be toxic on PBMCs; with no relevant apoptosis induced after over night exposure to TMX-302 or TMX-306 (10 µM, data not shown). Both TMX-302 and TMX-306 induced a minimal cytokine production as compared to the TLR7 full agonist TMX-202 at 1 μ M. When the compounds were used at high concentration (10 μ M), we observed production only of IL-6 and IL-8 that was comparable to the one observed using TMX-202 (Figure 2). None of the tested PEGylated TLR7 partial agonists induced relevant cytokine production by mo-DCs (Figure 3A) or mo-DCs maturation (Figure 3B). Moreover, cytofluorimetric analysis on human PBMCs labeled with CFSE and incubated with the different compounds showed that the PEGylated partial agonists do not induce B cell proliferation (Figure 3C).

Effect of TMX-302 on LPS-Induced Inflammation and Airway Hyper-Reactivity

Subcutaneous pre-treatment with TMX-302 (500 nmoles/ mouse given twice), 1 and 24 h before LPS (protocol A,



FIGURE 2 | Concentration of IL1- β (A), IL-6 (B), IL-12 (C), IL-8 (D), TNF- α (E) and IL-10 (F) in the supernatant of human PBMCs, after 24 h stimulation with TMX-202, TMX-302 or TMX-306 at 1 or 10 μ M. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM from n = 6.



Figure 1), reduced the increased lung elastance response noted in mice challenged with LPS (**Figure 4A**). As expected, LPS also caused protein extravasation (**Figure 4B**) and augmentation in total leukocyte levels, as indicated by enumeration of these cells in BAL effluents (**Figure 4C**) and lung histological sections (**Figures 4D,G**), in comparison to the respective negative



TABLE 1 | Effect of TMX-302 on cytokine/chemokine generation in the lung tissue of LPS-stimulated mice.

| Cytokine (pg/lung tissue) | PBS | LPS | LPS + TMX-302 | |
|------------------------------|------------------|-----------------|----------------|--|
| TNF-α | 97.5 ± 8.7 | 290.2 ± 49.2+ | | |
| MIP-1α | 314.5 ± 48.6 | 1276.1 ± 277.7+ | 816.9 ± 120.6* | |
| IL-6 | 280.2 ± 57.7 | 1131.1 ± 285.0+ | 777.6 ± 122.2 | |

TMX-302 (500 nmoles/mouse) was given 1 h before LPS (25 μg), and the analyses were performed 24 h after LPS. Values represent the mean \pm SEM from at least six animals.

*p < 0.05 vs. PBS-challenged group.</pre>

*p < 0.05 vs. LPS-challenged group.

controls (**Figures 4C,F**). Neutrophils were the predominant leukocyte subtype found in the bronchoalveolar space (**Figure 4C**) and lung parenchyma (**Figures 4E,G**). All these changes were significantly inhibited by the subcutaneous pre-treatment with TMX-302 (**Figures 4B–E,H**). Quantification of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines in lung homogenates in response to LPS revealed increased levels of TNF- α , MIP-1 α , and IL-6, all of which appeared inhibited by TMX-302 though, in case of IL-6, the 40% blockade was not statistically significant (**Table 1**).

Effect of TMX-302 on Allergen-Induced Inflammation and Airway Hyper-Reactivity

Confirming previous reports (33), OVA intranasal challenge of sensitized mice exacerbated both airway resistance (**Figure 5A**) and lung elastance responses (**Figure 5B**) to inhaled methacholine (3–27 mg/mL). Increased levels of leukocytes, mainly eosinophils, were detected in the BAL fluid (**Figure 5C**) as compared to control mice challenged with PBS. The same figures show that the pre-treatment with TMX-302 (500 nmoles/mouse, subcutaneous) (protocol B, **Figure 1**) prevented allergen-induced airway hyper-reactivity (AHR) and eosinophilic leukocyte accumulation (**Figures 5A–C**).

When the systemic prophylactic was replaced by the local prophylactic treatment with TMX-302 (65 nmoles/mouse, intranasal instillation) (protocol B, **Figure 1**), no more protective effect was seen for allergen-induced increased airway resistance (**Figure 6A**) and lung elastance (**Figure 6B**) in response to methacholine. Moreover, TMX-302 itself caused AHR in naive mice (**Figures 6A,B**). A significant blockade of the OVA-induced eosinophilic, but not neutrophilic infiltration, was apparent following TMX-302, as observed in BAL samples (**Figure 6C**) and lung tissue samples (**Figures 6D,E**). Moreover, the nasal instillation of TMX-302 (65 nmoles/mouse) in naive mice led







to neutrophil accumulations in the BAL fluid (**Figure 6C**) and, particularly, in the lung parenchyma (**Figure 6E**). As shown in **Table 2**, the intranasal instillation of TMX-302, despite inhibiting OVA-induced TNF- α and MIP-2, clearly up-regulated OVA-induced MIP-1- α , and caused itself significant elevation of MIP-1 α , MIP-2, and TNF- α levels in lung homogenates.

Effect of TMX-306 on Allergen-Induced Inflammation and Airway Hyper-Reactivity

Once the topical administration, through intranasal instillation of TMX-302, was ineffective upon asthmatic changes and caused adverse events, the effects of the parent compound TMX-306 were investigated. As shown in **Figure 7**, the prophylactic treatment with aerosolized TMX-306 (6 mg/mL) (protocol B, **Figure 1**) prevented allergen-induced AHR, in respect to airway resistance

TABLE 2 | Effect of TMX-302 on cytokine/chemokine generation in the lung tissue of allergen-stimulated mice.

| Cytokine (pg/ lung tissue) | PBS | OVA | OVA + TMX-302 | TMX-302 |
|-------------------------------|------------------|----------------------|----------------------|----------------------|
| MIP-1-α | 117.2 ± 76.4 | 937.5 ± 169+ | 1672.7 ± 295.1* | 605.4 ± 84.9+ |
| MIP-2 | 275.6 ± 70.6 | $665.6 \pm 66.8^+$ | $243.9 \pm 68.7^{*}$ | 934.9 ± 126.8 |
| TNF-α | 88.7 ± 7.6 | $138.9 \pm 11.0^{+}$ | 110.1 ± 8.7* | $132.1 \pm 11.2^{+}$ |

The analyses were performed 24 h after ovalbumin provocation, and values represent the mean \pm SEM from at least six animals.

p < 0.05 vs. PBS-challenge group.

*p < 0.05 vs. OVA-challenge group.

(Figure 7A) and lung elastance (Figure 7B), as well as the infiltration of eosinophils in the peribronchiolar zone (Figure 7C). When aerosolized at 2 mg/mL, TMX-306 prevented allergen-induced AHR but not eosinophilic infiltration (Figures 7A–C).

We next assessed the effectiveness of TMX-306 (70 nmoles/ mouse, intranasal) on ongoing asthmatic changes according to the protocol C (**Figure 1**). Contrarily to dexamethasone, TMX-306 failed to reduce AHR (**Figures 8A,B**) and peribronchiolar eosinophilic infiltration (**Figure 8C**) caused by OVA challenge, suggesting the lack of beneficial effects for the therapeutic treatment with TMX-306 on allergen-induced pathological changes, under the conditions applied.

Effect of TMX-306 on Silica-Induced Inflammatory, Fibrotic, and Respiratory Changes

Initially, in order to assess if the PEGylated compound TMX-306 would impact *per se* cell mobilization from the bone marrow as well as subsequent distribution in blood circulation and spleen, TMX-306 was injected intraperitoneally in mice. The results obtained indicate that this PEGylated analogue, at the dose of 200 nmoles/mouse, does not affect cell mobilization and compartmentalization in wild type mice (Figure S1 in Supplementary Material).

The next step was the evaluation of the effect of TMX-306 on experimental silicosis, which was performed in accordance to protocol D (**Figure 1**) and prior investigations (1, 35). Based



represent mean ± SEM from at least six animals. *p < 0.05 as compared to PBS-challenged group; *p < 0.05 as compared to OVA-challenged group.



on the histologic analyzes of lung sections stained with H&E for assessment of granuloma (**Figure 9**, upper panels) and Picrosirius red for evaluation of fibrotic lesions (**Figure 9**, lower panels), it became clear that, compared to mice exposed to PBS (**Figure 9A**), those exposed to silica particles (**Figure 9B**) reacted with an intense granulomatous response, which occupied about 40% of the left pulmonary lobe 30 days postprovocation (**Figure 9G**). Moreover, a dense area of collagen fiber deposition appeared distributed in those spaces occupied by granuloma in silicotic mice (**Figure 9E**). Remarkably, both granuloma and fibrotic lesions caused by silica inhalation were clearly inhibited by the treatment with TMX-306 (70 nmoles/mouse), carried out at days 15, 20, and 25 after silica provocation (**Figures 9G,H**, respectively).

Using immunohistochemistry technique based on anti-TGF- β staining, the quantitative assessment of expression of TGF- β under conditions of exposure to PBS, silica particles, or silica plus TMX-306 revealed significant increase in lung tissue levels of IL-TGF- β in samples recovered from mice exposed to silica particles (**Figure 10B**), as compared to those exposed to PBS (**Figure 10A**). Given through nasal instillation in the regime mentioned before, TMX-306 inhibited silica-induced production of TGF β (**Figure 10C**). The quantitative data are shown in **Figure 10D**.

Effect of TMX-306 on Silica Particle Diffusion in Lung Parenchyma

In this study, we used a light microscope equipped with polarizing filters when examining lung tissue sections from mice exposed to

silica particles. Having lung section from mice exposed to PBS as reference (**Figure 11A**), our findings confirmed the presence of numerous crystals of silica in sections from mice exposed to the particles, seen as small bluish bright specks, distributed throughout lung areas mainly those occupied by granuloma (**Figure 11B**). The amount of silica particles present in the interstitial space appeared significantly reduced in mice treated with TMX-306 (70 nmoles/mouse) (**Figure 11C**). Quantitative data are shown in **Figure 11D**.

DISCUSSION

Toll-like receptors play a crucial role in sensing and responding to respirable "dangerous triggers" including allergens and ambient pollutant particles, which may lead to asthma and pneumoconiosis (13, 36). Synthetic low molecular weight TLR7 agonists, including 1V136 and others, have been shown to down-regulate immune responses during inflammatory conditions (25, 26, 37, 38). Additionally, PEGylation improves bioavailability and safety of these ligands (30, 39). The overall purpose of this study was to access the effects of 1V136 PEGylated derivatives on pulmonary inflammatory and functional changes caused by three distinct classes of pathogens, including LPS, allergen, and crystalline silica particles.

Our experiments revealed that both PEGylated derivatives TMX-302 and TMX-306 presented a marginal pro-inflammatory response, yielding a minimal production of inflammatory cytokines in human PBMCs, no mo-DC maturation or B cell



proliferative responses, differently from the TLR7 full agonist used for comparison (TMX-202). In *in vivo* settings, subcutaneous pre-treatment with TMX-302 prevented LPS- and allergen-induced lung inflammation and AHR, while its topical administration failed to prevent allergen-induced AHR, and caused itself neutrophil infiltration, in parallel with cytokine and chemokine generation. Administered topically, TMX-306 prevented allergen-induced asthma changes, but did not modify them as given therapeutically. In contrast, in the silicosis model, interventional treatment with TMX-306 significantly reduced the pulmonary fibrogranulomatous response following crystallized silica particle inhalation in mice. Altogether, these studies highlight the putative value of TMX-306 in drug development for silicosis.

As candidates to anti-inflammatory therapy, TLR7 ligands should ideally be able to push the innate system to a state of tolerance, with minimal pro-inflammatory effects. Actually, the safe therapeutic use of TLR7 agonists has been proved to be a difficult task because of the cytokine release syndrome and pharmacokinetic limitations (16). Prior investigations have demonstrated that the conjugation of these ligands to polysaccharides, serum albumin or PEG widely improved their pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics properties (30, 39, 40). Accordingly, in our experiments assessing cytokine production by human PBMCs *in vitro*, the PEGylated compounds TMX-302 and TMX-306, at 1 μ M, were clearly less active than the reference compound TMX-202, producing marginal amounts of IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-12p70, IL-8, or TNF. TMX-302 and TMX-306 at 10 μ M promoted only IL-6 and IL-8 release from human PBMCs, but failed to induce pro-inflammatory cytokine release by mo-DC and their maturation as well as B lymphocyte proliferation, which are hallmarks of TLR7 activation (41), supporting the interpretation that the two PEGylated 1V136 derivatives are indeed suitable molecules for further *in vivo* investigations.

The immune-regulatory effects of TLR ligands, in more ample sense, are heterogeneous and complex. For instance, inhalation of the TLR4 agonist LPS exacerbates silica-induced fibrogranulomatous pulmonary dysfunction in mice (42), but can attenuate ongoing asthmatic changes following long-term exposure of mice to allergen challenge (43). While investigating the therapeutic potential of TMX-302 and TMX-306, we have explored well-established murine models of acute lung injury (ALI) (44), asthma (4, 33, 34), and silicosis (1, 35). ALI is a severe clinical problem associated with elevated rates of morbidity and mortality worldwide (45). Triggered by LPS, a component of the cell wall of





(10 mg/mouse) (B), and silica treated with TMX-306 (70 nmoles/mouse, intranasal) (C), 30 days after silica challenge. Quantitative analyses are seen in (D). Picrosirius red-stained sections were evaluated by light and polarized microscopy, respectively. Arrows indicate silica particles. Scale bar, 200 μ m. Values represent mean \pm SEM from at least seven animals. **P* < 0.05 as compared to silica-challenged group.

gram-negative bacteria, ALI is marked by pulmonary neutrophilic leukocyte infiltration, disruption of the endothelial and alveolar epithelial barrier, lung edema, and severe hypoxemia (45). We found that under conditions of intranasal instillation of LPS, the systemic pre-treatment with TMX-302 (500 nmoles/mouse), given subcutaneously 24 and 1 h before provocation, clearly inhibited the lung inflammatory changes, including the massive leukocyte accumulation in the bronchoalveolar space and lung parenchyma, plasma leakage and AHR-noted 24 h postchallenge. The protective effect of TMX-302 concerning leukocyte changes and respiratory function might be explained by the blockade of pro-inflammatory cytokine production, including TNF-α, IL-6 and MIP-1 α , as attested by measurements done in lung tissue samples. Recent studies emphasize the involvement of the adapter molecule MyD88 in the LPS-TLR4 signaling pathway followed by activation of NF-kappa B in ALI (46, 47), though this is still a debatable issue (48). However, since MyD88 is a pivotal adapter to all TLRs, except TLR3, the possibility does exist that TMX-302 is acting here through induction of a tolerogenic mechanism accounted for by induction of cross-desensitization between TLR7 and TLR4 signaling pathways.

Differently from TLR4, TLR7 selectively detects viral RNA, leading to activation of T-helper cell (Th1) immune response and viral clearance. Several pieces of evidence suggest that TLR activation are protective against T-helper cell (Th2)-mediated diseases, such as asthma, possibly by interfering with the Th1 versus Th2 immune balance (15, 16, 23). Additionally, activation of TLR7 expressed on CD4+ T cells and airway nerves can lead to anergy (49) and respiratory smooth muscle relaxation (24), respectively. TLR7 has also raised interest in asthma because respiratory viruses are a major cause of exacerbations. Notably, virus clearance depends on TLR-mediated Th1 response, which is down-regulated in the asthma Th2 microenvironment (50). We observed here that the systemic pre-treatment with TMX-302, given subcutaneously, prevented allergen-induced eosinophilic inflammatory infiltration and AHR in a short-term murine model of asthma. Nevertheless, the mucosal administration of TMX-302 (65 nmoles/mouse, intranasal instillation), 24 and 1 h before provocation, failed to prevent allergen-induced AHR though inhibiting the accumulation of eosinophils in the bronchoalveolar space and tissue samples. Actually, TMX-302 itself induced a significant increase in the levels of peribronchial neutrophils, in parallel with significant increase in the lung tissue production of MIP-1a, MIP-2, and TNFa, suggesting that caution in its use is required. We then decided to assess the effect of the analogue TMX-306, which is a molecular simplification of TMX-302 resulting from deletion of the triazol ring. It is relevant to mention that the intraperitoneal injection of 200 nmoles TMX-306 did not cause statistically significant changes in the number of monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, T cells, or B cells in the bone marrow, spleen, and blood circulation in mice (Figure S1 in Supplementary Material). TMX-306 (500 nmoles/ kg, subcutaneous) inhibited LPS-induced AHR as well as neutrophilic infiltration in samples of bronchoalvelar lavage (data not shown). Because the lungs provide a suitable route for aerosol delivery, we also tested the prophylactic treatment with aerosolized TMX-306 (6 mg/mL), which turned out to be effective in this model, preventing both eosinophilic infiltration and AHR triggered by allergen challenge. However, using a long-term model of asthma, TMX-306 (70 nmoles/mouse, intranasal) failed to modify the ongoing pathological changes triggered by allergen provocation, whereas the glucocorticoid agent dexamethasone was shown to be clearly active. These findings might suggest that, despite inhibiting LPS- and allergen-induced lung inflammation and AHR as given prophylactically, TMX-306 would not be as effective in modifying already established asthmatic changes following therapeutic administration.

In this study, we also investigated whether or not the pharmacological modulation of TLR7 with TMX-306 could be used to reduce silicosis. Remarkably contrasting with the lack of efficacy of the interventional TMX-306 treatment on experimental asthma, the therapeutic intranasal administration of this compound clearly attenuated lung inflammation, granuloma formation, fibrosis, and the functional respiratory changes noted in response to silica particles. Current thinking is that the pathogenesis of silicosis is largely attributed to the direct damage by silica particles to alternatively activated alveolar macrophages and DCs, engaged in the recognition, uptake, and clearance of silica particles and other environmental particulate matters that traffic in the lung (14, 51). When this barrier is broken, free silica crystals accumulate in the interstitial space and are taken up by M1 macrophages, which play a crucial role in promoting a state of pulmonary inflammation that evolves to granuloma formation and overlaps with fibrogenic areas in humans and animal models (14). Indeed, stronger lung inflammatory and fibrotic responses were noted in mice genetically deficient in macrophage receptors with collagenous structure (MARCO), a scavenger receptor deeply involved in the sense and uptake of crystalline silica by alveolar macrophages (52). This result gives support to the interpretation that M2 alveolar macrophages account for by the clearance while M1 interstitial macrophages drive the silica-induced inflammatory response (14). Remarkably, scavenger receptor class A type I/II (CD204) null mice fail to develop fibrosis following silica inhalation, in spite of keeping inflammation, suggesting that the CD204 are crucial to the development of fibrosis and resolution of inflammation (12).

In our experimental conditions, mice exposed to a single intranasal instillation of 10 mg of crystalized silica particles reacted with a progressive lung granulomatous response, which reach about 40% of the lung area 30 days postchallenge, as evidenced by scanned histopathological images of lung sections. In parallel, we found a marked increase in the levels of collagen fiber deposition, evidenced by Picrosirius red staining, which appeared densely distributed throughout areas occupied by granuloma, as previously reported (1, 35). These changes were clearly reversed following intranasal instillation of TMX-306, given at days 15, 20, and 25 post-silica. Furthermore, the extension of lung area occupied by granuloma appeared reduced in about 60% whereas a reduction of 95% was noted in the amount of deposited collagen. TMX-306 also almost abolished the levels of the pro-fibrotic TGF- β generated in response to silica exposure. Crystalline silica particles diffract light and appear as bright bluish specks against the dark tissue background, and can be seen under light microscope equipped with polarizing filters

(53). Using this technique, we could detect reduction of about 40% in the number of crystals of silica dispersed in the lung interstitial space, strongly suggesting that TMX-306, by reducing areas of granuloma and fibrosis, is probably favoring silica particle mobility and clearance from the lung through lymphatic draining. In fact, prior investigations have demonstrated that silica particles can be drained by the lymphatic system to the lymph nodes, particularly under conditions of effective antisilicosis therapy (1).

Apart from the distinct impact on the silica-induced fibrotic response, our findings are very much in line with those ones reported by Re and collaborators (54). These authors found a significant reduction of lung inflammation and granuloma formation in MyD88-KO mice after silica, giving support to the interpretation that MyD88-related innate immunity is crucial in silicosis. In addition, like ours, their results showed a robust reduction in the fibrotic response to silica in granuloma areas, with the difference that increased levels of silica-induced collagen deposition were detected throughout the lung parenchymal area (54), suggesting that inflammatory and fibrotic responses to silica can be uncoupled, which did not happen in our experimental conditions.

We cannot exclude the possibility that the PEGylated compounds are simply less potent than the full agonist TMX-202, without any necessary impact on their efficacy on the TLR7. In addition, contrary to TMX-202, the intravenous administration of PEGylated analogues such as TMX-302 and others (200 nmoles/kg) failed to alter the systemic baseline levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-6 (data not shown). Further studies and more accurate toxicological investigations should be carried out on candidate compounds such as TMX-302 and TMX-306.

In conclusion, these findings provide a comprehensive comparison of the anti-inflammatory effectiveness of two PEGylated TLR7 partial agonists, concerning distinct lung pathological conditions and several routes of administration. The results suggest that the putative clinical application of TMX-302 in lung disorders should be examined with caution because of its direct pro-inflammatory effects. Moreover, in this context, TMX-306 seems to be comparatively more effective and safer, deserving

REFERENCES

- Ferreira TP, de Arantes AC, do Nascimento CV, Olsen PC, Trentin PG, Rocco PR, et al. IL-13 immunotoxin accelerates resolution of lung pathological changes triggered by silica particles in mice. *J Immunol* (2013) **191**(10):5220–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1203551
- Reddel HK, Bateman ED, Becker A, Boulet LP, Cruz AA, Drazen JM, et al. A summary of the new GINA strategy: a roadmap to asthma control. *Eur Respir J* (2015) 46(3):622–39. doi:10.1183/13993003.00853-2015
- Seaman DM, Meyer CA, Kanne JP. Occupational and environmental lung disease. Clin Chest Med (2015) 36(2):249–68. doi:10.1016/j.ccm.2015.02.008
- Serra MF, Neves JS, Couto GC, Cotias AC, Pao CR, Olsen PC, et al. JM25-1, a lidocaine analog combining airway relaxant and antiinflammatory properties: implications for new bronchospasm therapy. *Anesthesiology* (2016) 124(1):109–20. doi:10.1097/ALN.000000000000919
- Dockery DW, Pope CA III, Xu X, Spengler JD, Ware JH, Fay ME, et al. An association between air pollution and mortality in six U.S. cities. *N Engl J Med* (1993) 329(24):1753–9. doi:10.1056/NEJM199312093292401

further investigations in drug development particularly for silicosis.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TF, LM, RB, AA, AF, MB, and VC – acquisition and analysis of data, illustration, revision for intellectual content and final approval. MU – contributions to design of the work, acquisition and analysis of data, drafting of the work, and supervision and final approval; RM – contributions to design of the work, drafting of the manuscript, revising it critically for important intellectual content, supervision, and final approval. AB – revising it critically for important intellectual content, supervision, and final approval. AB – revising it critically for important intellectual content, supervision, and final approval. PS – contributions to design of the work, illustration, critical revision, supervision, and final approval; MM – design of the work, illustration, drafting of the manuscript, supervision, and final approval.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Rodrigo Bandeira de Azevedo, Antônio Gabriel De Souza Silva, Thais Lima da Costa, Ana Lucia de Aguiar Pires, and Gabriela Danelon for skillful technical assistance.

FUNDING

The research leading to these results has received funding from the European Community's Seventh Framework Program [FP7-2007-2013] under grant agreement n°HEALTH-F4-2011-281608 (TIMER). This work was also supported by fellowships – Research Productivity Fellowship to PS, and MM from CNPq; Post-Doc to TF and Technician to AF and AA from FAPERJ. This project was further supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (3100A0-143718/1 to MU) and Instituto Nacional de Ciência e Tecnologia-INOFAR, Brazil (CNPq n° 573.564/2008-6).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00095

- Escamilla-Nunez MC, Barraza-Villarreal A, Hernandez-Cadena L, Moreno-Macias H, Ramirez-Aguilar M, Sienra-Monge JJ, et al. Trafficrelated air pollution and respiratory symptoms among asthmatic children, resident in Mexico city: the EVA cohort study. *Respir Res* (2008) 9:74. doi:10.1186/1465-9921-9-74
- Saglani S, Lloyd CM. Novel concepts in airway inflammation and remodelling in asthma. *Eur Respir J* (2015) 46(6):1796–804. doi:10.1183/13993003.01196-2014
- Leung CC, Yu IT, Chen W. Silicosis. Lancet (2012) 379(9830):2008–18. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60235-9
- Jiang Y, Shao F. A stone miner with both silicosis and constrictive pericarditis: case report and review of the literature. *BMC Pulm Med* (2013) 13:71. doi:10.1186/1471-2466-13-71
- Blank F, Rothen-Rutishauser B, Gehr P. Dendritic cells and macrophages form a transepithelial network against foreign particulate antigens. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2007) 36(6):669–77. doi:10.1165/rcmb.2006-0234OC
- Proud D, Leigh R. Epithelial cells and airway diseases. *Immunol Rev* (2011) 242(1):186–204. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01033.x

- Beamer CA, Holian A. Scavenger receptor class A type I/II (CD204) null mice fail to develop fibrosis following silica exposure. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* (2005) 289(2):L186–95. doi:10.1152/ajplung.00474.2004
- Beamer CA, Holian A. Silica suppresses toll-like receptor ligand-induced dendritic cell activation. FASEB J (2008) 22(6):2053–63. doi:10.1096/fj.07-095299
- Kawasaki H. A mechanistic review of silica-induced inhalation toxicity. Inhal Toxicol (2015) 27(8):363–77. doi:10.3109/08958378.2015.1066905
- Adner M, Starkhammar M, Georen SK, Dahlen SE, Cardell LO. Toll-like receptor (TLR) 7 decreases and TLR9 increases the airway responses in mice with established allergic inflammation. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2013) 718(1–3):544–51. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2013.09.004
- Drake MG, Kaufman EH, Fryer AD, Jacoby DB. The therapeutic potential of toll-like receptor 7 stimulation in asthma. *Inflamm Allergy Drug Targets* (2012) 11(6):484–91. doi:10.2174/187152812803589967
- Hussein WM, Liu TY, Skwarczynski M, Toth I. Toll-like receptor agonists: a patent review (2011–2013). *Expert Opin Ther Pat* (2014) 24(4):453–70. doi: 10.1517/13543776.2014.880691
- Raymond T, Schaller M, Hogaboam CM, Lukacs NW, Rochford R, Kunkel SL. Toll-like receptors, notch ligands, and cytokines drive the chronicity of lung inflammation. *Proc Am Thorac Soc* (2007) 4(8):635–41. doi:10.1513/ pats.200706-067TH
- Kawai T, Akira S. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on toll-like receptors. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(5):373–84. doi:10.1038/ni.1863
- Hoebe K, Du X, Georgel P, Janssen E, Tabeta K, Kim SO, et al. Identification of Lps2 as a key transducer of MyD88-independent TIR signalling. *Nature* (2003) 424(6950):743–8. doi:10.1038/nature01889
- Yamamoto M, Sato S, Hemmi H, Hoshino K, Kaisho T, Sanjo H, et al. Role of adaptor TRIF in the MyD88-independent toll-like receptor signaling pathway. *Science* (2003) 301(5633):640–3. doi:10.1126/science.1087262
- Yamamoto M, Sato S, Mori K, Hoshino K, Takeuchi O, Takeda K, et al. Cutting edge: a novel Toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter that preferentially activates the IFN-beta promoter in the toll-like receptor signaling. *J Immunol* (2002) 169(12):6668–72. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.169.12.6668
- 23. Guiducci C, Coffman RL, Barrat FJ. Signalling pathways leading to IFN-alpha production in human plasmacytoid dendritic cell and the possible use of agonists or antagonists of TLR7 and TLR9 in clinical indications. *J Intern Med* (2009) **265**(1):43–57. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2796.2008.02050.x
- Drake MG, Scott GD, Proskocil BJ, Fryer AD, Jacoby DB, Kaufman EH. Toll-like receptor 7 rapidly relaxes human airways. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2013) 188(6):664–72. doi:10.1164/rccm.201303-0442OC
- Camateros P, Kanagaratham C, Henri J, Sladek R, Hudson TJ, Radzioch D. Modulation of the allergic asthma transcriptome following resiquimod treatment. *Physiol Genomics* (2009) 38(3):303–18. doi:10.1152/ physiolgenomics.00057.2009
- Du Q, Zhou LF, Chen Z, Gu XY, Huang M, Yin KS. Imiquimod, a tolllike receptor 7 ligand, inhibits airway remodelling in a murine model of chronic asthma. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* (2009) 36(1):43–8. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1681.2008.05027.x
- Matsui H, Tomizawa H, Eiho K, Kashiwazaki Y, Edwards S, Biffen M, et al. Mechanism of action of inhibition of allergic immune responses by a novel antedrug TLR7 agonist. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(11):5194–205. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1101331
- Xirakia C, Koltsida O, Stavropoulos A, Thanassopoulou A, Aidinis V, Sideras P, et al. Toll-like receptor 7-triggered immune response in the lung mediates acute and long-lasting suppression of experimental asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2010) 181(11):1207–16. doi:10.1164/ rccm.200908-1255OC
- Quarcoo D, Weixler S, Joachim RA, Stock P, Kallinich T, Ahrens B, et al. Resiquimod, a new immune response modifier from the family of imidazoquinolinamines, inhibits allergen-induced Th2 responses, airway inflammation and airway hyper-reactivity in mice. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2004) 34(8):1314–20. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2222.2004.02023.x
- Chan M, Hayashi T, Mathewson RD, Yao S, Gray C, Tawatao RI, et al. Synthesis and characterization of PEGylated toll like receptor 7 ligands. *Bioconjug Chem* (2011) 22(3):445–54. doi:10.1021/bc1004813

- Hayashi T, Yao S, Crain B, Promessi VJ, Shyu L, Sheng C, et al. Induction of tolerogenic dendritic cells by a pegylated tlr7 ligand for treatment of type 1 diabetes. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(6):e0129867. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0129867
- Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A. Efficient presentation of soluble antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor alpha. *J Exp Med* (1994) **179**(4):1109–18. doi:10.1084/ jem.179.4.1109
- Serra MF, Anjos-Valotta EA, Olsen PC, Couto GC, Jurgilas PB, Cotias AC, et al. Nebulized lidocaine prevents airway inflammation, peribronchial fibrosis, and mucus production in a murine model of asthma. *Anesthesiology* (2012) 117(3):580–91. doi:10.1097/ALN.0b013e31826687d5
- Olsen PC, Ferreira TP, Serra MF, Farias-Filho FA, Fonseca BP, Viola JP, et al. Lidocaine-derivative JMF2-1 prevents ovalbumin-induced airway inflammation by regulating the function and survival of T cells. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2011) 41(2):250–9. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2222.2010.03580.x
- Trentin PG, Ferreira TP, Arantes AC, Ciambarella BT, Cordeiro RS, Flower RJ, et al. Annexin A1 mimetic peptide controls the inflammatory and fibrotic effects of silica particles in mice. *Br J Pharmacol* (2015) **172**(12):3058–71. doi:10.1111/bph.13109
- Hollingsworth JW II, Cook DN, Brass DM, Walker JK, Morgan DL, Foster WM, et al. The role of toll-like receptor 4 in environmental airway injury in mice. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2004) 170(2):126–32. doi:10.1164/ rccm.200311-1499OC
- 37. Crain B, Yao S, Keophilaone V, Promessi V, Kang M, Barberis A, et al. Inhibition of keratinocyte proliferation by phospholipid-conjugates of a TLR7 ligand in a Myc-induced hyperplastic actinic keratosis model in the absence of systemic side effects. *Eur J Dermatol* (2013) 23(5):618–28. doi:10.1684/ ejd.2013.2155
- Kurimoto A, Ogino T, Ichii S, Isobe Y, Tobe M, Ogita H, et al. Synthesis and evaluation of 2-substituted 8-hydroxyadenines as potent interferon inducers with improved oral bioavailabilities. *Bioorg Med Chem* (2004) 12(5):1091–9. doi:10.1016/j.bmc.2003.12.008
- Chan M, Hayashi T, Kuy CS, Gray CS, Wu CC, Corr M, et al. Synthesis and immunological characterization of toll-like receptor 7 agonistic conjugates. *Bioconjug Chem* (2009) 20(6):1194–200. doi:10.1021/bc900054q
- Shinchi H, Crain B, Yao S, Chan M, Zhang SS, Ahmadiiveli A, et al. Enhancement of the immunostimulatory activity of a tlr7 ligand by conjugation to polysaccharides. *Bioconjug Chem* (2015) 26(8):1713–23. doi:10.1021/ acs.bioconjchem.5b00285
- Hemmi H, Kaisho T, Takeuchi O, Sato S, Sanjo H, Hoshino K, et al. Small anti-viral compounds activate immune cells via the TLR7 MyD88-dependent signaling pathway. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3(2):196–200. doi:10.1038/ni758
- Brass DM, Spencer JC, Li Z, Potts-Kant E, Reilly SM, Dunkel MK, et al. Innate immune activation by inhaled lipopolysaccharide, independent of oxidative stress, exacerbates silica-induced pulmonary fibrosis in mice. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(7):e40789. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0040789
- Hollingsworth JW, Whitehead GS, Lin KL, Nakano H, Gunn MD, Schwartz DA, et al. TLR4 signaling attenuates ongoing allergic inflammation. *J Immunol* (2006) 176(10):5856–62. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.10.5856
- 44. Kummerle AE, Schmitt M, Cardozo SV, Lugnier C, Villa P, Lopes AB, et al. Design, synthesis, and pharmacological evaluation of N-acylhydrazones and novel conformationally constrained compounds as selective and potent orally active phosphodiesterase-4 inhibitors. *J Med Chem* (2012) 55(17):7525–45. doi:10.1021/jm300514y
- Rubenfeld GD, Caldwell E, Peabody E, Weaver J, Martin DP, Neff M, et al. Incidence and outcomes of acute lung injury. N Engl J Med (2005) 353(16):1685–93. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa050333
- Frank EA, Birch ME, Yadav JS. MyD88 mediates *in vivo* effector functions of alveolar macrophages in acute lung inflammatory responses to carbon nanotube exposure. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* (2015) 288(3):322–9. doi:10.1016/j. taap.2015.08.004
- Jiang Q, Yi M, Guo Q, Wang C, Wang H, Meng S, et al. Protective effects of polydatin on lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury through TLR4-MyD88-NF-kappaB pathway. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2015) 29(2):370–6. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2015.10.027

- de Stoppelaar SF, Claushuis TA, Jansen MP, Hou B, Roelofs JJ, van't Veer C, et al. The role of platelet MyD88 in host response during Gram-negative sepsis. *J Thromb Haemost* (2015) 13(9):1709–20. doi:10.1111/jth.13048
- Dominguez-Villar M, Gautron AS, de Marcken M, Keller MJ, Hafler DA. TLR7 induces anergy in human CD4(+) T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(1):118–28. doi:10.1038/ni.3036
- Gern JE, Busse WW. The role of viral infections in the natural history of asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2000) 106(2):201–12. doi:10.1067/mai.2000.108604
- Huaux F. New developments in the understanding of immunology in silicosis. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol (2007) 7(2):168–73. doi:10.1097/ ACI.0b013e32802bf8a5
- Thakur SA, Beamer CA, Migliaccio CT, Holian A. Critical role of MARCO in crystalline silica-induced pulmonary inflammation. *Toxicol Sci* (2009) 108(2):462–71. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfp011
- Kambouchner M, Bernaudin JF. The pathologist's view of silicosis in 1930 and in 2015. The Johannesburg Conference legacy. *Am J Ind Med* (2015) 58(Suppl 1):48–58. doi:10.1002/ajim.22506

 Re SL, Giordano G, Yakoub Y, Devosse R, Uwambayinema F, Couillin I, et al. Uncoupling between inflammatory and fibrotic responses to silica: evidence from MyD88 knockout mice. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(7):e99383. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0099383

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author RM declares that he was employed by Telormedix as Head of Drug Development until the end of November 2015. The author AB declares that he was employed by Telormedix as Scientific Adviser until the end of March 2014. The other authors declare no conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Ferreira, Mariano, Ghilosso-Bortolini, Arantes, Fernandes, Berni, Cecchinato, Uguccioni, Maj, Barberis, Silva and Martins. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

